PROCEEDINGS

OF THE

American Seciety for Psychical Rosearch

Section “B” of the American Inatitute for Scientific Research

Volume IX

American Society for Psychicsl Research
44 Eaxt 2%d Street
New York
1915




Chegnnaial by GO(’S[G




The Doris Case

of

Multiple Personality

A BIOGRAPHY OF FIVE PERSONALITIES IN
CONNECTION WITH ONE BODY AND A
DAILY RECORD OF A THERAPEUTIC PRO-
CESS ENDING IN THE RESTORATION OF
THE PRIMARY MEMBER TO INTEGRITY
AND CONTINUITY OF CONSCIOUSNESS

By
WALTER FRANKLIN PRINCE, PH. D.

WITH INTRODUCTION BY

JAMES HERVEY HYSLOP, PH. D., LL. D.

AND

WALTER F. PRINCE, PH. D.

PART 1

YORK. FA.
THE YORK FRINTING CO.
1915

o



Chrgoinpuk by GDUgIC



To Turee LEADERS
IN Varyine FiELDs oF SCIENTIFIC INVESTICATION,

all more or less witnesses of the phenomena of the personalities,
the only male correspondents whom Margaret ever had,
and now the faithful friends of Real Doris,

Pror. WiLLiam K, WaLker, M. D,
Jaurs H. Hyswop, Pr. D, LL, D,

JorxN A. Brasuear, LL. D, etc,



hgzen by GOOS IC



TABLE OF CONTENTS

o5
PREFACE, by Dr. Hyslop.coioveiarrecicetsasirarosnarsansssnsnroacns 9.21
CHAPTER L Remarka by Dr. Hyslop....... devenasrsassnnas-23-28, 60-61

Summary of whole case by Dr. Prinee.....cvvvvvnnnnn ’....28—60 61-522
TABLE of An=sthesias and Hyperasthesias ...cocivrcinnnnecaciiars 123-126
GLOSSARY of quasi-technical terms,....oviivieviiines Shsanviies . 127-134

and eurrent technical terms. . ciiiiiiriiriianiiiieraraseaiiaanas 134-136

BIOGRAPHY PREVIOUS TO DAILY RECORD.
CHAPTER II. First Period: Undivided Personality—The Real Doris,

together with family and personal characteristics (1889-1892)...... 137
CHAFTER 111, Second Period: Three Personalities—Real Doris, Mar-
garct and Sleeping Margaret (1892—May 6, 1906)................ 47

CHAPTER IV. Third Period: Four Personalities—Real Doris, Mar-
garet, Sleeping Margaret, Sick Doris (May 6, 1906—Sept, 1907)...210
CHAPTER V. Fourth Period: Five Personalities—Real Doris, Mar-

garct, Sleeping Margaret, Sick Doris, Sleeping Real Doris, To the
beginning of curative influences (Sept., 190/—Nov,, 1909).......... 245

CHAPTER VL. Fifth Period: Quintuple Personality. From the be-
gianing ol;:;lr#]we influences to the dlscove?lr of Ithc flact of dis-
sociation e entrance upon 3 paycho-physiclogical campaign
(Nov, 1909—Jan, 20, 1911) oenrrereerors e e 257

CHAPTER VII, Sixth Period; Quintuple Personality, From the dis-
covery of the fact of duloc'la.tlon and the entrance upon a psycho-
physiological campaign to the removal from unfavorable environ-
ment (Jan. 20, 1911—Mar. 2, 1911} . .civeininniinnnnns ferernana- 286

THE DAILY RECORD...... tvrrrerunararnraressaaasrirernsbeging 288

CHAPTER VIl Seventh Period: Quintupie Personality,. From the re.
moval from unfavorable environment to the disappearance of Sick
Doris (Mar, 2, 1911—June 28, 19%1)............0 eanerretreavan 392

CHAPTER IX. Elghth Period : Quadruple Personality. From the dis-
Sick Doris to that of Sleeping Real Doris (June

2& 1911—A|}r. | LT L) . TP 627
CHAPTER X. Ninth Period: Triple Personality, From the dlsargear

ance of Skeping Real Doris to that of Margaret (Apr 15,
Apf 19 19‘4) AR BN PRGN I AR AP AN s R A IEEEEE 934

CHAPTER XI. Tenth Period: Normal Conscicusness. Doris restored
to continuous consciousness, with brief a S{)elranccs of Sleeping

Margaret as a co-consciovsness {Apr. 19, 1914)..........cctene. 125%
CHAPTER XII. Record of Automatic WOling, . ..vverieiiecrnneeans 1269
APPENDIX A. Tabie of Alternabions.....ccovvevncernsrirrarrnsniess 1130

APPENDIX B, Alleged cerebral seats of the Personalities............ 1331

(L3



PORTRAITS,
- — Page
REAL DORIS. .. iucvireavinrriarnaisnrrisnsreeacrnrs s Frontispiece. Part I
MARGARET. At play........ errrrariesraaaans R < . . ¥ 4
MARGARET, At the age of five........ T op. 172
MARGARET, On Christmas morning................ Frontispiece,. Part II
MARGARET. Asleep, annoyed.._ ...voeviernvanannss Crrrrmerrras ...op. 832
MARGARET. Asleep, further annoyed.....coiciavrvrarannninnnans op. 832
SICK DORIS., In her prime...cciv vioinssiisrasssnasseninrnsense:Op, 37
SICK DORIS. Reduced to Infancy. “Putitin”......coiviivniinn. op. 534
SICK DORIS. Reduced to Infancy. “One dear®....... cerereeenl.Op. 534
SICK DORIS. Reduced to Infancy, Loss of motor functions...... op. 538
SICK DORIS. Redoced to Infancy, “Papa two™.......... ceiere1<Op. 538
SICK DORIS. Reduced to Infancy. “ Papa make hit all better ™., op. 544
SICK DORIS. Reduced to Infancy. “Waz zat?".................. op. 544
SICK DORIS. Reduced to Infancy. Loss of motor functions......op. 551
SICK DORIS., Reduced to Infancy, “ Do it again™,.......... veee0p. 551
S5ICK DORIS. Reduced to Infancy, “Make it go”...............0p. 560
SICK DORIS. Reduced to Infancy. “Make-it-go” all gone.......op. 560
SICK DORIS., Reduced to Infancy, “Dears no go™.............. op. 592
SICK DORIS, Reduced to Infancy. * Make it go and go-o-0”...,.op. 592
SICK DORIS. Reduced to Infancy. “Papa all gone”............. op. 603

SICK DORIS. Reduced to Infancy. “Waz zat? ". M. * watching ".op. 603
S5ICK DORIS. Reduced to Infancy, “Dears go™...c.iiivivivenrss . 0p 611
SLEEPING MARCARET, Habitual composed expression..........op. 37
SLEEPING MARGARET. Siiting ........ e reaes teeieraananaans op. 611
SLEEPING MARGARET. Smiling .....vcviineinars Frontlsptece Part 11

DIAGRAMS.
Content of intercognition,........... Cermereaeas Ceeerneareeraaas veern s 499
Subliminal states of Margaret........oooveviiiiiiiiniianenss pearieiias 548
Reduced angle of Margaret's vision............. Cieaemararraana feireanan 752
Auditory anxsthesia............c..coocieel.n P L+ |
Intercognition, Real Doris " out”. . iciiiiioiiiiiiin ivecinirinenees ... B40
Imtercognition, Sick Doris Mout”. .. oovieiinian. < § |
Intercognition, Margaret “out”............ e eaaas . . 1|
Psychical ruechamcs of mtercogmtlan after Sick Doris's disappearance.
Real Doris “out”. . ... c.i0iuen Crereans ceeres Ceimrraranas .

Margaret's IHNETATY.  o..veicnerricnrrranares Ceeeribanaas R .........97?
Shrinkage of Margaret's visual ﬁeld ........ et g et e 978

Changes in passage of thoughts from Real Doris to Marg-aret ..... ce-a. 1160
Graphic Chart of the progress of Real Doris in conscious living.....op. 1330



Eugthermsa Iny G OGS l&f



THE REAL DORIS

A portrait of the primary personality of peculiar interest. in that it was
Sick Doris who seated herself in the studio chair. when a transition occurred
and Real Doris was the one to be caught by the camera. The expression of
pathetic wonder comes from the fact that the latter only half realized where
she was, The photograph was taken m the summer of 1910,
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Preface

Some years ago my attention was called to the present
case by the clergyman who had it in charge and who had
adopted the child to save her from her brutal father. Dr.
Walter F. Prince, the clergyman mentioned, referred in his
letter to me to drawings which the gitl was making and as I
was in the midst of the Thompson-Gifford phenomena
(Proceedings Am. S. P. R., Vol. I[1.), the possibility of ob-
session suggested itself to my mind at once, not as a prob-
ability, but as a possibility to be investigated. This whole
problem was jorced on my mind by the phenomena of Mr,
Thompson and the outcome of the investigation into them. I
had found that “secondary personality” was not a final ac-
count of certain superficial phenomena znd as the report on
the present case resembled that one in some respects it was
but natural to raise the same question, The result was that I
took the first opportunity to visit Dr. Prince and to see the
case, He had stoutly questioned the possibility that I had
suggested and my examination confirmed me in the hypo-
thesis that there was no superficial evidence at least of
spiritistic influences in the case analogous with the Thomp-
son-Gifford phenomena. There were two personalities mani-
fested when I saw the case, those known in the record as
Margaret and Sleeping Margaret. I also saw Margaret
asleep, which is different from Sleeping Margaret, tho I did
not know it or was not told the fact at the time. But in none
of them could I obtain any reason to believe that obsession
was the correct diagnosis.

Students of this record must come to it with a knowledge
of subconsciots phenomena and of their more highly organ-
ized form in dual and multiple personalities. The time is not
long past when these phenomena were not known to psychol-
ogy, but a few remarkable cases were forced upon the atten-
tion of psychologists and now they have become common-
places for scientific students, tho they are little understood as

yet.
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Subconscious phenomena take two forms, normal and ab-
normal. The normal type consists of those which character-
ize the life of all of us in our ordinary occupations and do not
assume the form of what we call dissociation, They are
rather harmoniously associated with our normal, mental and
bodily life. There is no cleavage between the subconscious
and the normal stream in our healthy life. It is only when
some subconscious actions get split off, separated, or dis-
sociated from the main normal stream that we get any friction
with the normal life. The dissociation begins the abnormal
life and therefore a split or severance between the co-
ordinated action of the functions of mind and body.

In normal life the nearest analogies to dissociation are
fixed attention, abstraction, reverie and automatic habits.
Usually these go along harmoniously with our normal think-
ing and action. But if at any time we get so absorbed in any
of these states as to sever ourselves from our proper environ-
ment; that is, lose adjustment to this environment, we are
in danger of some form of dissociation ot cleavage with the
healthy stream of functional activities. Just where the hine
shall be drawn between the normal and abnormal in this
cannot be told distinctly. But in extreme types we can clear-
ly distinguish between the two states. The normal person
with his associations, consciows and subconscious, will
not betray any indication of inharmonious action. His
functions will adjust themselves to his environment,
the objective world. Indeed the Dbest criterion of sanity
is just this rational adjustment to environment. When-
ever we find any maladjustment to it, we may suspect some
form of dissociation in the abnormal sense, and it
is only an abnormal phenomenon. Just where it begins can-
not be laid down in a manner to distinguish it clearly in all
concrete or actual cases. Dissociation may be mixed up
with proper association in other functions and be so slight in
its own manifestations as not to create any presumption for
serious disturbances. This aside, however, as discussing a
criterion for insanity which it is not our place here to do, I
wish only to emphasize the general nature of the phenomena
as abnormal and indicating some disruption between the
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ordinary cohesion or harmoniously articulated functions and
their action independently of their proper teleological nature.
Fixed attention tends to separate interest and perception from
the indirect field of consciousness and the same is true of
abstraction, reverie, habits and automatic actions. But
these semi-conscious or semi-unconscious actions and func-
tions may be so harmonious with our environment as not to
disrupt the normal life. Hence they are not true dissociations.,
But when the attention is directed to one thing and the mind
behaves itself as if it were concentrated on another, we find
that functions, which normally act collusively, so to speak,
coherently and harmoniously with our environment and are
under the constant control of the voluntary life, no longer act
with reference to our proper environment and are dis-
sociated from those which are necessary for an adjusted life,
Here begins dual personality. It may not reach the definite-
ness and the organized form in all cases. The dissociation
may be very slight in some cases or in all cases at the start,
It s not cur business to determine this definitely here. All
that we require to state or to recognize is that, in its initial
stages dissociation may not betray anything seriously ab-
normal, tho itself abnormal. When a man walks and talks
in his sleep he displays dissociation, but it is not hard to cure,
or if hard to cure does not often offer any serious reasons for
treatment. It is when the dissociation becomes highly organ-
ized and imitative of a real personality in the individual that
the phenomena become the subject of important scientific
interest, psychological and medical. Here the split off groups
of mental states take the form of some one else than the per-
son we have known normally and regulate the bodily and
mental life without regard to the healthy adjustment to en-
vironment.

These dissociations occur in cases diagnosed as hysteria,
delusions, functional dementia, paranoia and other ailments,
But these are highly developed forms of supposed insanity
and are not of the type with which we have to deal in this rec-
ord. The types which have to be studied in connection with
the present case are those of Ansel Bourne (Proceedings Eng.
S. P. R, Vol. VII, pp. 221-257), Sally Beauchamp (The Dis-
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sociation of a Personality. By Dr, Morton Prince), The Hanna
Case (Multiple Personolity. By Dr, Boris Sidis and Dr. Good-
hart), the Brewin Case (Journal Am. S. P. R,, Vol, VII, pp.
201-299) and the Barnes Case (Proceedings Eng. S, P. R., Vol
XVIII, pp. 323-415.) Dr. Allen Gilbert reported another case,
but I have not the article or the reference to mention it more
definitely. There have been many other cases less prominent
before scientific men and in fact the phenomena are, perhaps,
rather frequent. But those mentioned are the best reported
and no students of the subconscious or of multiple personality
will understand the present case without familiarity with
those I have just mentioned. That of Sally Beauchamp is the
nearest in type to the present one. It was a case of multiple
personalities, four of them being present. In this of Doris
Fischer there were five, and like Dr. Morton Prince’s case it
has one mischievous personality like Sally.

There is the celebrated case of Madame B, discussed by
Pierre Janet in the Revue Philosophigue for March, 1888, and
summarized by Mr. Myers in his “ Human Personality and ifs
Survival of Bodily Death,” Vol I, pp. 322-330. It is also a
constant subject for reference in “ La Awutomatisme Psycho-
logigue ” by Pierre Janet. The case was interesting especially
for the fact that some remarkable telepathic experiments were
performed with this subject, a circumstance which goes far to
prove what the vehicle is for the supernormal. But the chief
interest for the case here is its illustration of multiple personality
without any evidence, superficially at least, of foreign invasion
and for that reason has distinct analogies with the Doris
Fischer case. It cannot be outlined here. Readers must con-
sult the references.

It is not the place here to suggest an explanation or a
theory that the present facts may support. That must be the
result of later discussion and study. e must not anticipate
any interpretation of them, That is not possible until the
records have been read and studied. The only remark which
we require to make here is a precaution about what is meant
by secondary and multiple personalities. Many persons sup-
pose that the term “ dual ” or “ secondary personality ” means
some reality other than and independent of the organism of
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the person affected, provided that it shall not be considered
a spirit or discarnate human consciousness. They conceive
the term as implying something just as independent of the
organism as a spirit would be. But this is not the conception
which science holds of the phenomena, It always conceives
them as split off groups of mental states, memories and ideas,
of the same subject as the normal states, except that they are
not adjusted to their life, They are merely phenomena of the
same mind or organism as the normal states. But the popular
mind often, if not always, supposes they mean some obsessing
agent not a discarnate spirit. The fact is, we know little
enough about them under any conception, but they do not
stand for either discarnate intelligence or non-human realities
independently of the organism, as defined or conceived by
scientific psychologists. They are only conceived as organ-
ized groups of mental phenomena dissociated or split off
from the main stream of consciousness and their explanation
still awaits a clear formalation.

There is another circumstance in the definition of second-
ary personality that should be noted. We seldom make it
clear. What has been said immediately preceding this, illus-
trates one of the confusions in the employment of the term.
But there is another fact and it is the Auctuating conception
which we take of it according to the exigencies of some
argument about the supernormal. 1 refer to the two elements
which constitute its nature, and not to the speculative causes
of its occurrence. The primary criterion of secondary or
multiple personality is the cleavage between the two streams
of mental states, the split or mnemonic break, so that there
seems to be no more connection between the fwo streams
than between Smith and Jones. But there is a second fact of
equal importance, tho not so easy as proof of the cleavage. It
is the contents of the secondary personalities’ mental states.
Were it not for the cleavage, the contents would have no
other significance than they have for the primary personality.
But the cleavage that separates them as distinctly as two
beings are separated in their mental states and memories is
the fundamental phenomenon of interest in the evidence of
dissociation, and it marks the severance while the contents,
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if derived from normal experience, serve to distinguish the
phenomena from the supernorinal. The mere fact of cleavage
will not determine that secondary personality, as it is called,
excludes foreign invasion, We must further prove that the
contents or knowledge of the secondary state is derived from
the normal experience of the subject. Otherwise you have no
standard for excluding the supernormal from a case. It may
even be that the supernormal will be interfused with the
subliminal or secondary states and in that case the problem of
secondary and multiple personalities will remain open until
the larger issue has been solved.

In the course of time however, Dr., Prince obtained oc-
casional indications of the supernormal in the case, and one of
the personalities, Sleeping Margaret, after denying that she
was 2 spirit, claimed to be one and explained her denial. She
has persisted in this claim with great obstinacy. It is not
necessary to accept her claim in dealing with the phenomena,
but it is mentioned here as one of the psychological features of
the case that has to be the snbject of investigation and discus-
sion. All its superficial characteristics suggest only dual or
rather multiple personality, since there is not the slightest
evidence of the personal identity of any of the personalities, in

o far as the phenomena recorded by Dr. Prince would show.
The first test of a discarnate spirit must be its ability to prove
its terrestrial identity, and this is utterly wanting in the case
of the personalities of the record as manifested in the subject.

In the meantime, however, I happened to have oppor-
tunities to experiment with several other cases in the same
manner as in that of Thompson-Gifford with the same re-
sults. There was the de Camp-Stockton Case (Journal Am.
S. P. R, Vol VI, pp. 181-285), the Ritchie-Abbott Case
{Proceedings Am. S, P. R,, Vol. VII, pp. 429-569), and three
other instances, one of them a type that would have been ap-
praised as hypnogogic iltusion (Journal Am. S, P. R, Vol. VI],
pp. 698-706, and Vol. IX, pp. 209-229). In all but one of
these the psychiatrist and psychologist would have in-
terpreted them as hysteria or forms of dissociation, and that
quite correctly from the point of view of their subjective
phenomena. There was no evidence according with the
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standard which theories of the supernormal must sustain in
the present stage of investigation. But on being experi-
mented with through Mrs, Chenoweth they yielded to cross
reference. That is, the personalities which affected the sub-
jects in their apparent hysteria and dissociation reported as
communicators, or other spirits described what was going on
wnder the influence of discarnate agencies. It is not the place
to discuss them in detail here, but only to refer to them as
showing that the phenomena in the present cases are not
isolated ones. ‘The present Report (Part 3) adds two more
to the list that have been experimented with; the results
must largely tell their own story.

Such phenomena shed new light on multiple personality.
Students of abnormal psychology have assumed, in most cases,
that their description of secondary phenomena terminated ex-
planations and never allowed themselves to suppose that any-
thing further was required in the way of investigation. Mhat
was in reality only a description of the facts was mistaken for
an explanation and little encouragement was given for further
investigation. The conception of dissociated groups of suh-
conscious mental states sufficed to stay inquiry and to make
students think that the end of explanation had been reached.
No one could be censured for this in the light of what seemerl
impossible of further analysis or explanation. We had no
access to the supposed brain processes assumed to lie at the
basis of them and had to be content with conjectures of a
vague character, based upon analogies with brain structure
and molecular action. But the psychiatrist would not indulge
the possibility of investigation by mediumistic methods and
so cut off from himself very fertile resources for further in-
formation. The happy accident, if I may call a suggestion by
that name, which arose in my mind while talking to Mr.
Thompson about his experiences, of experimenting with a
medium, practically solved for me the problem of method and
the results in that case offered a hopeful resource for the
future. It did not eliminate secondary or multiple person-
ality from the boards, but either assigned its cause or com-
plicated its phenomena with other agencies than those of the
organism alone. It is not necessary here or as yet to decide
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which. Either may account for the phenomena, tho probably
both combined will be found necessary in some, if not all,
cases of dissociation. The important thing here, however,
is the recognition that our investigation of multiple person-
ality is not terminated by observing the subjective phenomena
of the patient or by a priori speculations about their relation
to nerve processes, but they require the moreobjective method
of investigation by mediumistic experiments. No doubt nor-
mal cases might yield similar results, but it would be more
difficult to prove the existence of foreign invasion there, be-
cause the dissociation necessary to distinguish the abnormal
groups of mental phenomena from the normal personality
does not exist there. [t is the opposition or contrast between
the normal and the abnormal mental phenomena that calls
our attention to something requiring more than normal ex-
planations. In normal cases the integrity of the mental life
will offer less leverage for the security of foreign invasion in
any manner to suggest when we have evidence of it even in
mediumistic diagnoses and revelations. But in cases of
multiple personality, if we discover mediumistic recognition
of the personalities affecting the dissociated mental states of
the patient we not only have securer evidence of the in-
vasion, but we have a clue to a better explanation of multiple
personality itself. The explanation will accord with what we
usually accept in the unity of personality as we find it in
normal life, and the dissociation, tho it does not wholly lose
its subjective character when connected with foreign invasion,
will yet have a meaning more consistent with the ordinary
explanations of mental life than are found in the speculations
of the psychiatrist about neuroses, psychoses, and associated
brain cells, even tho the new explanation leaves us as many
mysteries as before.

There will be three Parts to the present Report, each oc-
cupying a volume of the Proceedings. The first two Parts
will contain the detailed records and observations of Dr.
Prince, cavering several years of the case which was under his
care. No attempt is made in these two volumes to explain
the phenomena. They are sitnply recorded in their entirety as
they occurred, except such as involve repetitions and material
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not bearing on an analysis and explanation of the facts. The
third Part contains the record and discussion of my own
experiments with the case as a sitter at the séances of Mrs.
Chenoweth, and one other case of similar import as tend-
ing to strengthen any conclusion that may be possible in the
case of Doris Fischer.

I may add two more cases of interest in the same con-
nection, tho they were not experimentally investigated for
cross references with the same thoroughness, Both were
subjects of this kind of experiment and yielded good evi-
dence that they may be classified with the instancesmentioned
previously. The first is that of the young boy, the son of a
clergyman, and who manifested undoubted evidences of
hysteria and dissociation and yet both through his own
mediumship proved the existence of supernormal information
and through cross reference with Mrs. Chenoweth proved his
character as a psychic, whatever the medical man might think
about hysteria. (Cf. Journal Am. 8. P. R,, Vol. VII, pp. 1-63.)
Apparently the hysterical symptoms were the condition of his
mediumistic phenomena. They were at least the concomi-
tants of them and the hysteria may have been nothing more
than a concomitant of his mediumship instead of its condition
or cause. At any rate, what the medical student and
psychologist would have been satisfied with was not final and
the right kind of experiment proved that the supernormal
was present and served to justify the belief that it would be
found in all such cases, if patience and scientific experiment
were applied.

The second case was a still more remarkable one. 1 refer
to that of Miss Burton, the subject of the Report in Volume
V of the Proceedings of the Am. 8, P, R. Laymenandscientific
men alike, with a superficial investigation, would have rested
content with the judgment of frand and would not even have
indulged the charitable view of hysteria, But the two phy-
sicians who investigated it exhibited the right kind of patience
and discovered the hysteria and proved it, while further ex-
periment revealed the existence of four types of supernormal
phenomena, raps, lights, clairvoyant visions, and messages
by automatic writing. If it could not be called a case of ob-
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session, as it was not this in the prevailing conception of that
tern, it was an illustration of foreign invasion where orthodox
science would not have suspected it. That fact suffices to
justify the mention of it in this connection.

It is the third Part that disturbs the ordimary dogma-
tism about multiple personality., While it cannot be dogmatic
itself, especially in the Fischer case, it precipitates a revo-
lutionary treatment of such phenomena and especially when
they exhibit marks of dementia precox and paranoia, as some
of them do. One case, however, that of the little child Lillian,
showed no marks whatever of the abnormal, but was, in fact,
a perfectly normal child, in so far as her ordinary life was con-
cerned, requiring no physician or medical attendance and
differing from other children only in her precocity. No dis-
sociation or hysteria manifested themselves with her. But
for her remarkable dancing and singing without training or
education for them no one would have suspected anything
unusual about her. Hence in her case the invasion was ol
thie type that is normal and represented good influences. The
others were connected with some form of hysterical
phenomena, tho in two of them even these were very slight,
if present at all. The Doris Fischer Case, however, is a per-
fect mine of the abnormal and was a remarkable instance of
multiple personality. No superficial evidence of spirits ap-
peared in her phenomena until the experiments with Mrs.
Chenoweth took place. There were traces here and there of
something supernormal in it, probably telepathic, and some
claims of the presence of spirits, but nothing that we could
accept in the present stage of our investigations. Every-
thing, especially the limitations in knowledge manifested by
the various personalities, supported the orthodox conceptions
of multiple personality and possibly they are not excluded
even by the admission of foreign agents into the area of these
phenomena. That has to be determined in the future. But
the experiments with Mrs, Chenoweth at least raise the
issue of sptritistic invasion into the territory of secondary and
muyltiple personality. How far the contents of secondary
mental states may be regarded as transmitted from the out-
side has still to be determined. If we insisted that the con-
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tents can be the only reason for supposing the invasion, we
would find it difficult, perhaps, to apply the explanation to all
the facts; for undoubtedly the subconscious of the patient
will be a factor in obsessions as well as in normal mediumship.
But there is reason to believe that effects may be produced
which do not find their explanation in mental content of the
subconscious, so far as that comes under observation; for
instance, motor actions of various types. Then there may be
the further possibility, for the present at least, I think
probability that there may be foreign stimulus with nothing
but subjective contents in both mental and motor states. All
this will have to be made the subject of further investigation,
and I only mention it here to signify that I assign, or am will-
ing to assign, limits to the influence of foreign invasions, in
so far as they are represented by identity of content with their
minds. [t is true that the extent of this actual identity lends
its support to the hypothesis of its being larger than is super-
ficially indicated or than the actual evidence shows. But with
the extent of such influences we have nothing to do as yet and
must await further investigations for any definite views.

The work of Dr. Prince will speak for itsell. No one will
question the carefulness and minuteness of his observations.
The record shows that he has given the student all that could
be given to make his case clear and complete. It should be re-
marked that he did not employ hypnosis at any time, tho he
did employ normal suggestion and that availed as well as
hypnotic methods. It may satisfy certain finicky people to
know this fact, because they have a foolish fear that hypnosis
is magical or supernatuyral. It is nothing of the kind and in
fact may often result in effecting cures in much less time than
normal suggestion. We do not yet know anything about sug-
gestion. It is but a term to denote a group of facts associated
with certain unusual effects and we may ascertain in the dis-
tant future why they take this form. But where there is any
ignorant fear about hypnosis it is well to know that such
cases may be dealt with successfully by normal suggestion, if
the proper patience and care are used to effect a cure. But it
is the scientific observation and record of the facts that is
more important than the cure in a scientific investigation of
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such cases, that we may be enabled to approach other in-
stances of the kind with better knowledge than we have had
in the past. It is for this work that Dr. Prince deserves
special praise and what he has done will not fail to receive
recognition as a scientific piece of work.

The record in this instance is much more complete than
in that of Miss Beauchamp by Dr. Morton Prince and also the
Hanna Case, by Drs. Sidis and Goodhart. There is no attempt
in this instance by Dr, Walter F. Prince at speculative inter-
pretation or explanation. The record of facts is all that is
necessary for any student who could not have the fortune to
have had the case under such observation. Students of psy-
chology and psychiatry will have less difficulty than laymen in
understanding it. Nothing more than has been done could
have been supplied them, Whatever of mystery remains
about it must be the result of our ignorance about such phe-
nomena in general, not the defects of the record, Hence
every investigator of psychiatry will express a strong debt of
gratitude to Dr. Walter F, Prince for the thoroughness and
conipleteness of his record,

It will be most important to keep in mind two things
about the case. The first is its cure and the second the subse-
quent development of mediumship. To a psychic researcher
there are evidences of incipient mediumship very clear in the
detailed record, but the secondary personality and dissociation
obscured it and even prevented its development. The cure
was not effected by the development of this aspect of the case.
It is the opinion of the present writer that the cure would
have been more rapid and would have involved fewer difiicult-
ies had it been carried on with this development as the means,
because it would have brought out the obsessional phenomena
that were a part of the cause of the trouble. But after the
experiments with Mrs, Chenoweth this development became
reasonably rapid and the future remains to determine just
what it will be. The girl could not write automatically, save
with the planchette, until after those sittings, except as
Margaret and Sleeping Margaret. Her hand would only
“wiggle” as she would say, but the moment that the Im-
perator group got at the case the development began with au-
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tomatic writing of the usual type. This sequel to the
phenomena should be a lesson in the therapeutics of such
cases. Whether such a course should be always taken in such
instances will depend on the knowledge and experience with
psychic phenomena that the physician has. It is not every
one that is qualified to undertake such a task. Even with
knowledge, much depends on the personalities on “the other
side.” Some are totally unfit to control in the cure and de-
velopment and a man will have to possess considerable ex-
perience in handling such cases in order to judge and act wise-
ly in the treatment of them, especially if he undertakes to
develop them into mediums, But the sooner the medical
world surrenders to this view and begins its education the bet-
ter will be its success in the handling of a whole series of ab-
normal phenomena including more types than functional de.
mentia and paranoia, as well as muitiple personality, which
may be only forms of the phenomena just mentioned.

An elahorate Glossary of terms and explanation of the
personalities is added by Dr. Prince at the end of Chapter 1
for the help of readers. It may be used for consultation when

reading the Records.
JAMES H. HYSLOP.
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CHAPTER L
Introduction.
By James H. HysLor anp WarLres F. Prince,

" The present case of multiple personality is of nnusual in-
terestt The one nearest like it is that of Dr. Morton Prince,
the celebrated Miss Beauchamp Case, in which Sally was a
mischievous character. It is the mischief-making character
of one of the personalities in the case of Doris Fischer that
helps to give it interest and importance, tho that interest may
be ne more scientific than in regard to the other more com-
mon-place personalities. The public, however, always at-
taches an interest to personalities that go counter to the
instinct of self-preservation or threaten the subject with
various forms of discomfort and injury, The explanation of
such personalities is no easier or more difficult than thatofthe
others, but simply because the human element of mischief
enters into them they invoke attention more distinctly. They
may prompt to investigations that offer an explanation
throughout the entire field, but there is no more reason for
making a fuss about them scientifically than about the more
prosaic cases.

In the Preface attention has been called to the tack of
tlearness in the conception of *secondary,” * ternary,” or
“ multiple personalities,” and the subject cannot he canvassed
fully here, But we must not leave it as a clearly understood
doctrine. The terms have served very good uses in holding
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Spiritualists at bay in phenomena that were not evidence of
their theories, but unfortunately the scientific man has not
prosecuted the investigation of plural persomalities as he
should have done. He has rested content with its use for
refuting spiritistic claims and has not always admitted as
fully as he should have done the perplexities that stiil remain
after that much has been established. It is made clear in
the Preface that we are not to understand the terms to mean
or imply anything independent of the subject in which the
phenomena appear, as the Spiritnalist, on the one hand sup-
posed, and as another class supposed, on the other hand, when
imagining that the terms implied some reality non-human in-
vading the subject from without and yet not being a dis-
carnate human spirit. The whole orthodox theory regards
secondary phenomena as subconscious mental states of the
same mind dissociated {rom the normal consciousness. This
makes them functional activities of the same mind, tho not
normally recognizable by it, and we have yet to show that
any other interpretation is necessary. But there goes with
this view often a failure to distinguish between confent and
function of secondary personality, the scientific man playing
fast and loose between these two conceptions, There will be
reason in the third volume for discussing this more fully.
Here we have simply to keep in mind that amnesia and con-
tents are the criterion of secondary personality. That is, the
absence of a memory link between different groups of mental
states serves ta prove the secondary character of one of them.
That is, the absence of a normal memory: for the secondary
group always has a memory of its own and often knows the
normal group, but the normal or primary does not always
remember the secondary. The contents, so far as they serve
to prove the existence of a secondary state, must consist of
normal experiences whether recallable by the normal person-
ality or not. Explanations of all these must be disregarded
at present. 'We are concerned only with their description and
definition, 50 that readers will understand what we are dis-
cussing. Secondary or multiple personalities are simply
groups of mental states split off or dissociated fromthenorma!
or primary memory, and what their origin is must be made a
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separate problem. They are abnormal and often simulate
insanity to such an extent as to be taken for it. In fact, at
one period of history there was no other diagnosis of the
malady, and it is, of course, only a matter of clear definition
and distinction to separate them now., Many cases are still
regarded by incompetent physicians as simple cases of in-
sanity, but thanks to the care of more intelligent physicians
the phenomena are becoming better known and understood,
and we are spared some of the scandals of treatment which
would otherwise be accorded the patients.

Chapter II gives a detailed history of the case in outline
and we need not mention details here. We are interested only
in the facts which were important in the cause of the malady
and in the personalities which illustrate its development.
When the child, Doris Fischer, was tliree years of age her

runken father picked her up and threw her down on the
oor so violently that she suffered from some mental shock and
as never a well person after that until Dr, Prince cured her
r, as some might suppose, nature had cured the injury, Very
soon afterward there began to appear evidencesofdissociation
and double personality, tho these did not come under the
direct observation of Dr. Prince until many years afterward
when he was persuaded to examine her phenomena and finally
to adopt her in the family for the purpose of saving her from
the brutalities of her father, after the death of the mother.

It was during this intervening period, between the action
of her father and the death of her mother, that the main
secondary personality developed, but its history did not come
directly under the observation of Dr. Prince. He had to learn
the facts by careful and critical inquiry of the personalities
themselves. This history is presented in Chapter III. The
chief and only known secondary personality during this
period, so far as can be ascertained was called Margaret,
This personality gave many names and chiefly Bridget until
late in the case. The mother and Doris herself were both
exceedingly fond of the name Margaret, but the name was
proposed by Dr. Prince, as Doris disliked Bridget which the
personality called herself. It is important to keep this
fact in view because of the final explanation of the phe-
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nomena, This Margaret was the result of the first dis-
sociating shock to the girl, the injury caused by the father.
She was a mischievous impish character and involved the gir}
in all sorts of escapades very like those of Sally in Dr. Mor-
ton Prince’s case. She cherished a special dislike or hatred
toward one of the other personalities known as Sick Doris.
The normal Doris had no memories of hers. The Margaret
phase would suddenly come on in various emergencies and
the child would be off in a new and capricious life, wholly
unadjusted to the rational needs of the normal personality.
Doris in her normal state never knew what the Margaret
personality did, tho the mother, her sisters or her playmates
would tell the normal self what had been done and she finally
came to learn or to infer that she had done certain things un-
consciously, but of course had no understanding of what it
meant. .

The death of the mother when the child was seventeen
years of age was the cause of another shock which brought a
personality which Margaret named Sick Doris. The child
had depended on the mother for a shield against the cruelties
of the father, and at the mother’s death, besides the loss of the
special affection and care of the mother she had to face the
mortal fear of her father. The effect was the production of a
personality which, at first, had not the most elementary
knowledge of anything, either of surrounding objects or of
what was necessary to sustain life. The situation was almost
precisely like that of the Rev, Thomas C, Hanna, reported by
Dr. Boris Sidis, who lost all his knowledge and became an
infant in this respect from the accident of being thrown from
a buggy. (CI. Sidis and Goodhart: Multiple Personality.) In
the present case Margaret had to teach Sick Doris how to
care for herself and in the course of this education imbibed
a bitter hatred against her, doing all that she could to make
Jife uncomfortable for her and the normal Doris had to pay
the penalty quite as much as Sick Doris.

The next personality is that of Sleeping Margaret, whose
title Dr. Prince regards as a misnomer, since it implies that
she was Margaret asleep. She was not this, but was an in-
dependent personality. Her history is not known beyond
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her own statements about herself; namely, that she came a
few moments earlier than Margaret who came at the time of
the father’s shocking act in throwing the child on the foor
when he was in a drunken fit. Her chief distinguishing
characteristic, in so far as external appearance is concerned,
is the fact that she appears only when Doris is asleep. At
any time when the girl was asleep you could find Sleeping
Margaret on tap and could carry on conversation with her, the
normal Doris never knowing anything about her existence
until after we had brought the girl on to the East in 1914 for
experiment. Sleeping Margaret had written a note to Dr.
Prince while Doris was asleep and the latter found it the next
morning, and inferred that she was not cured. She had sup-
posed that all the personalities had disappeared. But until
this time Real Doris, the normal self, knew absolutely noth-
ing about the existence of Sleeping Margaret. But the latter
koew all about Real Doris,

Sleeping Margaret claimed to be one of the “guards” of
the child and in this represented the same function which is
known in Spiritualistic circies and beliefs as that of * guides.”
It was her business to watch over the girl and to prevent any
harm coming to her. In the course of the girl’s cure she was
helpful in supplying Dr. Prince with knowledge about the
other personalities and advice as to how he should proceed.
At first she disclaimed being a spirit, but later she resolutely
insisted that she was a spirit.

These with Real Doris—Doris and Real Doris are not the
same—nake four personalities, Doris being the girl's name.
But there was still another secondary personality, that of
Sleeping Real Doris. She seems to have been the result of a
fall by Doris at eighteen years of age in which she received
an injury to her head and back. She seems to have made
her appearance infrequently and only after Doris had gone
to sleep. The normal self or Real Doris was not conscious of
her existence, tho this would be true if we simply treated
Sleeping Real Doris as the somnambulic state of the normal
seli*

*The terms “supraliminai” and *snbliminal™ zre always definitely
used in this Report by Dr. Prince in relative senses, In the usual parlance
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This is a preliminary characterization of the several per-
sonalities that will give the main outlines for readers of the
detailed record. Bt there is more to be noticed in regard to
them and that must be done by Dr. Prince who himself made
the detailed study of the case. The one thing necessary to
keep the personalities from being confused with each other
will be the study of their amnesias and anaesthesias, This,
however, must be done after their psychological character-
istics and differences have been described by Dr. Prince. We
therefore give below the account written by him summarizing
the main features of the case. It will consist oftwoparts. The
first describes the personalities involved in the case so that
the reader may understand what he is dealing with when
reading both the summary and the detailed record.

1. Description of the Personalities,

In this Dr. Prince summarizes the characteristics of the
personalities so that students may have some conception to
guide intelligent reading and some may not care to pursue
the case further into the detailed record.

STATEMENT OF DR. PRINCE,
1. Dissociation and the Classification of Cases.

Dissociation, or divided personality, is a phenomenon so
remote from the ordinary ken that one feels a kindly

of psychic research “ supraliminal” has meant the normal consciousness and
so the real personality of interest in normal life. In this view the “sub-
liminal " is the mental activity Iying below the threshold and not perceived or
known by the normal or supraliminal consciousness, But Dy, Prince uses the
term “supraliminal” to denote the mentat states that are “out”™ or manifest
to him at any given time. That is, it denotes the personality manifest while
other personalities are not manifest. Hence * subliminal ” means with him the
suppressed personalitics and activities not evident when any one personality
is manifesting. Thus it denotes the mental action that is “under ™ as op-
posed to Yout”, In the change of personality what is “ subliminal™ at one
time becomes *supraliminal™ at another, and the personality that is now
“supraliminal® may become the “subliminal” one, when the other person-
ality comes to the front.
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sympathy for the man who exclaims *incredible 1",
“absurd I, when the subject is first brought to his attention.
It is opposed to * common-sense ,” which term really means
common thought based on common experience. More than
that, it is subversive of the psychology taught in the youth-
time of men still in active life, for that held the absolute unity
of the individual mind. The older type of psychologist re-
volted against the newer conception of “ mental fissures,”
although offered the comfort that, after all, the fissures may
possibly not be so deep, but that unity can be found at the
hottom, But no respectable psychologist today doubts the
reality and the significance of the phenomena referred to. The
old type of physician, too, that talked of the “ shamming"”
and “ play-acting " of hysterics, of course scouted the first re-
ported cases of dissociation. This type has not ceased to
exist, for the simple reasons that many do not find time to
acquaint themselves with the literature of abnormal psy-
chology, and that, lacking in such acquaintance, few indeed
would recognize an actual case if they should meet it in their
practice. But the facts are gradually percolating out into
medical works and journals to such an extent that the doctor
who supposes that the reporters of cases rest their evidence
upon the statements of the patients alone, and are therefore
on a par with one who should maintain, upon the testimony
of a lunatic, that he is rightful heir to the British crown, will
soon be as extinct as the dodo,

The layman may be assured at the outset, that there is no
doubt among the informed regarding the reality of the
phenomena of dual and multiple personality. The facts have
passed into the truisms of psychological science, and are to be
found set forth or referred to as certainties in a large number
of authoritative works.

There have also appeared from time to time, particularly
during the last thirty years, descriptions and notes based on
actual cases, discovered in Europe and America, and yet but
few studies worthy of the name have heen made, based on
single instances, Incomparably the chief of those which exist
are, Dr. Morton Prince’s * Dissociation of a Personality ,” and
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Drs. Sidis’s and Goodhart's “ Multiple Personality,” both’
American works.

It is probable that in the future cases of fully-developed
dissociation will appear to become much more freguent than
they have been in the past. And probably this will be an ap-
pearance only, due to increased ability of specialists to bring
them to light. For secondary personalities instinctively con-
ceal themselves and seek to avoid detection as a rule, and
besides, the distinctive and, once they are known, betraying
signs, have been until the most modern period misinterpreted,
supposed to indicate deception, insanity or demoniac posses-
sion. How many victims have been hopelessly immured in
asylums as lunatics, how many tortured and put to death as
witches in former times, can only he conjectured. A happier
period is dawning for the few cases of extreme development,
and for the more numerous cases on one side or the other, but
near, the boundary line.

Cases of dissociation may be classified first, according to
whether they involve two or more than two personalities.
The first type, in which but one secondary personality is
added to the primary, has been entitled Bimorphosis (two-
forms), and oft-cited instances are those of Ansel Bourne, T,
C. Hanna and “ Felida X.” The second type, characterized
by more than one secondary personality in addition to the
primary, has been named Polymorphosis (many-forms), is of
rarer occurrence, and familiar examples are “ Miss Beau-
champ” and “Alma Z.”

A cross-line of division is drawn according to whether the
personalities involved do not, or do, alternate back and forth
in control. If the primary personality gives way to a second-
ary (theoretically a third might follow this), and there is no
further change for a considerable period, no oscillation back
and forth, at least until shortly before the return to the pri-
mary state (if there is such return), the descriptive term
monocyclical (single-cycled) is applicable. Thus, if a person
underwent a single alteration of personality from which he
never after returned to his original condition (as appears to
have been the case with * Mrs, H "), or if a considerable stay
in a secondary state was ended by a permanent return to the
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primary (as in the case of Ansel Bourne), or il such a his-
tory was followed by a brief series of alternations terminat-
ing in recovery (as in the case of T. C. Hanna), he would
equally belong to the monocyclical class. But if in Bimorphosis
the personalities change back and forth (as happened with
“ Felida X "), or if in Polymorphosis they interchange, whether
or not in a fixed order (as with “Miss Beauchamp”), the de-
scriptive term is polycyclical {many-cycled).

It will be observed, then, that there are four pessible
elasses marked out by these lines of division.

(@) Monocyclical bimorphosis {example, Thomas C. Hanna).

(b) Monocyclical polymorphosis (No certain instance known
to the writer).

(¢) Polycyclical bimorphosis (example, * Felida X 7).

(d) Polycyclical polymorphosis (example, * Miss Beau-
champ ™).

Still another useful distinction is founded on whether in
a given case a secondary personality makes its first appear-
ance divested of all or nearly all knowledge and acquired
powers or whether it appears not so divested, but at once
competent to grapple with the problem of living. So far as ]
am aware, all cases of the former sort reported, previous to
that of Doris, are of the bimorphosis type. Instances are:

(a) Thomas C. Hanna (Monocyclical bimorphosis, with
infant, or incompetent, secondary personality).

(b} Ansel Bourne (Monocyclical bimorphosis, with adult,
or competent, secondary personality).

A full, though cumbrous, descriptive title of the Doris
case would be Polycyclical polymorphosis (quintuple), with one
personality instially of infant, or incompetent, character. It must
be understood that an infant personality, so called, is as a rule not
infantile as to intellect, but only as to mental content {though
there appear to have been exceptions), and that it is capable
of education.

A. Explanatory.

The_ case of Doris Fischer is probably the only one on
record in which a secondary personality, not only existing as
2 subliminal co-consciousness during the periods when the
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primary personality was conscious and in control, but also
alternating as the consciousness in control during the periods
when the primary personality was submerged and un-

kconscious, appeared as early as the third year of the subject’s
life.

It is certainly the only one permitted by circumstances
to be under scientific observation daily and almost hourly
from a period when psychical disintegration was at its ex-
tremest stage up to and well past the date when continuityand
integrity of consciousness were restored to the primary per-
sonality, a duration in this case of three and a half years,
Unremitting scrutiny was made practicable by the adoption
of the subject into the investigator's family, Thus was it
possible, also, to guard her from most of the shocks and
strains to which she would otherwise have heen subjected, to
make constant the application of an experimentally developed
system of therapeutics, and to reach so astonishingly swift a
cure. It iIs, indeed, not so much of a marvel that she was
restored to psychical integrity in but three and a half years
as that this result was attained at all. For when the case was
taken in hand two of the personalities (one anomalous, to be
sure, in that she did not seem to subtract anything from the
mentality or sensory powers of the primary personality) had
been in existence for nineteen years, a third had heen
dominant for five years, a fourth had led her shadowy ex-
istence for four years, and the original or primary personality
had not in five years summed up as much as three days of
conscious living. Besides all this, at the time of the dis-
covery of the central fact of dissociation a complication of
grave and distressing symptoms were in full play. The
alternations from one personality to another were sometimes
as many as forty in one day. One of the characters in the
drama—one might term it tragedy—{Margaret) was at war
with another (Sick Doris), attempting to afflict her by bodily
tortures, destroying her possessions, undoing her tasks and
irritating her with impish derision, though there were brief
truces when pity replaced malice, Norinal sleep was almost
unknown, and night was a phantasmagoria of strange ex-
periences. There were protracted periods of labor in an

|
|
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abnormal condition wherein productivity was more than
doubled and brief spaces of catalepsy furnished the only rest.
An unusual natural endowment of vitality was almost ex-
hausted, and death was evidently approaching. No wonder
that the primary personality (Real Doris), only dimly aware
of the sorrows of a life almost wholly shut out from her direct
view yet fearing that her own conscious emergences would
wholly, as they had already nearly, come to an end, fell upon
her knees in thankfulness when she read a note from two of
the personalities (Sick Doris and Margaret) informing her
that she was todie. And when, even after the encouragement
of the next following months, Prof. Walker declared that it
was unlikely that an almost lifelong condition of such gravity
could ever be completely rectified and the patient be restored
to entire continuity of consciousness, he said that which was
obviously true in the light of psychological science,

As an easy introduction to the Doris Case I will ask the
reader to put himself in my place in the late fall of 1010, when
1 still supposed that it was one of hysteria only. You are
talking with a somewhat stolid looking young woman, with
apprehensive manner and nervous laugh (Sick Doris), when
suddenly you note what seems to be an odd change of mood
(Sick Doris sinks into the depths, and Margaret “ comes
out '), Though not startling in its abruptness and antithesis
(the personalities are on their guard, more or less, to preserve
their secret), yet she now has an air of restrained mischiev-
ousness, her demeanor is in some indefinable way more child-
ish, her laugh is freer and her remarks often naive. Presently
the stohid look comes back but with a difference, there is a
tendency to chuckle, the signs of nervousness are increased,
and in the eyes is a peculiar fixity of regard (S. D. has re-
turned, but M is now more intently watching underneath, and
is amused, disturbing the consciousness of 3. D.).* Later you

* The following initials will be used throughout the Report for the
arious personalities, M. stands for Margaret; D, for Doris and R. D,
ior Real Doris. D, standing for Doris, the name of the girl as an individual,
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begin to talk about books or pictures, and suddenly note that
the girl is no longer stolid or childishly gay but is following
what is said with lips parted in a happy smile and face fairly
luminous with interest {Real Doris has taken Sick Doris’s
place), and you congratulate yourself upon the choice of a
subject which has evoked such intelligent appreciation. At
another time the transition from reserve and stolidity to the
rollicking and humorous “ mood " is more pronounced (M. is
somewhat off her guard, and is acting more according to her
real nature). Gradually you begin to note oddities and con-
tradictions. You expect her to partake of a dish for which
she expressed and evidenced fondness yesterday, and she can-
not be induced to touch it, but declares that it is not agreeable
to her. At the very next meal she devours a quantity of
it (5. D. did not know that M. had said she liked the article
of food and had eaten it, and M., while aware of 8, D.’s
refusal and remark, was herself too fond of her favorite
dishes to decline them on account of the risk of discovery).
Oiten she repeats a story within a few hours of the first re-
lation, and seems confused when reminded of the fact that
she told it before, saving, * O, I forgot that I told you that—I
thought it was someone else.” Not infrequently she con-
tradicts a statement lately made by her, or expresses an
opinion at variance with one previously uttered. Sometimes
at a “change of mood " there seems to be a hitch in her part
of the conversation, she seems for a few moments to be tatk-
ing somewhat at random, You have not noticed that the
moods succeed each other in a certain order when followed
by this momentary conversational obscuration. On the whole,
she impresses you as being a very mercurial young lady of
unsettled mental habits and not uniformly veracious char-
acter,

Similar impressions prevail among her acquaintances and
even her relatives. Intuttively, as seems to be the rule in
these cases, she has felt that she is different from other peo-

without distinction of personalities. The Glossary explains the distinction
berween Doris and Real Doris. S, D. stands for Sick Doris. 5. M. stands for
Sleeping Margaret, and 8. R. D, for Sleeping Real Doris, The Glossary will
give a fuller explanation.
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ple, and the group of her personalities has guarded the
sccret, all except the primary one more or less masking their
peculiarities, in proportion as the demeanor of persons with
whom she is in company gives token that caution is neces-
sary. Paradoxically, she is in least danger of discovery by
those who have known her all her life, They are wholly
ignorant of the literature of abnormal psychology, and have
been so familiar with her oddities that nothing about her can
now surprise them, It is the new acquaintance, known to he
well-read and noted to be observant, of whom the group of
personalities stands in awe, and with whom they take the
most pains, not uniformly maintained nor always successful,
to dissemble their individual differences.

When Margaret followed Sick Doris or Real Doris, she
came with the knowledge of zll the sensory impressions and
thoughts of the previous state. The same was true when Sick
Doris supplanted Real Doris. But it was otherwise when the
alternations occurred in the reverse order. Ii Real Doris
came directly after a Sick Doris or Margaret period, or if
Sick Doris followed Margaret, the present personality was
utterly ignorant of what had previonsly taken place. What-
ever had been done, said, heard or thought by her predecessor
was to her absolutely unknown, except as she could make
shrewd inferences from her situation at the moment she
“eame out " Of course, when the transition was in the order
that did not break the mnemonic chain, a conversation, for
example, could be carried on across the barrier with perfect
ease. But what was the personality to do that came on deck
by a sequence that involved amnesia, and found herself
engaged in a conversation of whose nature she had no idea
whatever? She would do what is always done in cases of
this kind, “ fish,"” pretend that she did not hear the last re-
mark of her fellow-interlocutor, appear to have her attention
attracted by an object of enough interest io cause her to
begin to talkk about that, and by various other devices to mark
time until with shrewdness developed by practice she was
able to get her bearings.

Two of the personalities, the miscalled Sieeping Mar-
garet and Sleeping Real Doris, have not heen mentioned
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hitherto, because they did not figure in the psychical mani-
festations witnessed and misapprehended by the girl's circle
of acquaintances. Previously to my discovery of her as the
most singular phenomenon in the case, Sleeping Margaret
(who must not be confounded with Margaret asleep) had
spoken to a human being but twice, and then with such dis-
comfiting results, in each case frightening the auditor out of
her wits and causing her precipitate flight, that she had not
been encouraged to repeat the experiment. And Sleeping
Real Doris (who was by no means equivalent to Real Doris
sleeping) was a purely somnambulic personality (correspond-
ing somewhat to the personalities developed in hypnosis bv
Dr. Morton Prince in the Beauchamp case), and if any of her
marvelous “ conversation-recitals ” were ever attended to
by members of the family they doubtless thought that Doris
was simply talking, in some weird fashion, in her sleep, and
the incident was added to the list of her incomprehensible
oddities.

B. Cursory Description of the Five Personalities.

And now it may be well for the reader to have an outline
portrait of each of the personalities, ere he enters upon the
Record, which will gradually develop them in wealth of de-
tail. Of the Real Doris, indeed, the original and primary
personality, from which the others, theoretically, were de-
rived by processes of “ mental fissure” consequent upon
catastrophic psychoneurotic shocks, I need here say nothing
except indirectly by way of contrasting the others with her,
as her portratture is given in the opening pages of the main
narrative. But it will be of advantage to enter upon the read-
ing of that with a fairly clear initial conception of the char-
acteristics and peculiarities of the respective secondary mem-
bers of the group.

The anasthesias will later be described in a separate
paragraph.

It will be understood that the description presents them as
they appeared after they were brought to light, confidence
had been established and all masks withdrawn, since each felt
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MARGARET AT PLAY
Mothering Ler family of dolls. IFrom photograph taken in 1911,

Habitnal composed expression of Sleeping Margaret.  Sce page 41,
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free to act according to the real promptings of her nature;
but also before therapeutic measures had altered and re-
duced them.

1. Margaret.

Margaret, who resulted from the first dissociating shock
experienced by Doris, which there are consentient reasons
to believe took place when she was about three years old, had
been in existence for nineteen years, both as an alternating
and as a subliminal personality, when the scientific study of

the case began. She was mentally and ¢motionally a child of
not_more than ten years, with some extraordinarily naive

notions not usually carried beyond the age of five or six, Her
facial expression was strikingly child-like, her voice in speech
or laughter that of a young tomboy, her point of view, mental
habits and tastes in every way juvenile. When alone with
friends who knew her secret so that she acted as she felt, her
speech and whole demeanor were such that one almost forgot
that the bodily size did not comport with all else which so
consistently constituted the make-up of a child. She was
mischievous, roguish, witty, a consummate mimic, ingratiat-
ing, winsome and altogether lovable, as a rule. She de-
lighted ta sit cross-legged on the floor and show her dolls and
the trumpery contents of “ her drawer ” to grave doctors and
other professionals who had been initiated, and by her de-
lightful drollery would send them into gales of irresistible
laughter. She alone of the group was slangy, and mispro-
nounced or misspelled many a word which offered no dif-
ficulties to R. D., 5. M. or even S. D. Although she had
direct access to all the thoughts of the primary personality,
many of these thoughts were as incomprehensible to her as is
the political and scientific conversation which a normal child
may daily hear but let pass idly by, She devoutly believed in
fairies, and was amazed that I had not learned that doctors
find babies on river-banks and take them to expectant mothers
in their satchels. She fibbed and romanced for the fun of it,
but could not avoid a betraying twinkle of the eye while doing
so. Though amiable as a rule, she had occasional fits of sul-
leniness and even of rage, which when once begun seemed

.-
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to run an automatic course, sometimes ending in strange
states in which she lost recognition of her friends and was in
deadly fear of them. These became fewer in the course of
therapeutic progress, and finally passed away. All three, R.
D., 8. D, and M., were suggestible, but M. the most of all;
besides which, she was subject to a variety of motor and
verbal automatisms, which once started carried her along
helplessly until her attention was powerfully diverted or the
automatisins had spent their force. It was a mystery to her
why R. D. and 8. D. cared for church or Bible-study. It was
not that she was opposed to religion, she simply could not
comprehend it—it was all * dumm stufi ” to her. She was
demonstrative and affectionate, the antithesis of 8. D. in this
respect. When one reads of her efforts to torture and harrass
S. D, he will be inclined to think that she was a fiend in-
carnate, but it must be remembered that these were
essentially automatic reactions, and ceased with the cessation
of overwork, There was nothing really bad about Margaret,
her very conceptions of badness were those of a small child.
Turning to physical characteristics we note that she amply
made up for 5. D.’s deficient appetite. She was childishly fond
of eating, and some of her gastronomic feats were note-
worthy. Her senses of taste and smell seemed to be up to
normal, and she had little if any tactile anasthesia though
subnormal as to the deeper sensations of cuts and bruises, but
conversely to 5. D. she felt internal pains and aches but slight-
ly if at all. She possessed a form of visnal hyperasthesia
which enabled her to make her way with ease about an almost
completely strange room so dark that I could not have moved
three steps without getting into difficulties. Her auditory
hyperasthesia was still more extraordinary, as many inci-
dents will show. She could hear at thirty-one feet the ticking
of a watch which was audible to the ordinary person less than
five feet away. One is almost tempted to say that she could
hear the grass grow. Her declension, much slower than that
of 8. D., brought no impairment of this faculty, but it did dull
taste and smell, produce almost absolute tactile and muscular
anzsthesia, in turn narrow and shorten her field of vision,
and at length reduce her to blindness. Her mentality also






SICK DORIS

From a tintype taken ins the summer of 1908. This portrait gives some idea
of the patient melancholy, and especially the peculiar woodenness, which char-
acterized her expression in repose.
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diminished, she seemed to retrace the path of her past de-
velopment, actually picking up pronunciations and manner-
isms of earlier childhood as she went, until she reached the
intellectual age of about five, in which stage, without par-
ticular warning, she disappeared,

2. Sick Doris.

Sick Doris was the product of the second dissociating
shock, experienced by Real Doris at the age of seventeen and
resulting from the sudden death of her idolized mother. Sick
Doris, coming with no memory of events or even language,
no recognition of persons or knowledge of the use of ob-
jects—in fact with mind as void of factual and verbal content
as that of 2 newborn infant—, but developing in mental ac-
quirement under the tuition of Margaret with amazing
rapidity, had been in existence for nearly five years at the
time when the real study of the case began. She was char-
acterized by woodenness of expression, her face, probably
from relaxation of the muscles, was broader and more flabby
than that of M. in particular, her eye was dull, lacking in the
glee and mischief of M.’s and the wide-open intelligence of
R. D.’s. Her glances were apt to be somewhat furtive, while
both R. D. and M, always looked you directly in the face. Her
voice had a quality hard to define, lacking the soft, womanly
modulations of R. D.’s voice, and the infinite variety of tone-
color in that of M. ; it was somewhat monotonous and metallic,
In manner she was reserved, half independent—half depreca-
tory, and nervous. Having no capacity for affection, she was
nevertheless capable of a dog-like friendship, which never
manifested itself by caresses, but only by a disposition to seek
the society of its object, to perform tasks for her and to make
her presents, Thus, for many months during which both she
and M. were endeavoring to avoid meeting me for fear that 1
would discover their secret, and were even resolving to stay
away altogether, she was yet brought back to sit and talk with
Mrs. Prince, as by a hypnotic spell. She was a slave to her
narrow conceptions of duty, Her chief joy was to make and
present gifts to her friends, and she did this to an extent
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which exasperated M., and which the calm judgment of R.
D. would not have approved. She was rehigiously inclined
without R, D.’s well-defined reasons for being so, while M.
was frankly pagan. Her sense of humor was not keen, A
joke about a man who had a wooden leg which sprouted under
the stimulus of a powerful linament would only puzzle her—
she would wonder how it could be. Nor would M. see the
humor of it, since to her childish fancy almost anything was
possible, R, D, and 8. M., on the other hand, would compass
the grotesqueness of the conceit in a moment and laugh
heartily. S. D. thought in terms of the literal and the con-
crete, and was usually at a loss when she encountered ab-
stract and figurative expressions in her reading, While she
never learned certain elementary manual operations which
were easy even to M., sueh as the proper way to set the
hands of a cloek, in other directions her manual skill was the
greatest found in the circle of the group. Embroidery, for
instance, M. could do in rather clumsy fashion, while R. D.
had some degree of skill, but 5. D.'s work was exquisite. Not
only did she embroider with artistic dexterity, but this and
some other species of work she was capable of performing
at phenomenal speed with no impairment of quality; though
it must be added that in such cases she enlisted, by some ob-
scure process of compulsion, the co-operation of M., andconse-
quently brought upon herself revengetul reprisals. Suggest-
ible to a degree, she was also subject to that narrowing of
the field of attention which results in so-called fixed ideas.
Hence came the examples of hysterical or automatic fabri-
cation found in the case, all of which centered in the Sick
Doris complex, R. D. being totally ignorant of them, and M.
and 5. M. fully aware that they had no adequate foundations
of fact. If affronted, she made no protest or defense, but
bore all silently until she could weep in solitude, Sick Doris
received her name from M. and 5. M. because of the general
state of her health. I do not think she could be termed
neurasthenic in the strict sense of the term. She appeared
habitually worn and weary, but that was because the accumu-
lated results of spasmodic and prolonged exertion, insufficient
sleep, improper food, persecution at the hands of M., and other
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factors of a life which would have taxed the fullest nervous
resources, fell chiefly upon her. She suffered a large part of
the time from pains in the hip and internal organs. She was
in parts very subnormal to tactile sensations, and the deeper
sensations of cuts, pinches and the like. Her senses of taste
and smell were dull and her thermal an®esthesia was so pro-
found that on a cold winter day, when others warmly wrapped
were complaining, she felt no discomfort in summer garb.
Certain articles of food which M. or R. D., one or both, dis-
liked, she liked, and some of which they were fond she never
touched. But the table had not much attraction for her and
she ate little. She had individual tastes as to hair-dressing,
clothes, and many other matters, which will be set forth in
the Record. Such in brief was Sick Doris, at the height of
her development. During the process of her dissolution in
1911, while her memories were rapidly departing from her
own consciousness and emerging in the consciousness of R,
D., the portrait was subjected to many shadings. Her various
anzesthesias deepened, until she could neither feel (except in-
ternal pains), taste nor smell. The prick of a pin caused no
movement, the strongest peppersauce was swallowed as
though it were water. Her vision gradually narrowed and
then shortened until she could see, as it were, only the in-
terior of a hollow cone fourteen inches long and less
than six inches in diameter at its farther extremity. As her
memory decayed until she failed to recognize her adoptive
parents, her manner became more cold and reserved, until,
as one turns a corner and faces a2 new view, she suddenly
reached mental infancy and the unsuspecting and happy
confidence of infancy, in which stage she made her occasional
appearances until her extinction in June, 1911.

3. Sleeping Margaret.

Sleeping Margaret, whose title 15 a misnomer, in that
she was neither Margaret asleep nor in any respect like
Margaret, probably adopted her name because she came at
practically the same time as Margaret (a2 few moments
earlier, according to her statement) and because in some ob-
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scure fashion she stood in what might be called local prox-
imity to Margaret. She was the especial riddle of the case,
From appearances one would say that she always slept, since
she practically never talked except when the eyes were closed,
but she professed never to sleep, and in fact was never known
to wander in her speech or to oscillate in the clearness of her
understanding. We have seen that R, D,, S. D. and M. each
part of the time reigned supraliminally, and each part of the
time Dbecame subliminal, the latter two consciously so.
But it is hard to fix S. M.s status, whether it was ever
strictly supraliminal or strictly subliminal. When M. was
“out,” to use a quasi-technical term employed by the per-
sonalities, meaning supraliminal, R. D. and S. D. were “in,”
that is, subliminal. Likewise when S. D. or R. D, was out,
the remaining two members of the trio sunk into the interior
depths. But, up to a late stage, S. M. talked only when M.
was ont, though asleep. There was no question that M. was
supraliminally there and sleeping in her curious fashion, for,
though mysteriously inhibited from hearing S. M. talking
with the same lips, she often made remarks in her own very
different tones, sometimes cutting a sentence or even word of
5. M.'s in half, and performed her characteristic acts un-
conscious that she was interfering with another. The expres-
stons of the two flitted across the face in turn, or were some-
times momentarily blended, and many illustrations will be
given of the two consciousnesses acting at the same time,
now in unison, but more frequently at cross-purposes. 5. M.
seemed to be as truly “ ont ”’ as was M. sleeping, and yet is it
possible for two miental complexes to be operative not ounly
at the same time but at the same psychical level? 5. M. her-
self would say, I am never ont or im; I am always here " 1t
was held that subliminal M. was nearly always conscious,
ranging through three degrees of awareness, from intense
to obscure. But S. M, professed to be always conscious,
someschere, without distinctions of degree. And a system of
signals was devised without the knowledge of M., who in-
deed, like the other personalities had no knowledge even of
5. M.'s existence, by which 8. M. and I might hold intercourse
while M. was awake. I never knew intelligent response to fail
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when I began to use the code, manifesting a consciousness
fully alert and at work underneath a consciousness en-
grossed in its own affairs and unobservant of what was going
on. Never, that is to say, save in a few instances where S. M.
professed to have been out of the body and yet not less
conscious wherever she was, And certainly at such times
some profound change took place, some mternal displace-
ment, powerfully evidencing itself in the feelings of M., and
particularly those of R. D, As M, approached her end 8. M.
acquired, or at least first exercised the power to talk during
the sleep of R. D,, a practice which she kept up after R. D,
had been restored to full continuity of consciousness. In ease
of emergency she would latterly warn or advise R, D. while
the latter was awake, by what is technically known as auto-
matic speaking, with her vocal organs. Even as M. disclaimed
proprietorship over parts of the body, 5. M, uniformly dis-
claimed ownership of any part of it, yet she had limited and
interniittent control, during the sleep of M., or at a later stage
of R. D, of the facial muscles, the instrumentalities of speech,
and of the limbs. She went so far as to sit up at times, but
never to walk or stand, giving the reason, however, that this
would endanger waking and frightening the personality
sleeping. She had her characteristic voice, pitched a little
lower than that of R. D., though most resembling hers, niore
musical than that of S, D., lacking the kaleidoscopic mto-
nations of M.'s. Her facial expression was usually that of
philosophical calmness, though she would often smile sedate-
ly, or even break out into laughter, especially at some odd
speech or antic interpolated by M. Mentally, she seemed the
maturest of all, in fact impressed me as if she were a woman
of forty, She was my chief coadjutor in the cure, though M.
was also generally anxious to help, studied the progress of
R. D., and gave valuable information. But Sleeping
Margaret studied the interior situation unremittingly,
- watched the result of my experiments and reported thereon,
suggested measures which often proved of great importance,
and made predictions as to the development of the case which
were nearly, not quite, always justified by the event. She
appeared to be, judging by her utterances respecting interior
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relations and psychical mechanics, etc., of a highly analytical
and philosophical mind, but she hersell uniformly disclaimed
having reasoned out her dicta, saying, “ I only tell what 1
see.”” Her memory in a general way seemed to embrace that
of the other three, with additions of her own, and yet occa-
sional details recollected by one or another, R. D., 8. D, or
M., she admitted having forgotten. But as the cure of the
case became well advanced she herself notified me that she
was forgetting many incidents of D.’s childhood and T dis-
covered that the complicated schemes of psychical mechanics
which she had formerly recited so smoothly, with no essential
discrepancies appearing on subsequent cross-examinations,
were fading from her memeory. Her own explanation was
that she no longer reviewed the events of D.’s childhood or a
system of psychical relations which had mostly passed away,
because there was no longer any use in so doing, her own
office as guardian was becoming a sinecure, and she was now
giving the most of her attention to her “own affairs.” But
with this exception thus plausibly accounted for, she under-
went no mental alteration whatever, being in this as in certain
other particttlars a contrast to the other secondary members
of the group, In peneral, she claimed to feel, see, taste, etc.,
only throngh the sensations of the others, nevertheless there
were articles of food for which she entertained a preference.
She was the only one of the four thus far described who
showed not a trace of suggestibility. If anyone became
strenuous in his attempts to foist his views upon her by
argument or suggestion, she might respond ** Oh, certainly !”
or " Yes, of course 1" with intonations which expressed irony
so subtly that they might and semetimes did deceive a com-
parative stranger. Still, though firm in her opinions, she was
amenable to reasoning, as any sensible person is. But when
she thought that the data were within her purlien and that
her opponent did not know what he was talking about, she
did not hesitate to say so. Very rarely she took offense,
in which case she usually relapsed into silence. Further
traits and claims of this singular psychical entity must be
gathered from the Record.
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4. Sleeping Real Doris.

Sleeping Real Doris is the name which M. very properly
applied to a somnambulic personality which was created at
the age of cighteen, in consequence of a fall and injury to
the head and back. She would make her appearance only
now and then after Real Doris had fallen asleep, and it is
doubtful if she ever rose fully above the threshold or R. D.
ever sank completely below it during her manifestations,
though the latter was not conscious of her or any more aware
of her existence than of the existence of 5. M. 8She was like
the fog which exhales from a lake and hangs over its sur-
face. It is doubtful if she had self-consciousness, Yet she
had her peculiar facial expression when she was reacting to
external stimuli, one of quizzical puzzlement; her character-
istic harsh, croaking tones, on the rare occasions in which her
utterances were not those of an automatic transmitter; and
repeated tests showed that she had memories which were not
those of R, D. or of §. D., but were exclusively her own, She
passed through three stages, The first continued up to the
time when S. D. began to decline, and was marked by two
different though similar phenomena: (a) The substantial if
not literal (the writer is inclined to think it literal) reproduc-
tion of R, Ds or 8. D.'s part in past conversations, which
originally took place at any time from the day before back to
the days of early childhood. According to the several dates
of the conversations, the facial expression and the tones
covered the whole range from childhood to young maturity,
and sounded nearly the whole gamut of the emotions. It is
easier to suggest these wonderful scenes to the imagination
than to describe them. But it was hard to avoid the con-
viction, when one listened to one side of a conversation, for
example, between R. D. and her mother when the former
was seven years old, heard the childish tones so charged with
adoration, saw the ecstatic juvenile countenance from which
all care and sorrow had magically been erased, and noted how
as she paused for the loved voice that none other could hear,
she laughed and clapped her hands with joy,— it was, T say,
hard to avoid believing that one was hearing and beholding
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a very transcript of the tones, looks and gestures of fifteen
years before. Especially was this the case considering that at
another time the conversational part reproduced would be
one borne by S. D. the very day before, and the exact simili-
tude of her tones and looks and weary manner appeared and
her characteristic expressions were heard. (b) Reproductions
of soliloquies originally uttered by Real Doris on her brief
emergences from psychical incarceration, under vartous cir-
cumstances and at different times during the preceding five
years. In the second stage the * conversation-recitals”
ceased, but the soliloquies became more frequent. In the
third stage, while the soliloquy-rehearsals were gradually de-
caying, a tendency to respond to external sensory stimuli was
first observed. Sleeping Real Doris seemingly was developing,
though 5. M. said that she was not really doing so. Pre-
sumably the internal seismic displacement caused by the
obliteration of 8. D., which, while it rounded ont R. D.'s
memories and increased her psychical grasp upon all her
bodily machinery, at the same time placed more burden upon
both R. D. and M. and produced in them emotional dis-
turbances for a time, also liberated in the flickering conscions-
ness of Sleeping Real Doris a transient breeze of energy.
There is no doubt whatever that by experimenting with
various types of stimuli 8. R. D. could have been educated
into self-consciousness and sundry forms and degrees of men-
tal functioning. Indeed, she showed such a disposition to re-
spond to the few tentative essays which were made in this
direction that I properly took alarm and wholly abstained
from any unnecessary repetition. The sequel! was that the
feeble flame, which for a Lrief space seemed to burn a little
brighter, soon faded, and suddenly went out altogether.

The foregoing portraiture of the secondary members of
the five-fold Doris group is already too long and yet is in-
adequate. The reader will later learn that the transitions
from one to another were often marked by striking physical
signs besides those hitherto mentioned, such as alteration of
the pulse, instant resumption of even breath by R, D, coming
from S. D, panting convulsively with excitement, water trick-
ling from M.'s blind eyes a few moments after R D., with
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eyes not injuriously affected by the lamplight, had departed.
He will witness a great variety of incidents occurring in the
relations of the personalities to each other. The evolution
of the case toward final reintegration will show various
psychical cataclysms, shiftings, blendings and shadings. Itis
believed that the unexampled opportunities for constant ob-
cervation presented by the Doris case have added something
to our knowledge of abnormal mental processes, and, by
legitimate inferences, have thrown light upon the workings of
the normal mind also. Besides this, certain complicated and
symmetrical statements were made by M. and particularly by
S. M. bearing upon such problems, which are at least worthy
of attention,

5. Intercognition and its Mechanism.

A brief statement of the intercognitive powers of each of
the personalities at the time of their widest extension should
be added here, leaving minutiz and the many alterations
which appeared in the course of the process of reintegration
to the Record.

Real Doris.

Real Doris had no direct knowledge of the thoughts or
acts of any of the secondary personalities, That is, she could
not see into their minds or remember anything that had oc-
curred during their supraliminal periods; no valve of her
consciousness opened in the direction of any of them. She
learned much from the chance remarks of her associates, in-
ferred much from the situation in which she found herself and
from what may be called the after-image of their emotions
lingering subsequently to her arrival, Both M. and 8, D, left
notes for her to read. Habitually, in childhood, subliminal M.
conversed orally with her, of course using the same miouth
without her volition, but later in life only occasionally uttered
ejaculations, as 8. M. began to do after M. vanished. Within
the period of my observation, not only sporadically unspoken
sentences or single words “ bubbled up " from a lower per-
sonality, conveying a hint or an admonition, but she was
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often aware of an inward perturbation from which she could
correctly infer the sentiments of the subliminally co-conscious
M. Besides, the emotionally colored thoughts of M, some-
times figured in the dreams of R. D,, but without recognition
or identification. All these phenomena are strictly analogous
to the varied modes by which a person whose mind I cannot
penetrate, conveys toc me disclosures and tokens of his
thoughts by means of oral statements, letters, shouts from a
distance, gestures and so on. So far as R. D.’s own insight
was concerned, every secondary personality was separated
from her by an opaque wall.

Sick Doris.

Sick Doris knew or was capable of knowing (since like
any normal person she did not always pay attention to what
was within view) all that R. D. did, said, experienced and
thought. The usual assumption would be that she had this
knowledge because on each of her successive arrivals fol-
lowing R, D., the memories of the latter were transferred to
her en blor, and that they were regarded by her as referring ex-
clusively to the experiences of another than herself. I believe
that this assumption is psychologically unsound, that her
claim, like the claim of Sally in the Beauchamp case, to be
subliminzlly co-conscious during the periods of the primary
personality, was true. In that case, she knew what R. D.
had done, said, heard and thought, because she had actually
heen an ohserver at the time, so that all these experiences of
R. D. were, while they were in actual progress, incorporated
into her own stream of consciousness, She remembered as
I remember what Robinson did last night, not because Rob-
inson mysteriously handed over to me his memories on my
waking this morning, but because I recall what I myself saw
him do. Of course it cannot be absolutely proved that S.
D.’s co-consciousness during R. D.’s supraliminal periods was
always equally clear any more than it can be absolutely
proved that it was continuous. On the analogy of M., it
would seem likely that it was subject to certain finctuations,
though I cannot say that 1 ever found her, when in her
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prime, to be seriously at fault in her statements regarding
R. D. But R. D. was the only one into whose consciousness
she had insight. The others were enclosed from her in cham-
bers into which she could not look. When M, was “out " §,
D. was as if annihilated for the time being. She knew much
about M., but because M. chose that she should know, and by
processes almost perfectly coterminous with those by which
R, D. became aware of a modicum of acts and sentiments of
two of the characters beneath her, M. and S. D. wrote notes
to each other, they held frequent oral conversations, and in
the consciousness of the latter emerged emotions and un-
spoken thoughts of which she well recognized the source and
the meaning. ’

Margaret,

Margaret had, or was capable of having (for she also
might have her attention absorbed by some matters to the
neglect of others) knowledge of the experiences of every sort
and the thoughts of both R, D. and S D. Curious allegations
were made to the effect that her knowledge of S. D. was
immediate, while that of R. D. was mediate, reflected as it
were from S, D.’s consciousness as from 3 mirror, but T will
not complicate this introductory sketch with them, In her
prime she was able to tell me all or at least something about
every incident that took place during a period when one of
her higher colleagues was supraliminal. She too, it was de-
clared, remembered hecause those incidents took place under
her observation, she being subliminally co-conscious during
their occurrence. Indeed, it was claimed that she had a con-
. scious existence absolutely unbroken, waking or sleeping,
save for very rare and brief intervals during her periods
“out” when she entercd, usually voluntarily and because
of weariness, what may be called a comatose condition,
and for that one of her four subliminal stages known
as “away and sleeping”, which so long as she was in
her prime seems to have been comparatively infrequent
and of short duration. But her otherwise uninterrupted
consciousness was not always equally clear. Besides fluctu-
ations when she was supraliminal and awake, analogous
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to those to which the normal person is liable, and the
variations of her supraliminal sleeping state, from simple
dreaming to the utilization of every sensory connection with
the outside world except sight, she was capable, it was de-
clared, of four distinct degrees of awareness when in a sub-
liminal relation. That some such scheme actually existed was
evidentially indicated. The situation of M. as respects Sleep-
ing Real Doris fell out of the general order. She heard
the utterances of this inchoate personality and followed her
acts, but could only infer her independent thoughts, so
far as the latter possessed these. And she knew none of the
thoughts of Sleeping Margaret, nor even of her existence,
until late in the casé, when, because of a2 dramatic exercise of
energy by 8. M. in an emergency, M. inferred that there must
be another personality, much as the existence of the unknown
planet Neptune was inferred because of the exercise of its
attractive energy. But she was earlier often aware of oppo-
sition and even pumshment the source of which she could
not define.

Sleeping Real Doris.

Sleeping Real Doris was in a class by herseif. She had no
knowledge, properly speaking, of any of the others, she was
simply an automatic phonograph to preserve and from time to
time to repeat utterances originally delivered by R, 1. or
8. D., anywhere from a few hours to many years previously.
She did, indced, a few times repeat a word or short phrase
from M., but seemingly this was because she caught it as it
were, in passing, as it was uttered by M. a few moments be-
fore her own arrival.

Sleeping Margaret.

Sleeping Margaret completes the series whose uniformity
S. R, D. only interrupts. She had insight into all the content
of the consciousnesses of R. D,, 8. D, and M., and that insight
was declared, and appeared, to admit of no varyving degrees,
though she as well as the others might fluctuate in atteation.
It was, or appeared to be, potentially perfect. She claimed to
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have an absolutely continuous memory so that her knowledge
of the thoughts of the others was not a transference but a
part of the content of her own observation. As M, declared
that she had direct view of 8. D.’s thoughts but saw those of
R. D, mediately through S. D., so 8. M. alleged that she, in
turn, saw M.’s thoughts directly; those of S, D, through, or as
she preferred to say, reflected from the consciousness of M.,
and thase of R. D, as reflected from the consciousness of 8. D.
to M. and again from that of M. to herself. §. D. knew no
more what passed in the shadowy mind of S. R. D. than did
M., except that she drew shrewder inferences from her few
gestures and other acts,

The intercognitive powers of 8. D. and M. gradunally de-
cayed as the primary personality progressed in reintegration,
and the many and striking changes which took place in degree
and process are to be found scattered through the pages of
the Record, readily to be combined and compared by aid of
the analytical index.

8. Conclusion.

The writer has had in mind two classes of readers whose
claims and possible demands are somewhat divergent, First
a class made up of psychologists, physicians, and students of
psychology and the healing art. If to such these records
appear unduly voluminous, it should be remembered that it
will not take a tithe of the time or energy to peruse them that
it would to extract the same amount of illuminative material
from the study of an actual case, and also that it is such faith-
ful daily memoranda made throughout the whole cycle of
mental and physical changes from a condition of extreme dis-
integration to reintegration that the best substitute may be
found for first-hand study of a type so rare that the interested
investigator may well pass a whole lifetime without having
seen or at least recognized a single well-developed case. The
importance of the revelations of 2 complicated instance of
dissociation in relation not only to morbid or abnormal
psychology but also to the analysis of the normal mind, can
hardly be over-estimated. Psychical elements which normal-
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ly are as it were inextricably commingled are here to a large
extent isolated, untwisted like the strands of a rope. The
cover is off from the psychical piano, and the working of the
levers can be seen. The handwriting of the emotions is
registered in large characters. The psycho-chemical re-
actions from stimuli of every sort may be tested as in a
laboratory. The greater and less shocks of life whose results
the normally integrated mind glosses over and conceals never
fail to ring bells in the personalities—the lower selveswholike
erewhile submerged sides of an iceherg come to the surtace.
Such reactions, such psychical mechanics, are not different in
kind but only in degree in normal mentality. The same causes
which are destructive in the abnormal are destructive in the
normal mind; those which are stimulating and upbuilding in
the one class are stimulating and upbuilding in the other.
The normal mind may steel itself against shocks, but it can-
not wholly avoid their effects, or at least it is in their direc-
tion that danger lies. And as to various morbid psychological
conditions, especially that immense class of cases roughly
brought together under the title of hysteria, these lie on the
very border-land of Dissociation, and the teachings of the
Doris case are eloquent in their behalf. In their behall, T say,
for it is not merely theoretical understanding of such condi-
tions which is forwarded, but the actual pathway of their
rectification is indicated. In other words, what treatment
worked badly in the Doris case will be mistaken treatment in
most cases of hysteria, etc., and in general what was followed
by beneficial results in the Doris case will likewise be pro-
ductive of benefit in the less grave border maladies,

But, secondly, this work has in view readers who, though
not professionals or special students of abnormal psychology,
take an intelligent interest in the problems of the human
mind. On their account, unfamiliar technical terms are
avoided when possible. Such as must be employed are for
their convenience dehned in a Glossary. It is hoped that
many laymen may read these records carefully enough to be
canfirmed in and spread the gospel of psychical healing. Suf-
ferers from hysteria and allied psychoneurotic disorders are
much in need of intelligent sympathy, and are of all patients
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about the least likely to get it. They are as sensitive as an
aneroid barometer, to the subtle alterations of tone, expres-
sion and manner by which their associates consciously or un-
consciously express a critical attitude. One may determine
that he will not show it, but if he inwardly thinks that the
patient is “ shamming,” or * scheming,” the hypermesthetic
hysteric will almost surely feel it and the injustice of it. Her
own relatives, however they may love her, are often the most
censorious and unjust in their misconceptions, and place the
most obstacles in the way of recovery, Scolding, reproaches,
well-meant intimations that “it is all imagination,” ete,, pro-
duce feelings of being misunderstiood, mingled self-reproach
and self-justification, resentment, grief, — all psychic poisons.
I have known a mildly dissociated patient to reflect the sud-
denly changed mental attitude of her physician as by magic,
and her prognosis to become at once more hopeful, though
he had been unaware of betraying his former suspicions.
How much more will undisguised and continual nagging in
the patient’s home, due to ignorance, aggravate her symptoms
and block her recovery. To be sure, it is a mistake to
*“ coddle ,” but unsympathetic treatment is as great a mistake
and tenfold more likely to occur, To lead her away from even
her hallucinations, one must treat the hallucinations with
respect. Morbid thoughts are not to be thrown out by direct
assault, but by bringing into the city the Trojan horse replete
with sound and healthful thoughts. When she has won self-
respect by feeling that she is respected, she will generally be
easy to lead slowly out of the quaking sands to surer and
surer ground, not indeed by negiect of physical measures, but
with chief reliance upon a proper psychological regime.

Have I not placed too much emphasis upon the psychical
factor in the methods of treating such patients as we have
been discussing? [ reply that there are of course cases where
the root of the trouble is more cerebral and neural than
mental, and where the treatment must be adjusted according-
ly but there are a vast number where it is to be found in
morbid, and as it were, dislocated, conditions of the mind it-
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self. But do not all such conditions nevertheless rest upon
the physical basis of the cerebro-neural system, and should
not treatment in the nature of things be addressed in all cases
primarily to the rectification of bodily conditions? I do not
propose here to dogmatize or to enter into the controversy as
to whether the mind is an entity by itself, or a function of the
brain, for it is not necessary. No matter what their formal
doctrines may be upon this subject, one by one the leading
specialists in the actual treatment of psychopathies have been
coming over to the conviction that the most successful way of
dealing with these is by methods chiefly psychical. It is
uswvally those whose interest in morbid psychology is mostly
intellectual and speculative who distrust these methods most;
those whose interest runs in the harness of their actual eforts
to relieve their afflicted fellows are coming rapidly into line.
Not that there are not plenty left of the old school, who are
always doctoring the * nerves,” and attempting to overcome
* auto-intoxication.” 1 have in mind two specialists in this
general class of patients in the same city, both educated and
intelligent gentlenien, but one of the old school, the other one
of the apostles of “ psychic medicine.” One looks over the
notes of cases reported by the former to a medical journal,
and it would be amusing to observe the monotonous reiter-
ation at the close of the most of these, * no improvement,”
* the patient died,” “slight improvement, followed by re-
lapse ,” etc., if it were not pathetic. The other is having the
record which is now building up the reputation of the new
school, many complete successes, a few partial successes and
failures. Actual experience is, I say, forcing medical men in-
to the channels of psychical treatment of mental disorders, ir-
respective of what may be their formal theories as to the
ultimate nature of the mind, and its relations to the body.
This is curiously illustrated by the valuable little treatise by
Dr. Paul Dubois, * The Psychologicat Origin of Mental Dis-
orders.” Dr. Dubois says, " In my view, consequently, the
word soul (dme) designates, not a special essence distinct
from the body, but a special function of the brain, the psych-
ological function,” and he retains “ the terms mind and soul,
not to designate something different from the body, but to
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indicate clearly the special character of this psychological
function: the existence of the phenomena of conscicusness.”
This seems clear enough—the body is the real thing, and the
mind but a function; therefore ultimately the malady must re-
side in the nerve-cells and other somatic elements. But
nevertheless, he immediately proceeds to treat consciousness
as though it were a thing in itself, talks of mental causation, ap-
proves Kraepelin in that he ‘' recognizes the psychological
origin of these disturbances of ideation ,” decries the tendency
on the part of some to seek the cause of psychopathies in
somatic and particularly in toxic conditions, declares that
* the essentiai cause ” of mental disorders “ is still too much
sought after in entirely material processes,” announces his
own conclusion that " the true cause of the psychopathies is
therefore to be found in native weakness of the mentality,”
lays the emphasis of treatment on the “reforming of path-
ological mentalitics " and finally declares that this ™ is the true
and only treatment for the psychopathies” (italics mine). Dubois
names other theoretical “ monist-materialists ” besides him-
self who in practice are like the young man of the parable,
who stated his preference for a station outside of the vineyard
and yet was later found laboring with others inside. The
writer’s opinion is of little consequence, but he may venture
to remind the reader that Doris was cured.

As many times as general judgments or opinions are ex.
pressed in text or footnotes, it has been intended to keep
them in the rear of so much offered evidence as will enable
the reader to form independent judgments and opinions, Yet
in general only samples of the evidence can be offered, Back
cf a dictum often lies not only a certain number of recorded
observations to support it, but ten or fifty times as many
which had to be omitted because the printed work was not to
run to five or ten volumes. Yet some questions arising in the
course of the study are left quite open. The testimony is
offered, but the time for a verdict has not yet come. Noris it
at all certain that all of the current conclusions of psych-
ological science here concurred in are inerrant. This last
sentence is added wholly as a caution to the lay-reader, not
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as an intimation that psychologists consider that ail their
present conclusions are fhixed and unalterable,

7. Supernormal Incidents or Illusions.

The reader will find in the record incidents of the so-
called “ occult ” order, a few being related to alleged telas-
thesia (more commonly named clairvoyance), many to tele-
pathy and a few, mainly involving allegations of Sleeping
Margaret, to spiritism. It may be that he will directly be
aflronted, and demand why these incidents are admitted, un-
less the writer is credulous and unscientific. A few remarks
are necessary here to make my position plain. Formerly 1
was as prejudiced as anyone could be against all hypotheses
admitting what are known as “ occult ” factors, and as proud
of that fact as I am now ashamed of it. For my reason has
been sufficiently illuminated so that I now see that, merely as
a matter of logic, no hypothesis which comes forward with
prima facie credentials is forthwith to be expelled as “ com-
mon or unclean.” As a matter of precaution, it is not to be
kicked away, with cavalier contempt, without a hearing. The
annals of science are too strewn with the skeletons of learned
dogmatism not to offer warning to the thoughtful. When one
remembers the ridicule and contumely with which what were
regarded as the “ occult " claims of mesmerism (hypnotism)
were treated, he is not inclined to risk adding another skele-
ton to the desert sands of cocksureness. But I am not in this
work advocating any occult theory whatever, but only record-
ing the actual data in the case. There can be no intelligent
question of my duty as a historian of the facts, It makes no
difference whether the facts please my intellectual and
a&sthetic palate or that of my readers; it is none of my busi-
ness in what direction the facts may seem to point. I am but
the witness who is to “ tell the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth.” It may he that the seemingly
*“occult ” facts have a non-occult signification, but whether or
no, they must have some significance, and the record would be
defective, perhaps fatally so, with them omitted. The useless
facts of one generation, which have interest only for the in-
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tellect, often become useful ones in the next. Many a “ hard-
headed  man formerly muttered disdainfully, “ What’s the
use of studying bugs and flies?"” but now even the ivory-
enclosed intellect is aware that intimate knowledge of flies
and bugs is leading to successful war against some of the
worst disecases of men. Residual mysterious facts of psych-
ology, which are often omitted or glossed over in scientific re-
ports, will be, judging from the past, the very keys of some
citadel of knowledge, — if not of one, then of another. Some
day every scientific reporter will add to his litany some such
franchise as this: “ From the dishonesty that suppresses
facts, from the cowardice that will not utter them, from the
dogmatism that cannot see them, Good Lord deliver us !
As Dubois has said in another but not irrelevant connection
(“ Psychological Origin of Mental Disorders,” page 54) “ To
suppress a problem is not to solve it, yet that is what is
constantly being done .”

On a number of occasions M, obtained information, some-
times of a complex character, which if not acquired by tel-
epathy I confess inability to account for. One instance only
will be summarized here, not because it is the best but because
it can be given in short compass. On the evening of Nov.
29th, 1911, M,, after looking .awhile into my eyes with an
intent and curious expression, exclaimed, “ You wrote to a
man named Prince today—to Dr. Prince...You wrote about
Doris. . .You asked him how someone was getting on.” The
fact is that I had that afternoon, without acquainting anyone
of my intention, written to Dr. Morton Prince for the first
time. 1 did write chiefly about Doris. I did not ask how any-
one was getting on, but 1 did very distinctly debate in my
mind whether to ask him if “ Miss Beauchamp” was still
mentally stable. I took pains to make it impossible that any-
one should see me write either the letter or the address on the
envelope, as I did not want the girl to suspect that T was writ-
ing about her, mentioned that I had written to no one, and
while ajone put the letter where no one could possibly get at
it. M. told not only to whom I had written, and what | had
written about, but also specified a thought which had not been
set down in black and white at all. 'When she made one of
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these announcements, it was always after she had gazed
steadily, with a look of interested amusement, into my eyes,
Her own claim was that she saw, not what I was consciously
thinking of at the moment, but what was “ passing like a
parade down underneath.” And it was true that what she
revealed was always something that T had thought of not
long before. She never made an incorrect announcement of
the kind, Nor did she ever manifest any desire to “ show off ”
in this or other matters, and appeared to regard them as
mere games, in no way remarkable,

When R. D., before her mother’s death, was away from
the house, she often had a subjective vision of the latter
engaged in one way or another, and on her return would in-
quire and find that the mother had been sc engaged at the
time. There can be no doubt of her absolute confidence that
such were her frequent experiences, nor does she have the
feeling of most other people that there is something outre and
bizarre about them. I leave it to others to say that these are
mere hallucinations of memory. Knowing as I do the men-
tality of the girl, I do not believe that the explanation is here,
wherever it may be found. M, also, it was alleged, had clair-
voyant and veridical visions, though no such sophisticated
terms were employed by the personalities. Similar claims
were made in regard to S. D. Should telepathy pass the
gauntlet of science there would be no particular difficulty in
admitting a visual type of telepathy, though that description
would not agree with the views of the personalities. One
instance said to have been experienced by S. D. was care-
fully canvassed, as is set forth in the Record. T am far from
saying that the evidence is sufficient to establish the validity
of a claim of this sort, in fact I do not think it much stronger
than would be required for the condemnation of a man to the
gallows,

In 1912 R. D. had two vivid visual hallucinations of her
dead mother, Two facts in connection therewith are of in-
terest. (a) These experiences did not occur when she was in
a pronounced psychopathic condition but when she was well
on toward recovery, and (&) in the first instance she saw a
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hallucinatory shadow before she caught sight of the ap-
paritional image,

On one occasion, partly while M. was reading and quite
unconscious of what her hand was doing, and partly while
she was actually asleep, she produced automatic writing of
the wusual occult purport. A number of times afterward
when conscious of it, but probably not capable of its execu-
tion by direct volition, and even after she had ceased being
capable of writing from conscious will, automatic writing of
the same description was produced by her hand.

In 1914 I twice heard a hallucinatory voice, which was
never satisfactorily explained. Never in my life had I ex-
perienced anything of the kind, when ill, nervous, over-
worked, excited, or in any other condition, and on these occa-
sions I was well, free from anxiety, calm, and wholly un-
expectant. The only relevance of this mention is that S. M,
claimed that in the first instance the voice was her own, super-
normalily projected. The claim in itself was unconvincing,
and I lay no weight upon the incidents other than psycholog-
ical phenomena which will generally be regarded as quite ex-
plicable and conforming to type. They are added simply in
allegiance to the principles of classification.

It may be that the frequent reading of my lips by M.
asleep, while no breath was consciously emitted, should be
set down in the list of prima facie supernormal features of the
case. [t certainly was not an illusory one.

8. Classification of Readers,

I have hitherto classified readers as professional and un-
professional. But they may also be cross-divided, according
as they do this work the honor of perusing it cursorily or with
care, in part or in its entirety. The interests of each of the
latter-indicated classes have been provided for. (&) Those
who wish merely a general knowledge of the Doris case will
find it in this introductory chapter so far and in the chronolog-
ical narrative summary immediately to follow. Their at-
tention is directed to the Glossary and Appendices, as well as
to the portraits and diagrams to be found in the body of the
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work. (b) Those whose patience is equal to a complete read-
ing, or (¢) those who are interested in studying some par-
ticular phase of the case, will find in the Index an efficient aid
in combining and comparing data. The index is analytical
and unusually full and explicit, and the attempt has been
made to put it into the most convenient form for working pur-
poses, even though that has involved, to a degree, departure
from the strict principles of logical classification,

It is not known that cuts from photographs of the person-
alities in a case of dissociation have ever before heen spread
before the public. The subject in this case has yielded her
natural feeling of reluctance to the claims of science. Conse-
quently there are entered twenty-five portraits, one of which
is of Real Doris taken under peculiar circumstances; one of
Margaret at the age of five, two of Margaret in later life and
two of her asleep; three of Sleeping Margaret; one of Sick
Doris in her prime and fifteen of her after she had declined to
mental infancy. Only Sleeping Real Doris is left unrepre-
sented, owing to the difficulties of photographing her. There
is much in these portraits which is distinctive, and yet it
need hardly be remarked that such disparity between the per-
sonalities as was depicted on the living, moving countenance,
is not to be expected. Facial expression, like consciousness,
is a stream, and a photograph is but an instantaneous cross-
section, in which the vivid fulness of the individuality is lack-
ing, since the mind of one who looks upon a living counte-
nance receives not simply the image of the moment but also
the after-effect of the flitting changes which have just pre-
ceded it.

IL Summar'y of the Facts,

The summary of the facts recorded in detail in the Daily
Record is designed to furnish the general reader with a clear
and graphic account of the case without finding it necessary
to go through the entire account of it from day to day in the
course of the many years’ observation upon it. The careful
scientific man will desire to study the case in detail, and in-
deed without this feature of it the summarized statement
would have no other value than the authority of the reporter.
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But any reader who does not wish to trust that, has the com-
plete daily record before him and this will sufficiently vindi-
cate the judgment of Dr. Prince in the summary. Many
readers will not care to go farther with the case and indeed
certain busy professional men will not require to do so, if they
place any confidence in the reporter of the facts. It is for
them that this summary has been written. Others who wish
a more intimate and thorough acquaintance with the facts
and who do not wish to take their opinions second hand
have the detailed record for their investigations. For them
the summary will also be a help, as it will relieve them of the
strain of sustaining the memory through so much reading.
But the truly scientific story is in the Daily Record. The
“bird's eye view ” will be found in the summary. This has
been wholly compiled by Dr, Prince and foltows this intro-
ductory note.

1. The First Dissociating Shock, and the Rise of Two
Secondary Personalities.

Doris was born March 31, 1889, of good German stock,
without known neurotic tendencies on either side. The only
ascertained possibly predisposing factors were these: {(a)
violent temper on the part of her {ather and his mother, which
she did not inherit, (b) her father’s intemperate use of intoxi-
cants for many years prior to her birth, (¢) her mother's ex-
ceedingly imaginative temperament, (d) her mother’s
thwarted craving for affection and refined surroundings.

When about three years old, her father in a fit of anger
dashed her to the floor, It was in the midst of the previous
quarrel, according fo her statement, that Sleeping Margaret
came into being. It was a few moments after the act of
violence, according to both Sleeping Margaret and Margaret,
that the existence of the latter began. Consistently, the ac-
count of the incident by M., (who had no insight into the
mind of 8. M.) lacked the earlier details'mentioned by S. M.

In the case of ¥ Miss Beauchamp,” the child personality,
Sally, claimed to have existed, but only as a subliminal co-
consciousness, from the early childhood of the subject. Dr.
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Morton Prince, with scientific caution, debates whether her
testimony was to be trusted. But that Margaret existed, not
only as a subliminal co-consciousness, but also as a frequently
aiternating personality in upper control, there can be no ques-
tion, because of the experiences of the primary personality,
Real Doris, reaching back to her earliest recollection. The
latter indeed remembers, as is not strange, nothing of the
tragic incident which caused the shattering mental shock, but
in the course of her recovery, nineteen years afterward, in one
of those dreams which revive forgotten experiences of child-
hood (usuazlly, as in her case, unrecognized), its details were
pictured anew,

The evidences of M.'s early existence as 2 secondary per-
sonality that frequently “came out” and assumed control
while Real Doris, the primary consciousness, as it were
vanished, are of the following character. (a) Real Doris is
absolutely veracious. (&) She testifies that there was hardly
ever a day within her recollection that she did not have tapses
from consciousness. (c) She was never conscious of going to
bed or of sleeping by night within her recollection, prior to
1211. (d) In early childhood she had exactly the same types
of evidence of the existence of another consciousness in con-
nection with her organism that she had in after vears, such as
hearing of things said and done by her of which she was
ignorant, finding notes written to her by M., becoming con-
scious and finding herself in all sorts of strange situations,
actual carrying on of conversations with M. in which the lat-
ter used the vocal organs without her (R. D.'s) volition, ex-
periencing the effects of M.'s approval or indignation, and
other experiences in great variety. (¢} The testimony of
S. M. and of M. supports that of R. D., and ten-fold the mare
because it respectively differs in detail and interpretation ac-
cording to the point of view and the psychical quality of each
of the three. No one who reads the variety of proofs in the
full record can doubt the extraordinary fact that from about
her third year Doris began to lead a divided life, now as R. D,,
with M. at least part of the time subliminally present, and part
of the time as M. reigning supreme. Fortunately, there is
still preserved a photograph of M. at the age of five, the ex-
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pression plainly identifiable by those who knew her in later
years.

2, Potent Factors in Environment.

The most unfavorable element, the great depressant, in
Doaoris's life, was her own father. Subconscious horror after
conscious memory of his terrible act had ceased, fear, abhor-
rence of his drunkenness, feelings outraged by his callous
treatment especially of her mother, daily did their destructive
work. For just one period of perhaps two weeks M.’s activi-
ties notably declined and R, D, daily increased in control, and
this was when the father was ahsent, confined in a hospital.

The great stimulant which vivified her first seventeen
years was her mother, whom she fairly idolized. There was
a peculiar community of tastes and of sympathy between the
two, and each found her chief joy in the other. In one way,
however, the mother’s influence was innocently unfortunate.
Imaginative by nature, she found relief from her constant toil
and her sordid surroundings in day-dreams of domestic felicity,
luxury and beauty, and by sharing these with I). she en-
couraged a tendency already inordinately strong. Thus was
the parted stream of D.’s consciousness fed, and the ground
loosened for possible new channels of dissociation.

Another unfortunate circumstance was that the poverty of
the family and her sympathy for the mother caused R. D. to
exert herself to the limit of her energies, from the age of
seven. Rising hours before a child should in order to assist
her mother, going to school during the day, working after
school often until late at night, her vacations likewise flled
with labor, she was robbed of sleep and kept on the ragged
edge of exhanstion. Her school-days ended at fourteen, the
variety but not the quantity of her exertion was decreased.

3. The Doings of Margaret.

Only the most general description can be entered upon
in this place, of this mercurial and irrepressible psychical
entity, who sometimes amused R. D, by her utterances
audibly or mentally heard, sometimes terrified her by mental,
audible or written threats and by actual punishments inflicted
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upon her body and possessions, embarrassed her, came to her
relief, coaxed and ordered, permitted and prohibited, accord-
ing to her nature, passing mood and the circumstances. She
herself often related (and S. M, endorsed the claim) that the
first thing she ever did was to make the crying R. D. play
with her fingers and toes. Furthermore she asserted, she
used to make the child R. D.  see things that weren’t there ,”
cause her to hear * choo-choo " ask her what her name was,
etc. Later,—~and this R, D. well remembers,—the two would
have long conversations together, M.’s replies being made
aloud (at times), and with the same lips, but without R. D.’s
volition or slightest previous knowledge of what would be
said. M, early asserted her own rights to certain property and
demanded deference to various personal tastes. One early
lesson remembered by R. D. was that of letting M.’s ball
alone. She was impelled by a will not hers to pick up the
ball with her left hand and to transfer it to her right hand,
then the left hand plowed scratches in her cheeks and eyelids
until they bled. From the time that she was four until she
was about eight, her face was seldom entirely free from
scratches, because she could not learn to keep her hands away
from M.’s property. When the lesson had been pretty thor-
oughly mastered the scratching mostly ceased, to be renewed
only when R. D. became rash again.

M. was an enfani terrible, cutting up tricks in school and
departing so that R, D. received the blame, astonishing em-
ployers and strangers by her strange and often witty ex-
clamations, showing no respect for the dignities of rank or
riches, daring, pert, protean. Yet she was capable of putting
on the brake at any time that she {eared that the secret of her
own being might be discovered. ‘There was no such danger
with the mother, to whom her daughter was, doubtless,
simply a bundle of contradictory moods, incomprehensible at
times but tovable always. She early learned to respect those
moods, and to use strategy rather than punishment or even
reproof in dealing with her youngestchild, Sheknewnotwhat
moment the girl now so sedately employed might be seized by
a gale of mischief, or suddenly dart from the house to be
seen no more for hours. The mother's patience never failed,
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and to the last, with all her perplexities, she was fondest of
this strangest of her children.

When R. D. began to go to school at the age of six, she
at first had a hard time, for incessantly there emerged in her
consciousness the clamors of M., unused to such monotony,
“Come on! Let's go out !” It was difficult for R. D. ta
study, and often M. coming would cut some ridiculous caper,
and set the room in a2 giggle. Sometimes, in hot weather,
M. would come and dash from the room without permission,
later imperturbably returning, her head and perhaps her gar-
ments dripping with water. As M., came to realize that R. D,
could not be blamed for going to school her complaints ceased,
but not her outbreaks and her astonishing speeches. In spite
of all drawbacks, R, D. secured high marks in her studies, but
not for conduct—that was quite impossible. Oft-times she
came to consciousness to find herself being chided for mis-
behavior of which she knew nothing. She knew what it
meant, but could not explain, so bore all patiently though
often with tears, and taking upon herself the guiit of the real
culprit, promised to do better, Often, too, the promises were
seemuingly disregarded, and the teachers were at their wits’
end to know how to handle the child of such singular moods.
When psychical conditions were such that M. could not dis-
appear to *dodge” impending punishment, she generally
managed to escape by her genius for cajolery, her wit and win-
ning charm, which would break down the wrath of the stern-
est of her preceptors. M. came out regularly to practice
writing and to conjugate, since she liked these exercises, but
seldom for any other recitations, except to help out R. D. in
case of emergency. She had a fancy for changing her name,
and in spite of the distaste of R, D., the name was “ Luella”
for several terms. Of the copy-books which remain all but
one are marked, in the writing of teachers, “Luella Fischer ,”
the remaining one bearing the true name Doris. And so the
days of school-life wore on, until, in spite of all draw-backs,
D, was ready for High School at fourteen, the youngest but
one in a class of fifty-two. But here M. put her foot down,
and declared, “ No more school !” She would not even per-
mit R. D. to go and fetch her diploma, fearing that this
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would be the threshold to the attainment of the desire to
enter the High School.

At the age of seven, moved by her mother’s financial dis-
tresses, R. D. of her own initiative began to get work nights
and mornings, as well as all day during vacations. She
was almost always successful in getting employment, and
thus she very materially lightened the maternal cares
by the money she brought in. When her school-days were
over she was generally employed in one capacity or another.
But it was never possible to stay away over night, for neither
R. D.’s affection for her mother, M.’s fixed habitudes, nor the
bizarre night practices whose revealing tendency both
realized, would permit of this.

Invariably it was R. D. who started up-stairs for bed. In-
variably M. came at the head of the stairs, and invariably
R. D. knew no more until she found herself down-stairs in the
morning. But in the meantime what things had happened!
When very young she slept with others, but caused them
such annoyance that finally she was relegated to some quilts
on the floor by a window. M. spent a longer or shorter time
each night in playing, as evidenced by what R. D. would find
in the morning, She would also, until the period when she
so far fell behind R. D. in mentality that she was incompetent
to do so, write out the school exercises for the next day. She
likewise would write notes for R. D, to read, advising, re-
proaching, commanding her, according to need,

M., like Sally of the “ Beauchamp ™ case, always claimed
that at first she was of brighter or more advanced intellect
than the primary personality, and §. M., who was not averse
to exposing the occasional romances of M., supported the
statement. She appears to have mentally developed along
with R. D,, but gradually to have failen behind. M., indeed,
with her characteristic reluctance to admit any failing of her
powers, never told me that she fell behind R. D,, but S, M. as-
serted it, and the fact was evidenced by the gradual creeping
into the school exercises done in the night of complaints and
of exclamations like “darn it ! Perhaps two years belore
the schooling was over M. ceased to help in the exercises, be-
cause they had become too advanced for her. She had
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reached the limit of her intellectual expansion, while that of
R. D. went on. M. was then of the mentality of an average
girt of ten, and such I found her ten years later.

4. The Doings of Sleeping Margaret.

Bearing in mind the description hitherto given of this
singular psychic entity, it is not strange that she did not play
any apparent part during fourteen years, or indeed until five
more years had goone by, when she became the chief adviser
on the cure of the case. Neither M. nor R. D, was capable
of a single glimpse into this buried consciousness, nor did
they know in the slightest of her existence, until in 1911
necessity compelled her to take action that partly betrayed
her to M., and in 1914 she by inadvertence yielded her secret
to R. D. Witness as I became of the utter ignorance of all
the other members regarding this wisest, calmest, maturest of
the group, and regarding her thinking, watching, studying,
conversing, “ going away " and returning, all so familiar and
certain facts to me, I can readily believe that she had pre-
viously existed, psychically active and in her way useful, al-
though unknown and unsuspected. And since within the
period of my observation it was evident that she could bring
psychical force to bear upon M. by processes obscure but un-
mistakable, and even, when her existence became known to
R. D. so that she chose to do so, warn the latter by audible
utterances, credit can be given to her assertion that all those
silent years she was watching over the safety of the girl, and
could and did wake M. by night, make her alert during the
day, and even turned the remoter consciousness of R. D. to
thoughts and perceptions which would apprise her of danger.

8. Valuable Assets in the Make-up of Doris.

In addition to her gemerally excellent physical endow-
ment, the girl was of a psychical disposition and temperament
which helped mightily to sustain her in her lot, and which
might have caused spontaneous reintegration could the worst
faults of her environment have been remedied. If her father
could have vanished inte thin air, and her mother have con-
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tinued to live, such an outcome was very possible. That is to
say, she had the immense advantage of a make-up in which
amiability, hopefulness, a disposition to look on the bright
side of things and to extract happiness from any possible ma-
terials for it, and abounding energy, were found. Anyone
who possesses such a combination by nature has strong
weapons in a battle with disease or with adverse circum-
stance. Anyone who does not innately own these in plenti-
tude may cultivate them, and thus array great psychic forces
on the side of his health and his life-work. But the reintegra-
tion of Doris's divided mentality was not possible, so long as
one parent continued to be an object of horror, fear and
grief, and so long as the other was an object of anxiety and
wounded sympathy; so long as, in order to lighten the
mother’'s troubles, she huried her own deeply in her breast,
and for love’s sake continued to labor beyond her normal
strength.

6. Second Dissociating Shock and Addition of Sick Doris to
the Group of Personalities.

At about six in the afternoon of May 5, 1906, Mrs. Fischer,
who had appeared perfectly well in the morning when R. D.
left to go to her work, lay down, suddenly ill, Prompted by a
nearly simultaneous “ occult ” experience, R, . started home
long before her usual hour, and arrived at about half past
six. The stricken woman died at two in the morning, having
uttered but two words, with only her husband lying in a
drunken stupor, and her daughter, present, R, D, evercome
with grief, and undergoing a raging headache, nevertheless
managed to mamntain her individuality until she had per-
formed the last offices in her power for her dead idol, where-
upon M. took her place. Almost immediately thereafter a
terrible pain shot through the left cerebral hemisphere, M.
vanished, and a new personality, afterwards to be known as
" Sick Doris,” came into the drama.

7. Sick Doris an “ Infant " Personality.

The term infant personality must not be too literally con-
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strued. The new psychical entity was not reduced to an in-
fantile grade as to the power of thought, but only as to the
materials of thought. She was likewise better off than T. C.
Hanna, in that she saw things as things in their true spaciai
relations. She was better off than Michael Haitch in that she
had not amnesia of how to produce vocal sounds. But she
was like both in nearly all other respects. She came without
memory of any event whatever, of any face, any object, or the
use of any object. She did not remember a single word,
either to speak it or to understand its meaning when she
heard it spoken. She instinctively moved her limbs, walked
and handled objects with her fingers, but she did not know
how to eat, and when she first imitatively drank coffee it
simply ran down her throat, for she did not know how to
swallow, She did not understand how to undress herself, or
that she should undress or that the dress was a thing separate
from herself. All affection was gone, and all grief; not a
tremor remained of the mental agony of a few moments be-
fore. She was as one born with an adult body, and a
maturely-inquiring mind, but with absolutely no memory and
absolutely no knowledge,

She found herself sitting on the edge of the bed looking
at two similar shapes. She did not wonder how she her-
self came there or regard herself at all,—her first mental ex-
perience was a languid curiosity as to why one of the similar
shapes moved while the other was quiet. In fact, movement
and immobility first seized her attention, and lher main
problem for the first two days was why similar things did not
always behave in similar fashion. She did not inquire why
chairs did not move about of themselves, for no chair did.
But every figure of the shape of those prostrate ones of the
first evening moved except one; consequently that one, the
corpse, fascinated her, and she sought occasions to experi-
ment upon it to see if she could not make it move. During
the first days she wondered why some were doing a thing to
her incomprehensible (weeping) and others were not doing
the same, why one figure only was horizontal and yet in
motion (the sick sister), while the rest, with the exception of
the motionless one, were in different and changing attitudes.
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Differences of any kind were the first objects of her mental
inquiry which she had no words to express, and particularly
differences in respect to movement,

From the first instant of her being she showed a classifying
tendency.

8. The Education and Development of Sick Doris,

She comprehended the most primitive type of language
first, that of gesture, And here a swift process of inference,
experiment and verification entered. For example, when in
the morning she entered a room where her sisters were drink-
ing coffee, they handed her a cup. She saw the cup approach-
ing, saw that they held similar objects, inferred that she was
to take it, and since after she did so nothing else happened
concluded that she had done what was expected of her. She
quickly learned to interpret expressions, and involuntary nods
and shakes of the head in the midst of remarks which were
unintelligible to her. She observed that following the issu-
ance of sounds from the mouth of one person another would
often be stirred to activity, and inferred that the sounds must
have been intended for such effect. Some experiments by
way of imitating the sounds were made, for instance she
yapped out in the same tones a phrase uttered by sick Trixie,
but the results were disconcerting, and she vaguely felt that
the experiment was not successful.

On the third evening M. began to take a hand, as sub-
liminal teacher. When the lips began to utter a series of
sounds S. D, knew that she was not responsible, and when the
hands began to do things and the fingers to point, she {elt that
it was not ker work. Nor was there any especial surprise, for
during the two previous days M. had occasionally made the
lips speak or the hands perform an act in case of emergency.
M. made but little headway in her new vocation as pedagogue
at first, since S. D. knew no language, But she soon hit upon
the scientific way, the way to which the writer had to resort
in the case of Haitsch, and to which others have resorted in
similar cases, “ All the way 1 could get her to understand,”
said M. long afterward, “ was by doing things. She would say
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things over after me and do what [ did " And as soon as M.
by the double process of pointing and pronouncing the name
of an object, performing an act and naming it, built up in the
mind of S. D. a small vocabulary, the process of education
became rapid. It generally is in such cases, scores of times
faster than is the education of an infant, though proceed-
ing on similar lines. The unique feature in the case of Sick
Doris is that her chief teacher, thongh she was soon picking
up knowledge on every hand, was another secondary person-
ality., Night after night M, continued to labor, a stern and
contemptuous preceptor. In a week's time S. D. was fairly
competent to get along, though she had many difficulties yet
to meet. Nor did she ever become psychically complete or
symmetrical, since to the end she was lacking on the side of
the affections, though morbidly the slave of duty, and lacking
in humor, in conceptions of the abstract, and in other respects.

8. The Four Personalities.

More than once Mrs. Fischer had charged Doris not to live
with her father should she herseli be taken away. Perhaps
she had noted the deleterious effects upon her daughter of
the father’s proximity, or perhaps she only dreaded some act
of violence in his drunken rages. But R. D. from the night
following the mother's death had no conscious existence for
two months. The mentally-crippled S, D. mechanically con-
tinued what M. instructed her to do, and M. knew of nothing
but to continue what R. D. had been doing. So the old rou-
tine, working away during the day, house-keeping mornings
and evenings, went on. R. D., when she began to come again,
put in very brief appearances, usually of not more than five
minutes, There was a subseguent period of three months
during which she did not * come out ™ once, and the sum of
all her appearances for five years could not have equalled
three days. Fortunately, all the secondary personalities were
favorably inclined to her, and tried by every means to in-
crease the number and length of her emergences.

Overwork, together with the baleful influences of the
home, chiefly militated against the primary personality.
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Upon the girl fell the major expenses' of the household. M,
knew that something must be done, and dinned it into the
mind of 8. D. that she must earn more money, by working at
night. 8. D. learned the lesson all too well. As M. after-
wards ruefully expressed it, “ she began to work like fury, and
—and then she made me work.” By a process of abstraction
5. D., particularly while sewing, could gradually enchain the
will and entire consciousness of M,, so that both conscious-
nesses co-operated, intent upon the task. Everything but the
needle and the stitches faded away, the eyes never wandered
from the work, color fled from the countenance, the fingers
flew with magic speed, and hours passed before the spell was
broken, An instance will later be given of the definitely
proved execution of an elaborate piece of embroidery in less
than guarter of the time that the most conservative judges
estimated as necessary, In this instance the abnormal work
went on more than twelve hours at a time absolutely without
rest except such as was furnished by seizures of catalepsy,
when the needle paused midway in the air, the body immobile
and the eyes fixed, for ten minutes or more, whereon
the arrested movement was completed and the task went on,
S. D. not being aware that she had paused more than a second.
When the task was ended M, would come out and dance a
wild dance of joy. But one of the evil consequences was that
she became malevolent against 5. D. and entered upon a
long series of revenges. With a malice that seems almost
fiendish, she scratched S. D, with her nails, although she her-
self got the worst of it after the numbing effect of rage was
over, in that she was less anmsthetic than her colleague.
Many times she tore out whole strands of hair, several times
she actually grubbed out nails. She caused in 8. D. sen-
sations of nausea, and various pains, destroyed her work and
her possessions, thwarted her plans, threatened, teased and
taunted her. And yet at times she pitied and comforted the
harrassed creature, and often came to her relief in emer-
gencies, All these turmoils made the prison doors of R. D.
still harder to open.

Thus nearly all the life was divided between 8, D. and M.
The former was on the whole the dominant character for five
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years, though M. often got the upper band and asserted her-
self as temporary tyrant. R. D. made her little pathetic ap-
pearances, for five or ten minutes at a time, sometimes for
several consecutive days, oftener at longer intervals. S. M.
still talked when M. was asleep, the latter still under the
illusion that she was listening to her own voice. Still that
profounder consciousness carried on her guarding function,
and brought a psychic force to bear, mainly upon M., in cases
of danger or other urgent need. And yet there were
calamities which she could not prevent.

10. The Third Dissociating Shock and the Advent of Sleep-
ing Real Doris.

Toward the latter part of September, 1907, M., startled
as she was going up a flight of steps, fell striking the head
violently against an earthen crock. 1 will leave it to the
physiologist to say if a group of neurons was thrown out of
functional alignment by the shock; certainly, as M. after-
wards expressed it, * a little crack was made in R. D.,” The
following night began the interesting verbal performances
which in later days were shown to belong to a true though
incompletely developed personality, Sleeping Real Doris,
Thereafter, whenever in the dead of night R, D, would float
briefly to the surface, she would be followed by this fifth and
last member of the group, who, and whose functions, have
been already sufficiently described for the purpose of this
merely introductory chapter, According to S. M. a second {all
about a year after the first, seemed to strengthen S. R. D.,
particularly making her voice stronger.

11. Events Leading to the Coming of the Case Under
Observation,

In July, 1907, the writer removed from New York city to
Pittsburgh, and took up residence within a square of one of
the great thoroughfares, which we will call Colorado Avenue.
On Oct. 4, 1908, D.’s bedridden sister Trixie died. Hence-
forth she was more free to do as she pleased in her spare
time, particularly on Sundays. Two days afterward the
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family moved to a house on Colorado Ave., within three
squares of the Prince residence. Still lame from an opera-
tion upon her ankle, in Jan, 1808, S. D. started for a certain
Methodist church, but, becoming weary, wandered into the
nearer Episcopal church of which I was then rector. Just as
the discourse began, R. D. emerged, and listened until its
close, about twenty minutes, one of the longest periods she
had experienced since her mother’s death, In response to an
invitation by an acquaintance in October 8. D). agreed to join
a Sunday school, not knowing until her arrival on the 24th
that it was in the Episcopal church that she had entered the
previous winter. Mrs. Prince met her and paid her kindly
attention,

12. The First Foundations of Cure.

S. D. seemed fascinated by Mrs, Prince, and the latter was
strangely drawn to the forlorn creature. The peculiar
sympathy which she began to receive may be counted as the
first of the curative influences which now began to enter the
girl’s life. On Sunday, Oct, 31, she was taken to the rectory,
and there I first met her. Its mistfess encouraged her visits
and they became frequent, but I paid -her little attention and
she seemed rather to avoid me. But toward the latter part
of November I began a talk with her on the subject of read-
ing, and R, D. came and held converse with a human being for
the first time in three and a half years. About January, 1910,
the girl began occasionally to eat at the rectory and presently,
at the urgent invitation of her friend, she was having at least
cvne meal a day there, securing her to a certain extent a more
nourishing diet. About April she began to take naps at the
rectory, but Mrs. Prince found it necessary to hold her hands
nmuch of the time while she slept to keep her from injuring
herself and her clothing. Presently it became almost a fixed
part of the daily program for two or three hours to be spent
enabling her to get some degree of sleep, but at a cost to the
watcher of much muscular and nervous strain. 8. I, was at
this time cherishing two hysteric delusions, one that she was
an artist of extraordinary skill, and the other that she was
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doomed to die of tuberculosis. She was indeed doomed to
die, unless conditions could be radically changed, but from
vital exhaustion due to the various causes which have already
been described. In spite of all pains taken in her behalf, she
grew weaker as the months went by. Nevertheless, getting
this creature of routine dependent upon her new friend, ac-
customed to the house which was one day to become her
home, and inured to new and better habits of eating and
sleeping, were absolutely necessary before she could break
away from her fatal environment, and their subsequent in-
fluence was never lost.

On my part, only casual attention was paid to the girl
for many months, But I noticed many oddities, and re-
garded them with the usual Philistine cynicism. In the mean-
time both S. D. and M. were mortally afraid that 1 should hit
upon their secret, and their perturbations and stratagems
owing to this cause furnish an interesting chapter. But
toward the end of the year, at Mrs, Prince’s solicitation, I be-
gan to see the girl safely to her home at night and also began
to take more note of her at the rectory. Consequently, the
delicately balanced scales of distrust and confidence toward
me began to tip toward confidence, and another plank in the
foundation of new possibilities was laid.

13, Discovery of Margaret.

By January, 1911, Mrs, Prince’s own nervous condition
was becoming threatening owing to the strain upon her. On
the afterncon of Jan. 17, [ first tried the experiment of seeing
if it would be practicable for me to assist in guarding the
patient’s sleep. The first extended observation of a long
series of somnambulic alternations was entered upon, and I
noted, now the spiteful voice uttering threats, with hands
endeavoring to injure the body, now the wary, harrassed ex-
pression and half-awakened murmurs, now the ecstatic smile,
hands reaching out and tender pleading, * Mother, don’t leave
me,” now the kaleidoscopic and correspondent changes of
voice, facial expression and manner as one side of conversa-
tions apparently dating from childhood to that very day were
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rehearsed, and now the shrinking form and pathetic appeals,
“ Daddy, don’t hit me.” Impressed that the somnambulic
phenomena were worth noting down and studying, on that
very day I began the daily record which continued with
hardly a break for three years and four months. Speedily it
was discovered that in a certain state the sleeper could hear
me and fluently converse. On Jan. 20th, somnambulic refer-
ences to “that Doris” first suggested the suspicion that a
secondary personality might be speaking, and the evening
was not ended before the suspicion became a certainty.

Yet it was evident that the discovered personality (at first
denominated X.) did not intend to betray hersell. Occasion-
ally she would stop with puzzled expression to inquire, * Did
you know that Doris £ but as the conviction dawned upon her
that at least a part of the secret was known she grew more
and more frank. Maoreover it appeared that X. asleep did not
embrace the whole consciousness of X, awake, since the
former was plainly unable to recognize in her interlocutor the
Dr. Prince whom the latter knew so well, and constantly
spoke of the latter as a third person. Taking unwise advant-
age of this fact, 1 soon began, when X. asleep threatened to
hurt D., to tell her that Dr. Prince would punish her if she did
so. This was all the more successful as a terrifying measure
in that at that time M, awake stood in awe of me and *‘ came
out ™" as little as possible when I was present. M, asleep soon
began to address her interlocutor as " He ”

On Jan, 22 M. asleep told me that Doris called her by the
name Bridget, and that she disliked the name. Feeling the
need of some name for her, and wishing that she should have
one agreeable to her, I asked if she would like another name,
and she eagerly assented. Since she did not seem capable of
selecting one unassisted I suggested several names, and at
the mention of Margaret she accepted it with delight. Hence-
forth “ X.” was known as Marpgaret.

14. Hypnotized—and Sleeping Margaret Speaks.

On the evening of Jan, 22, 8. D, came in jaded and miser-
able from punishments inflicted upon her by M_, fordisobeying
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orders to keep away from the rectory. M. asleep continued
her efforts to revenge by scratches and vicious clutches.
Thereupon I attempted suggestion, saying, “ I'm going to
take away your power . * * You are losing strength, * *You
are powerless,” etc,, and her struggles died away. D. (5. D.)
wake and her vital powers seemed visibly ebbing. Her eyes
fastened their gaze upon mine and seemed to become un-
naturally fixed. Suddenly a voice sounded, though the fea-
tures continued immobile,—a new voice of authority—* You
must get her out of this. She is in danger. * * Hurry! Walk
her, walk her 1" It did not seem like any phase I had seen in
the case, and really was Sleeping Margaret, though it was not
at the time suspected that another personality had taken
command of the situation. Little by little the girl was re-
leased from the hypnotic spell, and for more than half an hour
after that M, and D, (8, D.) alternated like the movements of
a weaver’s shuttle, This incident determined the permanent
exclusion of hypnosis in the after conduct of the case. Later
in the night M. becanie more vicious than ever before wit-
nessed, endeavoring with all her might to “choke Doris .”

Not suspecting that the Doris whom I knew was not the
primary personality, I told her facts about M. which she
knew much betier than I did, and started a series of efforts
to strengthen her on her side while attempts were being
made to subdue M. on the other.

15. Sick Doris Cut Loose from Various Entangiements.

The normal person may best conceive how a hysteric can
both powerlessly cherish and act out a delusion and yet in a
manner be conscious it is a delusion, by remmembering how, in
certain dreams, one both believes that it is real and has a
haunting suspicien that it is not. It is certain that 8. D. at-
tempted to contrive so that Mrs. Prince should see the hip
that was supposed to be eaten with tuberculosis, and yet the
strange fantasy went on; likewise she insisted in putting in
my care the books supposed to contain some of her marvel-
ous pictures, so loosely tied with a twine string that it makes
convincing her after-statement that she meant that I should
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examine and find them blank, and yet the waking dream auto-
matically proceeded. Discovery of the fabrications shattered
their power over her, and the most of the pains accompanying
the tuberculosis delusion, so severe that she jerked and sweat
came out on her forehead even in her sleep, vanished im-
mediately. She was also delivered by the authority of friends
from that to which she had been enchained by the authority
of other friends, the supposed necessity of undergoing the
maltreatment of an ignorant osteopathist.

18. Amidst Hindrances, Improvements Begin.

In addition to pains as to sleep and diet, exercises were
prescribed to S. D. for control of the nervous system, and
suggestion was liberally emploved on both S. D. and M., with
good results, On Jan, 26th the co-operation of Dr. W. K.
Walker, Professor of psychiatry in the University of Pitts-
burgh, was secured, and a series of consultations begun which
continued until removal from the city. His influence and ad-
vice were helpful to 2 degree that cannot adequately be set
down, Feb, 6th, I began to waken S. D. when the time had
come for her to return to her home, by saying, * Wake quiet-
ly, wake happily, wake in a minute ¥, with the effect of bring-
ing her awake in a calmer and more painless state.

In the meantime I generally refrained, for the first fort-
night of Februnary, from tatking with M, asleep, but this policy
was abandoned because it was perceived that talking (a) led
to 8. D.’s securing quieter subsequent sleep, (#) increased psy-
chic control over M., her good nature and co-operation, (c)
made M.'s own sleep quieter than it otherwise was in spite of
the psychical activity of conversing, and so secured more rest
to the system. M. asleep continued to address me as “ He,”
and not until the close of the month began to identify my
acls with those of Dr. Prince, and to wonder if T had not the
same relation to him that she had to Doris. Soon after “ He ™
disappeared and Dr, Prince fully won his place,

S. D.’s sleep at home improved so that on the night of Feb,
9 she succeeded in remaining quietly in bed until the dawn, an
epochal event. On the 11th came the first indication that she
was beginning to lose her memories.
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As the time drew near when 8. D. was to attempt to break
away from her baleful environment, her perturbation in-
creased the somnambulic walking, affected M. so that one
evening she did not know her friends nor recognize the
familiar objects in the rectory, and produced a period when
M. was unable to read or to reckon.

The winning of M.'s confidence was a feature of the great-
est value. The conclusion was gradually reached through a
process of experiment that attempts to secure her sudden
expulsion, and any policy involving coldness and neglect
toward her, would hinder and not helip the case. Her con-
fidence grew until on the 27th she wrote out while asleep a
long romance regarding the birth and early years of Doris, of
which she had previously given verbal sketches, It afterward
proved that this curious fable was invented in childhood, and
the fancy that she had a rich father somewhere who loved her
and would one day claim her was probably a refuge from the
actual facts of her lot, The only mystery was why she as-
signed her beloved mother so ambiguous a place in the ro-
mance. Without being urged, she soon after admitted the
fictitious character of the story.

17. Revelation of Real Doris.

The supreme proof of the winning of M.’s confidence came
on the 28th when she disclosed the central secret. * You
never saw the real Doris but a very little,—when it was all
Doris,” she said impressively, and went to sleep adding, *“ 1
will wake Doris so that she will he all Doris for a little while .”
And she did so, though I did not fully comprehend that the
clear-eyed girl looking wonderingly about her was the pri-
mary personality, and as such quite another than 8. D.

Later on in the record for the evening is found the first
general description of the unknown Sleeping Margaret, who,
fearful of the results of the meditated removal, was unsmil-
ing, almost hostile, and monosyllabic. 1 supposed it was M,
asleep in some strange mood, but probably M. was so ex-
hausted that night that she hardly spoke in her sleep.
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18. Revolution in Environment, and Resulting Rapid
Improvement.

On the 2nd of March I wrung from the father a refuctant
and entirely heartless consent for his daughter to live for
awhile with the family which she was destined never to leave.
That night, after a scene of drunken rage which reached to
personal violence, S. D. appeared at the rectory in a pitiful
condition, and a night of mingled lamentation and fright fol-
lowed. But the effects wore off quickly. The very next day R.
D. came for a few moments, surprised and overjoyed to find
herself transplanted. The next day S. D. and M. ceased to
converse. M. would seek to talk with S. D, in the old ways,
but S. D. no longer responded. Some tie between them had
snapped, and 8. D, as M, often complained, could no longer
hear her. On the 5th it was found that the fading memories
of 8. D. were beginning to emerge in the consciousness of R,
D., and within two days these were coming in such a flood as
almost to overwhelm her. Usually she recovered the termi-
nation of an incident first, and it often caught her gasping
with surprise and perplexity as it stood out isclated and un-
explained, The whole incident developed by no regular pro-
cess, but in a general direction backward. The memory of
S. D.'s acts came before that of her reasons for the acts, and
the originally accompanying feelings often never showed up
at all. States of extreme abstraction and emotion were never
recovered. 8. D.'s delusions came to light slowly and im-
perfectly. There was a dramatic incident after she obtained
an inner inkling of the substitution of a picture for the one in
which she herself had endeavored to depict a dream. She de-
manded to know what that picture was and the whereabouts
of the one which she had painted, and taking the former from
the wall tore away the paper backing and showed the rem-
nants of another underneath, indicating the substitution of
the picture for one formerly in the frame. It was months be-
fore the process of the absorption of memories was com-
pleted, during which the disappearance of the corresponding
memories from the consciousness of 5, D. was nearly con-
temporaneous. Much came back during sleep in the form of
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dreams, and the process of assimilation was smoother in that
case.

On the 6th R. D. emerged for by far the longest time since
her mother's death. Soon thereafter it was not unusual for
her to sum up several waking hours in a day. At first she
was satisfied with what she got, and ecstatically pronounced
it “like heaven," but the more her gains the more voraciously
ambitious she grew to maintain herself, and the more she de-
plored " losing time.” And this, of course was as it should
be. On the 9th, also, she was the one to sleep a considerable
part of the night, which she had not done since she was three
years old, and the very next night she reigned supreme and
alone, and this became the rule, subject to many exceptions,
Now the “ wake quietly, wake happily, wake in a minute”
formula was transferred to her and began to be the process
for bringing her by night or by day. A characteristic happy
smile on the sleeping countenance was the sign that she was
near, and I ultimately learned to wait until it beamed brightly
before using the formula, otherwise it might not be success-
ful. It was found that she should be seen soundly asieep in
her own personality, before leaving her, otherwise she failed
to remain, but 8, D). and M. spent the night between them,
One day, while alone, M. struck the keys of the piano, and
R. D. came, and sang, for the first time for five years. On the
21st R. D. was actually “ out ™ more than ten hours awake.
But she had been present but three minutes the preceding
night. Even sleeping in her own personality meant increased
expenditure of energy.

But from the 5th to the 10th S. D. was not seen, and M.
thought that she was defunct. When she reappeared she was
minus some of her memories. Again she was gone for six
days, but on the 16th took up her old course of daily alterna-
tions. As 8. M. afterwards said, she hod to come, the burden
of the changes was too great for R. D, and M. to divide be-
tween them.

On the 27th, the practice of “stretching " was resumed
after five years’ disuse, and soon afterwards those of yawning.
and sneezing.



82  Proceedings of American Society for Psvchical Research,

19. The Declining Sick Doris.

By the i6th of March, the bodily anzsthesias of S. D. had
greatly deepened. With the ebbing of her memory her man-
ner changed, becoming more cold and abstracted. She was
allowed to help about the house, but sewing of all kinds was
denied her, since its tendency to bring on catalepsy was ob-
served. But sewing was a part of her, and no measure more
powerfully operated to push her toward the brink of extinc-
tion than this. By the 27th taste and smeil were practically
annihilated,

From this time, tightly-clinched hands, profuse perspira-
tion and a weak, slow pulse were sure indications during sleep
of the presence of S, . She would also curl up like a dor-
mouse in sleep, so that M., following her, would cry out with
pain, complain and sometimes write her threatening letters,
Gradually it developed that for declining S. D. to remain any
time sleeping was in a high degree injurious. By accident a
formula was established (See Glossary, “ M.-Formula ")
which when acceded to acted as a kind of trigger to put her to
sleep and immediately after to send her away, whereupon the
clinched fists would open as though a spring had been re-
leased, and either R. D, or M, would come. But this formula
grew increasingly repugnant to S. D, and it at length became
necessary, S. M. and M. heartily approving, to employ stern
measures in order to force her to accede.

On March 31st, 5. D. accompanied Mrs. P. and myself to
a church in another part of the city. This was her last
journey, so rapid was her declension after the chauge of
environment, and the adoption of restrictive measures,

20. Margaret also Declining but more Slowly.

On the 2ist of March, M. declared that she could no
longer voluntarily bring R. D., but must first sleep in order to
hasten the coming of the latter. On the 24th it was recorded
that she was beginning to have intervals of not being con-
scious of R, D.’s thoughts when the latter was supraliminal
and awake. 'That is, she was “away and sleeping” (See
Glossary). This was new in reference to R. D., though M,
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had previously at times been in that subliminal condition
when S. D. was on deck. A few days later M. began also to
be in that condition at times when R, D, was asleep.

21. Alternations,

On the 13th of March the record began to give data re-
garding alternations from which their number and approxi-
mately the supraliminal time of R. D. may be estimated.
Later the moment of each alternation began to find a place,
s0 that the daily total time of each personality may be de-
termined, with the exception of S.R.D,,whose case presented
obvious difficulties, so that the time of her appearances is not
deducted from that of R. D. For the last 17 days of March
the alternations varied from 4 to 23 in a day, and R, D.’s daily
total time [rom 3 minutes to 17 hours and 10 minutes, while
her average was T hours and 18 minutes, including, of course,
the time that she was asleep. Usually the length of time that
it was she who slept at night was in inverse ratio to the time
that it was she who had the field the next day. The helpful
stimuli, of a pleasureable or reposeful nature, which
encouraged the maintenance of her synthesis and lengthened
her total record for a day, and the injurious stimuli, involving
strain and mental or physical discomfort, which caused tran-
sitions from the primary to a secondary personality, will be
found in the record in great variety.

Alternations, particularly from a lower to a higher per-
sonality, were preceded by a movement of the head, varying
from a slight oscillation to a decided jerk, depending upon the
abruptness with which the change took place. As this spap
was often noticed after a ¥ conversation-recital ” by S. R, D.
and before the next one, it is assumed that in the meantime a
transition to R. D, and back again took place. Toward the
end of the case, after the M. complex had become attenuated,
this mark attending the switching of personalities was less
proncunced.

22. Appearance of §, D. b. and M.-asleep x.,, and Self-Reve-
lation of Sleeping Margaret.

On the 5th of April, there twice appeared a S. D. whose
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memories terminated with October of 1910, and who could
not be persuaded of subsequent events, especially of the fact
that she was living in the rectory, until she had made careful
examination of her various properties in the house. It was
not the S. D, of the previous day suddenly shorn of her later
memories, for at an after hour the cold, incommunicative cur-
rent 8, D, returned, remembering much subsequent to Oct,,
1810. Nor did what was denominated S. D. b. ever after ap-
pear. In the evening, also, there came the apparition of the
M-asleep of three months earlier, her memories and her odd
notions and modes of speech of January returning and M-
asleep x. likewise had to be convinced by examination of D.'s
possessions that she had left her old home. As though these
dramatic episodes were not enough for one day, Sleeping
Margaret concluded to step forth, and, first exciting my
curiosity by saying * Margaret is sleeping,” both declared
herself and gave herself a name in the words, *“ I am Sleeping
Margaret.” Thereafter she occasionally talked to me, and
from the 14th pretty regularly each day. M.-asleep curiously
paid no heed to her voice, although she could generally un-
derstand what I said as easily as when she was awake. I
now began more to observe and better to interpret the
curious flittings of expression, alterations of voice, cutting in
two of sentences by others of quite other locution and import,
and other like phenomena indicative of double control, which
cannot be set forth in this place. In the meantime for some
days M.-asleep x. put in appearances alternated with the con-
temporaneous M.-asleep, and then disappeared.

23. The Battle with Sick Deoris, and Her Retreat.

About the first of April a paper was found on which S, D.
had been putting down the expenses incurred in her behalf,
as nearly as she could estimate them, intending to repay.
Not long after, her dulling mind realizing that she was
doomed, she wrote a note to M. begueathing to her her
possessions, and giving her instructions, which M. laughed at
and disregarded.

It grew harder to induce S. D. to submit to the only pro-
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cess by which she could speedily be banished to the sub-
liminal region and prevented from indulging in disastrous
sleep. 5. M. and M, repeatedly urged that she be frightened,
shaken, slapped,—anything to send her away, reminding me
that she was too anaesthetic to be hurt. This was very true,
and I felt compelled to follow the advice, but it was hard upon
my own feelings. Some comfort was derived from the fact,
which was likewise a marvel, that the instant 5. D. dis-
appeared in fright and anger and with heaving chest, R. D,
would flash out without a suspicion of the tussle that had
been waged, calm and happy, and with breath as even as that
of a sleeping babe.

The memories of S. D. ebbed daily. On the 6th of April
she had no recollection of the rooms in the old home or the
way thither, by the 8th she seldom remembered anything of
the previous day, two days later she did not know who 1 was
and began to call me “ Mister.” With the fading of memory
she daily grew more childish and apathetic; her capacity for
anger diminished, leaving in its place only an automatic ob-
stinacy. She began to make pathetic appeals while being
banished, saying “ I never did anything to you, Mister,” and
even to attempt touching cajolery, patting my cheek and de-
claring, “ We don't want to go home. We like this place. We
Iike you, Mister.,” By the 20th she had only a few fixed ideas,
a1l in relation to her old home, her housework there, and buy-
ing provisions for dinner. Constantly she believed that she
had come to the rectory only the night before. Occasionally
she made pitiful attempts to get out of the house. On the 21st
she had forgotten how to read and even her own name.

On the 13th she * came out ¥ while D, was in church, and
saw me in vestments, knew it was Dr. Prince but never
dreamed that it was “ Mister ” the jailer. From this time she
began to inquire when she could see Dr. Prince, and to
threaten that she would tell him about me. This gave M. an
idea which she recommended to me. In consequence I put on
my vestments and entered the room in which 5. D, was. A
lengthy scene, perhaps the most dramatic and moving in the
history of the curative period, followed. Trembling from
head to foot with joy, she gave me both her hands, and pro-



86  Proceedings of American Society for Psychical Research,

ceeded to relate her troubles and to ask me to take her away.
Almost whispering, she confided that she could not remember
her name, and asked me to tell her what it was. She could not
understand that she was “ill,” and knew nothing of R. D. or
M. Reluctantly she consented to do what was required, be-
cause “ Dr. Prince " wanted her to, and was glad for him to
put in use the dreaded formula before he left, instead of * that
man."” For several days the spell worked, then ¥ Dr. Prince "
had to pay her another visit,

By May 3rd, 5. D. had forgotten about home and work,
Only three ideas now prevailed, the desire to lie down, re-
luctance to submit to the banishing process, and the riddle of
Dr. Prince’s whereabouts. She now never initiated any task,
but if she came in the midst of one, automatically continued it.
On the 6th S. M. announced that S. D.’s will was gone, and
that it would no longer do harm to let her stay and even to
sleep. This proved to be the case, and the hardest task of
the whole case ended.

24, Infant Sick Doris,

May 6-10 was the transition entry to complete mental
infancy so far as regards S. D. alone. During these few days
all old ideas and memories utterly vanished, and a few ideas
resulting from accidental incidents took their place. Neither
the infantile notions, nor the infantile vocabulary, a number
of words in which were of unique application, ever received
any additions, but on the other hand, both diminished. On
the 12th she possessed 11 substantives, On the 14th these
had diminished to 4, and she then had 26 words altogether,
out of which she constructed 36 baby utterances, the most of
them of three words or less. These underwent no after
change except the adoption of one of her phrases as a sub-
stantive on the 21st. Her habits as well as her utterances
were now finally crystallized, At every appearance she went
through her little round of amusements and the prattle con-
nected with them, laughing with utmost glee, with no re-
maining trace of antagonism, But after a few minutes she
wearied and automatically held up her wrists to be grasped
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according to the formula (the only part of it henceforth neces-
sary), murmuring “ Go.” And at once the irrepressible M,
would bounce out, all life and spirits, and begin to ridicule
* that baby, that don’t know nothin’,” if it chanced that she
had been watching underneath.

From the 6th of May it was observed that the visual angle
of 5. D. was narrowing, and directly afterwards her visual
field began to shorten. By the middle of the month she could
see but 14 inches away. Moreover, no other person than my-
self was recognized even as constituting a person. She under-
stood the speech of no other, nor mine unless I was within her
range of vision. My face withdrawn fifteen inches (finaily)
I was out of the world completely, and my voice won only
the response, * Noise! noise !” as her eyes wandered about
bewildered. She could not walk, stand or sit, and when raised
from the couch her head fell with a snap and hung whichever
way gravity carried it, while all movements of her hands
were automatic. If her hand crossed her line of vision she
asked * waz zat ?” as she did when any other foreign obhject
intrnded. She no longer ate and could not swallow a crumb,
but drank, signifying thirst by saying “ dry.” Thus she con-
tinued until her end, the only essential alteration being that
she came less and less frequently.

25. The Troubles of Margaret.

M. sometimes had her feelings hurt, or some other acci-
dent affected her spirits so that she had a more ar less pro-
nounced “tantrum.” In these spelfs she was difficult to
manage, though at a later period it was better learned how
to deal with them, and they always injuriously affected R.
D.'s subsequent feelings and progress. She also had new
burdens imposed upon her owing to the declension of 5. D.
Before the mother's death R. D. had always been the one to
dress, and z2fter it S. D. had attended to this matter. But now
M. was the one to come first in the morning, and how the
clothes went on and the work of putting them on were a
puzzle and a nuisance to her. When she had got partly used
to a mode of dressing R. D, might introduce a novel gar-
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ment, and the complaints began airesh. Another perplexity
was added when S. M. began to tell me what was in M.'s
mind, both to explain peculiar incidents and to put me on my
guard. My mysterious knowledge puzzled her to her last day,
and she would ask with knitted brows, “ Papo, can you see
right into my mind ' Once she perpetrated the bull of try-
ing to watch herself to see if she talked in her sleep when
unaware, nor was she so far from the truth, but S, M, re-
ported, * She listened, and she couldn’t hear me at all .” After
meeting Dr, Hyslop she wrote him to see if he could explain
the mystery. Also, a2 new shyness came to M. out of doors.
She who had been so fearless now dared not venture beyond
sight of the house, and the vigilance which had been neces-
sary could now be relaxed.

28. Real Doris, and the Alternations.

The number of alterations daily much increased in April,
often amounting to more than 20 and once rising to 51. The
average time of R. D. was but little enlarged, being 8h. 15m.
But it was a mistake, as 5, M, often assured me, to suppose
that these particulars, by themselves, were true indices of the
rate of progress. The rapid decline of S. D., a most desirable
feature, was the very reason of the numerous transitions,
since it caused mental and nervous fatigue by the increased
burden that R. D. and M. had to bear. A period of marked
decline in the case of a secondary personality was seldom or
never one when the primary personality as such seemed to
make much progress, and yet there would be a net gain. And
it would usually be followed by a period when the secondary
personzlity would seem to slacken its retreat while the pri-
mary one darted forward. It was as when first one and then
the other end of a log is carried forward, Now and then
in the three years to follow the log remained still for a few
days, and only twice or thrice did it briefly slip back for a
littie,

In the old days R. D., when subliminal, was so deeply sub-
merged that the personalities could detect no sign of psychical
activity on her part. But now her descent at times was but
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shallow, and occasionally she “ dreamed underneath,” even
when the S, D, was awake. She also gradually released her-
self from any particular formula of coming. On Apr. 23rd,
she came spontaneously alone in the night. Two days after-
ward she came while out walking, Soon other stimuli were
beginning to cause her to emerge, especially anything that
caused M. to be happy. On the 27th, for the first time, R, D.
was the one to wake in the morning. By this time 1 had be-
come accustomed to employ psychical treatment just after
she fell asleep, having ascertained that she could hear me. In
this manner fears, worrtes, and all kinds of mental obsessions
were banished, and better states substituted, far more sue-
cessfully than counld be done when she was awake. 1 also be-
gan to suggest, after she had fallen asleep, that she should
dream pleasant incidents with specified details, and this she
usually did, relating the dreams the next day, with no sus-
picion of their origin. Her ability to hear me while sleeping,
and consequently to be affected by these methods of sug-
gestion, slowly slackened, and ceased with the completion of
the cure.

27, Sleeping Margaret.

From the time that she disclosed herself, S. M. was of the
utmost assistance. She reflected on the past in order to tell
me what she thought would be of use, observed the internal
effects of experiments and reported thereon, gave me notice
of M.'s states of consciousness which needed such delicate
handling, gave advice almost alwayshelpful, and made predic-
tions regarding the turns in the case which were generally
justified by the event.

On May 23, I first knew of her  going away,” an act or
state then entered upon only when M. was soundly asleep,
but afterward also when R. D. was on deck awake or asleep.
She made no explanatory statements at this time but after-
ward claimed actually to leave the body. She asserted that
she could “ go away” at any time, but that she never did
unless she felt that D, would he absolutely safe while she
was gone. As the case progressed toward reintegration, she
went away more and more. Many observations of this state
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were made, establishing its reality of some nature. For
example I would arrange for her to go away at 2 given cue,
and observe R. D.’s resulting uneasiness and hear her com-
plaints of strange psychical sensations as of loneliness.
Finally, after the departure of M., S. M. was generally
“away,"” except for a few minutes each evening.

First on June 18, 1 was witness of another singuiar
phenomenon, that of 8. M.’s “ jolting ” M. 'That is, when M.
asleep was refractory S, M, would sometimes cause her to ex-
perience the hallucination of receiving a blow on the forehead.
M. always thought that I was responsible, and would shrink
from me in fright. Finally, as M. declined in energy, the effect
upon her emotions became too grave, and 8. M. discontinued
the practice. 5. M. stated that this method of correcting M.
asleep was nothing new, but had been practised from 2 period
long anterior to the death of the mother.

It was 8. M. who was the chief expounder of the remark-
able scheme of intercognition briefly set forth earlier in this
chapter. The longest statement, of intricate and technical
character, was taken almost verbatim from her lips (see page
599 seq.). M. also was acquainted with this and other psychic
mechanics said to be involved in the case, but lacked
language to make them clear., On the other hand M. first
outlined the curious doctrine of the seats of the personalities
in the brain to be found in Appendix B, but S. M. endorsed
it, and the statements of both [romn time to time were in
perfect accord.

28. The Vicisgitudes of Margaret.

Careful engineering was gradually ameliorating M.’s dis-
position. Yet occasionally she continued to have what were
known as “ tantrums.” On June 2 she experienced one so
serious that she began to tear her clothing and, unable to
wreak vengeance on S. D., to threaten R. D, for the first
time. Once she addressed infant S. D. mournfully, * Gee!
1ts no use to scratch yow. If I did scratch you all you'd say is
‘Wazzat?” Following a tantrum no memory of it survived,
unless of very hazy and distorted character, but renewal of a
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kindred emotion would somewhat revive recollection of it.
Sometimes a fright (as from thunder) would put her into a
state wherein she knew neither us nor her surroundings

She was now “ watching” much less while R. D. was
both awake and asleep, and presently it got to be the rule
that she was conscions of R. D.’s thoughts and of outside
happenings only when the latter was weary, worried, grieved,
startled, etc., with the exception of the early morning. She
watched at the close of the day, but this fell under the rute, as
R. D. was then tired.

She had almost lost the power to “come onut ” voluntarily.
It was rather R. D. who “went” from weariness, shock or
strain. There were two seeming exceptions, wherein the
mechanism was really automatic, If M. previously had deter-
mined to come at a given concurrence of circumstances, as
when R, D. should stand before a given counter in a particular
store, M, would come when that happened, after the analogy
of post-hypnotic suggestion. Also, if anyone (except myself
within certain limits), especially R, D,, meddled with for-
bidden property of hers, she would come indignant and some-
times threatening, It took time before R, D. could be trained
to refrain from doing this, as she hated to be “ bossed ,” but
it was necessary that she should, for there was danger that
M. would become inimical to her, in which case endless mis-
chief might ensue.

M. was subject to verbal and motor automatisms, which
often went in pairs, so that stopping the movement of the
hand, for instance, would stop the utterance also, even cut-
ting a word in two. These developed, decayed and gave place
to others until her own end.

When asleep, the most fleeting touch of her hypersensitive
fingers sufficed to tell her what my facial expression was, and
elicited chuckles or cries of dismay to correspond. More ex-
traordinary, if not inexplicable, while asleep she had only to
touch my iips with her fingers to know what I said, even
though I only shaped the words rapidly, without conscious
emission of the slightest breath, This power continued to her
final exit, and she never showed consciousness while awake of
having exercised it.
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There is no room here to describe the peculiar “drama ”
of her invention which she played with histrionic skill, when
alone, At this stage her happiness would soon bring R. D,
who would find herself arrayed theatrically and perhaps in
some extraordinary position. At length M. could hardly get
the scene set before R. D). would come, and concluded that it
was not worth while to keep up the attempts, though she still
objected to the removal from their accustomed places of the
objects in the room which stood for persons or things in the
play. .

The policy henceforth pursued was to keep M. asleep so
much of her time as was possible, and to narrow the range
of her activities and pleasures all that could be done and pre-
serve her good-nature.

29. Physical States with Psychical Relations.

At the time of her mother's death catamenia was in
progress. This ceased with the birth of S. D., and had never
been resumecd, though the times for the monthly periods had
usually been accompanied with much pain. Also, for five
years she had had constant backache., Abdominal distension,
and swelling of the thyroid gland were symptoms following
fatigne and excitement, gradually lessening as the cure pro-
ceeded. At this stage, pressure across the chest, both with
infant 5. D. and M,, produced entire psychical dealness,
Constipation continued to be a trouble, and was both the
cause and consequence of psychical disturbances. Corsets and
tight waisis were found to favor constipation and generally
to interfere with healthful conditions, but continued to be
worn with decreasing frequency until they were finally ab-
jured to great advantage. On June 21, the girl was caused
by suggestion (and the alleged help of S. M.) to sleep
through a long and severe job of filling teeth.

30. Trip to the East, and the End of Sick Doris.

The family started for Massachusetts on June 26. R. D.
was in ecstasy during such parts of the trip as she was
conscious of, while M. was titnid and confused during her
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time out. Arrived at the home of my sister, Mrs. Freeman,
in Marlboro, on the 28th, 1T wished her to see 8. D. For
some time she had come only when M, voluntarily “ let go.”
S. D. came and went through her little program for the last
time, since M. was never able to bring her again. A few days
later, at the regular period, catamenia, which had ceased with
S. D.’s advent, was resumed, as S. M. had predicted. After
this, as a rule, pain was slight or absent.

81. Further Progress during the Visit,

At first M. was like a colt let loose. The country in-
terested her and she showed symptoms of revival, 5. M.
warned me that I must put the damper on. She was re-
strained from her exercise of exuberance with what tact could
be summoned and in a few days was reduced to what
she had been, seldom going out of doors in her personality
after that, But one night's torment from a sudden influx of
mosquitoes had driven us to our next visiting-place, Man-
chester, N. H. Here the most terrific heat of forty years al-
most blotted R. D. out for eight days, while an itching rash
and the tumult of M.’s awful homesickness, caused by the
first two calamities, filled the cup of misfortunes. When M.
was subliminal she watched continually so long as we re-
mained in this place. On the 24th of July we returned to Marl-
boro, whence the mosquitoes had fled. M, had forgotten the
short infliction of the mosquitoes, but the long sufferings in
Manchester had fatally stamped that place with mental dis-
satisfaction. Homesickness instantly disappeared, the day
of our journey to and arrival in Marlboro was the first when
M. did not watch at all ustil evening, and R. D. rejoiced in a
new feeling of “ freedom.” The daily average of time won
by the latter now mounted higher than ever before.

By the last of the month it was found that amnesia had
begun with M, * She had forgotten her Manchester friends,
and on the 8th of August 2 memorandum was discovered,
written by M., of the names of these persons and of some par-
ticulars connected with our life in Pittsburgh, which she had
collected from conversation to which she listened to aid her
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fafling memory. She was beginning to hecome more childish
in thoughts and pronunciation, especizally in the state of sleep,
—for she still conversed while sleeping. Her sense of taste
was dulling, her appetite and general interest in life decreas-
ing. If anything occurred to prolong her supraliminal periods,
she would get exceedingly bored, and make ludicrous com-
plaints, such as, “ Come along, R. D.; your old tired thing
wants you.” This impatience at being long out at a time
increased to her final departure. She herself realized the
significance of all this, and shyly confided to me that she was
“beginning to go,” and was “ feeling more like a baby.”
She even began to apply that term to herself.

On the 16th of August we started for Pittsburgh, at an
hour arranged by 8. M., though neither R. D, nor M, saw any
reason why one train should be preferred to another. R. D.
remained out the whole 23 hours of the journey, a four de
force, accomplished mainly because M. resolutely remained
subliminali, and paid for by a very short succeeding day.

32, Margaret’'s Rapid Retreat.

M.’s memories continued their steady decline. Such as
remained of Mariboro, Manchester, Boston and other places
visited, soon amalgamated. She had met my mother, and the
memory of her coalesced with that of my sister, so that she
was accustomed to say “ Grandma-Aunt Louise,” believing
this to be one person. She forgot my name—I was * papo™
only. Still, it was noticed that if she was stimulated to at-
tempt recalling, incidents and details would slowly emerge,
and this remained in diminishing ratio to the close. In
October, while R. D, was walking some squares’ distance from
the rectory M. suddenly came out. She was in a locality for-
merly very familiar to her, but she did not recognize it, and
continued walking in the same direction until she came to the
river, and there stopped, never thinking of the possibility of
turning in another direction, and was about to sit down and
wait for her ” papo,” when her very fright brought R. D. back.
Such incidents happened perhaps a dozen times afterwards.
By the 22nd it was noted that she had no remaining-concep-
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tion of time-duration. By this date also she seldom men-
tioned any event of the last eight months prior to the proxi-
mate four days, '

At the same time she was almost ceasing to * watch ” by
day or night, and consequently did not usually get her
knowledge of R. D.'s doings and thoughts by contemporane-
ous introspection as heretofore. But as M. came near the sur-
face just before R. D. lapsed, she gleaned from the latter’s
mind some of the happenings of the day.

By Aug. 29, stroking, rubbing, pinching or pricking with
a needle, was unperceived, Surface sensation was to be re-
vived in a measure (at least seemingly), but the deeper sen-
sations never. Taste and smell were almost annihilated, the
latter to be partiaily recovered for a time, but not the former.
M. was loath to acknowledge any of her declensions, except
when she felt in a particular confidential mood, and might
deny them an hour after the confession. Muscular anssthesia
came on, and it became dangerous for her to go up or down-
stairs without being guarded. She stumbled and her feet
clumped like wooden blocks. By Oct. 30 anasthesia seemed
complete while awake, Earlier, in August, while sleeping she
could feel on the lips, palms and backs of the hands, and, ac-
cording to S. M,, the nipples. But now, when sleeping she
could feel only on the backs and especially the palms of the
hands. But a new sensitiveness to temperature, on the other
hand, was beginning to appear, not that of solid objects but
of the atmosphere. The tendency to greater childishness con-
tinned. S. M. announced that it seemed to her that M, was
beginning to retrace her life-journey, and this proved to be
the case.

Oct. 1 saw what might have been a fatal night. A phy-
sician had given R. D, in the course of the day, a soporific for
some ailment involving pain. In the evening, while alone, M,
chanced to find a pill heavily charged with opium, and think-
ing that a pill was meant to be taken, swallowed it. 1 re-
turned to find her profoundly sleeping, her pupils much con-
tracted, and 8. M. hardly able to use the vocal organs. Aided
by the advice of the latter, and by Mrs, P., I fought for the
girl’s life, from the hour of 10 p. m,, and not until 3 a. m. was
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she out of danger. A dread of pills was carefully implanted in
M.'s mind which remained a permanent safeguard, so far as
this particular danger was concerned.

33. Margaret’s Purposed Dealings with Real Doris.

On her return to Pittsburgh, R, D. made some attempts
to study. But she could by no means reach the results of after
days. Almost at once her thoughts would become confused,
alien sentences would intrude, and she sometimes saw them
in seemingly printed form, while now and again she heard or
rather felt a chuckle which she recognized as coming from be-
neath. M. was opposing the study, for the good reason that
it tended to bring her out, and demanded that such efforts be
postponed. Not until several weeks of experiment, however,
did R. D. abandon these efforts until a later stage.

Now that 8. D. was gone, M. had a little tendency, when
irritated, to annoy R. D. as she had formerly done the defunct,
Before we left Manchester, she once caused R. D. to hear her
raucous voice while sleeping, with disquieting effects. On
Sept. 7, I had a long night conflict to prevent her from wak-
ing and “teasing” R. D., and did not conquer until I had
reluctantly taken S. M.’s advice and spanked her on the hands.
Physically, M. felt little or nothing, but she childishly mur-
mured, *“ You hurt me in my mind, papo.” Again on Sept.
17, because R. D, persisted in going to Sunday Schoolwhen M.
was unwilling for her to go, she was tormented throughout by
a boyish voice telling her to “ go home.” Such sporadic out-
bursts became rarer with the lapse of time and at length
ceased. But careful engineering was required at times to
prevent the wrath of M. from being turned against R. D,
with destructive results to her invaluable equanimity and
hopefulness, and the information and advice rendered by S, M.
were of the greatest aid.

M. still, in general, resolutely insisted on her property
rights, and if R. D. rashly laid hand on one of her dolls,
opened the drawer in which the most of her knicknacks were
kept, or tossed away some supposedly worthless article like
an empty “ perfoonery " bottle which M. valued, she would be
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““stirred up” and come out with protestations and even
threats.

M. several times at this period and later took a temporary
dislike to Dr. Walker, on one occasion because she overheard
him suggest the experiment of seeming to neglect her, At
such times M.’s repugnance affected R. D., not wholly auto-
matically, because M. “ thought and thought ” with that end
in view, so that R, D. also, she knew not why, for a time did
not like her friends. When M.’s hostility ceased, R. D.’s feel-
ing of distaste would at once vanish,

34. Real Doris and her Progress.

The ceasing of watching on the part of M. was attested hy
interesting phenomena in the case of R. D, at least part of
which were direct sequences. When M. first failed to watch
the moment that R. D. came asleep for the night the latter
would grasp my coat, ear or anything lier hand came into con-
tact with, and it was sometimes a task to get free. This con-
tinued until R. D, got used to the new condition. And when
M. left off watching at a Iater hour of the night, when R, D.
was alone, the latter would be heard murmuring, “ Don't go
...1 don’t want vou to go yet,” Leing asleep, and with no
waking memory of it. Also R. D, had many dreams of miss-
ing and losing things, and these gradually tended to take the
form of losing a little girl to whom she had some sort of a re-
fation. This latter sort of dream, which 8. M. aptly termed
* symbolic,” developed in complexity and point as M.'s de-
clension proceeded, and came to contain features of conflict
with a little girl (“ who looked like nie when T was little,” R.
D. would unsuspectingly report) and of getting the better of
her. Such dreams, significant of a vague underlying con-
sciousness that she was waging a victorious fight to rid her-
self of the incubus of a juvenile co-consciousness, continued to
a late stage. Likewise dating with the cessation of M.'s night-
watching, R. D. suddenly became hypermsthetic in hearing.
Auditory sensation being now unshared by a consciousness
subliminal to her own, night sounds became disagreeably loud
and even a pianissimo passage in a concert rendition was al-
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most painfully. distinct. It was not until the close of 1911
that auditory hyperasthesia subsided. There was also tactile
hyperasthesia for about a week, dating from Sept. 10, during
which the contact of her clothing was a torture, the whole
surface of the body as it were raw with sensation,

In August, R. D. acquired a liking for candy, and for the
first time began really to know what hunger is.

Like M., in September she became more sensitive to heat
and cold, that is, probably, normal. She likewise began to
perspire more freely than ever before.

The reduction, month by month, in the number of alter-
ations, and the fairly regular increase of R. D.'s averages of
time out, may be seen by a glance at Appendix A.

35. Comparisons and Tests in Hearing and Vision.

Although M. had stopped watching, except for exceptional
intervals, yet she was still a factor while subliminal, and cer-
tain abnormalities in R. I.’s hearing and vision were probably
due to that subliminal factor. We mustrememberthat M.was
hyper®sthetic in relation to both these senses, and also that
she had a location or relation to the left side of the body,
exemplified in a number of ways which cannot be set forth
here. M.’s ability to see in the dark was never shared by R.
D., but her asymmetry in both sight and hearing was,

On Oct. 26, it was ascertained that R, D, could read a
certain print with the right eye alone at 21 inches, with the
left eye alone at 60 inches, and with both eyes at 61 inches.
Unfortunately no such exact test was made as to M., and it
was difficult to induce her to submit to any test unless it could
be made to appear a sort of a2 game, but it is certain that she
could see much farther that R. D, and also farther with her
left than her right eye.

On Nov. 8, it was found that R. D, could hear the ticking
of a certain watch with her right ear at about 12 inches, with
the left fully 20 feet, an exceedingly abnormal distance. Three
days later it was ascertained by a series of tests that M. could
hear with her right ear 4 feet and 2 inches, and with her left
31 feet!
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During R. D.’s period of auditory hypera®sthesia she was
accustomed to plug her ears at night with cotton, in order
largely to shut out the troublesome noises. S. M. on Nov. 3
made the statement that M., and consequently she herself,
could hear as well with as without the plugs, I lowered my
voice until it was a whisper, and finally a whisper that Mrs. P.
could not detect, and still 8. M. answered me without diffi-
culty. M.’s hyperasthesia was 50 great that the wads made
no essential difference—had she some superadded channel of
audition, as the bones?

As 8. D.’s had done, M.’s visnal angle began to narrow at
some unknown date, and was much reduced by Oct. 30th.

36. Sleeping Margaret “ Yanks in” Margaret.

On Oct. 8th, while R. D. was in church, M. came out and
was about to shout, according to her custom at home, “ O you
papo!” when S. M. made a great effort and sent her into the
subliminal depths, forcing the return of R. D. When M. was
next seen in the house, her eyes were bulging with excite-
ment as she declared " There is another §, D, There must be,
for I was yanked in just as I used to yank in 8. D. You
can’t fool this chicken; there’s someone else.” Again on Nov.
12th, in a similar emergency, S. M. “ pulled M. in,” as the
former termed it, but declared that it required so much ex-
penditure of energy that she did not want to repeat the feat,
and that I must keep R. D. away from the church until the
danger was over. 'The drain of force on both occasions was
shown by the subsequent fatigue of R, D. and by an in-
creased number of alternations,

37. Sleeping Real Doris.

The *“ conversation-recitals ™ had long gone by, but some-
thing else was going on which was not discovered until Oct.
13th, when observations were made late at night. Broken
sentences in a faint, wondering voice were heard, “ This isn't
my room...This isn’t my room...My room had a carpet on
the floor...That is my bureau... my bureau,” etc. What
came to be known as the * soliloquies ” were reproductions



100 Proceedings of American Society for Psychical Research.

of murmurs by R, D. in her brief, solitary emergences during
the five years, and they went on every night, generally work-
ing backward in point of the original dates. About eight
times in a night 8, R. D. would stand upright in bed, carefully
gather her skirts about her, turn around and lie down again.

38, Margaret Growing Mentally Younger, and other Losses,

S.M.'s announcement that M. was beginning to retrace the
path of her development was evidenced increasingly as time
went on. Her conceptions, sentence-constructions and pro-
nunciations constantly became more childish. In Oct., 1911,
she was saying “ scwatch,” “gweat,” and a little later
“mor’r” for mother, *“war'r” for water, etce. “I have
sleeped enough,” and “1 am unhurted now," are samples
of her expressions, while “ My golly but that was a pretty
present, gee but 1 thought it was lovely " is a fair sample
from a letter written to Dr. Hyslop. She could often spell
correctly after she had broken down in pronunciation. After-
ward her spelling began to decay, but not to an equal extent.

By December it was very difficult for M. to read aloud,
and for some time her silent reading had been little more than
a vestigial habit; her eyes followed the lines faithfully, but she
gleaned few ideas irom them. She could no longer tell time
by the clock, and if she came in my absence could inform me
of the time of the arrival only by pointing out what had been
the position of the hands She no longer noted whether it
was day or night, unless she glanced out of the window and
saw the bright sunlight.

In January, 1912, R, D. fell while out of doors not far
from the house, and M, came and recognized neither the
house nor her whereabouts. A gentleman helped her up,
and supposing that she was confused by the fall, which was
heavy enough to bring blood, took her to the door of her
home. When in the latter part of May the household goods
were being packed preparatory to removal to California, she
could not understand the bareness of the rooms and par-
ticularly of the book-shelves, although she knew that we were
going away. Her property sense began to decline, so that
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R. D. could sometimes tell by her feelings that she was per-
mitted to touch some hitherto forbidden article.

Save for very rare exceptions, M. ceased entirely to watch
toward the close of 1911. By the [ollowing April she had
become anaesthetic on the backs of her hands while asleep,
and sensation in the palms, all that remained, was decreasing.
She was now seldom conscious of, and seldom resisted, move-
ments initiated by S. M.

But M. was still shrewd in her way. Having mysteriously
gotten hold of the words “ Sleeping Margaret,” certainly by
no normal process, she surmised that these formed the name
of the personality who had * yanked her in,” and at various
times tried to trap me into an admission.

Her * hollow cone ” of vision narrowed rapidly. By Jan, 1,
1912, she coud see only 2 word or two at a time when she
held a paper at the usual distance for reading, and to see the
width of a 3%% inch column it had to be held at the distance of
about 28 inches.

On Jan, 25th she had a terrible tantrum, and had been in
its grip for several hours when I returned to the house at
midnight. She was found sitting in a pitiful state, not so
much of anger as of sobbing despair, surrounded by hundreds
of shreds which she had torn from her dress. In consequence
R. D. “lost a day,” and M.'s energies were revived for a few
days. The latter resumed watching when subliminal, her
vivacity and will-power were renewed, and she immediately
becatne able to read fluently, while the consciousness of R. D.
was proportionately clouded and perturbed. The effect
passed off in about a week, however. Another tantrum on
April 28 was perhaps the last of the more serious type.

M. was subject to auto-suggestion. After becoming
anzsthetic she was afraid of falling down the stairs, the head
of which she had to pass on the way to the bath-room. This
fear suggested to her that the “stairs called ” her, wanting
her to fall down, and in running past them her course would
swerve in their direction. On Jan. 14th, the call proved too
strong, and she did fall and turned a complete somersault in
her progress to the foot of the stairs, injuring her head and
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back, and of course risking the breaking of her neck. After
this the stairway was kept barricaded, to her great relief.

39, Sleeping Real Doris’s Decline and Disappearance.

S. R. D. ceased to stand up in bed in November, 1911, but
at the same time, as though the energy so used were diverted
into the other channel, she * soliloquized * or, as 8. M. calied
jit, “ babbled ,” more than ever. But this in turn gradually
decayed, so that instead of saying “ This isn't my room,”
she would say “ This isn’t my ” and stop; and later would get
only so far as * This isn't—,” in a still more obscure voice.
On the night of Nov. 22nd she was silent for the first time, and
by the end of the year the solioquies had ended forever, It
was not until Jan. 10, 1912, that my suspicions that there was
an inchoate separate psychical entity deserving the name of
Sleeping Real Doris became crystallized into certainty. None
of the group, or any living person, had heard a syllable of my
cogitations regarding S. R. D, when, three days later, M, told
me the story of her origin and even applied to her the name
that I had fixed upon as appropriate. S. M. completed the
story and fixed the date of the accident which, as M. said,
“ made a little crack in R. D" Perhaps the reason M. made
her reminiscent remark at this time was that, with the cessa-
tion of * babbling ,” 8. R. D. was beginning to show a decided
tendency to react upon sensory stimuli. It seemed as if all
her ebbing energies, formerly expended in * conversation-
recitals,” “ soliloquies,” ete., were now turned in this direc-
tion. She took on more individuality of facial expression,
tone and manner in her brief manifestations. She learned to
perform certain simple acts which became stereotyped, she
even walked to the bathroom, but if she encountered anything
which increased the number of steps she never found it, but
returned to her couch. But I was the only being whom she
in a manner recognized. If Mrs, Prince spoke and laid her
hand on her she would flop over, grunt with loud discontent,
and burrow deeply into the bedclothes. A word from me
brought her forth with her twisted smile. She “knew not
Joseph ,”" that is, Mrs. Prince. R. D, never, waking or sleep-
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ing, would have shrunk from the dearly-loved mother. As a
rule, the unnecessary stimulation of the reactions of S, R, D.
were avoided, and these grew fainter.

April 15th, 1912, 8. R. D. made her last appearance. It
was probably the exhilaration which R. D. felt from the pros-
pect of going to California which blew out the last feeble
flame of her complex. It conld hardly have been an accident
that the reception of the invitation to go exactly coincided
with the disappearance of S. R, D. as a factor in the case.

40, Sleeping Margaret’s Increasing Latitude.

Sleeping Margaret in the meantime was undergoing no
ascertainable change in her own being, but, owing to the
declension of the personalities, was acquiring latitude in the
exercise of her functions.

As stated, she had acquired ability to control the limbs
during M.s sleep, because M.'s profounder sleep and
anazsthesia made her unconscious of movements initiated by
the former. Also, by November, she acquired limited power
of movement, especially of the feet, while M. was awake. In
consequence we were able to put into operation a code of
signals whereby 8. M, could render affirmative and negative
answers to questions asked by me when M., was out and
awake. If M. noticed the mavements, she was amazed, and
soon hilarious with excitement at the wonder, though not
suspecting their cause or meaning. At this point 8. M. would
pause, as a precautionary measure. The physical control
possible to S. M. increased to the end, and the system of con-
versing by signals was often useful for the obtaining of in-
formation.

S. M., remarked that life was getting duller for her as M.’s
mind grew more inactive, there was so much less of interest
to watch.

In January, 1912, S. M. first spoke to R. D. herself in her
sleep, waking her so that she might pull up the covers which
had fallen to the floor.

41, Real Doris in the Meantime.
S. M. often remarked that R. D.’s individual improvement
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was like a see-saw. “ She has a period when her body ad-
vances and then the mind has to catch up, then the mind gets
in advance and the body has to catch up.”

All the while R. D. was developing in independence, will
and ability to sustain the minor shocks of life without letting
go the grasp of her own synthesis, “ Confusion” of mind
decreased at the same pace that measured M.'s cessation of
subliminal watching. Dreams containing unrecognized
features derived from M.’s thoughts and acts became more
frequent, also dreams symbolizing her triumphant conflict
with the M. complex without knowledge on her part of their
significance. She even dreamed that the little girl was getting
to be a baby both in mind and body. Resumption of visits by
her friend Ella had a stimulating influence.

After many attempts and approaches R. D. succeeded on
Jan. 2, 1912, in maintaining herself in the morning without a
M. interval. For the first time the record notes but two
alternations from evening to evening. 'The experience was
repeated thereafter with irregularly increasing frequency, and
the number of daily alternations became two, four and six,
with occasional relapses to a larger number,

By the end of the year R. D.'s auditory hyper®sthesia was
much reduced, so as to be no longer painful. Tests of Jan. 1,
1912, showed, curiously, that she could now hear the ticking
of a watch with the right ear alone farther than before, 5 feet
and 5 inches, but with the left ear not nearly so far, 13 feet
and 6 inches, so that the asymmetry was much reduced.

She was harassed by a mysterious headache for 38 days
ending Feb. 25. It was discovered that the headache began
directly after, from association of ideas on seeing a funeral
procession, she had inwardly resolved to take frequent walks
to her mother’s grave, The headache was in the left cerebral
lobe, like that which had attacked her at the deathbed of her
mother. Upon her being persuaded to forego the resolution
the headache at once disappeared.

On the journey to California, June 1-5, R. D, and M. re-
versed their emotional roles, as compared with the journey of
the year before. M, was then timid, R. D. not. But now R.
D., for the first time compelled to sleep on a train, was op-
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pressed to tears by fear, while M. when out was without trepi-
dation. 8. M. explained that now M. could not reason and
believed my assurances absolutely, while R. D. knew that 1
could not prevent an accident,

42, Margaret becomes Mentally less than Six Years old, and
Reaches Blindness.

With the exception of one month, to be noted in a separate
section, M.'s retreat continued throughout this period of a
year and four months. Her recession to earlier mental child-
hood was manifest. By September, 1912, such expressions as
“TI've been bitteded by a bug,” were frequent, and such
pronunciations as “ hankchet ” for handkerchief,” breket " for
breakfast, and *“ leamun ” for linament, appeared. In Novem-
ber a German accent began to emerge, “vot” for what, “vell”
for well, and a curious pronunciation of dog like " doch ,”" with
the true German guttural sound. This had peculiar interest
from the fact that in her sixth year the girl picked up some
traces of accent from frequenting, out of her love of horses, a
nearby stable where German hostlers were employed. She
had not previously acquired it from her father since she fled
from his approach, and she laid it aside soon after entering
school in her seventh vear. The next July she had begun to
say “appel,” reminiscent of the German “apfel,” and in
August I once heard her utter the Teutonic expression, “ Did
you make the light out ?”

She developed three styles of speaking as her memories
faded. (@) That which has been described, a reproduction of
her manner in early childhood. This she employed when
speaking in her own character. (») When she repeated R.
D.’s speeches or thoughts, Her pronunciation, locution, and
to a certain extent tone and manner, were now those of R.
D. herself. She was now quoting from R. D. (¢) When she
told old stories that she had been accustomed to tell before
her decadence, Her pronunciation, etc.,, were now quite in
her old manner. She was quoting from her former sell.
These distinctions of speech absolutely conformed to rule.

Even the memories of early years were now departing. In
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September it was found that the name Fischer was foreign
to her, the next month she remembered neither her father nor
her beloved mother, nor Ella, nor scarcely a person or thing
connected with her former life. And yet any verbal cue
might operate the machinery of association so as to set her
glibly relating an old tale. But it was all automatic; #f she
named Ella, for example, she would stop and wonderingly in-
quire * What's Ella ?' or if she mentioned a teacher would
pause and ejaculate “ What's teacher ?”’ If stimulated to grope
for the recovery of forgotten facts they would slowly come
back one by one. Catching sight of a diagram of the interior
of her old honie she recognized it, and when asked who lived
there named, after some cogitation, a nephew, then added in a
puzzled way,” and there was someone else—someone who
hit us. Papo, who was it that hit us? And where was you,
papo?—you weren’t there,” Also from glimpses into R. D.'s
thoughts her memories were sometimes revived, hut only for
the day. Any verbal combination newly acquired she could
repeat only with excessive slowness, each word recalling the
next separately—she could not grasp a line of poetry as a
whole.

The general dulling of her comprehension of course kept
pace with the loss of her memories. She still came out upon
the street occasionally for a minute or s0, and always stopped
stock-still, as though absorbed in thought, not knowing where
she was. She began to get lost in the bathroom, not re-
membering how to turn the key, and there were some dis-
tressing episodes until I removed the key. If she happened
to be sitting on her foot and was asked where it was, she be-
came bewildered and then frightened, exclaiming in poignant
tones, “ My foot’s los” I By July, 1912, she could not locate
any feature or portion of her head which had no active func-
tion, that is, she could her mouth, nose or eyes, but not her
chin, forehead or cheek. By October the distinction between
night and day was utterly gone, and she could not inform
me when she had come in my absence even by pointing out
the position of the clock-hands. In November S, M, declared
that M. no longer had any *‘active” thoughts. Mental exertion
tired her more and more, In January, 1913, it was found that
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her thought tempo was too slow to keep pace with the re-
lation of a story by another. She would listen to reading for
a minute or two as if fascinated, but the strain of attention
quickly wearied her, so that she would clamor for the reading

_to stop. By the last of March she did her last singing of
childhood ditties, and urging her to sing threatened to make
her cry. A little later she could not endure to listen to sing-
ing. Retaining hold of a fan and at the same time moving it
in the usnal way was now a too complicated task for her
ability. In August she appealed to have R. D. put on her
nightgown and kimono before she went in the evening. “1I
can’t find where my head and hands go in,” she piteously
complained, “ I hunt and hunt and it tires me, and I tear my
nightdress and I bump into things. I mos’ falled tonight,
papo. 1 am getting too far gone .”

M.’s general interest in life diminished in proportion. Her
anasthesia and failing vision were isolating her from the
present world, and her amnesia from the past. Nearly all her
time was now spent in two rooms, and by far the greater part
of it in sleeping. On September, 1912, she threw her money
across the room and she, who formerly took so nuch interest
in her small funds, never cared for money any more, In Octo-
ber, R. D. could handle the dolls and even give them to smail
callers to play with, and evoke no protest. M.'s liking for
food degenerated into a mere ceremonial, in which the
memory of how things used to taste and the hearing of the
* crunching ” furnished the only pleasure. By the summer of
1913 all desire for candy died out.

Reading, in August, 1912, still consisted of merely follow-
ing words with her eye, and if interrupted she complained
that she had lost her word and would start the column again,
She was no longer reading what T had previously read but
exclusively that which had previously been perused by R, D.
In January, 1913, she ceased even to follow words with her
eye, and would only look blankly at the printed pages, or look
at pictures, In February it was found that she could spell
only the shortest and most familiar words. She could write
long after she had ceased to read, and sent a number of notes
to Drs. Walker, Hyslop and Brashear, and to Aunt Louise,
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the chirography becoming more Hancockian with her failing
vision. But on Dec. 16, 1912, she wrote her last letters, fall-
ing over asleep immediately from exhaustion. Once more she
thought she was writing, the following March, but she pro-
duced only an unmeaning scrawl. She was stil able to dictate
letters, but these in turn became a tremendous task, causing
her to perspire and fall over asleep in the midst of the dicta-
tion, so this in turn ceased. By May, 1913, even pictures
meant nothing to her unless they contained the figure of a
small child, when she would point it out and cry, * See the
pretty baby I” But by August she no longer recognized a
depicted baby and pictures, as S. M, remarked, were “ only
a blur to her.”

At the middle of July, 1913, sensation had gone from even
the palms of her hands while sleeping. She was now prac-
tically without sensation on skin, in flesh, or of muscular
movement. Yet soon after she began to acquire conscious-
ness of touches upon the skin, though, absurd as the state-
ment may seem to many, it is doubtful if the old cutaneous
sensation was really revived. She seemed to become aware
without sensation, as by a sixth sense. Still, some hemilateral
difference existed, and by August 7th she had become again
and finally oblivious to touches on the left side. A finger
drawn across the finger or chin without her visual angle and
from left to right would be detected the moment it crossed
the median line. The right side was later to follow suit.

M.’s vision, which had narrowed as we have seen, began
also to shorten. The first of July, 1912, she could see perhaps
12 feet, but not more than 6 by the middle of the month, For
a while she was bothered about getting around the house and
would bump herself severely. Her visual field had shortened
by Aug. Tth to 5 feet and 8 inches, and by Sept. 20th it had
taken the big drop to 19 inches. Certain experiments, with
dramatic and startling results showed the genuineness of the
condition, which soon needed no artificial demonstration. Tt
took some months more to reduce the depth of the visual
field to its ultimate 14 inches, Suddenly, on Oct. 4, 1913,
she became blind, and so remained to the end. That is, R, D.
with visual powers unimpaired would drop out of sight, and
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the same instant M. would come seeing nothing. As with
other changes, this did not trouble her spirits, more than
John Robinson is troubled because he cannot fly. It is not a
man's nature to fly, and M.’s nature had altered,—that is the
only reason, in fact, that she could not see, since there was no
physical defect. It was psychical blindness. The only thing
that annoyed her was the renewal of bumping into things, but
she soon knew her few customary routes through the house,
and also could accomplish safely any path through the room
that R. D. had taken shortly before lapsing. Otherwise she
had to feel her way along or meet accidents,

And yet M. was able to get certain information which
normally would depend upon sight. When lier vision first be-
gan to shorten I could for a few days make faces at her be-
yond her visual field, a thing which she would hysterically
have resented, with impunity. But there quickly developed
some mysterious compensating power by which she could in-
fallibly detect my expression. After arrival at the point that
her hand had to be directed to the knife and fork lying near
her plate, she yet would jubilate at my smile or complain of
my frown when I was five or more feet away. And yet [ might
experimentally make a derisive gesture, providing my fea-
tures did not express derision, and she would not suspect it,
She could tell that I had done something with my hand, but
that was all. Nor was her ability to detect my expression
less after she became blind. She herself said that she “ felt
it, and once that she * smelled ” it. These seemed to be at-
tempts to express something which seemed to her sensory in
its nature and which she could not explain. Was there a
mysterious seeing under her blindness which announced its
judgments only to her consciousness? Then why did it
discriminate between one object and another? Or were my
changes in expression accompanied by subtle variations of
breathing which her marvelous auditory hyperasthesia could
detect and interpret? There is this much in support of the
latter hypothesis, that she was aware, for example, of a spoon
approaching her lips, though it was brought up slowly and
cautiously, and correctly estimated many other moving ob-
jects, while she never detected the presence of immobile ob-
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jects not in their accustomed places. But the determination
of facial expression when there was no conscious emission of
breath seems a widely-separated feat.

In June, 1912, M.’s power to come after the fashion of
post-hypnotic suggestion was ceasing. She could no longer
direct me to get an ice-cream and then, R, D. having in-
tervened, come back to eat it.

By December, 1912 *tantrums” were nearly over, and

M. had become almost uniformly amiable and tractable. But
still sometimes a flash would come from the old embers, In
form at least of a short spell of sullenness. Tact and care
were still needed in the way of guarding her from irritation.
These had their due reward. By September, 1813, she had
become anxious to do whatever R. D. desired she should do.
If R, D. wished that “ Phase A" would not throw things
about the floor, M. would at once begin to be religiously care-
ful, declaring with all earnestness, * Margaret don't want to
make the R. D. trouble. Margaret don’t want the R, D. to
think the Margaret’s sloppy.” But it must be a spontanecus
wish on the part of R. D., one suggested to her by another as
suitable for her to put in operation would not do.
. Since S, D. had left a testamentary document, M. thought
it proper that she should make her will also. After several ex-
perimental dravghts, she at last wrote it out in gigantic
characters, leaving grave and reverend doctors as well as the
mother and papo, her dolls, child books and odd little knick-
nacks. Several codicils were added, but these were dictated
when M, was past writing. After her decease my duties as
administrator of the estate were fatthfully carried out. Ac-
cording to the provisions of the will, a number of articles are
being preserved for presentation to ** another Margaret ,” if |
ever should find a person with one.

43. The Changes in Margaret’s Process of Seeing Real
Doris’s Thoughts,
Until the beginning of her decadence, M. usually watched

while R. D, was out, and so contemporaneously possessed
herself of what was in the mind of the latter, After she ceased
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to watch except for a little time before R. D, went at the close
of the day or at other times, it was then that she had to glean
all that she was to know by direct inspection. When she
ceased utterly to watch, it appeared that R, D. had reached
the point that she “ went down”™ more slowly, and for a
short time, after becoming subliminal would, as it were, linger
near the surface, while a review of the day passed panorama-
like through her consciousness. It was during these few
minutes that M. obtained a certain outline of the events and
thoughts of the day. It was not necessarily the most im-
portant events which M. became thus possessed of, but those
which had most vividly impressed R. D. Nor were these ma-
terials being appropriated by M., as formerly, through her
own initiative, so much as being pushed up into her conscious-
ness by the more abounding energy of R, D. As time went
on, R. D, “went down " still more slowly and never so far,
her subliminal consciousness became yet more vigorous, as it
were shaving the consciousness of M. thinner, and the perioil
through which the latter received thoughts and imagery
lengthened. From the end of 1913 M. was liable to catch
sight of something “ passing in review ” below, any time dur-
ing her own supraliminal period. But, since her mentality be-
came dimmer, she gleaned less and less as her end ap-
proached.

44. A Serious “ Set-back.”

Many times had the train of progress been brought to a
temparary standstill, or, as M. termed it, “side-swiped.”
Only twice had there been what S, M, called a * set-back ,”
or retrogression, of noticeable magnitude, Once was when
we had reached Manchester, and M,, delighted with country
sights, for about two days showed reviving symptoms. The
second time was when M, had a bad tantrum and crying-spell,
and then the effects were somewhat in evidence for a week.
But on June 6th, 1913, R, D. received a very severe fright
through a misapprehension. At once S, M. announced that a
positive set-back had been incurred. M.'s energies suddenly
revived in a measure, her vivacity and will flared up again. But
she did not get mentally older, her thoughts and locution re-
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mained as juvenile as heretofore. On the other hand, R. D.’s
consciousness became confused by the renewed subliminal
activity, and all progress stopped. The effects lasted about
five weeks, The emphasis which this incident puts upon the
necessity of guarding the environment in psychopathic cases
warrants its being given a separate section. Had the shock
been greater it might have undone much that had been ac-
complished.

45. Sleeping Margaret During this Period.

S. M.s first attempt to write was on Aug. 12th, 1912
Earlier it was impossible because M. asleep would instantly
have taken possession of the pencil for her own purposes.
Even now, M. ' butted in" every few words by writing her
own name, then S. M. would regain control and go on. But
a little later the anzesthesia of M. hecame so profound that S.
M. was able to write her first letter, a short note to Dr,
Brashear,

Sept. 24th, 8. M, made her first announcement that she
was beginning to forget many details of D.’s past life, and it
was found that she could no longer relate with undeviating
ease the minutiz of the earlier psychical mechanics, She con-
tinued to explain this by saying that the cure was so far ad-
vanced that she was not so much needed as a guardian, had
ceased to review the past because so little could now be
derived therefrom to assist in practical therapeutics, and was
now turning her attention to her * own affairs,” whatever
they were. No other change in her psychical makeup ever
afterward took place, but this alone made a considerable
seeming difference, Nor did she ever forget the major part
of D.’s past life.

On Nov. 4th she staid * away " after R. D. had come, for
the first time, and I noted a troubled, woe-begone lock on the
face of the latter. In response to a prearranged signal she
“went away,” Nov, 20th, while R, D. was out, and T ob-
served a shade pass over R. D.’s face, and signs of uneasiness.
I asked what the trouble was, and she replied. “T feel so
queer, as though some support were taken away from me."”

[
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At after times, quite ignorant of the cause, she would say that
she felt *“ lonely ,” and “ as though something were missing .”
On the evening of Feb. 1, 1913, 5. M. became offended with
me, and went away for several days. M. was conscious of the
change of her feelings, and ascribed it to the unknown per-
sonality whose existence and even whose name she had come
to suspect, though never quite sure, since she could get no
assurance from me. “ She went away mad” M. would cry,
* I can tell by the way I feel. Sheis a dibble,” R. D. was put
into a singular state by the protracted stay, was emotionally
disturbed, felt lost and forsaken, and had several halluci-
nations, of the ground shaking beneath her, strange vege-
tation springing up around her, and horrible living creatures
near. M., knew by her feelings when 8. M. returned, and an-
nounced delightedly, ** The dibble has come back .” R. D. also
reported that she bad recovered her normal frame of mind.
As 8. M. continued to go away more frequently and for
longer periods, both the others got gradually used to it,
though it was not until after M.'s departure that R, D. was
guite proof against disturbance on that account. 1 at first
assumed that the so-called ‘ going away ' was the automatic
effect of the net improvement in the case, and that it would
be found to occur only when R. D. was in her best physical
and emotional state. But S, M. insisted that it was purely
voluntary, though adding that she would naturally not select
times when she might be needed. And she certainly did seem
to demonstrate her power to do whatever it was on signal
known only to her. Some profound change took place as
evidenced in the personality out. And later 8. M. was often
present when R, D. was at her best, and sometimes absent
when R, D. was worried or suffering from some minor ail-
ment. If 1 asked S. M. why she was so remiss as to be away
when R. D. was ill she would respond, * She was in no
danger, and you were looking out for her. I know how she
is getting along, and would return at once if needed .”

48. Real Doris’s Individual Progress.
Of course R, D.'s individual progress was keeping pace
with M.’s declension. Bridging the morning chasm, she often
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was staying in control for 22 or even more than 24 hours at a
stretch. By Aug., 1912, she was eagerly looking forward to
maintaining herself throughout the evening and night. M.
remarked that this was not yet possible, “but it is a good
sing for her to fink about it.” M. was declining so fast in
September and the remainder of the year that the additional
psychical burden imposed upon R. D. made her many times
during a day forget what she had been intending to do.

Psychical treatment, especially just after she had fallen
asleep, was continued. Remembering the misery of former
New Year nights, I told her, as she slept on the evening of
Dec. 31st, that she would not be troubled or wakened by
whistles. She was not, but a revolver-shot at length roused
her,—this had not been named in the bond. Jan. 14, 1913, she
herself discovered the psychical origin of a troublesome
cutaneous itching and burning, and it quickly died out. In
April the long-interrupted church-going was resumed, morn-
ing service only, to her great satisfaction, and without result-
ing harm. She was eager to co-operate in measures for her
recavery, and sometimes tried not to think of matters that
she feared might distucb * Phase A,” But M., coming, would
suddenly break out into convulsive laughter and cry, * if she
hadn’t thunk that she wouldn’t think about it I mightn’t have
known anything about it.” On the evening preceding July
4th I told R, D, asleep that she would only faintly hear sounds
on the street until the morning of July 5th, but that she would
hear sounds in the house the same as usual. It so turned out,
and she wonderingly remarked how quiet a Fourth it was,
though cannon-crackers were frequently bursting outside. On
the 10th, S. M. reported that R. D. was getting better by leaps
and bounds. In August her spirits were more exuberant
than I had ever known them to be, this emotional exaltation
synchronizing with M.’s entire loss of feeling on the left side.
On the 12th she remarked that the “ confusion of mind has
entirely disappeared ,” that she felt freer than ever before in
her remembrance; and yet from time to time thereaiter she
continued to report that she was feeling still more free and
happy, though at times her psychical spurts in advance of the
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physical improvement would cause peculiar weariness at the
close of the day.

The shifting relations of R. D. and M. and their reciprocal
effects, throughout the case, were of fascinating interest,
When M. first began to desist from watching, R, D, would be
more weary when M. did not watch than when she did. But
later, when the primary personality had become stronger and
more accustomed to the change, it wearied her to have the
secondary one watch, When afterward R. D. began to bridge
the morning gap, she was the more tired on the day following,
but the time came when the days that she felt more strain
were those on which M, did come in the morning. And even
as M.'s subliminal activities, before she ceased to watch, con-
fused the consciousness of R, D, supraliminal, so afterward,
as R. D.’s subliminal descent became less and less deep, that
is to say, as she became more psychically active in a sub-
liminal state, it was M.’s turn to have a clouded conscious-
ness. As M. herself well expressed it, “ T used to be thinkin’
all the time when she was here. Then there’d be two of us
thinkin’ together, and that made her mind cloudy. But now
U'm not thinkin’ when she's here, and her mind’s clear. But
now she’s thinkin’ down beneath when I'm here, and 1 don't
think so well, She’s squeezin’ me out.”

47, From Margaret’s Blindness to her Death,

As already stated, M. remained blind until the close of her
career. But about Nov. 80th, 1913, a phenomenon related to
the eyes began, which curiously illustrated the physical effects
of a relaxation of psychical control. So long as R. D. was on
deck, she could read or sew in a bright light with perfect im-
punity. But within a minute after M. came, exactly the same
location in respect to an artificial light would cause her eyes
to sting and to water, and soon two slender streams of water
would be flowing down her cheeks. She did not know what
the matter was, but placing a screen between her and the
light relieved the difficulty, and this precaution was hence-
forth taken, Any oversight was attended by the same result,
the more as the months went on. A doctor was called in,
Dec, 20th, to see D.'s eyes, which were badly inflamed, and he
diagnosed the difficulty as due to eye-strain. R. D. had done
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nothing to strain her cyes, and increased care in regard to M,
soont brought relief. By January M. was sometimes blunder-
ing and injuring herself while pursuing a familiar route
through the rooms, but this was due to failing mental zlert-
ness. In the meantime her ability to detect my facial expres-
sions remained intact, and continued to do so. Sometimes I
would make up a face, and instantly she would cry, “ Don't
make snoots at your Margaret when your Margaret can't
see .”

On Oct. 8th, 1913, it was noted that the right side had be-
come liketheleft,—touches were entirely unperceived, Therm-
zsthesia continued, but after Jan., 1, 1914, she was unable
to say whether she was too hot or too cold. This again, how-
ever, was not due to confounding the sensations, but to con-
founding the senses of the two words, as she could tell
whether it was the feeling of being too near the stove or not.
“ Coit (cold) was her general term for temperature sensation,
and sometimes she would say “ M. is wearm-coit (which is as
near as her pronunciation can he representerl}, not coit-coit ,”
But though sensitive to atmospheric temperature, she several
times quite severely burned herself on the stove without ap-
pearing to notice it.

The blotting out of memories and failure of general com-
prehension of course went on together. By Nov. 1, 1913, M,
was beginning to confuse meum and tuum.  She would often
say, impressively, * Papo’s eyes hurt,” or “ Papo’s been
cryin’,” after such experiences of her own. On Dec. 20th,
she came as R. D. was alone in the kitchen, cooking
tomatoes on the stove. She remained standing, while the
tomatoes burned completely up and smoke filled the house,
She now failed to recognize names of common objects save
those in our own daily experience. Though she might auto-
matically repeat them in telling a story recalled by some cue,
as if it were pulled out by a string, she would often pause and
inquire “ What's cat ?’—or whatever it might he, At this
stage an experiment in stimulating her to try and recall for-
gotten things would bring some results but also produced a
severe pain, extending from the left temple to the base of the
brain. Omne of the proofs that the mental regression was not
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merely to a technical childhood but that it had a historical re-
lation was her beginning to employ the German accent which
she had originally picked up in her sixth year and retained
not many months, And now, in January, 1914, the German
accent was laid aside, though her general locution was still
more juvenile. She had passed through the German-accent
stratum of her past, emerged on the other side, and was now
mentally about five years old. After R. D. succeeded in main-
taining herself at night, Jan. 30th, M, would come more
wobbly and uncertain in her movements, and more lethargic
in her mind, By March M,, coming in the evening lor seldom
more than half an hour, would look at me, sleepily smiling,
say “ Hu'o (Hello) papol” over and over, pechaps quote a
little from R. D.’s thoughts below, chuckle and gurgle happily,
and go to sleep. March 19th, she did not recognize what a
pencil or coin put into her hands was. She was at this time
unable to get any thoughts from R. D, except when the latter
desired that she should do some simple thing, like laying an
article where she (R, D.) could find it. She had become
good nature personified. She never ate anything save an
apple or orange, and generally finished that while asleep.
On April 19th, “ M, came at 8.50 p. m, She was amiable
and rather lethargic, saying ‘ It's Margaret’ and a few other
simple sentences, and laughing gently before falling asleep .”
So reads the last brief record of M.’s life. This once occasion-
ally impish, but otherwise winsome and fascinating sprite,
whose spirits were rainbow-tinted, had passed away forever
as an alternating personality. 8. M.’s prediction that when M,
went she would make no sporadic returns was fulfilled,

48. Sleeping Margaret.

5. M. claimed and gave evidence that her visual field did
not progressively narrow and shorten at an equal pace with
that of M. BShe could detect objects outside of the visnal
angle of M., but did not have normal breadth of vision; and
she could see farther than M. but not to a normal distance.
Even after M. became blind, 8. M. could see at least eight feet
in front. But it should be remembered that S. M.'s seeing
was not direct, but only of objects as depicted in M.’s mind,
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As M, was not conscious of seeing them, the picture must
have been in some subconsciods region. This is analogous
with the discovery by Dr. Sidis and others that, for example,
in cases of psychopathic anasthesia there is subconscious
recognition of pricking which the subject does not perceive in
the upper consciousness. But why did not S. M, see the re-
moter objects? Perhaps because these, which made fainter
impressions upon the retina, were registered too deeply in
M.’s subconsciousness for even S, M. to discern them.*

We have seen that 8. M. gained power, because of M.'s
weakened psychical control, to move the limbs when the latter
was awake. But at first this was the case only when M. did
not oppose the movement. By Feb, 22nd, 1914, 5. M, could
move at least the feet against M.'s will,

On Feb, 26th, S, M., began to talk when R, D. was out and
asleep. She either had not previously supposed that she could
do this or had feared that it would disturb R. D., for we had
arranged a code of signals to be employed after M. departed.
Her first essays did indeed cause some uneasiness to the sleep-
ing R. D., but this soon passed away, and conversing with me
under these new conditions became a part of the evening pro-
gram thereafter,

On April 10th, S. M. was inclined to think that M. had
already departed, and announced that she herself was going
away for a week. She had Leen for some time claiming that
she was some species of a spirit and had come at the time of
the first shock to be a guard for D, She declared that her
earlier inconsistent statements had been made because at that
time she had thought it no business of mine what she was. No
amount of incredulity on my part and attempts to shift her
position by suggestion ever had the slightest effect. From
the time that she first asserted that she came from * the other
side ” never did 8. M, waver in her calm assurance. Latterly
she had several times alleged that somewhere near the time

* Since this was written S. M. has declared that she did have the power of
direct vision come as M.'s vision declined, and that it became optional whether
she should exercise it or look at what lay in M.’s mind, as formerly she had
solely done.
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of M.’s departure * proof " of an occult nature would be given
as to her own nature, After her return from the week's ab-
sence, on Apr. 16th, she intimated that she had been away to
make preparations for “ proof.” During the week R, D,
often had the feeling that she had “ lost something” or as
though “something were lacking,” her dreams of losing
things were renewed, and she was more nervous when in
gatherings of people.

49. Real Doris.

The very day that M. became blind R. D., ignorant of that
fact, reported with surprise that she could see more clearly
and farther than ever before in her life.

By October, 1913, R. D. often found herself going directly
to the spot where M. had left some needed article, without
conscious knowledge that it was there. From time to time
she reported that her mind was getting “ still freer.” But
on Jan. 12, 1914, she became grieved and wept much, and in
consequence there was some renewal of “confusion” for
several days.

After a number of resolves and futile attempts R. D. first
succeeded in maintaining herself through a day and succeed-
ing night without an evening M. interval, She was out 41h.
15m. Adfter two repetitions of this feat, another advance upon
the enemy was made, by staying from the evening of Feb.
22ud to that of the 25th, a period of 70h. 50m. Mar, 4-8 her
record increased to 96h. 10m. She was still failing to bridge
the evening gap in a majority of cases when, beginning with
11 p. m. of Apr. Bth, she accomplished the mighty achieve-
ment of 8 days lacking 55m,

On April 19th, owing to M.'s departure, R, D., after 22
years of exchanging personalities, again stood on the firm
ground of mental integrity, and since then has had not one
moment’s interruption of a clear and continuous conscious-
ness.

50. Real Doris with Unbroken Consciousness—yet with
Sleeping Margaret Still in Evidence.

For a time after M, had ceased to make any supraliminal
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appearance, there continued to be vague indications that she
still existed subliminally as a co-consciousness, A few times
after her departure R. D. on falling asleep put up her hand
and felt of my face, a thing which she had never done before.
This was the customary method of M, asleep for finditig out
whether 1 was in good humor. Sometimes too when R, D.
was awake, especially when she was nervous or excited, there
would come a facial expression, or a laugh, strongly reminis-
cent of M. But these manifestations faded out within a few
months,

S. M. claimed to be continuing “ preparation.,” By May
1st it had come to be the general rule that she was *“here”
only about an hour in the evening, including the five minutes
or so when I talked with her just after R. D. fell asleep, The
comings and goings still did not present the appearance of
being automatically subject to R, D.’s condition. To be sure,
any period which was comparatively one of emergency was
apt to find her present, but this was consistent with the as-
serted free volition, for at such times her alleged function as
“ guard ” would incline her to be on hand. Until R. D. got
used to S. M.’s general absence she would often find herself
starting to seek something which she felt as though she had
mislaid. This phenomenon, as well as that of the psychical
sensation of there being something missing within hersell,
caused her some wonder, but did not interfere with her ex-
cellent spirits,

As May 13th approached, when I was to attend 2 two-days
convention in Los Angeles, R. D. suggested that I stay over
night., Had there been any subliminal M.-consciousuness of
what was intended, surely some bubbling up of emotiona!l dis-
turbance would have been detected, but there was none, and
my absence caused no difficulty whatever, It was the first time
that I had been gone for a night in more than three years
Three ladies separately remarked, in the course of the month,
how differently R. D. was getting to look. One of them said,
“ Your face is changing .”

On the night of Aug. 25th, R, D. was awakened by a voice
calling “ Doris !”, and found that the covers had fallen off.
She had been addressed by another name exclusively for
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nearly two years, but S, M. still used the former one in talking
with me. Again R. D. was awakened by hearing “ Doris!
Doris, wake up!” on the morning of Oct. 24th, when it was
time to get ready for a journey.

She started alone for New York on Oct., 24th, and was
gone for three months during which experiments described in
Vol. XI of the Proceedings were in porgress. Frequently
homesick, she nevertheless stood the long absence well, with-
out detriment to her health.

On Nov, 1st, S, M. committed a blunder, She wrote 2 note
to Dr. Hyslop, and R. D. woke and found it. Naturally sup-
posing that there was another personality like Margaret, that
all sorts of strange things might be happening, and that she
had been beguiled into false belief that she was well, she wrote
me a letter of despair. There was nothing to do but to tell her
the exact facts, and to assure her that whatever 8. M, might
be, there was no discernible harmful effect from her pres-
ence, Fortunately she was satisfied and comforted by the ex-
planation, and when toward the close of her visit S M.
vocally gave her counsel, she was not startled.

S. M. was seldom away during the stay in New York, but
shortly after the return in January, 1915, she resumed her
former course, and now R. D. ceased to be conscious of any
difference in feelings consequent upon her departures, R. D,
was very hard to waken in the morning at this time, yet was
very desirous of rising at a particular hour. Ahout March
10th, S. M. began regularly to call her at the desired hour. In
about a couple of weeks R. D. began to waken spontaneously
and the calls ceased. By May S. M. generally limited her
presence te about 8 to 15 minutes in the evening. On June
15th S. M. spoke to R. ID. when the fatter was awake, to
warn her of an impending accident, and on another occasion
R, D. feeling the need of certain information, addressed ques-
tions to her and received replies, of course by means of her
own vocal organs, Again at a time when I was away, S. M,
spoke to R. D., asking that a given niessage be sent to me.

And so matters stand today, in reference to 8. M. 8She
still comes for a few minutes every evening, unless it is other-
wise arranged, and seldom otherwise. She remains constant
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in her affirmations respecting her own nature and respecting
the missing “ proof.” She will continue to come, is her
declaration, until the evidence is given, and then will per-
manently depart, unless particular reasons should induce her
to make a future call. But she adds, “I am willing to go
now, if you wish it.” Why should I wish it? Part of the
subliminal self or not, she does no harm, and at least formerly
she was a decided benefactor, Let matters take their course.

R. D. has continued to improve in physical health and
mental tone. The physiologist would pronounce her bodily
condition excellent, and the psychologist uninformed about
S. M. would observe no indications of mental abnormality.
It could occur to neither that less than five years ago she was
the subject of a condition strange and deplorable in the ex-
treme, the climax of nineteen years of psychical dissociation.
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III. TABLE OF ANZESTHESIAS AND HYPERZESTHESIAS.

in period 1892-1906, following the first dissociation: period 1908-1911, that of extreme disintegra-
tion ; and period following Jan, 20, 1911, that of the process of reintegration.

SICK DORIS, 1908-1811.

Tactile sensation was gener-
ally subnormal.

Feeling keen in neck and
along spine, otherwise little in
trunk to below the ribs, thence
fair to middle of the thighs,
thence sensation diminished to
the knees and was practically
absent below. More feeling in
the arms than in the legs.

No anasthesia as to pain in

MARGARET, 159%-1808.

Extraordinary aunditory hy-
perzsthesia,

Probably saw farther than
most people. Had a form of
visual hypermesthesia that en-
abled her to s~e in the dark,

No anasthesia of bladder.
Probably subnormal in ad-
jacent parts, .

Somewhat thermanzesthetic,
but less than S, D, afterward
Was.

MARGARET (changes in)
1908-1611.

Conversely to 8. D, she felt
pains of the internal organs
very little unless the trouble
was extraordinary,

Subnormal as to sensation
from cuts, bruises, etc., but less
so than 8, D,

{Otherwise she continued,
so far as is known, as she was
in the previous period.}

REAL DORIS, 1802-1808,

Taste subnormal, Never ate
anything because she liked it.

Somewhatr thermanasthetic,

Near or quite total anzms-
thesia in bladder and through-
out the urino-genital tract,

(Otherwise normal so far as
remembered by S. M. and
R. D)

REAL DORIS ( es in)
1906-181‘--{,."!’1g

Taste probably still more
dull throughout the period, as
she found it almost nil when
she first ate again at the close
of the five years.

Smell became subnormal (if
it had not been so earlier).

{No other known change.)
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internal organs.

Anesthesia in urino-genital
tract as in case of R. D.

Subnormal in taste and smel-
ling.

Much thermanzsthesia, but
none in mouth.

SICK DORIS (changes in)
after Jan, 20, ’11,

By Mar. 16, '11, tactile an-
®sthesia greatly deepened. Felt
less on right than left side.

By Mar, 27, '11, taste almost
gone, and soon was absent.

By Mar. 27, '11, smell was
almost gone, and soon was en-
tirely so.

By Apr. 10, 'li, quite an-
msthetic to cuts and bruises,

By Apr. 10, "11, analgesia as
te internal organs began, This
never became complete,

By May 6, '11, visual angle
had narrowed much, Directly
after, it began to shorten, and
reached ultimate 14 inches on
May 16,

(Sick Doris disappeared June
28, 1911.)

MARGARET (changes in)
after Jan. 20, 1911.

REAL DORIS (changes in)
after Jan. 20, 1811.
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SLEEPING MARGARET.

About when M. was losing
tactile sensation, S. M. was
gradually acquiring, according
to her statement, the first * in-
dependent sensations ™  that
had ever been hers, in an area
limited to the upper back and
adjacent inner side of each
thigh. This area narrowed
until by Oct, 1, "11, there was
no feeling on the back of the
thighs, and by the middle of
the month only two slender
lines of sensation, the inner
creases of the limbs. At some
unknown subsequent period
even this faded out.

By June 2, '11, taste dulling;
little left Aug. 29; last trace
gone Sept., "13,

By Aug. 1, ’11, tactile sensa-
tion while awake much dimin-
ished; gone by Aug. 29. Tac-
tile sensation while asleep in
fleshy parts, face, palms and
backs of hands on Aug. 1; Aug.
24th only on upper backs of
thighs, palms and back of
hands, mpples and lips; Oct.
30th only on palms and backs
of hands; Apr. 12th, *12, only
on palms of hands; July 13th
none discernible.

By Aug. 29, '"11, pinches,
needle-pricks, etc., unperceived.

By Aug. 29, 11, (probably
somewhat earlier), smell had
become slight.

By Aug. 11, *11, muscular
anmsthesia was well advanced:
total by Oct. In Sept. of '11,
following R. D., she acquired
sensitiveness to temperature of
the air; but from this time was

By Aug. 8, '11, taste began
{0 improve (earlier first heard
to say that she is hungry);
gradually prows; seemingly
normal by Sept. of '13,

Smell began to improve a lit-
tle later than taste,

Aug, 27, '11, auditory hyper-
asthesia began, synchronizing
with M.'s ceasing to watch at
night ; gradually subsided ; nor-
mal by early part of 1913,

Early part of Sept. of "1],
she became normally sensitive
to temperature of the atmos-
phere.
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{Sleeping Real Doris disap-
peared Apnil 15, 1912.)

In M.s last stage S. M.
claimed to have gained “inde-
pendent feeling ” in the tips of
the fingeras.

progressively anasthetic to
burns,

QOct. 30, '11, narrowing of
visual angle first noted;
reached climax Jan. 1, "12.

Dec. of '11 smell partly re-
vived but only temporarily.

By Ju?r 13, 12, visual field
shortened, now about 12 feet;
Aug. 7, b ft., 6 in.; Sept. 20, 19
in.; Apr. 20, '13, ultimate 14
in.; Oct. 4, *13, blind.

By July 1, "13, tactile sensa-
tion seemingly partly renewed;
dies out on left side and is gone
Aug. 8; gone on right side
Oct. 8,

{M. disappeared April 19,
1914.)

Beginning Sept. 10, 11, tac-
tile hyperesthesia began, ¢on-
tinued 8 days, then gradually
subsided. :

In Mar,, ’12, sensation began
in bladder and urino-gemtal
region. According to 8, M, im-
provement continued, but it is
doubtful if normality has been
reached.

Oct. 4, 13, sight became
clearer and keener than ever
before.
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IV. GLOSSARY.

A. NAMES AND QUASIL.-TECHNICAL TERMS,
MOSTLY EMPLOYED BY THE
PERSONALITIES,

1. Names of the Personalities.

Real Doris. The original and primary personality ; dissoci-
ated by three shocks, respectively incurred in her 3rd, 17th and
18th years; restored to continuity and integrity of consciousness
when she was 25. Reason of her title apparent. Referred to by
the initials R. D.

Margaret. A child personality, resulting from the first dis-
sociating shock of 1892. Developed until mentally about ten
years old, and so remained until 1911, when in response to treat-
ment she began slowly to retrace the path of her development.
Finally reduced to the mentality of about five years, she disap-
peared April 19, 1914. Name selected by herself from several
proposed to her. Earlier known as “ Bridget ”'. Often called,
both by S. D. and herself, ¥ The Imp”. R. D.’s term for her
(not spontaneous) in later conversation was * Phase A.” The
initial M. usually designates her in this work.

Sick Doris. A secondary personality, resulting from the
second dissociating shock of May 6, 1908 ; beginning her career
an infant in knowledge though not in intellect, and chiefly edu-
cated by M, ; the dominant personality for nearly five years, then
caused by a therapeutic process rapidly to pass into infancy both
of knowledge and intellect, and to disappear June 28, 1911, after
a campaign of five months, Termed “ Sick” because of her
liability to inward pains and aches, and * Doris ** because of her
affinity to R. D. During the first half of March, 1911, before her
final title was established, called * the other Doris” by M, R.
D.'s term for her (not spontaneous) in later conversation was
“ Phase B." In this work usually referred to by the initials S, D,

Sleeping Margaret. A personality who professed to have
come into connection with R. D. a few minutes before M. did, in
1892, Mentally the maturest of the group, and undergoing no
essential psychical alteration thronghout the ohserved history of
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the case. Marked by several anomalies, one being that her mani-
festations were always simultaneous with the supraliminal con-
sciousness of another personality (either M. or R. D.}. She
finally claimed to be a spirit. Continued to come for brief daily
periods after the conscionsness of R. D. was restored to unbroken
continuity. Chose her own name for several casual reasons, the
leading one perhaps being that she talked only when M. was
asleep until the period of the disappearance of the latter. Re-
ferred to by the initials 8. M.

Sleeping Real Doris. A somnambulic and imperfectly de-
veloped personality resulting from the third dissociating shock
of Sept., 1907. Her chief function was that of a phonograph,
to register and deliver, probably verbatim, groups of utterances,
bttt only those of R. D. and §. DD.  She passed through stages of
madification and disappeared Apr. 15, 1912. Called * Sleeping
Real Doris” because of her affinity to R. D,, and because she
always came when R. D. was either subliminally dreaming or
asleep in her own character. Referred to by the initials §. R. D.

[When there is occasion to refer to the girl as an individual,
without regard to the personalities, she is simply called Doris.
For example, if it were said that Real Doris removed to a house
on Colorado Ave., it would imply that Margaret et al., staid
behind. Doris is the sum of the personalities, the person in whom
they all inhere.]

2. Names for Peculiar Modifications of Personalities.

S. D. a. An arbitrary designation, by the writer, for a tem-
porary state of S. D., occasionally appearing during the first
months after her arrival, characterized by mental vacuity, and
resembling her original state on May 6, 1908,

S. D. b. An arbitrary designation employed by the writer
for a state of 8. D. which appeared on Apr. 5, 1911, and which
was a psychical reproduction of the 8. D. of Oct., 1910, with
memories closing at that date.

M-asleep x. An arbitrary designation, employed by the
writer for a state of M-asleep which appeared on several consecu-
tive dates beginning Apr. 5, 1911, and which was a reproduction
of the M-asleep of Jan., 1911, its memories closing at that date.
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3. Other Names.

A Margaret.  The title employed by M. to designate a hypo-
thetical secondary personality connected with some other person
than Doris.

Papo. M.s version of the word " papa”, applied to Dr,
Prince.

He. ‘The name which M., while asleep, applied to her inter-
locutor during the first days of the study of the case, since she
did not then realize when in that condition that he was the same
as the Dr, P. whom she knew when awake. The term was re-
vived by M.-asleep x.

4. Terms Referring to States, Relations and Activities of the
Personalities.

Out. When any personality was supraliminal, that is, in
upper and obvious control of the body and conduct, it was said
to be “out”; and when it passed from a subliminal to a supra-
liminal condition, it * came out ”’, or simply ** came ",

Here. Meaning the same as that of “ Out ™,

In (general sense). When any personality was subliminal,
whether active or inactive, co-conscious or not, it was said to be
“in"; and when it changed from a supraliminal to a subliminal
condition, it “ went in”, or simply “ went ",

IN, AWAY, WATCHING AND SLEEFING.

In (Special sense). As applied to subliminal M., this term
designated a state less deeply submerged than that denominated
away. During the five years when S. D. was a factor in the case,
subliminal M. was in when R. D. was supraliminal, and then only.
After S. D. had disappeared, subliminal M. ceased to be in.

Away. This designates a state of subliminal M. more deeply
submerged than when she was . During the five years when
S. D. was a factor, subliminal M, was away when S, D, was
supraliminal, and then only. After S. D. disappeared, subliminal
M. was auway only.

Watching. When a personality was subliminal, yet ob-
servant of one or more upper consciousnesses, it was said to be
watching. Subliminal M., in particular, had two states {in and
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watching, away and waiching), in which she was respectively
more or less observant of the consciousness (when S. D, was
supraliminal }, or consciousnesses {when R. D. was supraliminal,
and S, D, below R, D, but above M., was coconscious).

Sleeping. Besides the usual significance of the term, it was
applied to two other states of subliminal M. (i and sleeping,
awey and sieeping), in neither of which was she observant of
upper consciousnesses,

But into the definition of the four terms, in, sway, watching,
and sleeping, as they were variously combined to designate four
states of subliminal M., also enter the degree to which she was
capable of combining independent thinking with’ her observation
of higher consciousness. To sum up:

a. When subliminal M. was tn and watching, she was ob-
servant of upper consciousness and also carried on independent
and “* active ” trains of thought.

b. When ¢n and sleeping, she did not observe upper con-
sciousness, but had independent but not ** active ” thoughts. The
meaning probably is that she was not then capable of purposeful
thinking, but only of vague, dreamy thoughts.

c. When sway and wetching, she was observant of upper
consciousness in a lower degree, but had no independent trains
of thought.

d. When away and sieeping, she did not observe, nor had
she thoughts (at least that S. M. could perceive), but her state
resembled dreamless sleep. She never had subsequent memories
of any kind, connected with this state.

Go away (variant, duck under).

As applied to M. this term referred to her voluntarily or in-
voluntarily, and suddenly, forsaking the supraliminal control at
a time when no other personality was in condition to take the
helrn, The body remained motionless until M. re-emerged, nor
was there evidence of consciousness on the part of any of the
group, except the claim of S. M., that she herself continued to be
conscious, The last-named was, however, unable to speak or
cause any bodily movement while the condition lasted. (Some-
times M. loosely used the term duck under to express what was
regularly rendered go in.)
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Applied to S. M., and used by herself, to go gway meant
leaving the body.

Also, rarely, to go away meant to die.

Reflected. A term used by S, M, for the alleged process by
which a personality obtained cognizance of the thoughts of an-
other personality intermediately through a third, as though seen
pictured in a mirror. Thus, M. was said not to be conscious of,
or to “ see ’ the thoughts of R. D. directly (while S. D. was in
existence) but as reflected from the consciousness of S. D., which
saw them directly; and S. M. was said to see R. D.’s thoughts as
re-reflected from M. after being reflected from M.

Forget. R. D. usually referred to her lapses from conscious-
ness, caused by the alternations, in this fashion—* when I
forgot ",

Lose time. When R. D.'s lapses were longer than usual, she
would say, * I hate to lose so much time ",

Hold on. The word had two very different senses. As used
in reference to R. D, it meant the prolonging of her stay “ out ",
that is to say, in a supraliminal state, by a strong effort of will.

Also, until the case began to yield to treatment, M. would
always, while sleeping (in the ordinary sense of the word sleep-
ing), maintain a grasp upon the pillow, bedpost, or some other
object. This she called * holding on ™,

Free. When R. D.’s mind was clear of confusion caused by
the subliminal activity of a secondary personality, she was ac-
customed to say that she was, or felt, free.

Kicked out. When R. D. was artificially stimulated to
“come out”, but prematurely, that is before she had secured
sufficient subliminal rest to maintain herself in a supraliminal
position, she would sometimes nearly emerge, then suddenly sink
back into the depths, whereupon M. would be propelled back to
her place at the helm. It was as if two buckets were attached to
a rope passing around a windlass, the full one had arrived nearly
at the top, and the empty one had descended almost to the water,
when, the power tuming the windlass failing, the full bucket fell
nto the water and the other was jerked to the top. At such times
M. would say that she had been “ kicked out .

Bumped. 'The term used to describe the disagreeable sensa-
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tion experienced by both R. D, and M., when the latter was
kicked out. It was a sensation as though they had collided in
passing each other.

Let go. After S. D. had reached the infancy stage, M. could
voluntarily “ go in" and cause S. D. to * come out ™. This she
called leiting go. She could also, at a later stage, soon after she
had replaced R. D. but the latter had not * gone down far ”, let
go, and cause R. D. to “ come ”, but only for a few minutes.

Jolt. A term used by S. M. to designate the production by
her upon M. of the hallucination of being struck a blow upon the
forehead.

Pull in. M. sometimes by a violent psychical effort forced
S. D. against her will into a subliminal position, and tock her
place “out”. This she called “pulling S. D. in”. A variant
term was “ yank in*, ‘The same terms were applied (the latter
only by M.} to a similar action on the part of 5, M., of which M.
was the object.

Babbling. The term applied by S. M. to 5. R. D.’s solilo-
quizing.

Conversation-recital. The automatic repetition by S. R. D,
of the part borne by R. D or 8. D. in a former conversation,
with facial expression and vocal intonation corresponding with
the age at which the conversation originally took place. Term
used by the writer.

Soliloguy. The automatic repetition by S. R. D. of phrases
originally uttered by R. D. at one or another of her brief
emergences in her room alone, during the period 1908-1910.
Term used by the writer.

Cricket-chirp. A wmetaphorical term sometimes applied by
the writer to any verbal automatism on the part of M.

5. Other Terms.

We. Besides the proper use of this pronoun, as referring to
two or more members of the group together, M. often used it
instead of “17, in speaking of herself. To a less extent S, D,
did the same.

The surface. A term equivalent to the psychological ex-
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pression the threshold of comsciousmess, in such phrases as
* near the surface " and “ below the surface ”.

Asa (pronounced ah-zah). A code word for oral use be-
tween personalities, so that if overheard they would not be under-
stood. It had various significations according to accent and in-
flection, and according as it entered into combination with “ yes ”
and “no”, (See page 657.)

A-ak’ (accented on second syllable). Rubberneck Row dia-
lect for yes, retained by M. only.

A'-ah (accented on first syllable). Rubberneck Row dialect
for mo, retained by M. only,

P.-Formula, Early in the care of the case, when it became
necessary to waken S. D. to go to her home, I would say, in order
to cause her by suggestion to be placid and cheerful after waking,
“ Wake quietly. Wake happy ", and by way of signal for her to
open her eyes, knowing that she used the word “ minute” in
about the sense that most people ascribe to * second ”, would
add, ' Wake in a minute ”. Her eyes would at once unclose, and
her spirits were usually good after the formula, which for brevity
came to be called the P.-Formula. Afterwards, when R. D, had
begun to come during M.’s sleep, the fact announcing itself by a
characteristic smile, the formula became transferred to R. D.

M.-Formula. Farly in the care of the case, while 8. D. was
ill and suffering severely, I happened to hold her up in a sitting
position to afford her relief; she was stupid with pain and her
head fell back on my shoulder without her being aware of it; I
grasped both of her wrists to still her shaking hands: she fell
asleep and just then R, D. chanced to come. On M.’s suggestion
(hence the name of the formula) I soon after tried to see if this
had started an automatism which might be useful in banishing
S. D., whose remaining asleep, now that she had begun to decline,
was very injurious. Sure enough, it worked again, But S. D.
became more and more averse to this innocent expedient, which
did not occupy ten seconds when promptly acceded to, It was
necessary that she should be awake at the beginning of the
process, that she should for a moment, with limp muscles, rest
her head squarely, and that I should then tighten my hold on her
wrists. Invariably, these three details being attended to, she fell
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asleep, her clinched fists opened as though a spring had been
released, and either R. D. or M. came awake.

B. CURRENT TECHNICAL TERMS,

Abnormal, Not in accordance with a normal or standard
condition.

Aboulia. Loss of will-power.

Alternation. ‘Transition in control, and supraliminal posi-
tion, from one personality to another.

Aisthesia. Perception by any of the senses.

Amnesia. Loss of memory,

Anasthesisa.  More commonly employed to mean loss of
bodily feeling; but coming to be, and often in this work, used in
its original sense of lack of perception by any one of the senses.

Analgesia. Insensibility to pain, as such. Not necessarily
involving entire anxsthesia.

Automatic. In proportion as anything is said or done apart
from conscious thought and will, it is automatic.

Automatisms. That which is said or done uninitiated by con-
scious thought and will, and which the will is more or less power-
less to stop after it has begun.

Bimorphosis. Dissociation into which two personalities, the
primary and a secondary, enter.

Catalepsy. A morbid psychoneurotic condition marked by
suspensions of sensibility and voluntary movement.

Chores. A nervous disease marked by involuntary twitching
of the muscles; St. Vitus' dance.

Clairaudience. The alleged perception, as by hearing, of
sounds which are really beyond the limits of hearing.

Clairvoyance. The alleged perception, as by vision, of ob-
jects located beyond the limits of the visual field.

Complex. A name applied to any combination of ideas as-
sociated with definite emotions which tends to maintain a quasi-
independent existence, and to recur as the sequence of appropriate
stimuli; whether the combination is comparatively simple and
rudimentary, or has attained the dimensions of a * personality .

Echolalia. Mechanical repetition of words heard.

Hallucination. An experience as through perception by one
or more of the senses, which has no objective counterpart within
reach of the same senses.
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Hemianesthesis. Anzsthesia of one lateral half of the body.

Infant personality, A title sometimes applied to a person-
ality which comes into existence divested of most or all knowl-
edge because of amnesia of past acquirements. (Strictly it isa
misnomer when the personality retains the form and power of
thought though void of the content of thought. For example, it
would better apply to the last stage of Sick Doris than to her
initial stage.)

Hypnoleptic. Relating to a condition of abnormal sleepiness.

Hyperasthesia, Abnormal or peculiar keenness of sensation
of any type, as of the skin, or (in the broader definition) of any
of the senses.

Hysteria. A psychoneurotic malady of obscure boundartes,
marked by lack of control over the emotions, and by a tendency
to form morbid psychic complexes. Apparently not dependent
upon any lesion.

Muemonic. Relating to memory.

Monocyclical. A term descriptive of a case of dissociation
not characterized by shiftings of the personalities back and forth
in supraliminal control. For example, the case of Ansel Bourne,
who remained in a secondary personality until the permanent re-
covery of the primary state, was monocyclical. If there are no
oscillations back and forth until the stage of recovery, as in the
Hanna case, the same term is used. Opposed to polycyclicol.

Neurasthenia. A condition of depression, etc., due to ex-
hausted nerve energy.

Neuron. " A nerve—cell with all its processes ”.

Newrotic. Relating to nervous disease, particularly of a
functional type.

Polycyclical, A term descriptive of a case of dissociation
marked by numercus shiftings of the personalities, back and
forth, as the Doris case. Opposed to monocyclical.

Polymorphosis. Dissociation into which more than two per-
sonalities enter.

Post-hypnotic. Used of a suggestion given during hypnotic
trance, but intended to operate, and operating, after the trance
is over.

Primary personality., 'The original and authentic personality,
that from which, by hypothesis, all secondary personalities come
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by a process of “ mental fissure ”, and in relation to which they
are, as it were, parasitic.

Prognosis. Forecast of the probable outcome of a malady.

Psychonewrotic. Pertaining to functional disorder of the
mind and nervous system.

Psychopathy. Any disorder of the mind originating or ap-
pearing to originate in the mind itself.

Secondary personality. ‘It sometimes happens, as the result
of shock, disease, or unknown causes, that an individual experi-
ences an alteration of memory and character, amounting to a
change of personality, which generally seems to have come during
sleep, The new personality is then termed secondary, in dis-
tinction to the primary personality.” (F. W. H. Myers.)

Somatic, Of, or related to, the body.

Sublimingl. Pertaining to the consciousness which is below
the threshold. Used in the sense opposed to supraliminal,

Suggestion. The implantation from without in the subcon-
scious mind of a person of an idea which comes forth as a phys-
ical or psychical state or act. Auto-suggestion is self-induced
suggestion, whether of the voluntary or involuntary type.

Supraliminal. Pertaining to the consciousness which is
above the threshold, either the normal consciousness or the
secondary consciousness temporarily {except in rare cases) taking
its place in the upper control of the body and the life. (The
writer contends that this term should be used in strict accordance
with its root-meaning, to define the position, and not the nature,
‘of a consciousness. To do otherwise is to be involved in frequent
confusion, when the case under discussion 1s one i which alterna-
tions occur. ‘To specify nature, the terms ' secondary conscious-
ness "’ and * secondary personality "’ exist. These remarks apply
equally to subliminal.)

Telepathy. 'The transmission of thought from one mind to
another, not by the recognized sense-avenues, but by some process
yet unknown.

Thermoanaesthesia. Lack of ability to recognize sensations
of heat. '

Therapeutic. Pertaining to the remedial treatment of phys-
ical or psychical disorders.

Toxic. Due or relating to poisoning.
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CHAPTER II.

FIRST PERIOD: UNDIVIDED PERSONALITY.
“THE REAL DORIS.”

TOGETHER WITH OUTLINE OF FAMILY AND PERSONAL
CHARACTERISTICS.

1889—1802,

Doris Fischer was born in the year 1888, and lived up to
her twenty-third year in a large eastern city. Both parents
were German.

The paternal grandparents lived in one of the university
cities of Germany, whence the grandmother and her two sons
emigrated to this country, the first-mentioned not long before
her death. Little has been ascertained regarding the grand-
father, but a brother of his is said to have been professor in
the university. The grandmother was a tall, thin, wiry
woman, and died at the age of 75. She was characterized by
a nagging, tattling disposition, and particularly by an ob-
streperous temper. Lutheran, if anything, she read her Ger-
man Bible, yet was not incapable of uttering curses in two
languages when in a rage. One of the sons disappeared at
an early age, and was not heard of afterwards. The father
of Doris resembled his mother in his long, lean body; in his
iron constitution, enabling him to withstand alcoholic ex-
cesses for decades and yet remain hale and vigorous; in the
entire absence of neurotic tendency; and in his combining a
usually ingratiating manner abroad with a tyrannical and
selfish one at home, together with frequent outhursts of rage,
by no means always associated with a drunken state. He
was a soldier throughout the Civil War, and at that time
contracted the drink habit which was to increase until it
drove him from a high business position to a lower, and so
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down to the grade of a common laborer, with various evil
effects upon the fate of his family, He was above the
average in native intellect, and thaugh his schooling was
meagre managed to gather considerable information through
reading. But eating and guzzling came to mean much more
to him than any intellectual or zesthetic pleasures, while from
his youth up a more selfish being can seldom have existed.
He was without consideration for anyone, and almost with-
out natural affection. So far as is known, religious motives
were to him non-existent.

As in the case of the paternal, so in that of the maternal
ancestry, nothing has been ascertained prior to the grand-
parents.- Grandfather Brandt died at the age of about 96.
He seldom ever was ill, but at one period had nightmare and
walked occasionally in his sleep, His one brother, concern-
ing whom information has been gained, lived to be 92. The
grandfather was a man of inflexible morals, according to his
standard, and a church member, ¢onstant in attending and
supporting religious services. But his Christianity was of
that unfortunate type which permitted him to be generous
and agreeable toward those who he thought were doing
right, but disposed him utterly to cease intercourse with his
fellow-member who had once fallen from grace, and to dis-
own three of his children forever, two of them for the crime
of marrying without his consent. Grandmother Brandt also
appears to have possessed remarkably good health, without
any neurotic taint whatever, until her death at perhaps 85,
from accident. Her disposition was gentle and loving, and
the disowning of three of the children by her husband, and his
stern refusal to allow her even to write to them, were a great
grief to her. There were eleven Brandt children who lived
to adult years, and most of them are still living. One died
soon after a beating from her drunken husband, another from
the results of his own immeoral life, and a third, Doris’
mother, from alleged pneumonia, after a few hours’ illness.
So far as appears, all had naturally sound constitutions.
With one exception, the family seem to have sustained good
reputations, the most of them are teetotalers like their father,
and nearly all are active church members. Grandfather
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Brandt was a man of means, amassed through his own
efforts, and started all his boys in business. Some are
wealthy, the most are doing well financially,

The mother of Doris inherited the magnificent physical
constitution of her parents, and, though she became the
mother of thirteen children, and endured poverty and callous
usage, was scarcely ever ill. She showed no symptoms what-
ever of “ nervousness”. She laughed and joked habitually
in the midst of her troubles, was a loving mother, and tender
as her many cares permitted.

The thirteen children, of whom Doris was the youngest,
were made up of seven boys and six girls, including a pair of
twins. One boy was still-born, another died of a fall at about
two years, another of whooping-cough at about four, and a
fourth of small-pox at nearly the same age. The oldest girl
died of typhoid fever at twenty, and another of chronic
rheumatism brought on by her own carelessness and later
complicated by tuberculosis, at twenty-eight. The living
seem to enjoy normal health, and none of the family were
afflicted with “ nerves ”, except Doris, and possibly the oldest
girl, of whom it has not been possible to learn much more
than that she was extremely imaginative, and in childhood
was fond of writing letters signed “ Princess ", describ-
ing scenes and events appropriate to the assumed character.

No case of insanity, imbecility, chorea, deaf-mutism, or
other recognized form of physical or mental degeneracy has
been found in the family, lineally or collaterally,

On one of his business trips prior to the war, Grandfather
Brandt met a boy in rags, John Fischer, running away from
his late employer, took him home and into his own family,
and gave him a place in his mill. Little Emma Brandt was
going to school, and presently John was put to school also,
so there were plenty of opportunities for the two to know
each other. The girl was of a happy, trustful and loving dis-
position, and the acquaintance ripened, on her part, into a
romantic attachment. The boy, several years oider, prob-
ably loved her as much as his thoroughly selfish nature per-
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mitted him to love anyone. But he early began to tyrannize
over her, and even to slap her in the face when irritated,
significant facts which her infatuation excused.

The family noted that the young people liked being to-
gether, and Emma’'s mother took occasion to warn her
against forming an attachment, dwelling especially upon the
fact that John drank beer, and telling her—prophetic words
—the hardships which the drunkard’s wife must endure.
But no one dreamed how far the attachment had proceeded,
when suddenly the couple eloped and married. This was in
1861, Emma being sixteen years old. Disillusionment came
swiftly. ‘The comfortable parental home was closed to her
forever, she found herself in dingy quarters, what little dis-
guise the lover had retained the husband discarded. The
first Sunday after the marriage he forced her to wash clothes,
Brought up as she had been, in the strictest Sabbatarian way,
she felt that she was committing a mortal sin, and the horror
of that Sunday did not wear off for years. She worked many
a Sunday thereafter, for she felt that it no longer mattered,
and she attended religious services no more. Within a few
weeks the husband enlisted as a soldier, and for four years
this tenderly-nurtured girl earned a bare subsistence by her
own labor, When he returned the drink habit was firmly
fixed upon him, though he drank moderately for a number of
years. He had the ability to rise in five years to a respons-
ible executive position, wore a silk hat, and had plenty of
money, with which he was most free, except to his own
family. In another five years he had lost his high position,
and from that time went stowly dewn hill. All of Mrs.
Fischer's strongest instincts were thwarted from the time of
her marriage, and in greater degree after her husband's most
prosperous pertod was ended. She longed for affection and
was wedded to a callous brute who always neglected and
sometimes beat her. Even her romantic fancy could not
long endow such a figure with heroic qualities. She loved
beautiful surroundings and clothing, but her home was
shabby and herself and children meanly clad. She bore many
children and her cares multiplied. Her attempts to win her
father's forgiveness were unsuccessful. A photograph taken
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when she was forty-four years old, not long aiter the birth
of Doris, was the medium of the last effort in that direction.
It was taken in the gown which she wore when she left her
home, and with her hair arranged in the fashion of her girl-
hoed. This she sent to her father, hoping that it would
touch and soften his heart, but the stern old man sent it back.
From this time she aged rapidly, This portrait shows her
well-preserved and comely; another, taken three years later,
looks many years older. Nevertheless, she maintained a
brave exterior, laughed and joked in the midst of her griefs.
She never mentioned to Doris, or, so far as is known, to any
other, her husband’s cruelties, and never complained of, but
always defended him. Perhaps it was the implacable atti-
tude of her father, perhaps a combination of causes, which
made her utterly cease to go to religious services, and even
speak cynically of the Church; but she must have read her
Bible a great deal, since it was found after her death worn
and discolored with handling, and had not been used by any-
one else. The leaf containing the fourteenth chapter of St.
John was almost in tatters. Yet no one ever saw her read-
ing the book—she must have done it at night while the family
slept. She was a woman of peculiarly imaginative tempera-
ment, and found relief in the midst of her sordid tasks in day-
dreams filled with the life-elements which she yearned for
and of which her real existence was so barren. The game of
“ supposing ”, which she so often suggested to Doris and
played with her, and in which she displayed almost the satis-
faction of a child, must have been prompted by a deep-seated
mental tendency.

Mrs. Fischer was carrying even a heavier load than usual
during the months immediately preceding Doris’s birth.
Her husband was drinking heavily, and was out of work
much of the time. For the first time she was reduced to eke
out the support of the family by * doing washings ”, bringing
the clothing in secretly, and drying it in the house, so that
the neighbors might not know. The lack of affection on the
part of one of her daughters was especially troubling her, and
a few months before Doris's birth the wayward conduct of
another child caused her great grief.
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The various stated facts and conditions antecedent to the
birth of Doris are, of course, of immense importance to an
estimate of her congenital make-up. From both ancestral
lines she derived remarkable vitality and elasticity of physical
constitution, In all other respects she is like her mother in
the latter's youth. From her mother she inherits her sensi-
tiveness, her affectionate and pacific disposition, her capacity
for enjoying everything which furnishes any possible ma-
terial for happiness, and for putting unpleasant thoughts
speedily away, her inclination now happily corrected, to re-
verie and imaginative excess. In view of her infant
tendency to dissociation, realized when but three years old,
her father’s alcohelism may possibly, and her mother’s re-
pressed sorrows during the period of gestation, must prob-
ably be taken into account. Without the physical stamina
which characterizes her she could hardly have survived the
untoward conditions which prevailed up to late years; with-
out her mental endowments of joyousness, optimism, amia-
bility and docility her cure from protracted and complex
dissociation would have been most doubtful. It is curicus
how completely she seems to have escaped the stigmata of
her father's disagreeable qualities. Her loathing for the
saloon and the vice of drinking is easy to account for, and
connected with it is her utter dislike of narratives and
pictures of battle, derived from the childhood impressions
gleaned from utterances of her mother, that the war was
responsible for her father's becoming a drunkard,

It may be well to orient the subject of this chronicle, by
further outlining her mental and moral characteristics, in her
normal personality, and the writer will endeavor to do so
with scientific rigidity. It will not be due to any exagger-
ations or concealments of partiality but to the facts them-
selves, if the resultant picture is a pleasing one. It must be
borne in mind, however, that this is a sketch of the normal
personality functioning unhindered by the other personalities,
as is the case continually now that she is cured. Certain
mental operations were habitually or occasionally interfered
with, and moods and phases of disposition foreign to her own
sporadically intruded, so long as another consciousness abode
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under her proper consciousness, and another volition beneath
her will.  Still, it was possible for one bhabituated to the
study of the case to distinguish almost infallibly between
even resembling manifestations of the normal and secondary
personalities, by means of indicia of facial expression, tones
of voice, manner, etc., as will be amply illustrated further on,
For instance, the normal personality would sometimes be
guilty of a momentary impatience, but it had a different
coloring and was accompanied by different symbols than was
the case when the pettishness really proceeded from another
personality, co-conscious beneath and, as it were, showing
through.

Doris possesses a bright, active mind. She appears un-
duly girlish for her years, partly because she has had at least
eight years less personal experience than her age would
imply, and partly because that potent factor in shaping and
coloring normal maturity, sex instinct, is notably deficient,
But she really has mental powers beyond the average, rather
in practical channels than those of abstract thought. She
learns readily, and if the subject relates to her life in an in-
telligible way, retains facts and principles with tenacity.
Ready for high school at fourteen, the second in rank in a
class of fifty-two, all of whom except one were older than
herself,—such an achievement despite the embarrassments
peculiar to her dissociated state, and those incident to her
having to work out of school hours, speaks for itself. Enter-
ing upon poultry-raising before her recaovery was complete,
she read everything about poultry that she could get hands
on, took correspondence courses, experimented and observed
for herself, and soon became. expert and successful. But she
takes the most pride in a project which she has begun of her
own initiative, and if another meddles with the steering oar
her pleasure in it is gone, She is skilful with her hands, in
fancy-work, ete., though less so than was one of the person-
alities. Her success in pressing and retaining the hues of
dificult flowers elicited the praises of a veteran botanist.
She has a fair musical ear, is only moderately fond of poetry,
but delights in pictures and the beauties of nature. With
little taste for theoretical science, she never tires of watching
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the ways of birds and animals. Conscientious, but not
morbidly 50, she inclined from childhood to religious opinions
and habits, yet exhibits no tendency to fanaticism. She is as
frank as the human conscience, and will rebuke a cheating
merchant, for example, with such simple directness that he
may be dumbfounded but is seldom angry. Affectionate
and sensitive, she rarely exhibits a momentary flash of im-
patience, quickly repented of. Unless grieved or worried,
incidents of rare occurrence, during which she usnally keeps
silently occupied, the light gone from her countenance, she is
buoyant and cheerful, often exuberantly so. Her sympathy
is roused by any suffering, whether of human or brute
creatures; though keenly appreciative of humor she cannot
conceive why people laugh when someone slips ard falls on
the pavement. Jests which contain an element of coarseness
or which sully religion or family relations revolt her. She is
never coy, never bridles and simpers, never is embarrassed,
in the company of young men; would not in the least know
how to go about a flirtation, and the conduct of certain op-
positely inclined ladies is so incomprehensible that she terms
it “crazy”. Her sole conception of the advantages of the
matrimonial state is that it gives “ someone to take care of 7,
and that it usually brings children, of whom she is passion-
ately fond. But that she might marry seems hardly to occur
to her. She makes few friends among young women, since
the most of thein want to talk about men, or clothes, or social
affairs, which interest her little. She bas many strong
friendships with women much older than herself, and her best
friends among men are unromantic fellows twice her age.
With some of the latter, grave doctors, scientific men and the
like, she is on the frank terms of a favorite niece. Without
conceit, she keenly enjoys the approbatlon of her friends, but
desires no wider praise. She is incapable of deceit, never
once has she been known, in her own personality, to deviate
from the truth. A purer, more guileless soul it was never
the writer's good fortune to know, much less to explore to its
very depths, Such, in outline, is the psychical make-up of
Doris, set down with no reserves or glossing over; on the
whole, with the exception of the notable defect in sex-
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instinet, a symmetrical combination, and one furnishing a
good foundation on which to construct the processes of cure.

Physically, the subject is five feet and two inches tall.
Her weight, one hundred and twelve before her case was
taken in hand, thereafter rapidly increased in consequence
of unwonted sleep and nutrition until it was one hundred and
fifty pounds, and then slowly descended to a hundred and
thirty. The skin is fair, and much clearer than it was. The
hair is a very light brown, and it is one of the curious physical
changes which have accompanied her psychical regeneration
that it has grown out generally one or two shades lighter
than formerly. Her physical strength and endurance are
certainly above the average; her lung-development is excel-
lent, her heart-action regular and strong. She both is now,
and always has been, remarkably free from ordinary ailments,
never had any of the so-called children's epidemics, except
measles and mumps, and these very lightly. She has been
unusually free from coughs and colds, In the Sick Doris
period (1906-1811) there was recurrent tonsilitis as the re-
sult of persistent exposure. In the same period tuberculosis
was discovered in one ankle, it was supposed, but was eradi-
cated by an operation. However, plenty of morbid condi-
tions and symptoms appeared in connection with the second
dissociational catastrophe, and slowly wore off aiter the dis-
appearance of 8. D, These will be described in their proper
place. Perhaps the most remarkable feature of the present
robust health is that the digestive functions do not show the
slightest impairment from long-continued viclation of what
are considered the hygienic rules as regards eating, and es-
pecially from the strange gastronomic feats of Margaret.
Or, considering that Doris had scarcely slept in her own
personality for nineteen years, and at that bad been habit-
ually deprived of the amount of sleep supposed to be re-
quisite for young persons, perhaps it is as extraordinary that
normal sleep should have reéstablished so soon after the case
was taken in hand, and, with some irregularities for a time,
should speedily have become so profound and satisfying in its
character. No factor has been of greater therapeutic value.
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Doris was born March 31, 1889, while her mother was
undergoing so mild a type of varioloid that she escaped un-
marked. The infant contracted the disease, but, according
to the mother, suffered few ill effects, and today retains but
three or four slightly visible scars.

The mother had many children and multifarious cares, so
that Dorns, not from lack of maternal tenderness, but from
necessity, did not get an infant’s proper dowry of little atten-
tions. The care of her fell largely upon an older sister,
whom we will call Helen. In after years her mother used
to remark how good a baby she was, how quiet, how seldom
she cried. Her first pronunciation of her own name was
“Do"”. Afterwards it became *“ Dorry”. Further than
this we have almost no data regarding the first three years,
since for reasons hereafter to be stated it is not possible to
consult members of the family. But she must have been
absorbing impressions regarding the intemperate and un-
loving father, and her sympathies for the harassed mother
must have early awakened.

The writer has a picture of her, as a serious-eyed baby.
According to Margaret [Oct. 13, '11] it was taken when
Doris was two years old. (" Are you sure?”) “Yes, I am
sure. ‘The mother said so.” The picture surely appears to
be that of a child of about two.
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CHAPTER IIL
SECOND PERIOD: THREE PERSONALITIES. {1}
REAL DORIS, MARGARET, AND SLEEPING MARGARET.
1892—May 6, 1908,

The story of the shock which caused the first dissociation
was briefly told by Sleeping Margaret, [2] Apr. 8,11, “D.
was three years old when her father took her from her
mother just as the mother was about to put her in their bed.
The father threw her on the floor with all his might, because
he didn’t want her there. 'The mother took her up and car-

1, The term “personality ™, in the above heading, i3 used in its widest
sense, to include the primary or original personality, and without prejudice
1o the question which may hereafter arise, whether S, M, is a personmality at
all, in any such sense as M., and at a Izter date, 5. D., were.

2. As the account of Doria's life previous to my acquaintance with her is
mostly autobiographical, being collated from the utterances of the several
characters, R. D, 8, M, M, 5. D, and 5. R, D,, it may be weil, at the outset,
to estimate the dependence which may be placed upon each of these

The Real Doris is absolutely truthful This fact is established by critical
observation covering several years, Her memory may now and then err as
to details, but I do not think it subject to more than the average lability to
mistakes, She is not always precise in her forms of expression, so that the
hearer sometimes fails to get her intended meaning. Special pains, therefore,
have been tzken to teat her statements and correct such misapprehensions,

Sleeping Margaret, early in our acquaintance, made statements regarding
herself at variance with later ones, and explzins hy saying that she was not
at first ready to admit her true identity. She has, also, rarely, been mono-
syMabically evasive when she deemed that I was prying too much into the
thoughts of R D, or might be on the point of blaming the Iatter, Outside
of these two categories 1 never had reason to suspect 5. M. of wilful deceit.
Her memory, during say the first eighteen months of my knowledge of her,
seemed wonderfully ready and detailed, Later, as she declired and as ap-
peared to be the case, her memory of long-past events graduvally became less
clear, her own cxplanation being that as she was less and less needed a5 a
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protector she turned her attention more to her own affairs, and away from
the review of R, D.'s life. But her later memories did not contradict the
earlier ones, only grew somewhat less distinct.

Margaret was capable of both the most child-like frankness and faithful-
ness in reporting occurrences, and of the most child-like romancing, But she
could not help giving notice of her inventive moods by dancing eyes and
an amused manner. Her demeanor when telling the truth was anmistakably
different.  The same diverse indicia accompanied her relations of long-past
events, 50 that after long study of her I became thoroughly convinced that L
had an infallible means of distinguishing between her usually veracigua
reminiscences and her occasional romances. Her memory remained acute for
several months after the beginning of cure, thereafter it gradually faded, with
curious temporary revivals due to associational processes, which revivals
showed next to no discrepancies. Moreover she tended to romance less and
less as she approached her end

Sick Doris was capable of falsifying within certain channels, m a manner
which was rather aotomatic than culpable. But certain principles governed
her lapses in veracity, and these came to be pretty well recogmized. Of cotrse
she could not be a witness for anything which happened prior to her own
advent, but could only quote M. thereon, The most important portions of
her testimony, those relating to her own beginnings and tuition and to her
relations with M., are too parallel to what is recorded in the Hanna case, and
Beauchamp case respectively, as well as other cases, all onknown to her, to
have been imagined or invented.

Sleeping Real Doris could not be a voluntary witness to anything, being
incapable of cogverse with any actual person; her forte was the reproduction
of the Doris side in past conversations with many persons, Some of the
incidents with which the conversations dealt, and even the fact that some
of the conversationa took place, in substance at any rate, have been verified,
One could hardly listen to series after series of these avtomatic recitals, ut-
tered with language, tones and facial expression wonderfully diverse in ac-
cordance with the dates and character of the original incidents (which ranged
between 1896 and 1911), now strikingly simulating childhood and now young
womanhood, and sounding all the gamut of the emotions, without being con-
vinced that he was listening to actual reprodoction, I1F that be correct, S, R,
D. gave direct witness to the conversations and indirect witness to the inci-
dents on which the conversations were based, with the fidelity of a
phonograph.

But the well-known interrelations of secondary personalities with each
other and with the primary personality would lead to the inguiry how far
any of the witnesses 5. D, M. or 5. M., was of independent authority, and
how far she simply reflected the memories of another. While R. D, did not
know the thoughts of any of the others, nor even of the existence of S, M.
and S. R. D.; M, did not know the thoughts of 8. M., and only suspected, late
i the case, her existence; on the other hand S, D, knew the thoughts of R. D,
M. knew the thoughts of 8. D. and R. D, and 8, M, knew the thoughts of
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M. 5. D.and R. D. Did not, then, S. M., M. and 3. D, in reciting incidents
of the past, simply guote from some one *higher up”, and all, ultimately,
from R, D.? Emphatieally, no! Access was only to active thoughts, never
to latent memories of another. But when the memories of one higher up
were called into review and thus transmuted into active thoughts, would not
a lower personality, now having access to them, be liable to modification of
her testimony? Yes, but only to the degree that Brown, Smith and Robinson,
witnesses of the same event, would be subject to the same liability. Brown,
having listened to Smith’s and Robinson's versions, might take advantage of
these to refresh his memory, to correct some detail or otherwise modify the
manner of his own recital. But the medification would be as likely as other-
wise to take the form of causing him to dilate on some feature of the incident
that the others had neglected, or to insist more strongly on his own view of
the case, nor would any one dispute that Brown, Smith and Robinson were
competent witnesses  Exactly the same is true of the testimony of the
personalities.  For example, if R. D. was talking aboot a past event, and M.
came out and took up the tale, M. would show perfect comprehension of
what R. D, had aid, and her own testimony would doubtless be affected, but
only a1 in the case of Brown. Frequently she dwelt on features of the
incident which she said R, D. had forgotten. She would have her own childish
interpretation of the incident and as stremuously contend against R D.'s in-
terpretation as Brown might argue for his own and against Smith’s theory
to account for the facts related by both, Each of the personalities had her
own independent memory, each {except the inchoate, shadowy 8, R. 1) her
characteristic modes of thought, pride of opinion and will to contend for the
same,

There are at least four general tests which may be, and have been, applied
to the autobiographic testimony.

A, If in the passage of months, an incident once narrated is casually
called up again and again, and retold in whole or in part, by the same per-
sonality, with no essential discrepancy; if, on the other hand, the account is
not repeated in suspiciously stereotyped terms, we have a fairly good test of
veracity, 1f the same holds good with hundreds of incidents, often complex
and interlocking, and embracing together thousands of details, the test becomes
many tines more satisfactory. And this has proved the case with the great
mass of the testimony. The exceptions either were accompanied hy certain
invariable indicia, as when M, amused herself by romancing or * fooling ™, or
fell into certain categories to each of which there proved to be a key, as in
the case of certain utterances by S: D.

B. If the accounts given by different personalities regarding the same
incident tally with each other, dovetail as it were, taking into consideration
the psychical limitations and points of view of the several personalities, we
have another test that the accounts are essentially true. That accounts differ
according to the psychical quality of the narrators, as when M, dwells upon
featnres which would interest a child, and gives the whole incident a childish
interpretation; S. D). treats the incident more maturely and yet superficially,
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and §. M, relates it with deeper appreciation of its canses and significance;
alse that acconnts differ according to the point of view of the narrators, as
when M. tells an incident in detail together with the fact that she mentioned
it in a note to R, D., while R, I, never betrays any knowledge of the details,
but only of the bare fact mentioned in M.'s note,—zall this makes assurance
surer.

C. Ii the accounts given of an incident fit whatever of its objective facts
become otherwise established, and with the general logic of the situation, we
have a third test successfully applied. Truth comports with truth, and facts
are logically related, This is not the same as to say that the accounts should
be reasonable, There iz no such test as the latter formula implies, or if there
is it can be employed only by trained minds in possession of determining facts.
The reason of the man who has never heard of the phenomena of dissociation
would condemn the present chronicle at its first page, He would say that the
very notion of a divided personality, of two or more wills in connection with
one body, is unreasonable. Some of the statements of the Doris personalities
which seemed unreasonable at the beginning of the inquiry, proved perfectly
reasonable in the light of larger knowledge later on in regard to the powers,
limitations and relations of the personalities.

It is not possible to indicate in this work a tenth of the care that was
taken, in view of all the possibilities of wilful deception, exaggeration, delusion
and vagaries of memory, to scrutinize and test the autobiographical state-
ments. Yet I do not feel called upon to pass upon each incident around which
a group of statements clusters. My office was to get the testimony of all
the witnesses in, to cross-examine it, and to place it before the reader in
such shape that he can judge for himself. I shall indeed feel it not imperti-
nent to call his attention, generally in the form of footnotes, to considerations
which he might otherwise neglect, as in the case of the alleged incident
causing the first dissociation, at the age of three years,

Of course, after Mrs, Prince began to care for Doris, and later, after the
writer came into connection with the case, the evidence became greatly
increased in scope and diversity, Shut up, as to the earlier period, mostly
to autobiographical testimony, since it has been inexpedient to take former
acquaintances into confidence, in order to fearn whatever the secretive habits
of undizcovered personalities allowed them to observe, we are not so fimited
thereafter, First-hapd external testimony now comes in, testimony of daily
observation, under the most favorable avspices, for the personalities, dis-
covered and reconciled to their discovery, no longer masked their operations
from the favored witnesses,

D. And here comes in a fourth test of the avtobiographical testimony.
If the edge of the period to us unknown fitted the edge of the later period of
which we were witnesses,—in other words if the descriptions by the personali-
ties of their conduct and relations during the last months before their un-
masking agreed with what we came to know by cbservation of the actual
phenomena which illustrated their peculiarities and relations, during the
period immediately after the unmasking, then their testimony to that extent
becomes credible and probable. And this was the case,
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ried her out of the room to see if she was hurt, and as she
didn’t cry, she laid her on Helen's bed upstairs, on the third
floor. Helen had slept with her, but was away that night.”
No word of this statement was lisped to Margaret before
June 2, when the following dialogue took place. (What
did you first come for?) * To take care of the D.” (How
old was she?) *“ Three." (How could one baby take care
of another?) “ We [3] were 18" [4] [said with a simper,
plainly indicating that she was not in earnest]. (What is
your first recollection?) “ My playing with her fingers
when I came.” (You mean that you remember the very
time that you came?) * Sure! I remember that best of any-
thing.” (Where was D.7) “In bed on the third floor.
She was crying and rubbing her eyes. I showed her how to
play with her fingers.” (What made her cry?) ‘ She was
lonesome, 1 suppose. TLhere was no one with her,” (Had
she hurt herself, bumped her head, maybe?} “I don't
know. I guess she was just lonesome.” (Wasn’t there any
one else sleeping on that floor?) *“ Yes, Ada and Alma.”
(And didn’t one of them go to D.?) “ No, *Shut up!’,
*Stop that erying!’, “Quit it!’—that’s what they yelped.”
{Why didn't the mother come?) *“1I dor’t know.” (Didn't
anyone come?) * Yes, later on Helen came in. She had
been out, she was all dressed up.” When S. M. could ex-
press herself again, she said that she was surprised that M.
had forgotten that D. was thrown on the floor by her father,
since the fact was formerly known by her. That event would
naturally impress itself on the mind of the child R. D. so
vividly that M. would have become familiar with it. As we
shall see, M. remembered it fater. S. M. went on to say,
“Really M. came a little earlier than she thinks, before D.

3. Let it be borne in mind that M. habitually, until a later date, used the
pronoun “ we” in referring to hersclf alone, as well as to herself and another
persomality together. S. D. to 2 certain extent did the same. M. refers to
herself alone here.

4, One of M's imnocent mystifications, See p, 309. Note the word
“simper ¥, testifying how early I began to notice the signs which she could
not help dispfaying, when she was “fooling™. Her manner altered with the
next senfence.
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was laid on the bed, upstairs, while I came before that, before
D. was thrown on the floor—I came during the quarrel. The
mother was taking D. to bed, and Mr. F. did not want her
there. He swore and scolded, and there was a great noise,
and the D. was awake and heard it all. Then they got up,
and he grabbed D, and threw her on the floor.,” (You came
before she was thrown?) “ Yes. How did you think I knew
about all that unless ¥ came before?” (Have you any recol-
lection previous to that quarrel?) “No.” (Was it while
they were in bed that you came?) * No, they had been in
bed and had just got up.” (Do you know any special reason
why he did not want the child there?) * Yes.” (You did
not know at the time.) * Yes, I did, just the same as I do
new.” (Did he say why?) “No." (How then could you
know?) “I knew.” (But how rould you understand when
so young? Wasn't your mind that of a child of three?)
"No, I was not a child in mind; I have always been the
same.” [5] (As mature mentally as you are now?) * Yes,
just the same.” (And M, was the same as she is now?)
“No, M. grew in mind until she was about ten, and then
stopped.  She has been practically a child of ten ever since.”
(But she says she is 18) “ That is only talk. She wanted
to make out that she was older than S. D. was when S. D.
came, so she made herself a year older., When you asked
her she answered as she did §. D.” (What did M. do with
D. when she came?) * At first she only made D. play with
her fingers, and see things that weren't there, on the carpet
and so on—she would see them until M. got tired of it.”

On Sept. 20th [8] I suggested to M., who was scribbling,
that she write about her first coming. She wrote, as fast
as her pen could fly, without taking time for previous
thought, the following: “ When Doris was three years old I

5. See pp. 1030, 1060-61,

6. Long intervals were purpossly allowed to elzpse before a suhject like
this would be brought up again, so that, if the story were an artifact, the
memory of its details might die out. It was never voluntarily referred to by
8. M. or M, until long after, when 8. M. and I discussed it now and then, and
she would sometimes make a spantaneous reference to it —but M. never. No
after-discrepancy appeared, neither was anything added worth noting.
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came one night when she was lying on the bed crying as if
her little heart would break because her father had thrown
her on the floor, [7] well I made her play with her fingers
and toes and finally had her laughing and then she went to
sleep and slept until Helen came. In the next room were
Ada, Trixie, Alma and Lem and they all were yelling ‘ Keep
quiet’, * Keep quiet’, ‘ I want to sleep.”” [8]

Let us sumrmarize the statements of 8. M. and M. and
ascertain how they comport with each other and with the
pivotal allegation of both that M. * came” while the child
was upstairs, and the allegation of S. M, that she " came”
downstairs, before the child had been thrown upon the floor.

According to Sleeping According to Margaret.
Margaret.

There was a quarrel between
the father and mother, the
former scolded and swore, be- { Nothing about this.)
cause he did not want the child
in the bed, and both got up,
The child was awake and

heard the quarreling. (Nothing about this. M,

S. M. “came” during the did not know that 5. M. ex-
quarrel down stairs. isted.)

7. On p, 151 we find M. failing to remember anything to account for D.'s
crying, and 5 M. wondering that M. had forgotten what she once knew,
Now she seems to remember, There is nothing out of character in this. It
was one of M.'s peculiarities that when directly questioned about a long past
incident she would sometimes fail to remember it, yet afterwards, when some-
thing spontancously remintied her of it, she would reel it off glibly. A fre-
quent phenomenon at the time that the process of her banishment began, it
became more frequent, began to include recent events, and finally became the
rule save in regard to matters which R. D. had been reviewing within the
previous day, When once the clue was found, ail the details of the incident
which had happened within her own personal cognizance would fellow, but
not necessarily a detail of which she knew only through another personality.
The throwing of D. on the floor she could have learned anly through the
thoughts of R. D. at the time, On June 2d she happened not te recali it, on
Sept. 20th she did s0. On the theory that the incident happened, this would
explain the discrepancy between her accounts,

8. This, like all other quotations of matter written by any of the person-
alities, is given literalim cf puncivatim,
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The father violently threw
the child upon the floor.

The mother carried the child
out of the room and looked to
see if she was hurt,—D. did
not cry,

The mother carried D, up
stairs, and laid her on Helen's
bed.

Helen was out that night
{which was the reason the
mother attempted to take the
child into her bed),

D, was left alone on Helen's
bed.

M. ®“came” in the room up-
stairs.

—Really M. came a
little earlier than she thinks,
beiore D. was laid on the bed,

The child did not cry down-
stairs.

(I have preferred to leave
this statement in its first in-
complete form, though S, M,
at a later date said that D.
commenced to cry when taken
up-stairs.)

From the first M, was ac-
customed to amuse D. by
making her play with her
fingers, see things, etc,

The father threw D. upon
the floor.

(Nothing about this.)

{Nothing about this.)

Helen must have been out,
as she came in later, “all
dressed up.”

D. was alone on Helen's bed.

M. “came” in the room up-
stairs

—while the child was
on the bed.

The child was crying up
stairs when M. came. {There
is no discrepancy. The shock
may naturally have been too
severe to allow the child to cry
at first, but she would almost
certainly do so eveatually.)

M. amused D. that night by
making her play with her
fingers and toes,

There is found between these two versions of the same
singular story only one, and that a minor, discrepancy. M,
thought she “ came " after D. had been laid on the bed, while
S. M. was positive that M.’s arrival was a few moments

earlier,

Such little discrepancies are always discoverable

between the recollections of veracious witnesses—this only
indicates that no memory is infallible as to every detail, and
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there is no reason why personalities, even with their some-
times heightened powers, are to be regarded as exceptions.
The fact that S. M. went out of her way to disagree with M,
on this detail—to create a discrepancy— is an evidence of her
good faith,

S. M, testifies to certain prior facts down-stairs, in ac-
cordance with her claim that she arrived on the scene in their
midst, before the child was thrown down. In accordance
with the doubly-witnessed claim that M. came later, at or
about the moment that D, was laid upon the bed up-stairs, M.
never betrayed, in her accounts, any knowledge or suspicion
of any prior events, with one exception, the bare fact that D.
was thrown upon the floor by her father. That M. came to
know this prior fact and no others is easily explained,
Doubtless D. for a long time retained in her mind the terrible
picture of being seized by her father and dashed upon the
floor, an impression so dominating that it blotted out all other
recollections of the incident; this picture M. saw in D.’s mind,
and continued to remember after the Real Doris had for-
gotten it.

For R. D. retains no memory of the incident whatever,
and has never heard it mentioned to the moment of this
writing. [9] Asked in November, 1813, if she remembered
or had heard of any accident or iright incurred by herself,
which might account for the first dissociation, she answered
in the negative. But she was able to add one detail, which
accurately fits the close of the incident as related by 5. M.
and M. She remarked, all innocent of any knowledge of its
significanice, * Mother said that 1 was always a very good
baby, but that I was still better from the time that I was

9, But a year later she had 3 dream (p. 854) in which the chief details
of the incident Aashed into view. She regarded it as simply a bad dream and
gave it no further attention. Considering, however, that there had not been
#ny conversation with M. on the topic (which might have * bubbled up™ in
the dream) for months, it would seem that the dream must have been one of
the frequent instances of emotional experiences of childhood picturing them-
selves in the sleeping-imagery of maturer years.

S. D. knew nothing about the incident. Evidently M. never told her,
See page 421.
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three years old.” (In what way?) *“ She said that after
that 1 was very quiet,—always seemed able to amuse my-
self.”” Let this be compared with 5. M.'s and M.'s already
quoted statements that M, kept R. D. quiet by making her
play with her fingers, making her see things, ete. [10] [11]

Doris was born and lived the first fifteen years of her life
in one of a2 row of brick houses which had “ seen better days,”
and where the family was brought into such social relations
as are often the consequence of intemperance and attendant
poverty. That row of houses, standing somewhat by itself,
was often called “ Rubberneck Row?”. [S. D.] [12]

10. See page 151,

11, If the stoey of the father throwing his child on the floor is fiction,
how did 5. M, and M. happen both to invent it to account for the dissocia-
tion? It could not have been by a concerted plan, for M, did not know that
S. M. existed. S. M. did not borrow her story from M.'s, for all the impor-
tant details were given by 8. M, first. Tt is wholly unlikely that 8, M, zccom-
modated her narration to z fiction which she saw in M.'s mind, for 8. M,
never at other times showed any disposition to shelter M.)’s romances, but
spontaneously exposed and laughed at them. According to 8. M. (Note 199},
there was a time when M., asleep, was able to hear 5. M. talking, but supposed
in her sleep that she was listening t¢ her own voice, May not S, M. by
this means have trained M. in the story, M. being ignorant of its source? In
that case S. M. not only needlessly placed the moment of M.'s arrival later
than her own in the fiction, but alse marvellously studied out the problem of
just what M, ought to say in order to fit the gratuitously difficult situation,
even to the point of determining that, according to psychical laws M. must be
made to know one particular fact which took place before her arrival—in
short 8. M, divined just how M. would naturally speak had the situation been
an actual one. And to what end? Neither of them brought the sabject
forward, or spoke of it except in response to queries, and neither had previous
notice that I was interested in the manner of their coming into being, and
would guestion them about it. There is no evidence that after or before
1 knew them sentences or definite trains of thought could pass from S5, M.
to M. Emotions, single impressions, shocks, sometimes did, but nothing
more.

Something must have happened, something of a serious nature, to produce
that “ mental fissure” in infant years. The throwing of the child upon the
floor is as probable as anything else, in view of the known character of the
father. As to the other details, the expert reader must judge for himself.

12. *Sick Doris” related this before the fact of dissociation had been
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“ When you come to a row of houses with all the women
sticking their heads out, that is Rubberneck Row. There
was one wash-kettle for the row of 8 houses; it hung from
a crane over 2 fire in the back yard. When one family
washed all the rest stood around and talked. If anyone was
sick all the others took care of 'em. Through the week all
the kids were mixed up. When Saturday night came all the
mothers hunted out their own kids and took them home for
a bath, all at the same time, so that night each family got
together. The children played together, and wouldn't Jet
other children in. The man who collected the rent never
had to ge to more than one house, for all the women would
be there. All the men but father worked in the same mill.
All the men and some of the women drank. When I tell
about Rubberneck Row I can smell limburger cheese, and
sour pig's-feet, and whiskey—all these smells come up. [13]
1f one woman got mad with a butcher or baker all the rest
changed too. The people often quarreled (except Mrs.
Fischer) and called each other Irish slops, Dutch pigs, etc.”
The writer once strolled past Rubberneck Row, and while
heads were not protruded from every window, it was evident
that it was not entirely unfaithful to its traditions. Such
were the associations amid which Doris’s childhood was
spent. But the tender love and native refinement of the
mother must not be forgotten, and the girl in her true per-
sonality seems to have had a capacity for absorbing impres-
stons from the schools and upper-class homes with which she
was brought into contact.

The terrible act of her father produced an abiding fear of
him. [S. M.; Feb, 6, 1911] [14]. “ After we [S. M. and

discovered. Of course she was simply repeating what she had learned from
M. by processes to be described in the proper place. It must be borne in
mind whenever anything is quoted from 5. D. relating to events prior to her
existence, that she got the statements frem M. or some outside party, usually
from M.

13. 1t i3 amusing to think of 5. D, who never lived in Rubberneck Row,
telling how she was reminded of its smells. But her identity being yet a
secret, all she covld do was to quote M.’s recollections as her own.

14. This was said before the discovery of 8. M., which took place April
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M.] came, baby D. would never move from the position she
happened to be in, when her father came in. Even if her foot
was under her so that it hurt, there she sat, as long as he was
there. She was always watching her mother, when she was
a wee girl, if her father was present, She looked out of her
big round eyes from where she sat, maybe in the corner. She
was always afraid that her mother was going to be hurt.”
[M.; Apr. 8,'11] “ She used to run like the devil when she
saw him coming. The children would say ‘ Here he comes,’
and she would go like a streak of blue lightning.” [S. M.;
Apr. §,'11] “D. used to go and lie down at her mother's
door. She wanted to be held, and couldn’t, so lay there.
Lots of times she heard the father beat her mother.”

[S. M.; June 2, '11] “ At first she [M.] only made D.
play with her fingers and see things that weren’t there, on the
carpet and so on—she would see thern until M, got tired of it.
That was why she was so quiet a child, didn’t cry, and always
seemed to be amusing herseli. She was being amused.
When M. got tired and wanted D. to lie on her back on the
floor she would put D.'s toe in her mouth, and that would
make D, fall over. If she had pushed her over she would
have cried. Then when D, got a little older, so she could
understand better, M. commenced to play with her by way
of conversation.” (In the meantime what were you doing?)
“ Just watching.” (Didn’t you amount to anything, help
any, those first years?) [156] ‘' Well, T sometimes roused M.
so that she would save D. from a bad fall.” (Didn’t you ever
rouse D. herself?} “ No, always through M, She is the
only one I could ever influence.”” (Didn’t the time seem
long to you?) * No, I watched.”

From this point it is decided not to attempt to sketch this
period in the life of I). in strict chronological order. While
that order has its advantages, it would have the great disad-

Sth. It was supposed to be M. conversing with me in her sleep, which she
often did. 5. M., knowing that 1 supposed it to he M. speaking, and not
willing yet that 1 should become aware of herself, borrowed M.'s first person
use of the word “we", yet, a3 she afterwards said, really did refer to both
herself and M. Note the difference in phraseology on June 2.

[S. 1 had already learned that 8. M. acted as a protector in later years.
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vantage of breaking up the unity of the autobiographic re-
citals. Therefore the data will be classified roughly under
appropriate headings.

Data Illustrating Margaret's Peculiarities and Her Relations
with the Real Doris.

[M.; Dec. 11, '11] [18] *“The D. used to call herself
Dorry when she was a little thing. Just after I came I asked
her what her name was. I heard people call her all sorts of
names. So I said * What's your name, kid?* And she said
‘ Dorry, Dorry.” Our mother said ‘ What are you saying
your name over for?’ (How did you ask her,—with her
lips?) * No, to her mind. 1 didn’t like the name Dorry, so |
called her Do.” [17] S. M. asserted that M. had told the
truth, [18]

IM.; Dec. 31, '13] When R. D. was very small M.
would often * whisper” to her mind (produce auditory hal-
lucinations) to amuse her, Once when Mrs. was calling
M. made R. D, hear “ choo-choo”. “ And the D. would put
her head on one side and listen, and on the other side and
listen, and the mor'r said, ® Just see that child, you'd think
she heard something’, And I would make her hear *D. is a
nice girl. Does D. want some candy?’ And then she would
laugh and kick out her feet. She was a ver’ happy child,
she never cried after we came.” 8, M. added that M, did this
particularly when people were about, to make them notice.

Margaret had a strong sense of proprietorship, and early
taught R. D, a lasting lesson in meum and tuum. The Real
Doris herself told the story [Nov. 20, '11]. “ It must have

16. Some attempts are made later on to appreximate to some of M's
peculiar childish pronunciations.

17, M. reverted to D.'s earlier name for herself. See p. 146,

18. Paina were taken to check off, subsequently, much that M, said by the
testimony of S. M., and what both said by the testimony of R, D. especially,
when the matter lay within her purview. Manifestly, space cannot be used
to specify anything like the number of times this was done; the reader will
have to accept the general assurance, and that it was done casually, at safe
intervals, and without acquainting the personality questioned with the motive.
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been a little before my fiith birthday—for on that day I first
went to a dance, and it was before that—I had been playing
with a rubber ball which must have been claimed by the A
Phase [19]. For I was made by a will not my own to pick up
the ball with my left hand. That drew my attention to it,
that I did not feel just then like playing with it yet was made
to pick it up. But then I did start to play with it, and the
ball was pressed into my right hand by a will not mine, and
nmy left hand began to scratch my cheek and eyelid, and con-
tinued to scratch while I cried, until the blood came. Helen
saw the scratching and said it was only temper. That was
the worst scratching I remember getting when I was little.
I suppose I was giving myseli a lesson, I never touched the
ball again, I had my eyes scratched 2 good many times
when I was little, but not my face so badly as that-—scratches
the whole length of my cheek. From the time I was four
until I was eight I was never without scratches on my eyelids,
and they would get festered. The worst was my having to
say that I scratched myself. The reason was that T couldn’t
learn to keep my fingers off from A’s things, The teacher
would say ‘What on earth do you scratch yourself for?’
By the time I was eight I guess I had learned better to let
things alone. T was scratched some after that, but my face
wasn't plowed up all the time.” Again R. D, said, referring
to the period before she was eight, “ In those days I wasn't
allowed to say that anything was mine; if I did, next night I
got a scratching, though I obeyed myself so fully that there
wasn’t much occasion. I was afraid. T knew that my hands
wrote the notes that 1 found in the morning—notes that 1
was always told to tear up, which I did; but to be told, when
one was little, that something terrible would happen if 1
didn't do thus and so was rather terrifying. I used to get
scratched across the lower eyelids particularly. T was told

19, 'The real Doris never used the terms * Margaret™ or “ Sick Doriz™,
She never needed any terms before her secret was discovered, and then, at my
suggestion, the expressions, “ Phase A ™ and * Phase B”, respectively, were
adopted for use between her and her friends in the secret. The old terms,
“ Margaret ™, “ Sick Dorigs”, etc., continued to be employed by the secondary
personalities,
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to say ‘ our ’ this ot that, and did. I always obeyed the notes,
and wasn't punished because I did something but because I
had forgotten to do something. For example, I was often
ordered to run around the square so many times, three or
run the right number of times, and then I would get pun-
four. 1 might forget, or get interested in something and not
ished.” Another way which M. had of punishing R. D. was
to make her bump her head against the wall. The little girl
was sometimes seen by members of the family bumping her
head, and then crying bitterly because it had been bumped.
Naturally they could not understand why she acted so.

From 8. D. (Jan. 20, ’11] it was learned that when D. was
little and her mother taught her to say things, she would say
them twice, When asked why she did so, she would reply,
*“ Once for me and once for you”. Her mother thought she
meant once for herself and once for the mother. But 5. M.'s
supplement furnishes the explanation. “ When learning to
count, the R. D, would say ‘ One’, and then M,, who watched
underneath to learn also, would say, in her very different
tones, ‘One’, and so on. D. would say * All right, mother’,
and M. would repeat, * All right, mother’” (imitating M.’s
peculiar inflections), It appears that M. ceased to repeat R.
D.’s lessons aloud at about the time the child was sent to
school, at the age of six, She ceased to bump R. ID.'s head
at about the time that D. commenced to work after school,
at seven.

(M.; Feb. 2,’12] Once before ID, began to go to school,
M. heard her mother wishing that she had some flowers, and
knowing that Aunt Maria had just set out some flowers on
Grandmother Brandt's grave, set out with a basket and dug
up al} the flowers and took them home. A man in the ceme-
tery saw her going out and tried to stop her, but she ran like
a deer. Arrived home she presented the flowers, and the
mother remonstrated, saying she had done wrong, so M.
“went ”, as she generally did when in difficulties, and R, D.
“came”., When the latter learned what had been done she
took back the flowers, and met the man in the cemetery who
asked her H she didn’t know she could have been arrested.
R. D. told him she took the flowers for her mother, that her
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mother had sent her back, and that she was going to reset
them on the grave. She did so, and the man showed her
where to get some water for them, and gave her some bulbs
to take home.

[R. D.; Oct. 13, "11] When eight years old ID. was vac-
cinated. The mother protested that if it were done she
would scratch herself to pieces. [20] But it had to be done,
and the result was that the A Phase [M.] scratched and
scratched and transferred the virus from the vaccinated spot
to various parts of her body. The scab of the original spot
was torn away again and again, so that the place grew to
large size, as the scar today testifies. It was aimost a year
before she got well, and most of that time she could not go
to school. Adhesive plaster was put on by the doctor, but
M. [21] would come, go to the cellar, and work until she got
the strips off. Once R. D. was sent to the doctor’s alone,
and he told her that if she didn't stop scratching he would
have her sent to a place where they cut off little girl's fingers
for doing such things. He pricked her finger with a lancet,
and told her it would hurt much worse than that, that one
finger after another would be cut off, etc.,, and wound up,
“They cut people all up in that place, and do it very slowly ™.
R. ID, was horrified, and it was never she who reached this
doctor'’s office after that. S8he asked her mother, without
specifying what he said, if all that Dr. Blank said was true,
and she unthinkingly responded “ Yes ™. After that, when
it came time to go to the doctor, terror would send R, D,
away, and M. would have fairly to be dragged along, pulling
and crying. But arrived at the office, she would laugh at the
doctor’s threats, and when he wanted to examine the sores
on her leg she threatened to spit in his face. [M.; same

20. M. could never, until toward the last, when she had become nearly
anzsthetic and very obedient, keep her hands off from any locally irritated
spot. If it itched she scratched it, if it pained she tore at or pounded it
querulously, sometimes angrily, Scores of times I have had to hold her hands
until R, D, came, only to have M. come zlone at night, and scratch or dig
at the spot, increasing the trouble and sometimes causing a boil.

21. When, in indirect quotation from R. D. the abbreviation “ M.” occurs,
it is a substitution for ' Phase A", the term really employed hy her,
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date] “I did spit in his face, when he wanted to look at my
leg. He told our mother that she should take us on her lap
and make us: [ fooked at her and she said she guessed she
awouldn’t, she couid tend to em at home. And he tried to do
it, and I spit at him, After mother died and he was sheriff, I
met him, and I said ‘ You are in just the right place, where
you can hang people.’ He said ¢ You little brat, I don’t hang
people.” He told the R, D, that after her fingers were cut
off,—they would do it slow—they would cut off her arms and
legs and then chop her body up. She was awful scared and
trembled all over. Mother talked to us and told us we ought
not to scratch, and then the R. ID, came and she cried, and
the mother cried too. I worked for hours—no, not at one
time—in the cellar, to get the plaster off. It was awful strong
adhesive plaster. I vaccoinated lots of people. I scratched
Trixie and she had it, and mother and she had it, and Helen,
and Cad the baby taking him up, and * * * [naming
several] and they all had jt.”

[R. D.; Dec. 11, '11] Aunt Maria became a holiness
woman, and when, aged ten, M, told her [22] in mischief
that she was going to join the Methodist Church, the aunt
next day brought in another holiness woman whom the black
sheep uncle was accustomed to call * Hell fire”. M., pre-
tending to be very religious, made a splendid prayer. Aunt
Maria thought the Holy Ghost had descended upon her, but
Mrs. F. knew that some mischief was brooding. Then El-
vira commenced to pray, but M, soon broke out laughing and
said, “ Hellfire, T have got enough of it; you don't need to
pray any more”. Consternation reigned, and Mrs, F. was
awfully shocked herself, though she had renounced church
because her ' Christian " parents had cast her off. R. D,

22. R D, got to know the outlines of many of M.'s speeches and esca-
pades. One means was hearing members of the family, or others relating
them., Another waa adroit Ashing; particularly one girl friend could be
made to rehearse practically an entire incident without realizing that she
was being incited. Notes, and other visible tokens of M.'s work, also fur-
nished clues. She gradually attained to a pretty fair idea of M.’s leading
characteristics, and could often, from experience, judge from her gwn
feelinga just after coming out in what mood M. had departed.
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learned what had happened, as shocking to her as to others,
by hearing her mother tell Helen about it. [23]

[R. D.; Dec. 4,'11] When M, “ came out ™, it was often
with a whoop, and sometimes she immediately ran off some-
where,

All the evidence supports 8. M.'s allegation that “ M.
grew in mind until she was ten, and then stopped. {24] She
has been practically a child of ten ever since”, bearing in
mind that 5. M.s statement was in 1911, Afterwards M.
became mentally younger, as will be seen. According to R.
D. [Dec. 4, '11], when she was little, emotions, such as fear,
passed over from her to M.; but when she got older, M, was
the one who usually got scared first, and passed the fear over
to R. D. She supposed “that Phase A had become
stronger . [S. M.; same date] “ It is more likely that the
change came about this way,—as R. D. grew older and less
subject to fears directly, M. remained a little girl, still liable
to childish fears.” In accordance with this theory, or fact, of
her arrested development, M, continued to use until the close
or nearly the close of her career, expressions which R, D.
abandoned during the transition from childhood to young
womanhood. [R. D.; June 2, '11] (You used some slang
when you were a little girl?) “ Yes, quite a lot of it”".
(What?) “‘0O gee whiz!’ was common, ‘O geel' was an-
other, ‘ Ach du lieber! '—I was always saying that; I don't

23, The uninitiated in cases of this sort may wonder how the transitions
created by the comings and goings of R I and M. were bridged over.
whether matters went on smoothly and uninterruptedly. M. was co-conscious
underneath while R, D. was out, and generally observant, and so, when M,
came out there was no difficulty because she remembered what had taken
place. But whenever M. was out, R. D. wus as it were gone to a far country
and had no consciousness of the outside world and of M."s doings therein.
So there was difficulty in bridging over the transitions from M. to R. D.
especially when the latter came during a conversation with someone. But
by preserving rcticence until the other party had said something which
showed how the land lay, by fishing, by pretending that a sudden thought had
struck her, etc, she generally but by no means always, bridged the chasm
preity well. * What did you say?" she would often ask on coming, and find-
ing herself in conversation. If not to the point, the other party would think
she was “trying to be funny.”

24, See page 172.
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remember any more just now.” (When did you leave these
expressions off?) “ When I was about ten or eleven, I
think,—when 1 first began to work at houses where they took
notice of me and tried to correct me, And when I was
thirteen I worked for awhile at a laundry where I got dis-
gusted at the slang the girls used, and I wouldn’t use any at
all after that. A minister used to say, repeating what I said
when [ forgot, ‘ Now you quit that’ [her tone became some-
thing like M.’s in her attempt to imitate the minister’s imi-
tation]. It was the tone which teased me as much as the
words”. (Did you ever say that yourself?) “ Yes, when I
was a little girl.” (When did you leave off7) “ I suppose
when I began to go to schoel.”

M. was still incessantly using 21l the expressions which R.
D. remembered with a few more, when D. was twenty-two
years old. But though M. may have advanced untit she was
ten years old, the evidence indicates that before she attained
her full mental development she had fallen considerably
behind R, D. The latter is sure that she knew better at
seven than to do what M. did at that age, attempt to hatch
some hens’ eggs by sitting down on them, with melancholy
results. But what M. could not understand when R. D. was
twelve or thirteen, she never afterward was able to under-
stand, The following is a marked example. [R. D.; Sept. 2,
11] “ When I was sixteen, and worked for Mrs, 5, she was
making some baby-lothing one day. I knew perfectly well
what this meant. But when I forgot [(25] I evidently didn’t
and asked her, for I came to myself in time to hear her say
they were for her aunt, who had a2 baby. I wondered what
she told me such alie for. But afterwards she thought T was
old enough to tell, and explained to me, saying that I had
asked her what they were for, I never said a word,” [26])

25. “When I forgot” was R. D."s frequent expression in referring to
coming out of another personality,

26. One may ask: “If M. was co-conscious when R D, was out why
did she not understand about maternity, since R, D. understood?” 1t is true
that M, knew what R D.'s thoughts were, so far as she paid attention to
them; it does not follow that she necessarily understood them or, even if
she understood, agreed with them. As determined by S, M’s immediate
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Saying that M.’s understanding never developed beyond
that of a child of ten, is not to say that in all respects it ad-
vanced so far. On the other hand it does not imply that she
was not capable of adding new facts not above her plane to
her store of knowledge.

M.’s passion for cleanliness was always one of her marked
traits. [R, D,; Nov, 30, 11} “The A Phase was a great
deal neater than I was. Once at about eight or ten I came in
the house from the yard and commenced to eat a piece of
bread and molasses. Mother asked me why I didn't wash
my hands, She was surprised. But I said that they were
clean enough. Then A. came, and put the bread on the table
and ate it by putting my head down to it, and scolded mother,

view of M.s interior mental operations, and by my study of their manifesta-
tions, there were at least three reasons for M.'s non-comprehension of what
R. D, understood, working singly and in combination, (a) Exactly as an
ordinary child within hearing of conversation ntterly beyond its mental grasp
turns to its play and pays it no atiention, so M. did not attend to much
that was thought, spoken and heard by R. D, simply because ahe could not
understand it and it held no interest for her. The time comes to the
ordinary child when its attention is arrested by the matter which it formerly
did not heed and it fearns new facts, But that is because its mind is expand-
ing in power, M.'s did riot expand beyond a certain date, and matters incom-
prehensible to her then remained so. (b) In many cases, where the matters
were such that M. could understand what R. D's opinion was, she held
ohstinately to her childish view, and thought R. D.s a “crary ™ one, or, if
won over, reverted to her former notion and forgot K. D.s views, {¢)
Ofttimes R. D.'s thoughts were 3o languid, or obscure, that M. preferred to
pay attention to something else than what lay in the immediate foreground
of R D.'s mind—some object, for example, imprinted on R D.'s retina, which
R. D. was not conscioualy heeding. However reconciled, the fact that M. to
the close retained grotesquely childish notions on some subjects, in spite of
her access to R. D.’s mind, is unquestionable. Sometimes she did learn a new
fact, utterly at variance with her former notions, yet even then she was
unable to generalize from.it, so that it remained an isolated phenomenon.
The hitherto unsuspected fact that a cow could give milk filled her with
disgust for that article, and she would not drink milk so long as she was in
the town visited next after the discovery of the guilty cow, but she counld
not generalize to all cows, and as soon as she left that place, though she
still saw cows, she did not connect them with the notion of milk, which * we
buy of the milkman.” (See pages 639-40.) D, never saw a cow milked in all
her girthood.
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asking her why she hadn't told me [R. D.] to wash my
hands. [27] Of course she said that she had done so, Then
I came agzin, and commenced to play with the cat and eat the
bread. As A., I hated anything sticky, [28) as molasses.
Also, I suppose that one reason the other children didn’t like
to play with me was that when I was A. I would want to run
into the house every time I touched the hands of any one of
them to wash mine—I would imagine their hands were dirty.
They didn’t like that."”

[S. M.; Oct. 81, "'11] M. would not aliow anyone, not
even her own mother, to touch her body. If the mother was
making D. a dress she could not try it on unless R, D. was
there, and usually she measured by older dresses. She said
that D. was contrary. [R. D.; Nov. 3,’11] When D. was
about 12 years old, Trixie took R. D. with her to witness
Hallowe'en festivities on the avenue. R. D. did not wish to
go, but yielded to the mother’s persuasion. There proved
to be much disorder in the crowd, and a man clutched R. D.'s
leg as he went past. Immediately M. was out and began
scolding Trixie in a loud voice for taking her there. She
became more and more vociferous in the expression of her
indignation, and soon Trixie had to take her home. Even
after arrival she continued to berate her sister, until R. D,
came, when the tumult ceased. Trixie told her mother, “ We
were liable to be arrested, she yelled so.” Neither ever
went again to see Hallowe'en on the street.

Any species of emotional reaction in R, ID. was apt to
emerge exaggerated or without restraint in M., in case she
participated in it at all. For example, R. D. could not under-
stand why anybody should pity her on account of her poor
clothes. * The mere joy of living was enough for me. I

27. Here in 2 case where M., co-conscious underneath, had not been pay-
ing attention. Sometimes, after I came to know her, and yet before M, had
begun to diminish, I would find that she was unaware of some incident in
which R. D, had lately participated, and her explanation was always that she
{(M.) had been watching, or thinking of, something else at the time it
happened.

28. Sece pages 1047-8.  See also incident on p. 763,
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was never sensitive about my clothes, [28] and while I was
not angry at people for pitying me, I did not like it.” But
M. resented pity. [M.; Feb, 13, ’12] “Once a lady who
taught kindergarten said to us ‘ Poor child!’, and I yelled,
* Shut up!’'—that's what I did, and—and—she said it wasn't
pretty to say that.”

R. D. did not like Aunt Maria, because she thought she
did not treat her mother right, but she would not have
dreatned of saying the impudent things to her that M. said.
But in regard to some species of emotional reactions M, was
very different from R. D, [R. D.; Deec. 11, '11] “Once I
wanted a statuette which a lady owned, and so did Phase A,
and the lady gave it to A. when she was there. A. acci-
dentally dropped it, then commenced to faugh. Then I
came, and heard the lady ask why I laughed. I felt awfully,
but A. didn’t care.” Neither would M, ever say she was
sorry for anything naughty that she had done, nor did she
appear to feel any sorrow [30] (if her earlier manifestations
were like her later ones); while R, ID. at all ages was too
prone to imagine that she had done wrong. R. D. from an
early age entered into the spirit of religious rites, but M. was
what she afterwards remained, an absolute pagan, having a
poor opinion of church, a positive dislike for hymns, and a
thorough disbelief in the efficacy of prayer. [R. D.; Jan.
17,°13] “ Phase A would often call out in school, when the
Bible was being read, ‘I don't believe that’,  I'm not dumm;
that never happened’, ete.”

M.’s tastes, gustatory and other, often coincided with
those of R. D., but as often did not. [R. D.; Nov, 18, *11]
"1 never used to get any of the icing on my cake. 1 would
‘forget * and lick off the icing and then come and eat the

29. D.'s everyday dresses, when she was little, were made out of sugar-
bags.

30. T asked M. one evening how she used to punish R, D. “T scratched
her eyes. And 1 threatened her, I told her once that I would sit in the
window and make her come and fall out. ¥ did climb onte the limb of a
tree, and make her come while falling off. It hurt her bad. I got under, and
it was she that had the fall™ (Aren't you sorry for having done auch
things to poor D.F) Nol”
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cake”. [June 2, '11] (Were you fond of candy when a
little girl?) “ Not very, except when I forgot, and then I
was crazy for it,—would steal it—at least this happened
once ”. M., took a whole box of chocolates belonging to a
woman D. was working for, but there was no concealment, it
was done before the lady, so that act hardly seems to warrant
the harsh term. M. ate the whole box as rapidly as she could
bolt the chocolates, and the employer did not check her, but
said that she was glad that D. could eat something, since she
usually declined what was offered. R. D. came, and offered
to pay for the candy, but was not permitted to do so. This
happened when she was eight. The heavy German cooking
of her home, with its high seasoning, was never relished by
R. D. M. got along with it a little better. M. was fond of
coffee, R. D. not; neither cared for tea. R. D. seldom got an
orange, but when she did, ate it rind and all; at 13 she com-
menced to peel her oranges, but M. kept on in the old way.
These items may serve as samples. [31] A similar degree
of disparity between R. D. and M. existed in regard to the
zsthetic tastes. R. D. was always very fond of trees, M.
did not care for them. R. D. liked music of all sorts, M. but
little, particularly church music, and least of all hymns. R.
D. enjoyed Christmas cards, M. despised them and tore them
up as not worth preservation. Both liked flowers, but R. D.
could not seem to transplant them so that they would grow,
while they nearly always grew for M. Not until after her
cure was complete did R. D, have success in dealing with
plants.

It would appear that during this period M. was not
usually out more than fifteen or twenty minutes at a time, in
the daytime. There were instances when her stay was much
longer, and. on the other hand, she often flashed out for a few
seconds and disappeared, so that to R, D, it was a hardly per
ceptible interruption. The transitions with rare exceptions
took place many times a day. Before D. began to go to

31. For the rest consult the index. Nearly all the likings and disrelishes
of the pair continved unaltered. For some of the disparities between M. and
8. D. see page 412.
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school at the age of six, it is estimated that M. totalled nearly
ot quite half the day, on the average. Who appropriated the
hours of night supposed to be dedicated to sleep will be seen
later. After D. began to go to school, M. still was on deck
about half the time daily, but her time was distributed differ-
ently. She disliked school, and though she would pop out
many times for an escapade, a mal apropos, or an extremely
neat but disconcerting apropos vocal deliverance, she seldom
stayed long during school hours, except when the task was
the practice of penmanship, which she fancied. But she
partly made up out of school hours, It was always she who
came down stairs, always R. D, who dressed alter reaching
the ground floor. If the mother was up M. came to breakfast
with her, especially to share the mother’s coffee, which
seemed to her more delicious; if the mother was not up, it
was R. D. who breakfasted. When R. D. took up washing
dishes after school hours, in various homes, M. came and
went during the tasks, but was as likely to play as work.
Stifl later, at the age of fourteen, when schooling was over,
and work filled the day, M., who as 2 rule was not fond of
labor, still came many times in a day, but averaged much less,
not more than a quarter of the day, it is surmised, Speaking
from the standpoint of the personalities, the phenomenal .
standpoint, rather from that of abstract science, M.’s comings
and goings were sometimes at will, sometimes not. She
could not help her nightly appearances, and her morning dis-
appearance also, was apparently established beyond her con-
trol. But she often came because she wanted a tasty bit
which, as a subliminal co-consciousness, she saw bhefore the
R. D.; she came to utter a saucy speech, to defend her
property or other rights against careless encroachments by
R. D, etc. She often " dodged” when she saw anything
disagreeable coming, a task which she did not like, a punish-
ment for her naughtiness, a person whom she detested. Or
shall we say that these various incitements acted mechanic-
ally to bring or send her away? Not unless we adopt the
mechanical theory to account for all the acts of normal per-
sons,—tested as these are M. exercised true volition. As to
the R. D., she of course never willed to come—she had no
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will or consciousness of the outside world during the M.
periods; nor did she ever will to go, she never wished to * for-
get”. M.'s will to come or go was effective only as R. D.’s
power to maintain hersell waxed or waned. At a momeni
when R, D, was at the top of the wave of freshness, vigor and
calm enjoyment, M. could not come if she wished, apart from
some special external stimulus, and perhaps not then. At a
moment when R, D, was in the trough of the wave, her mind
jaded, her body weary, her spirits low, M. could not help
taking her place. So, while M. appears to have possessed
true volition, it was like the volition of one of the Siamese
twins with the will of the other often opposed and his bodily
power to limit the efforts of the former swiftly rising and
falling. Everything which acted as a depressant upon R. D,,
bodily or mental weariness, ennui, grief, pain, wounded
spirits, etc,, tended to hanish her and bring M. Whichever
was on deck at the moment of a bodily injury or severe pain
usually got out and left the other to bear it; if pain were long
continued they alternated, and bore it between them. These
principles will be amply illustrated in the pages to follow.
One incident now to be cited is at once an illustration and an
indication how much different the history of the case might
have been with a faverable environment. [S. M.; Feb. 8,
'12] “There was a period of three weeks when she was
about eight years old, that M. came little in the daytime. 1
am not sure what happened, but think this was the time when
her father was sick and in the hospital. R. D. improved very
much, seemed to grow mentally, changed so that people
noticed it.” ‘The father, whose brutal act had caused the
psychic disaster in her infancy, continued to be, by her sub-
conscious memory of that act, by her horror of his drunken-
ness and of the sorrows which he caused her idolized mother,
the great depressant, the chief unfavorable factor of her en-
vironment.

The writer has a picture representing the child at the age
of five. Almost the first glance produced the conviction that
M. was on deck when it was taken. The child stands stifly
erect, her hands thrust far behind her, her lips pressed firmly
together, with a sidelong glance, her eyes pert, almost defiant.
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Her expression reminds one vividly of the M., of later years,
in one of her turbulent moods. But no word indicating this
conviction was uttered previous to the following inquiry.
[M.; Oct. 13, "11] {Whose picture is this?) *“ That is me”.
(Are you sure?} “Yes, I'm sure. I remember zall about it.
The picture-man offered the D. a penny if she would hold her
head up. She was bashful and wouldn’t hold it up. Then I
came, and [ was mad. The idea of taking a penny for having
your picture taken! So I put my hands behind me and /
held my head up.”

The Night Life of Doris,

This subject is worthy of 2 special heading. Tt is the
astonishing fact that for nineteen years, throughout Periods
IT, ItI and IV, and up to the beginning of treatment, the Real
Doris never once slept at night, [32] She went up-stairs,
but uniformly at the head M. came, and continued until R. D,
found herself down-stairs in the morning. But M. did not
sleep all the night, far from it. Generally there was evidence
in the morning of play, chairs placed in a row, sometimes
turned forward so as to lean against the wall; bits of bread
placed regularly around a table, with little tin cups filled with
water colored by red ink; paper dolls cut out in the night,
etc. R. D. would be chided by the mother, who said that the
other children had shouted down the stairs that she was dis-
turbing them with her talking and noise. In the morning,
also, during the earlier years of school life, she would find her
arithmetical and grammatical exercises for the day written
out, done as correctly as she could do them herself. These
she could often use in the original manuscript, but often not,
because they would be interspersed with comments on the
difficulties of the lessomn, as “darn it!” When she reached
the sixth grade, in her tenth year, [33] the wrathful com-

32. This is the testimony of R. D. for as far back as she can remember,
and that of S, M, and M, for the period [rom its beginning, The statement
is subject to this modification—that sometimes when M. was well asleep R. D,
wottld come for a dream, briefly,

33. This was learned from R. D, who seemed unaware of its significance.
Ses p. 165, .



MARGARET AT THE AGE OF FIVE

Real Doris had been offered a penny by the photographer to hold her head

up. Margaret comes indignant at the brile, puts her hands behind her and

assumes a deflant expression. “The idea of taking a penny to¢ have vour
picture taken!” She is wearing her dancing dress,  See page 172,
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ments became more numerous, and the exercises less and less
correctly executed, and finally they ceased altogether. R.D.
sorely missed them, as she worked every evening. But she
had been likewise in the habit of finding notes addressed to
herself, and these did not cease., Curiously, the notes were
always printed, while the exercises to be handed to the
teachers were written. It looks as though printing were
more congenial to M., but that she forced herself to write out
the exercises in order to help out poor R, D, so pressed for
time. ‘The notes were of various classes, some to inform her
where M. had laid up a piece of cake or other luxury for R.
D., some to give information as to what the teacher had di-
rected when M. was on deck, some to remonstrate and
threaten, etc. M. wrote few notes in the daytime, for the
reason that she could so easily communicate with R. D. by
vaoice. [34] Let us take a bit of R, D.'s testimony. [Aug.
13, '13] “Phase A up to about ten years old did all the
night study—her bed was on the floor by the window on the
third floor—by the light of the moon and street lamp, and
wrote out the exercises for the next day. When the light
was too bad to study, A. would still write in scrawlly lines
which T would have to copy in the merning. She continued
to do this until about ten years old, when she did not seem
tapable of the work, and I had to do it the best I could. But
A. would now do over the exercises that I had lately done.”
[R. D.; June 2, '11] “ 1T always slept with Helen until a kid
of maybe four years old. After that Helen would ‘smack’
me when I moved, so I stopped sleeping with her.” Un-
doubtedly M. was getting too active to suit the bedfellow.
For a while she slept in a large bed with the four other
youngest children! The others were surely deserving of
sympathy, crowded in with a little elf who at odd times
during the night would not sleep as young children are sup-
posed to do, but sat up and played strange games with her-
self, talked, laughed, and hammered her heels, hesides play-
ing tricks upon them. There was so tuch rebellion that M.
was relegated to some quilts on the floor by the window, ta

34, See page 181,
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her own satisfaction, and there continued to sleep for years,
One incident, with three witnesses, is of interest. [S. M.;
May, "11] “ When eight years old R. D, had never had any
white drawers, except a pair she wore to the dancing school.
She wanted some for Sunday, and her mother told her she
could have the cloth if she would make them herself. She
set to work, M. wrote her 2 note saying that she wanted to
make a pair too. After that M. would work a little while
every night, in the dark room lighted only by the electric
light in the street. She made very fine stitches and it took
her a long time, She has the pair now, here. R. D. wore
them only once, M. hid them after that, They are awfully
little things, for she was very small then”. (I wonder if
M. would let me have them to take care of.) *“I don’t know,
but shouldn’t wonder. She is liable to destroy them at any
time, as she has so many things. I wonder that she hasn't
destroyed them before this”., [M.; May, '11] (Do you
remember about those little drawers you made?) * Yes, I've
got them now. Would you like to see them? [She brought
them from somewhere.] I guess I was working six months
on them, [33] [ only made about six stitches a night. It
was when we slept on the floor. I never let the D. wear
them but once.” (Why?) *I1 wanted to keep them. Mine
were the only ones that had lace on them. We [I] got that
lace of Mrs. " [R. D.; May, '11] (I want to ask
you about some little drawers you made when a little girl.)
“ O yes, ] made three pairs when I was little”, (How old?)
“ Eight years. I had always worn blue ones, except at the
dancing school, and I told mother I wanted some white ones
for Sunday. She told me she would give me cloth for three
pairs if I would make them. And I did.” (Didn’t you make

35, M, could often remember dates correctly, or guote reliable time-
duration estimates from R. D, but when put upon her own judgment in any-
thing involving mathematical calculation, her guesses had no more value than
those of an ordinary small child, Note "six months”, "six stitches "-—six
was her favorite figure to express a small or considerable number. Her notion
of a larger number was as Likely to be expreased by “ sixteen ™ or “ sixty ™ as

anything,
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one pair when you forgot?) [36] “VYes, I did.” (How did
you come to do this?) *“I wrote myself a letter saying I
wanted to.” (When did you make it?} “ At night. It took me
two or three months, I suppose. I took small stitches, and
only did a little each night. 7 only wore them once,” (Why
not more?} “ They disappeared.” (When did you see them
again?) “I never saw them again. Why, they are not in
existence, are they?” [Her suspicions excited by my facial
expression.] {Yes. Would you like to see them?) “ Yes.”
[T showed them to her, and she looked them over with in-
terest.] “ Yes, these are the ones. I stole that lace, when 1
forgot; I really did, but the lady didn’t care.”

Never once was the night spent with any girl friend, or
elsewhere than in the parental house. This was partly be-
cause D.'s intense affection for her mother brought her back
at the earliest possible moment after her work was through,
and partly because M. was a being of routine.

Were it not for the assured veracity of the narrator, her
account of how little she slept would be incredible. [R. D.;
Nov. 27,’11] * From the time that I was about seven and a
half until T was fourteen I got up at 8.30. I was awakened
by an alarm—clock. After that I rose at from 4.30 to 6, when
Mr, F.'s work changed. I went to bed about 9.30 to 10
until I was nine, and about 11 after that, It wasn’t until 10
that T got done washing dishes at five different places, and
sometimes I cleaned the dining-room after I got home, and
I would try to get a little sight of my lessons.” (And didn’t
anyone discover what an enormity that was?) “ No, I don’t
think so.” (What did you do at 3.30?) * Made the fire and
got breakfast for Mr, F,, whose work began very early.
Then I got another breakfast for the boys. Mother rose at
a quarter of six. She formerly got up at 1, but had a sore on
her leg which caused her a great deal of trouble; that started
me getting up.” And that coupled with the fact that M.
played a part of the time while she was in bed! Only the

36. 1 tried to avoid leading questions, But at the period of this con-
versation R. D. had not yet got over her bashfulness at taiking about some of
M's doings and it was necessary to spur her on,
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demonstrated fact that each personality partially finds its rest
in the periods of the other or others, during which it is in a
manner asleep, explains the mystery of how the girl stood the
strain,

The Personalities and the Mother.

If her father was to her the great depressant, so her
mother was to D. the great stimulant in the environment of
her early life, She loved that mother with 2 devotion rarely
realized. All the more because her position in the large
family was oue of semi-isolation, on account of the strange
contrarieties of her conduct,—it cannot be determined to
what extent the other members of the family regarded her
“ off her head "—she concentrated her capacity for affection
in her mother. M. shared in the feeling, in spite of her inno-
cent wilfulness, and expressed it in more extravagant ways.
The daughter started out in the morning with caresses and
backward looks and gestures, she counted the hours until her
return, she fairly ran home at the first possible moment and
greeted the mother as though she had been gone a month.
In either personality, except in M.s pettish moods, she
watched her mother’s face, divined her thoughts and hastened
to fulfill her wishes; she feigned not to wish dainties that
she might induce her mother to eat them, she looked for-
ward to future years when she would do all the work and
keep the mother perpetually in an easy-chair, her hands
peacefully folded. And the mother’s love responded, and
she lived in the life of her youngest more than in that of any
of the remaining children.

But the mother never understood. [S. M.; Oct, 81, '11]
*“ All the marks of dual personality passed her by. She never
once suspected the truth. Though familiar with the fact that
D. sat up in bed, wrote, talked, went through pantomine imi-
tations, etc., it was because it was D,, and D. had odd ways.
She sometimes watched D. for a half hour or so at night, saw
and heard all, saw M. make her way through a room with her
eyes shut and supposed that she was awake and keeping her
eyes shut purposely.” She had early occasion to learn how
*odd " her daughter was. Affectionate as M. was, her
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nature drew certain lines which not even the mother could
cross with impunity. Mrs. Fischer soon learned the lesson
that she must not persevere in insisting upon her own author-
ity when a certain look came into her daughter’s face, (See
p. 163) and she respected it very carefully. At the age of 13
M. made R, D. leave school for six weeks, and one of the
teachers came to see the mother, who replied to her “I
haven’t anything to do with it; she does as she pleases.” [S.
D.; 1911] “D. used to wish her mother would say posi-
tively, ‘ No!’, forbidding her to do things, as other girls’
mothers did. But she never would.” §. D. appeared to
think this strange, but considering how apt M. was to flash
out and assert herself, it is not. M, always insisted on having
a drawer of her own; at first she had it up-stairs, afterward in
the mother’s room. [R. D.; Nav. 30, ’11] *“ Mother did not
allow the children to go to her room, but Phase A did. The
way A, got the drawer there was this. Ihad [as A.] a drawer
in Helen's bureau. But someone stole some money from her
bureau and at the same time some things were missing from
my drawer, so I [M.] lay down and kicked and yelled.
Mother said she would give me something to replace what
had lost, but I wanted my own things. To pacily me mother
said she would give me a drawer in her room that no one was
allowed to visit. After that all was quiet. [ heard someone
telling what had happened after I came.” M. had her mis-
chievous moods when she teased her mother, [M.; June 27,
'11]  “ When I was a little gir] mor'r was washing clothes.
I got mad with mor’r and threw sings at her.” " (What
things?) “ O, potatoes and wet socks and sings. And she
chased me and I runned under one end of the table and out
the other and she after me, and she caught me and I skipped
and the D, came time enough to hear the mor'r say ‘ I'll whip
you till your nose bleeds’. And the D. was crying and she
said ‘I believe you would be just mean enough’, and the
mor'r laughed. She was just talking. She never did whip.”
[R. D.; Dec. 7, '11] “The A Phase often spat at people
when angry. Sometimes when vexed at mother she would
turn her back and spit. Once she did spit at her. Helen saw
it and scolded and I came. I said I didn’t do it, and wouldn’t
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do such a thing. Mother admitted that I did it, and I began
to cry. Then mother comforted me with some little fib.”
But M. was nearly always demonstrative in her affection to
the mother. [Ib.] * Phase A would often bring some rag
and tie it around her neck, Mother would permit it, and
would sometimes wear the rag an entire day. A, also liked
to iix mother’s hair, Mother was always made nervous by
anyone fussing about her head, but would sit with her fists
clenched until A. was through.” M. hated Aunt Maria be-
cause [M.; Sept. 28, 'i1] " she used to come and make our
mother wait on her. . . . And one day she told our
mother that she ought to keep the house picked up better,
and—and 7 said * Perhaps if you had a drunken husband you
couldn't do any better’, and she didn’t like it, and she said to
our mother that she guessed that we ought to be put into a
home where we could be brought up right—that’s what she
said. And once she came when the D. was workin'—she was
cleanin’ up the stove—and she liked us better then, and she
asked if we wouldn't come and see her, 'n—'n then [ came,
and 1 said, ‘ No, we ain’t goin’ to your house to do your house-
cleanin’.” That’s what [ said.” One night when D. was
about 15 years old, and was working for Mrs. M., of whom
she was fond, M. was as usual writing and talking at intervals,
and used Mrs. M.'s name many times, coupled with terms of
endearment. [M.; June 22, '11] * The mother heard us,
and next day she said to the D., * You must love Mrs. M. a
good deal more than me. You said her name more than a
hundred times last night.” And the D. she didn’t know that
she had said it once, and she tried to comfort mother, and told
her that she loved her more than anybody. And I wanted
to make it all right, so next night I said mother’s name as
many times as I had Mrs. M.’s. [ would say, ‘O you dear
mother! O you lovely mother’ Her room opened right out
of ours, and I guess she must have heard us, for she never
said anything more.”

No feature of the relations of Mrs. Fischer with her
youngest child is of more interest to our inquiry than their
practice of * imagining ” together. Out of many notes which
I find on the subject none are more descriptive than some
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which record a late utterance by M. [July 27, '13] “The
mor’r and | would 'magine things. She was good at sposin’
things. She would say ‘ Sposin’ we took a boat and went
way down the river’. And [ would say ‘ Sposin’ we do’.
And she would say ‘ And sposin’ we came to a beautiful
island, where there is lots of pretty flowers and trees’. And
I would say ‘ Sposin’.’ And she would say, * And sposin’ we
had nice silk dresses on and there was a splendid house, with
nice furniture and O-o- such nice things to eat, on the island,
where we could go and stay just as long as we wanted to!”’
And I would say, ‘ Sposin’ we could’. And she would say,
‘ And sposin’ a nice, handsome gentleman came—’, but I
would say, ‘ No, I don't want any gentleman, leave him out’.”
M. wanted her mother all to herself, Poor Mrs. Fischer
dreamed awake, and her dreams were “the fulfilment of
wishes ”. She loved pretty things, houses, furniture, cloth-
ing, and she could have them no other way than by
“ sposin’ ”; sometimes her ideal of a gallant, kind and honor-
able husband, thwarted in reality, expressed itself in these
day-dreams. Whoso can smile, let him indulge his common-
place soul. S. M. added that both M. and R. D. shared these
“ sposin’ 7 exercises, but that M, was less fertile in invention,
when it came to her turn, her “sposins’” were more ele-
mentary and stereotyped. Also that after D. (either as R.
D. or M.} had returned from school, she and her mother
would often relate to each other what they had " pretended ”
during the day; and even when others were about they would
keep up the game by making signs of secret understanding
with eyes and mouth. I wish that a stenographer could have
taken down M.'s story of Nov. §th, exactly as she told it. It
appears that every spring Mrs. Fischer planted the seeds of
Sweet William. It was always M. who was summoned by
this, because it was the signal for the mother to say, *“ Now,
when they come up we will go on a vacation”, And M,,
knowing what that meant, would watch the earth with great
impatience, and when the first green emerged would shout
for joy. Then, when the two were left alone, Mrs. F. would
begin to imagine, aloud, with M.’s help. They would start
from home, sail down the river, go to balls and receptions, be
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dressed in lovely clothes, every detail of which would be dis-
cussed and decided upon. The mother would have a hand-
some cavalier, but M., being too young, was not allowed to
have one—though sometimes she would mischievously steal
him away and even banish him from the company. The va-
cation was supposed to last a week, though the imagining
really occupied part of one day. M. never permitted R. D,
to come while it was going on, or, if she could not help it,
would arrange to have R. D. make some excuse to go away
for a little while to give herself a chance to come back for the
resumption of the play,

All this I derived from M.’s broken but vivacious speech,
*Once,” she added, “ I dugged up the seed to see if it was
growin’, and the mor’r said that I had killed it, so I cried and
cried, so the mor'r wet the sced and planted it, and it came
up, and I never dugged it up again.” A few days afterward
I asked R. D. to tell me all she remembered relative to the
fAower Sweet William. She dived into her memory and
brought out the following facts. Every year Phase A went
and brought home the seed from the cemetery, Every
spring her mother planted it. Phase A was very eager, she
[R. D.] did not know why, for it to come up—she knew this
becatise her brothers and sister twitted her when she was
there, for “ yelling ” about it. A. even wanted to sow the
plant in winter. Once she herself came to find herself down
in the dirt crying, and gleaned that it was because she had
flug up the seed. Her mother was very fond of Sweet Wil-
liam. She wore it on her wedding day, vet R. D. thinks it
was not on that account that she cherished it, but because
she associated it with her beautiful childhood home. R. D.
was told of M.’s story, and evinced no knowledge of the
* sposin’ " game associated with the flower, in which she [R.
D.] never took part.

Of course Mrs. Fischer was all innocent of suspicion that
she, by indulging her daughter in these charming exploits of
the imagination, was powerfully stimulating an already dan-
gerously-active innate tendency to live in an unreal world.

The Play and Amusements of Real Doris and Margaret.
[R. D.; June 2, '11] * Before I can remember, my prin-
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cipal play, mother told me, was trying to draw, and washing
clothes, I was very fond of washing clothes—rags, any-
thing—in 2 basin; I would rinse them and hang them out to
dry. Mother said I would keep quiet a whole day long that
way. [ played very little with other babies, I have heen told.
Anything mother did I imitated. If she was baking, I would
pretend to bake, would take what was left in the egg-shells
and mix it up; if she was sewing I would sew. But I did this
after I can remember, too.” [R. D.; Aug. 9, '18] She re-
members well, among her first recollections, how she talked
and played with Phase A. The latter (M.) would talk, using
the lips, and then R, D. would use them to reply, and thus
they kept up long conversations, This was when she was as
young as 5 and 6. Of course, when the voice was M.’s, R. D.
had no volition in its production, and had no more idea what
would be said than if listening to a person otherwise em-
bodied. She had a vague notion at the time of her first
memories, that the other was her sister. They did not talk
aloud to each other except when alone, but the will to take
this precaution was not R. D.'s, but proceeded from M. She
herself would start to say something to M. and would get
slapped in the face and cry; then her mother would say, * You
goose, to slap yourself and cry over it!” Ii others saw the
slapping they would be amused, thinking it an odd way of
showing off. At length R. D. learned never to address M.
aloud when others were around. [M.; Aug. 24,'13] When
D. was a little girl, often, when Mrs. F, gave M, something to
eat she would put it away until R. D. came, then say to the
latter, “ T have a surprise for you,” R, D, would ask, “ What
isit?"” M. would tell her what and where it was and R. D.
would scamper to get it, but just as she had it in her hands
M. would come and gobble it down. Finally R. D. thought
she would play tit for tat, forgetting that M. was watching
underneath, conscious of the plan. So when R, D, said, “I
have a surprise for yor,” and M. asked where it was and R. D.
told her, M. retorted, " No, it isn’t, I have eaten it up
already!” And so she had, at a moment when R. D, had
“ forgotten.” [R. D.; Nov. 80,’11] “ As A T was not fond
of playing with other children; I guess I had too good a time
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playing with myself.”” [M.; Feb. 13, ’'12] “ Miss McK. (a
rich lady who had a kindergarten class at her house) liked us.
She said we were a little actress. We were willing to play
the turkey, or goose, or anything. We didn't care. When
the R. D. would come, she didn’t understand why she
changed so. She would ask ‘ Don't you feel well?’ And the
D. would say, why yes, she felt all right. [37]. Once Miss
McK. asked me what [ did. And I told her that after school
we washed dishes at three houses, where they left the break-
fast and lunch and dinner dishes for us to wash. And she
said, ‘ Poor child!’ And I yelled, ‘ Shut up!’ And she
talked to me and said it was not pretty to say that.” [R. D.:
Nov. 27,'11] “There were weeks when I lived as it were in
a dream, entirely in imagination—they were the happiest I
ever spent. This was when I was myself, but I continued the
dream when I forgot. I think this because in those days [
would forget only a few minutes at a time and when I was

37. Once, indeed, R. D. ventured to approach the subject in conversation
with her mother, " Sometimes [ forget ", she hinted. . But the mother replied
innocently, “ Well, everyona does that”, and the attempt was given up.
[R. I.; Oct. 6, '11.] “The only person who ever said anything 1o me about
my peculiarity was a girl, Helena 8., whose mother was a medium living
next door to my teacher, Mias M. She is now a medium herself, in New
York I think, She szid to me one day, * You are not like other girls. You are
not always yourself.! 1 was very angry, and continued to dislike her, both
when [ was myself and when I forgot. She took pains to try and talk with
me, and I would run off, Once I spat in her facc when I forgot, and when [
came she was wiping her face. [ was embarrassed, but she said, ‘T don't
mind; | know it wasn't you' And | got mad again. She tried to get
acquainted with me, and brought me fruit, etc I took it myseli, but Phase A
threw it at her., She would tell me afterward that she knew it wasn't me.
I was afraid she would tell the teacher, (She showed more discernment than
anyone else.) More than my own mother, who never suspected the truth to
the day of her death.”

Sometimes R. D, would play the turkey, but M. zlways came to take the
part of the duck () was 2 good duck ™), and put so much more animation
in her acting that once Miss McK, asked R. D, “ Don't you have moods?” R.
D. was in terror lest her secret was discovered and stammered “1 don't know
her " in her confusion. The teacher replied, “ 1 don’t mean a person: I mean
that you are different sometimes than others.” R. D, went home and told
her mother, the latter laughed, and the girl froze into silence, fearing that
the mother suspected,
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back the dream would be advanced just enough for a few
minutes to cover. I would imagine that I was living in a
beautiful place, in a splendid house, and I would go around
handling objects and pretending that they were the lovely
things which I saw in the house I was imagining. I did this
as far back as I can remember, and mother told me that I
used to earlier than that. Sometimes I would go on for
weeks, living in the same house, with different experiences
every day.” [38] [R. D.; Nov. 3, '11] “I would take no-
tions in those days; a notion would hold for 2 while, then 1
would give it up for another. As long as the notion lasted T
would want to do that thing continually. If I had been an
earl's or king’s daughter I couldn’t have had more nerve, in
those days. There was a time—I don’t know how old I was,
not ten—when I took 2 notion to roll tin cans around the
square. I always had six, and rolled them one at a time,
This was when 1 forgot. [ knew, because [ would come and
find myself rolling them. I think that when I rolled I talked,
because mother told me I ought not to talk se much on the
street. ‘The cans I kept in a closet. Trixie was going to
throw them out, but mother had had experience in touching
things that belonged to A. and she prevented it.” S. M,
could give no more data about the can-rolling, but M. in-
formed me that she had read a story of a hospital nurse who
took out six children to walk every day. M, pretended that
she was doing the same and assigned to each can the name of
one of the children in the story, and talked to them as a
mother or nurse should, all the while she was conducting
them around the square. “ You have read that book since
we came over here. (Mrs, Wiggs of the Cabbage Patch?)
Yes. [39] 'There was Belinda and Edna and Edith, and

38, Again, while reading a story, she would group descriptive and narra-
tive imaginings around, say the heroine, until the printed text would become
a mere stream running through the meadow of her invention. Or she would
imagine adventures at variance with those of the story, until the conclusion
which her imagination supplied would be gquite different {from the printed one.
This habit still persisted when I came to know her, and was checked ogly by
degrees,

39. The book referred to cannot be *“ Mrs. Wiggs of the Cahbage Patch™
though there are several children and a young lady friend in that story.
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more—I don’t remember their names.” [R. D,; Nov. 3, '11]
“ After the can-rolling period came a period of imitating
someone crying aloud. There was a mound back of the Row,
with a ring of pansies around it and white-washed stones
around that. A castor-oil bean had been in the center. I
wonld forget, then go out and sit where the plant used to be,
with my feet on the stones, and commence to pretend to cry.
At first the neighbors came to see what was the matter. I
was very much disgusted, and would say, ' I am only pretend-
ing’, and they stopped coming. I dou't know whom I imi-
tated, or what started it. This period must have lasted two
weeks,  Another period—1I don’t know whether it came after
or before—I got a notion of sitting on the stairs and singing
while the rest were eating. That was myself, but Phase A
must have liked it, for I got a note from her that showed it.
The family didn't enjoy it so much. The boys would yell,
‘Oh, shut up!’ It was hymns I sang, always. This didn't
last long—they would have murdered me if I had kept on, it
must have been very irritating.”

[Nov. 24] When she had the singing spell it was at sup-
per time that she began, and she felt bound to keep it up a
set time, ten minutes she thinks., Mr. F. went to bed a little
before the time of closing, and used to throw his shoes down
the stairs at her; she would dodge them and go on singing at
the top of her voice. Other members of the family would
stick their heads in and yel for her to stop or give her a clout,
but it did no good, unless she was forcibly hauled away. She
always sang sitting on the lowest step. She thinks she may
have been 8 years old at this time,

“For a good while—I don't know when it came, but it
lasted for months—I would take mother’s black shawl, drape
it around my head, and go out into 2 nook back of an out-
building, sit on the ground behind an ash-barrel, and weep—
shed real tears, too—for my dead husband. I don't know
where 1 got the notion [this was A.], we had no widows
around there. I learned this from mother, 1 never did it
myself,” [M.; Nov. 4] M. stated, with many piggles, that
she was imitating 2 Jewish widow whom R. D. once worked
for, a widow who “ used to holler out when she cried.”
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[Nov. 3] “I was great at pretending when I was A.
When mother was not feeling well T would say, ‘ Now just
pretend to get a doctor’. Sometimes I would come and hear
her say, * What good would it do me to pretend to have a doc-
tor’, and would be puzzled and afraid that she was getting
crazy.” [40]

M. got a good deal of satisfaction out of Jier drawer. [R.
D.; Nov, 80, "11] “ There was only trash in it, old rags, a
stocking which belonged to mother, little books that I got at
Christmas, a Bible with such little print that I couldn't read
it, and so on,” (How did you first learn to keep out of her
drawer?) “ Well, once I went to it and took out some cloth
that I thought I could use. Then A. camie and raised such a
row !—1I used in those days to accuse mother and she would
say, ‘ Why, you used it yourself’, and when / came she was
saying that. 8o I thought that I had better keep out.”
{ Didn’t you know as A, that vox had taken the cloth irom the
drawer?) “I think I couldn’t then.” (What do you know
about the A Phase knowing what you did yourseli?) “1I
knew that she knew by the notes I got. I think she always
knew except when, sometimes, she didn’t pay attention. [41]
I used to have a lot of china dolls—penny ones. They would
get an arm or leg broken, and as A. I would bury them. Then
I myself would hunt for them and would get a note telling
me where a doll was buried, and that I could find it if I
wanted to. A, was always having funerals over the broken
dolls; she had their graves all marked. Mother would say
about the funerals, ' It is an excuse you have for digging in
my garden, I want you to keep out '—when it wouldn't be |
at all. A, was fond of transplanting flowers, and would put
one over a doll, and the flower always grew, but when I trans-
planted a flower it would be sure to die. I never saw the in-
side of A.'s drawer after she had it in mother’s room, until we
moved,” [M.; Feb. 24; "13] “TI had lots of sings in my
draw’r in the mor’r’s room. When a cat died I cutted off his
tail and put it in there. The mor'r—she said, * What you

40, For M.s belief in fairies see p, 881,
41, See note 27,
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want that for? It will make my room smell bad’. 1T had
six cat tails at one time, [42] They didn’t smell ver’ good,
but / didn't care. I put camphor-balls in the draw’”. [S.
D.; Mar,, '11] D, seldom got any presents as a child. Her
mother did give her some rag-dolls which she made, and
wotld tell her what their names were, because it amused her
to see D. stamp her foot, and hear her say, “I don't want
that name ”, if it was a name she disliked. Several times she
told D. that a doll’s name was Sally, D. detested that name
and when M. came she would tear the dollup. [R. D.; Nov.
30, '11] “In the A phase I despised Christmas cards, and
tore them up, In fact, while I loved to get Christmas gifts
I did not care for them in that phase after I once got them.
It was little I got. But up to the time [ was say 12 years old
A. would gather up old things, broken dishes, rags, etc., and
spread them out upon a chair, marked with the names of the
people who were supposed to have given them, Tom, Trixie,
and so0 on, and no one was allowed to touch that chair—ihat
was her ¢ Christmas table’. [ never got any Christmas giits,
except some candy and maybe an orange from the neighbors’
trees. Oh! my friend Ella gave me a hair-ribbon every year
for about ten years, but A. always put them away in her
drawer, and that was the last of them. They accumulated
until we moved before mother died, then I got them out and
gave them away, I was too old for hair-ribbons then, I was
pleased to find some other things that I had lost—and then 1
forgot, and never saw them again. Probably that little pair
of panties that M. made was there, if T had been able to keep
on taking things out. A. packed the rest of the things.” [R.
D.; May 81, '11] “ When 13 years old I saw the only opera
I have ever attended. It was Lohengrin. A woman whom
1 worked for gave me the ticket. I cat all alone in a box,
and was not dressed at all suitably—I must have been a spec-
tacle. The play was in German, but T read it in English be-
forehand, and had the book, from the library, with me. It
affected me so I could hardly stand it. At times I laid my
head on the edge of the box and cried. My mother asked

42, See p. 193
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me about the opera, and I could not tell her, I cried so. She
said that she thought I had better stay at home.” [M.]
“The dress she wore was a checked gingham.”

Drawing and Painting,

Some early data under this head are important to set
down, not in themselves, but in relation to interesting psy-
chical phenomena which afterwards developed in the case of
S. D. {page 260), It appears that when a small child R. D,
attempted to make pictures, mixing whiting with mud in
different proportions so as to get a number of shades, and
using the board-walk for canvas. With a stick for brush
she attempted flowers, trees, animals and dolls. And even
before her recollection she would try to draw trees and flow-
ers with a pencil. [R. D.; June 2,’11] “ Mother said I did
not succeed in making what looked like flowers and trees, but
I was always saying, * flowers’, “trees’, as I tried to draw.”
[S. D.; endorsed by S. M.] At about six she was given a
five cent box of paints. With these she tinted dolls which
she made of paper, She made doll-houses from peach-boxes,
and painted them; and parlor and bedroom sets out of card-
board, and painted roses and sweet-peas on them. [R. D.;
Nov. 30, '11] “1I used to have peach-boxes for doll-houses,
which I would fix up by painting a border of flowers around
it. I would make a doll-house of this kind for another girl,
and she would lend me part of her dolls to play with.” [S.
D.; Feb, "11] *“ When 1 was about nine years old [43] a
teacher gave each of her class a sheet of paper with the head-
ing * My Symphony’, 2 verse and the outline of some flower.
These were to be tinted. I complained that I could not do it.
The teacher showed me how to take a brush full of paint and
draw it across the flower. But I said, ‘T can’t do that slop-
work .  We were both angry by this time. At last | said,
*Let me have a sheet of paper and [ will make my own
symphony’. ‘The teacher at last allowed me, and I made the
flowers and leaves and shaded them the way I thought right,

43. Swmce I had not yet discovered that S, D, was not the primary per-
somality, she is talking zs thongh R. D."s carly experiences were her own.



188 Proceedings of American Society for Psychical Research,

and painted the sentences also. I was disgruntled all the
next day, though the teacher was pleased. The work was
sent with the best of the others to an exhibition at Harris-
burg, but my piece never came back. All the others got
theirs back.” [S. M.; Aug. 12, '11] “ What 5. D, told you
was true in the main. Of course she got it from M. The
R. D. could paint roses and some wild flowers, well, but she
had no extraordinary skill in painting. And R. D.’s work
was not the only sample that did not come back.” R. D,
however, had a strong desire to learn painting, but never
was able to take lessons. Her mother seemed prejudiced
against it.

Dancing.

This, too, deserves mention because of after relations, Tt
is a curious fact that Mrs, F. sent her daughter to 2 dancing
school every year from the time she was five until she was
twelve years old. In spite of the puritanical scruples of her
father, Mrs, F. had managed to learn to dance when she was
a girl, and took pride in the skill that D. soon developed.
The child herself enjoyed it, and probably M. was partly re-
sponsible for the assiduity with which the practice was kept
up. Her mother repeatedly enjoined upon her that she must
never dance for money, and she always left the school before
10 p. m.  Up to the time she was 17 she was very small and
skinny, and no boy asked to accompany her home, since she
was regarded as a kid. 5. D,, mystified by M.’s romancing,
could not understand how the expenses were paid. [S. D.;
Mar., '11]  “It is a mystery to me how the mother did it.
It cost ten dollars a quarter. 1t not only cost for the lessons.
but also for the costumes, and we could never afford it.
What she wanted me to learn all those fancy dances for, 1
don’t see. It seems so foolish.” But R. D. at least partly
solved the mystery in a casual conversation long afterward.
[Aug. 12, '13]. Every year she got a scholarship prize at
the exhibition for her skill in dancing, and this paid the
tuition. The slippers were given her by well-to-do girls who
had outgrown them, M. got the money for the costumes out
of people by skillful cajolery. She would say, of an evening
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when washing dishes, “ Would you as soon give me the
money that supper would cost, and let me go without supper?
I want to buy a dress.,” And people would give her money,
pitying her, When this conduct came to R, D.'s ears she
was not pleased, but was helpless. M, always came to dance
the toe and skirt dances, R. D. did the rest, Habitually for
years R. D. would, after her evening work out was done,
dance about half an hour for the denizens of the Row, in the
back yard or in one of the houses, according to the season.

At School.

[R. B.; Aug. 9, '13]) She began to go to school shortly
before her sixth birthday. She had a very hard time during
the first two years, especially, The long sitting still, to
which she was unaccustomed, the lack of variety, bored M,
exceedingly, and she would from beneath so worry R. D.
with complaints that it was hard to study. M. would say
in R. D.'s mind over and over, “ Come on! Let's go out!”
R. D. remembers the teasing of M. and the trouble that she
had in studying, more than the annoyance that she gave her
teachers at this age, but remembers hearing her mother talk
about the latter and that the mother once said that if her
daughter had to be treated like that she would take her out of
school.  But at last M, seemed to understand that R, D.
could not help the conditions of schooling, at least she let
her alone more. Still, there continued to be difficulties
enough, as the incidents to follow ilustrate. If the girl had
not felt that she must work alfter hours, to eke out her
mother’s scanty resources, her nervous energy would not
have been so much taxed, and she would have been able to
maintain her own personality better, [R. D.; Dec. 13, '11]
“ In school I never forgot during prayer, did sometimes dur-
ing singing, but not much—I liked that. 1 hadn’t time to
study spelling any other time, so did it during reading of the
Bible and prayer.” [S. D.; Feb, '11] But once during
prayers D. and her friend Ella were reading a story, When
the teacher had finished she told D. to tell her as much as she
could of the chapter read. She hadn’t the slightest idea
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what had been read, so she made a dash and recited the 3d
chapter of John. [S M. “It was R, D. at first, then M.
came and did the reciting.”] Everybody looked astonished.
The teacher said nothing, but later told D. and Ellz to stay
after school, [S. M. “It was R. D, now.””] After school
the teacher asked, " Were you listening?” And D. an-
swered, “ Sure, or how could I have got it right.” But she
had not read that chapter at all, [S. M. “R. D. was
frightened, and M. came and made the answer. Then M.
cajoled the teacher until she got her smiling.”] This “ cajol-
ing ¥’ was characteristic of M., When R, D. was the one to
be frightened away, and M. had to face the possibility of pun-
ishment, she employed all her arts—and she was and con-
tinued in after years to be, 2 most ingratiating, winsome little
witch, who could make the grimmest face relax. Among
school studies those which R. D. liked least were history,
geography and spelling, the two former probably because of
the utterly lifeless manner in which they were taught. Her
favorite studies were grammar, arithinetic and physiology.
She especially liked conjugating. {44] [R. D.; Dec. 15, "11]
“The A Phase didn’t like anything in the school line but con-
jugating—O, she liked writing, too. Often A, would say ‘we’
for I, and the teacher would say, * Sit down ’, for that was the
rule after 2 blunder; then she [A.] would shout, * We didn't
mean that. When we say we, we mean I” Then often I
would come, for A. would get mad and go when corrected,
and I would hear the scholars say, ‘ That isn’t so, she only
wants to go on’, for they wanted to take my place in conju-
gating. Or I would hear the teacher say, I can’t tell what
you mean, I can only tell what you say.’ 1 didn’t like writing
very well, it was the same thing over and over. [ would get

44, It is intesesting to compare the statements of S. D. made before the
fact that she was not the true persen, but a late~comer who had no memory
of her own of events prior to 1906, had been discovered. Her knowledge was
derived from anecdotes related to her by M., and was partly inferential only
and Liable to be mistaken, “I don’t remember what studies I did like I
didn't like spelling; could spefl if the teacher gave out the words as they
came in the book, but not if she mixed them up. I hated history—preferred
dreaming and flying sround. I liked arithmetic about the best, T guess.”
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tired and leave the most of that to A.” [R. D.; Sept. 30, "11]
“ When I was little and learning the alphabet in school, 1
would never in the A Phase name the letter P. I don’t know
why that was, but suppose there must have been some reason,
The teacher thought I forgot it, and would make me say the
alphabet over, but I always left that out,” This incident
was told casually, and evidently without the slightest sus-
picion of its meaning., But M., when questioned, explained
gravely, “ 1 wouldn’t say it because it wasn’t pretty.” [M.;
Nov. 19, '11] * I used to ’pell * Mississippi’ in school * M i
two ss i two ss i two ps L' The teacher scolded us for that.™
[M.; Apr. 30, '11] " Once I came out in physiology lesson
just as teacher asked, ' What is it that makes your mouth
water’, and went in again, Of course I knew that thinkin’
you are goin’ to get something nice to eat makes your mouth
water, but of course it wouldn’t do to say that, so I got out
in a hurry.,” [M.; Sept. 4, "11]  “1 made the D. get 100
once anyway; she ought to grateful and not kick me out
now [joking allusion to the process of improvement]. It
was at an examination on history. ‘The principal asked her
to describe the battle of Baltimore. [45] They had always
made the class say what was in the history-book, but all of 2
sudden they thought it would be nice for the scholars to say
it in their own words, That's what the D. tried to do; but
she had got so used to memorizing that she couldn’t do any-
thing else. So when he said, ‘ Tell it in your own words "’
she couldn’t, and then I came and told it so well that she got
a hundred.” (How did you tell it?) “T told how they”
threw the stones right and left, and G-0-0! some went right
through the car windows, and O-0-0-0! there was one man
who got hit right on the head, and—and 1 went right on that
way. I knew about how it went, but [ imagined things as [
went along. And Mr. C said I told it so well he felt
s’though he'd been hit by 2 stone, Everybody laughed, and
afterwards when they met us the scholars would say
* 0-0-0-0-0! don’t get hit!’ and ‘' O-0-0-0! look out for the

45. The reference is to the Baltimore riots during the passage of the
Union troops, April 19, 1861,
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stones!’ And the D, couldn't understand it, and she went
home and told the mother that everybody was saying
* O-0-0-0!"' at her, making fun of her. She got out from Ella
about it afterward.” There were twa periods of a year or
more when M. insisted that her name was not Doris but
Luella. Several old copy-books still extant are so marked in
the writing of teachers. At first this led to confusion, as D.
still declared that her name was unchanged, but at length
she surrendered. M. perpetrated endless tricks and left R.
D. to bear the blame. [R. D.; Sept. 2, '11] * All the kids
used to stand in the alley and call out to the principal of the
school, ‘ Snyder, Snyder, billy-goat rider!’ but took pains
that he should not hear. They got A. to do the same,
pretending he had heard them. The next morning she must
have done so, for he took me to the office and told his assist-
ant to call in the policeman when he passed, that he had a
little girl for him. Then I got scared and cried, and said I
would never say it again (he had repeated what I said}, so he
told the assistant he need not call in the policeman. He
asked me again if I would ever say it, and A. came and said
that she would. He repeated the threat, and I came and said
I would never say it. ‘ But you just said you would.' ‘No, I
never did; I'll never say it again,” and I cried and cried. ‘Well,
he said, ' we won't mind about sending for a policeman now.’
I knew that I was forgetting, and I said, ‘ Let me go and I'll
never say it again’ 1 went home and told mother, and she
comforted me and told me the principal was only scaring me.
I was about eight then. When 1 was thirteen Mr. Snyder
came back and gave a lecture. He named from the platiorm
the scholars whom he knew, and said, ‘ And I remember
Doris Fischer’. My name was Luella then, and the teachers
looked queer. Just as he said that Phase A came and said
“A-a-a-al 1 ain’t afraid of yon. You didn’t send for the
policeman after all, did you!” Then I came again and every-
body was laughing. And then he told the policeman story.
I was awfully mortified, and could not see why he toid it.
But that night Ella asked me, * What did you holler out that
way for?’ And I got her to repeat the story.”

One of M.’s stories is very expressive of her literal under-
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standiog of remarks made to her, which continued to be char-
acteristic. [M.; Sept. 29, '11, and at other times] One
day Miss B., a teacher, took the class to visit a factory where
soap and chewing-gum were manufactured. The rest were
well-dressed, M. was in her gown made of sugar-bags. There
was some joking in the office about the gum [S. M. * Es-
pecially with M,, as she was so funny”,] and the man-
ager said, “ We need lots of dead dogs, can't you bring
one?” A day or two after this M. found a dead dog on the
river-bank, and, mindful of the manager’s request, wrapped
a paper around it, put it in a basket, and boarded a car for the
factory., [S. M. “ She did this in perfect good faith, not see-
ing any humor in it until she told others and they laughed.”]
The passengers began to sniff, and one said, * Somebhody's
got some limburger cheese,” M. spoke up, “ No, it isn't
limburger cheese, it's a dead dog I've got.” * Dead dog!”
the conductor yelled, " Get out of this with your dead dog.”
M. continued the story, *“ And I got off and walked, and 1
didn’t get my nickel back.” Arrived at the factory, she took
the dog by the paper about its legs, carried it into the office
and laid it on the manager’'s desk, saying, * I've brought you
a dog to make gum of.” The manager took one look and
sniff and shouted, * Take that damned dog out of here, I've
just eaten my dinner.” He sputtered and swore for a man to
take the dog away as M. took to her heels, but it smelt so
that he could not wait, and he grabbed and threw it out of
the door. “ 1 looked back,” said M., *“ and saw the dog com-
ing, and T ran harder. 1 don’t think it was ver’ polite of the
man, when I had to pay ten cents to bring him the dog, Any-
way, he asked me to. [ told the teacher, and she laughed like
ever'thing.”

[R. D.; Sept. 8, '11] “ Miss X., one of the teachers, was
very fat. Quite often her young man called at the school-
house on Thursday afternoon. She waddled along with him
like a duck. Once when they had stepped out A. got up and
said, ‘I'll give you an imitation of Miss X. meeting her
feller’, and she rolled up her skirt to make hips, and then imi-
tated Miss X.’s walk, grin and gurgle. Suddenly the teacher
came in, and saw it, and Phase A didn't know she was there
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until her beau gave a great ha-ha, Then 1 came, and she
was mad with me, and she was mad with the fellow and told
him to get out. She then said, ‘ If Miss Luella is through
with her monkey-work, she can sit down.’ [ didn’t know
what I had done. It would make them laugh all the more
when T would come and look so innocent and ask them what
they were laughing at, they thought that was part of the
game. Next day I said to Ella, * Wasn't that funny, what
did yesterday?’ 1 said that to get her to talking and telling
how funny it looked. I could always get the whole story in
some such way as that. Miss X.'s beau never came back, 1
never heard such a haw-haw as he gave.” [R. D.; Sept. 2,
'11] “When 1 was about thirteen Miss X. ordered me to
draw a line around Ella’s foot for her to stand in as a punish-
ment. [ was A, then and didn't see why I should do it, and
wouldn’t. She sent me up to Miss M. and told me to say
what for, which I did. Miss M. said ‘I don't see what she
sent you up to me for, I don’t want you." A. began to cry,
and said, ‘I thought you liked me’ [46] When I came I
was hugging her: and she kept me helping her all the after-
noon, 'This was the beginning of Miss M.,’s becoming at-
tached to me.”

[R. D.: Sept. 3, '11] “ I never got a perfect mark for con-
duct. At the end of the day the teacher would say, * All who
haven’t whispered all day rise.” Tt was very unfair. Some
would lie. But I never knew what I might have done when
I forgot, so I would not rise. One month Miss M. put me
at her desk. [ liked it, but when I forgot I hated it and
would scowl, and after school, when she had asked me to stay
and help her, I would growl all the time—grumble ahout
sitting up there. She said [ was the most unpleasant girl she
ever saw that month. I forpot that month more than usual,
hut did nothing that was ont of the way except to sit and
scowl. When T got only 25 for conduct mother would say,
' You must act awfully,” and T would answer, ' No T don’t, I
don’t know why I get such marks’ But when I forgot I

46, Had it been R D. slie would probably not have said anything, but
gone away and cried sileatly.
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would say, ‘ The teacher has a spite against me.! 1 know
that because mother sometimes referred to the teacher's
spite against me, and I would reply, ' She hasn’t any spite!”’
Of course mother would defend herself, * You said she had.'
I had to study very hard to keep up the average of my
marks.” [R. D.; Jan, 19, '18] “ Phase A would often cry out
in school, * I don’t approve of that,' * I don’t believe that; I'm
not dumb,” ‘ That never happened,’ etc., particularly when
the Bible was read. I wonder that she did not get more
punishments, considering that she would yap right out what-
ever she pleased. Of course when she was going to be pun-
ished she went under, and I got it.” [R. D.; Nov. 23, "13]
One teacher told her scholars to look over “ Abou Ben Ad-
hem ™ and then write it out as she read it and punctuate it.
Next day Ella and M. went to the library and arranged some
sort of a skeleton scheme from which they could copy the
punctuation, But when the dictation took place R. D. was the
one on deck; she knew nothing about the scheme, and made a
lot of mistakes. Ella’s exercise was perfect, the teacher sus-
pected her and got her to confess what she and her friend had
done. R. D., however, not thinking that M. might have done
it, denied participation. Her mistakes made the teacher be-
lieve her and accuse Ella of lying, while Ella said that D. lied.
Ella used sometimes to say, “ I don’t see why it is necessary
for you to tell guite so big lies.” The habit of day-dreaming
increased the difficulties of school life. Sometimes the girl
would be asked a question, and answer with reference to a
vision which she was at the moment picturing, and there
would be laughter on the part of the pupils, and rebukes from
the teacher. As time went on M. came out more, especizlly
in the last year. [R. D.; July 2§, ‘131 " I suppose this was
because I was getting worn with studying and sitting so
much, together with working mornings and nights. Phase
A did not like the teacher in the last room, and when she was
there would not study, but sat there sullenly. This surprised
the teacher, who had heard from the last teacher how well 1
did my work. Then when I came T would feel depressed,
because of the way that A, had felt,” She was not fourteen
when she passed the examinations for High School, the next



196  Proceedings of American Society for Psyrhical Rescarch,

to the youngest of a class of fifty-two, most of whom were
seventeen to nineteen. But she never got-her graduation
diploma. She wanted to go to the High School but M. was
in deadly opposition to this plan, desiring to be out in the air
more and to have more opportunity for play. “ Whenever 1
started to go after my diploma M. would be afraid that 1 was
going to school again, and come out. She would not ac-
cept any assurance, but was suspicious that I was fooling
her,” [47]

Such of the copy-books as remain,—the rest were torn up
by M. in one of her destructive moods,—form rather an inter-
esting exhibit. All were written by M., who was fond of
writing, except No. 7. In that grade, either because * the in-
fluence of the teacher was good,” according to R. D.’s expla-
nation, or because “the exercises were chiefly poems chosen
by the scholar herself and memorized "—M. did not appreci-
ate poetry or like to memorize it, while R. D. did—it would be
R. D, who would come and do the writing. [R. D.; July 28,
’13] In the 8th grade M. was getting impatient, thinking
she could write well enough, and there is evidence of this in
the disordered state of the book. On one page she began to
write a poem, and got as far as the title, but poems were not
called for in this grade, and the teacher stopped her. Book
2 begins with a silver star on each page and occasionally a
gilt one, but presently the stars are all gilt and red. The
explanation of this change is that each silver star meant " ex-
cellent ", four silver stars won a gilt one, and four gilt stars
a red one, and M., comprehending the scheme by degrees, in-
sisted at first on a star for every leaf, whether or no, and
later was not satisfied with anything less than a gold one.
If thwarted she cried and made such a terrible touse that the

47, R. D. could hardly be expected o understand fully the reasons for
M.'s opposition to her going to fetch the diploma. It probably was not that M.
suspected that R. I). was fooling her, but rather that M. thought that
R. D. was fooling herself. M. knew that R. D. in her heart wanted to go to
the High School, that in spite of R. D.s assurance that she just wanted to
get the diploma, that desire still Iay repressed beneath. She could not be

. admitted without the document, and M, disliked the idea of further schooling
so that she would not permit the first step in the direction of it
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teacher gave in. However, she would tell M, that she was
not putting the stars in because she deserved it. Of the five
books that remain, four contain the name * Luella ', and only
one * Doris ",

Working Out for Wages.

The most important fact in this connection has already
been cited, namely, that nearly all her school years D. was
not only working for wages during vacation but also working
mornings and evenings while the school was in session.  She
would run errands in the morning and after school, and in
the evening wash dishes which had been allowed to accumu-
late all day for her, at ten cents a family. She began when
seven years old, first going to women and saying, “ I'll work
a week for nothing, so that you can see if you want me.,” 1t
is only fair to say that they paid her for the first week as well.
Even at that early age her evening work began at 6.30 and
often did not cease before 10.00, for she washed dishes for
four or five families. As the years went on this work con
tinued, with variations, such as nursing babies, doing work
after school in a pickle factory, etc. During vacations she
did house work, worked all day in the pickle factory, in the
laundry, as nurse girl, or at whatever else she could find to do.
All this draft upon her energies, of physical and mental effort.
coupled with the loss of sleep, already noted, because of M.’s
night activities, makes remarkable the fact that she continued
to maintain, apart from the dissociation, apparently good
health. But doubtless the foundation was being laid for the
second catastrophe, the new * mental fissure ” of 1906.

Now for some incidents of these early labors. [R. D.;
Sept. 13, "11] “ When 1 was about ten I worked after school
in the old Fort Potts Hotel, keeping things picked up in the
parlor, answering inquiries, etc. [ worked from 6 p. m. to
midnight, with an hour off for lunch, which I didn’t take. 1
would go up to a man and say, ‘ I will press your pants for a
quarter.” He could get it done at a tailor's for ten cents, but
it would tickle him that I was so bold as to ask a quarter, |
had more trousers to press than [ could manage. 1 could do
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it only in lunchtime, and could press two pairs. Once I was
pressing and the man called two more in to see me. I sup-
pose I was a comical sight, for I was so small that I had to
stand on a chair, and the iron was almost as big as myself; ]
would lift the iron up with both hands and bring it down with
a bang, then I would lift up the cloth to see if the crease was
still there. 1 would usually begin it myself, and zfter that
tome and go. When these men stood outside the door and
looked I forgot and slammed the door. Then when 1 got
done they started to tease me, and I forgot and said that if
they wanted to watch they must pay a quarter, and they said
it was worth a quarter 1 suppose, for I would come and they
would be roaring with laughter, one holding on to his stom-
ach, and another ducking his head down. I don’t know what
I did, but it must have been some sort of an exhibition that I
was giving. [48] I did not press trousers every night,—the
iron was too heavy—but about twice a week. Once when 1
forgot I wrote some sort of a little story, and I read part to a
man and it must have been amusing, for he wanted to read
the rest. I [M.] charged him a dime, and the story ended
so flat that he wanted others to get stung too. When I came
to myself I was hopping around with my foot in my hand,
pleased because I had got a dollar, 1 used to imagine stories
and tell them, acting them out, and they liked that. The
manager noticed that T didn’t like to have them tease me
(when I was myself), and used to stop them. But when I
forgot I did not like that, so he got so he didn’t bother except
to see that they didn’t tease me too much. None of them
meant any harm. The most of them were respectable, and it
was all in fun, and my fault when I forgot.” At the age of
thirteen she left school for six weeks, temporarily discour-
aged because she had so little time to study and was so pest-
ered by M., and went to work in a laundry, running a mangle.
M., glad at first to be out of school, liked the laundry work

48. Those who were admitted into the secret in after years saw many
an exhibition of M.'s imitative powers, as well as of her gifts of quaint and
witty narration. Sometimes she was indescribably droll, and kept her small
audience in uncontrollable laughter, grave doctors, men of science and clergy-
men, as they were.
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less and less, and after getting her fingers injured in the man-
gle apparently concluded that laundry was worse than school,
as she made no opposition to R. D.’s return.  Of course the
latter had a big task in making ap her studies. While in the
laundry R. D. was disgusted at the language of the other
girls, and they disliked her because she kept aloof from them.
Even M., though fond of childish mischief, had no affinity for
coarseness. After her school days were over she worked at
times as a nurse girl, and was somewhat in demand among
some wealthy families on account of her scrupulous and in-
telligent care of little ones. M., sharing the love of R. D. for
babies to the uttermost, also became skilliul in the care of
them. Finally, in her fifteenth year, she secured a place with
a dress-maker, Mrs. Maine, who had a line of fashionable
customers, to learn the trade and 2lso to make herself useful
waiting on the table and doing other household tasks from
time to time, She continued to work for this woman more or
less until the time of the second psychic shock, as 8. D. did
for some months thereafter. A part of the time she was sent
into families to sew. She sewed for the daughter of a noted
scientist, who years after became familiar with her strange
case, but did not dream of its existence at that time. In-
variably, after her work at this house was done, M. would
come, and run at break-neck speed down the steep hill that
led from his house, in her haste to get home to her mother.
Dr. Brashear would stand and watch her, and say to her
the next morning, “ Child, [ thought you would go down
every minute, If you turned a somersault you would
never know it, for you would land on your feet.” He did not
then know her name, probably, but called her “ the little girl
who does so much ”, for his daughter had told him how much
she accomplished. [48] Of course she invariahly went home

49. This celerity in turning off work remains one of her characteristics.
It was found in S, D, in abnormal degree, as will be seen; but R. D. herself
can do a surprising amount of work in a given time, and do it with surprising
case, 5, M. has sometimes cried out in an evening, ¥ do not see how she
managed to do so much today, do it so well, and with so little weariness.
She did not keep at it steadily, she stopped and played with the children or
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to her mother’s for the night, the M.-factor alone made that
imperative, [50] But it i1s doubtful if R. D, herself could
have borne to stay away from her mother over a single night,
her devotion was so dominating; and the moment that her
tasks allowed she set off for home, and it made not much
difference which it was who started out, M, or R. D,, it was
apt to he at a canter. Acquaintances would quiz her about
her haste to get home to her mother, but she little minded,
and never delayed her pace on that account. Since she al-
ways spent the night at home, and was of a singularly un-
sophisticated, unsuspicious mentality, she never learned, unti}
shortly before her mother's death, that Mrs. Maine was an
immoral woman, and then only because some one informed
her. The friendship of this woman, it proved, had been fatal
to more than one girl, but never once did she do or say any-
thing in the presence of D. to reveal her real character. Per-
haps it was that guileless confidence reposed in her, or the
magic of the alternations of moods, child-like and youthiul
hut equally untainted, which made that dlasé woman so care-
fully wear her mask before the maiden, and so cautiously hide
from her sight what might have attracted her inquiries.
When at last the girl did hear the truth in part, she could not
at first believe it. The woman, who in some ways had been
so kind, whom she had loved, and whom she had believed so
good—when at last she was convinced she went to her and
begged her to give up her evil ways, crying, with agonized
incoherence, "' Do, dear Mrs, Maine, be good. I'll take care
of you. If necessary T'll work hard and support you,” And

petted her chickens, and yet she did as much as two women would ordinarily
do in that time, unless they got very tired. And she is but a little tired, T
never siw anyone like her.”

50. Not only did R, D, have to be at home because M, always came at
night and she would not have dared to be away, but also M. could not have
borne to sleep away, and would utterly have refused, From the time that
D. came to live with us, M. never slept away from the house unless Mrs.
Prince and 1 were both in the same house with her, and in the next room,
These occasions were few, because M, was a creature of routine and it was
difficuit to persuade lier to change any of her habits, Ewven the mere changing
of the Tocation of her bed to another part of the room by R, D, was productive
of difficulties,
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she still clung to her, though one of her former teachers, who
was fond of her, begged her to give the woman up. ‘1 can-
not "', she said, for in her heart was a besetting purpcse, by
her prayers and influence to win her friend from wrongful
ways to a Christian faith and life. A wild dream and a vain
hope, it may be said, that of the child-like maid in behali of
the mature sinner, and such as the sophisticated world can
hardly understand or believe, but the manifold observed
psychical states of after years, awake and asleep, wherein
every stratum of her experience was tapped, and every ele-
ment of her pure soul brought to light, revealed how eagerly
and sincerely that angelic Quixotism was attempted.

[R. D.; June 2,'11] Though Mrs. Maine was kind to the
girl in her way, she exacted a full quota of work for the wages
she paid, with a little added for good measure. R. D. did
much of the cooking, and after becoming used to her employ-
er's customs, partly arranged the menu. But she was liable
at any time to receive directions from M. For example, after
boiled potatoes had been served at a particular meal for sev-
eral days she would find a note from M. ordering her to have
mashed potatoes. The note would always be signed “ Brid-
get "—it was not until 8. D.’s time that M. would derisively
add ** The Imp ", borrowing the term from S. D.’s exasper-
ated usage. When the mashed potatoes were served and she
sat down to eat, M. would come to partake of them. Also
when Jamb chops or steak or roast with rice and tomato sauce
came to the table, “ I never got to eat those myself . She
does not remember that she had to depart because of any
other dish; these were M.s favorites. She “forgot” at
meals an average of about three times a week, she thinks.
“ Orders ” were received only respecting mashed potatoes,
as she had nothing to say ahbout the buying of meats. These
orders she learned never to disobey. At supper there was
usually mashed potato warmed over, but then she never for-
got, since M. did not like anything warmed up from a former
meal. [M.; June 2, '11] M. had not been watching when
R. D. told her story earlier in the day, so was in ignorance
that the subject was not a fresh one, when I casually asked
her about the eating at this place. Her story corroborated
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R. D.s perfectly, but added a number of details, She said
that when there were guests R. D, hated to wait on the table,
so she would always come out.

After she got home in the evening, there would still be
much work to do, helping her mother about the household
tasks, or taking care of the sick Trixie. After the mother’s
death, S. D. would take in sewing, and work far into the
night—sometimes, when funds were low or 2 pressing task
was on hand, practically all night.

At Sunday School and Church,

Should a true story entitfed " The Kids of Rubberneck
Row ™ ever be written, the Mission which was established in
the vicinity of D.'s home, and which she attended for years.
will have a prominent place therein. There were many and
amusing incidents in connection with this Mission and its
Sunday School, in which R. D. or M, was a leading actor, but
these can be scarcely more than alluded to here. About
twenty children from the Row went to the school, and fairly
dominated it. There were scenes of confusion, the children
refusing to sing any except their favorite hymns, shouting
out their discontent when thwarted and even rising in a body
and leaving the room. There was a period when, after
having become offended, they struck, and held a conference
with R, D. standing on a flower mound in the back yard as
chairman, the subject of debate being what religion they
should adopt. They then went in turn, Sunday after Sunday,
to different halls and chapels where various eccentric types of
religion were dispensed, and joined in with the exercises and
ejaculations of the older people, with the result that they
were everywhere misunderstood, and had discouraging ad-
ventures. Won back to the Mission school and to a cam-
paign of increasing its membership, they formed a juvenile
Church Militant, went out into the highways, and meeting
children, compelled them to come in, by beating them if they
refused. M. was in all her glory in all this, she liked the ex-
citement and vartety of this type of religion. But R. D, had
her share; while genuinely religiously inclined her religious
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notions, until she was well into her teens, were of a primitive
type, and she joined heartily in the rebellions and militant
missionary campaigns. Her mother did not want her to go
to the Mission, but did not actively oppose her determination
to do so. One incident is here inserted, not so much on its
own account as because of the peculiarities of its transmis-
sion—the later personality, Sick Doris, telling it as she re-
membered it from M.'s account to her, M. having derived the
last sentences from the consciousness of R. D. and also the
fact (unintelligible to M.} that R. D. saw humor in them, S.
M. adding comments of her own. [S.D.; Feb,’11] * Once
D. got her feelings hurt in the Mission and cried [S. M. “ This
was M. who often cried in the Sunday School, not R. D.”’] and
the minister came over to see what the matter was, for it was
a serious thing; when one of the Row children left, all the rest
did. Another time the minister asked each of the scholars to
bring a new one next Sunday, and the Row children got up a
scheme in good faith, and each brought a baby sister or
brother or borrowed a baby, and so twenty babies were
brought to school the next Sunday. I'll warrant the minister
never forgot that day. The babies cried the whole time and
the noise was awful. [S. M. ‘ Some had bread and molasses,
and some were dreadfully dirty.] Sunday School usually
lasted an hour, but it was through in half an hour that day. 1
was about ten years old. When the young minister who had
the mission was going away he made a little speech and said
that he would never forget the twenty representatives from
the Row. We thought it was a compliment,” [5. M, " S. D.
repeated all this from M., but could not make it seem real to
herself. The last sentences she got from hearing R. D. tell
the story years afterward. It sounds as though M. under-
stood the humor, but she did not.”] [S. D.; Feb,, '11] *“D.
would go to the Mission school in the forenoon dressed any
way, and fix up to go to the Methodist Sunday School on
St., in the afternoon,” She never missed a session at
the afternoon school for nine years. [R. D.; May 2, '12]
When R. D. began to go to the Methodist school she wanted
to make a good impression, since it was this which her mother
had attended, and some of the people of that church thought
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that * Emma " was lost, when she ran away and married.
But M. would come and do such weird things that her at-
temnpts were in vain. M.s singing at entertainments at-
tracted attention, [R. D.; Aug. 12, '18] * Phase A could
sing better than I, and it was her singing which got us invited
to join the Methodist choir. Her voice was clearer, some-
how. [51] But when she sang hymns she would make funny
remarks between the verses, and set the kids in the choir to
laughing. At home, when 1 was out, she would sometimes
sing hymns and set me to laughing by her funny remarks.
[52] Mother would say that it was not nice for one to laugh
at herself. Of course I got shut out of the choir. M. was
always the one to sing at entertainments, she liked it so well
that I never got a chance.” [R. D.; Mar, "11] At the age
of iourteen she entered the teachers' training class for Bible
study. The rest were aill much older, and the teacher hesi-
tated about admitting her, But her final percentage on ex-
amination was 90, the highest of all. {83] [R. D.; May 286,
'11]  “ I was put on the Committee of Merey and Help in the
Methodist Church. ‘The first month 1 visited 75 families,
doing it mornings and evenings. The second month I car-
ried groceries to about 60 families, doing it mostly on Sun-
day. It was a time when a lot were out of work. This was
when 1 was sixteen years old. [ didn’t do so much after-
ward, I couldn’t stand it. The rest of the Committee didn't
seem to accomplish much, The minister wasn’t liked by all
the families he visited and some of them were cold to me

51. This was not so after [ came to know the case. Then R. D.'%s singing
voice was decidedly clearer, as well as more mature, and capable of reaching
a higher pitch. M.'s singing was strident and tomboyish, it seemed zlmost
impossible that it came from the same throat. It is probable that at the age
of twelve or fourteen, when the two were psychically nearer the same age,
their voices more nearly resembled, and that M.s singing was preferred be-
cause, not being at all bashful, she sang more loudly, rather than with
greater clarity.

52, That is, M. “ watching underneath” would take control of the lips,
and sing and talk while R, D. was conscious,

53. After I knew her she would take the highest rank in Sunday School
examinations, and would often be marked 98 p. ¢ in examinations on cor-
respondence courses of the University of California.
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afterwards. Phase A said to him, * Now you keep away from
my people until T get them fixed’. He laughed and 1 came
back and got out of him what he was laughing at. He used
to say, repeating what I said when 1 forgot, ‘ Now I want
you to quit that!’ [Her tone became somewhat like M.'s in
her attempt to imitate the minister’s imitation of M.s in-
tonations.] It was his tone that used to tease me, as much
as the words.,” (Did you yourself ever say that?) * Yes,
when I was a little girl.” (When did you leave off?) “1
don’t know certainly, [ suppose when I began to go to
school.” (Did you say it as late as at ten?)} *“ No, not so
late as that. . . . I used, when I was a little thing, to
have a number of odd little phrases. One was ‘Aw,
mother!’” ‘The reader should not get an exaggerated notion
of M.'s outbreaks in such assemblies as the Methodist Church.
It must be remembered that, generally speaking, M. was
favorably disposed toward R. D, and understood {ully as well
that for R. D.'s sake the secret of her own being must be
maintained. Her wildest pranks were indulged in at home,
where the family were used to multifarious oddities, though
certain reserves were kept up even here, when others were
about, And there was less necessity for restraint in the
neighborhood of the Row than in the public school, less in
the Mission than in the Methodist Sunday School.  Still, it
was impossible for M. anywhere to keep herself entirely
under restraint; either from forgetfulness, or from childish
lack of judgment as to what would not embarrass R. D, or
from excitement to the pitch that she didn’t very much care,
she was liable to pop out and say and do that which would
make some laugh and others frown, and seriously embarrass
R. D.’s reputation for manners,

Margaret’s Search for Another * Margaret ”,
[M.; Sept. 17, ’11] " From the time I [34] was six years

S4. In general little attempt is made to indicate M.s peculiarities of
pronunciation, At this stage she pronounced the first personal pronoun hike
“ah® and bad many little tricks of speech which R. D, did not share,
Later, when her speech became more childish, some attempt witl be made to
present examples.
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old T was hunting for someone like us, someone who had 2
Margaret. [ used to ask them a question to find out, a ques-
tion which they would understand if they were like us.”
{What was the question?) “1 ain’t goin’ to tell you. I
asked lots of peaple. I asked the mother. She didn’t know
what I meant. [ found just one person who I think was like
us,—that sick girl—you remember. [ think she had a Mar-
garet, only she was not developed. For when I asked the
question the girl couldn’t speak. She just stared at me, I
think her Margaret was trying to get out. If I could have
talked with her a few times more I think she would have got
out. Perhaps [ wouldn’t want to go, if I had found some-
body like me to talk to.” [S. M.] ¢ Yes, I think that girl,
Lillian,—1I forget her last name—must have been like D.
She was an epileptic, and died about a year after we got ac-
quainted with her. D, was about 18 when she [S. D.] met her.
8. D. didn't care to go and see her, but M. wanted to go.
When 8. D. was out the girl talked all the time, and told
about herself, how she could not sleep at night,—talked to
herself, she called it. But when M. was there and asked
questions it seemed as if she couldn't talk.” (What was M.'s
question?) “There were several of them., One was, 'Is
there anyone hidden?’, and another was, ‘ Are you under-
neath?’. She asked this of everybody of whom she had any
suspicions. People said that this Lillian was strange; some
called her erazy. She kept contradicting herself, as M, and
S. D. did.” (But if Lillian’s “ Margaret ”, as she calls her,
talked at times, so that she contradicted herself, why couldn’t
she talk to M.?}) “1I think she was afraid, just as M, was
afraid of being found out by you.” (M. said that she thought
Lillian’s * Margaret™ was not developed—did she pick up
that word from me?) * No, she used it long before she met
you,” (But it is the regular scientific word.) “1 can’t help
that, M. used it long ago,” Afterwards, without hinting at
the reason of asking, I obtained from R, D. the last name of
this Lillian, recovered from 8. D.’s memories. It was a
Russian or Polish name. Later, also, [Sept. 25] M. supplied
another of the test questions proposed to anyone who she
thought “iooked queer ”, even a stranger on the street. “1I
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asked a man once, ' Are you under?’ and the man said, ‘1
will be under pretty soon, if I don’t get some work’. That’s
what the guy said.” [55] DBut secondary personalitics, de-
veloped to the point of self-recognition and articulate speech,
are pretty rare, and the wish of M, to converse with one was
never gratified.

Residual Phenomena.

There are excellent authorities for omitting the incidents
coming under this cautious heading, but [ cannot feel that it
is proper to do so. They are a part of the record, and it is
not scientific procedure to ignore them., There can be no
doubt to one who knows the absolute truthfulness of R. D.
that they were subjectively experienced, whatever their in-
terpretation. Hallucination is common enough in hysteria,
but hallucination that coincides with contemporaneous or
future external facts beyond the reach of the ordinary senses
is worth attention. Was there such coincidence? In other
matters at least I have never observed in the narrator any
tendency to vagaries of memory. She is sometimes a little
inaccurate in expression, but such inaccuracy is usually
spontaneously corrected, and is as likely to understate as to
exaggerate. She has very seldom referred to her * occult ™
experiences, feels no pride in their telling, extorted from her
by questions after she has made some casual allusion to them,
and has been carefolly allowed to remain under the impres-
sion that they are simple and commonplace experiences,

[R. D.; Nov, 27, '11] ¥ When 1 was quite small I vsed
sometimes to see things, and afterwards they would come
true, sometimes not for a year or more, but in such detail
that I couldn’t help being sure that it was the same.” Little
dependence can he placed upon the recollections of anyone,
where a considerable time lapses between the impression and
the supposed fulfilment, unless hoth were recorded in detail
directly after their respective dates. But further: * When
I was working for Mrs. M. | used sometimes to see my
mother doing something, and when I got home at night I

55. Seepp. 1067, 1077, 11434,
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would learn that she had been doing that thing just at the
time I saw her.” In these cases the details of what she saw
might naturally fade somewhat from memory, but the fact
that she made inquiry upon return on several occasions, and
was at such times struck by the coincidence between the vis-
ton and the event, could hardly do so. Her usual mode of
questioning her mother was, “ What were you doing at ten
o'clock?” (or whenever the time of the seeming clairvoyance
was}, and this would preclude the possibility that the mother
might complaisantly accommodate her reply somewhat to her
daughter’s description, since that was not given until after-
ward.

The last experience of the kind was on the day preceding
the night her mother died, May §, 1908. * [ was sitting at
the machine, sewing, at Mrs. M.'s,—this was five long
squares from home—and I saw, pictured in the glass panel
of the door opposite, my mother lying on the lounge, with
her face turned toward the wall. I supposed, of course, that
she must be lying so really, as she had proved before to be
doing what I had seen her do, and I wondered, because it was
six o'clock in the afternoon, time for her to be getting supper,
and Mr. F, was very cranky about having his meals ready just
on time, But I did not at first think much about it. Then
the picture came again, the same as before. And then I saw
it a third time, and mother was now turned toward me, and
she was white about the lips, but the rest of her face was
flushed. I was alarmed, and told Mrs. M, that I must go
home, and would come right back. I ran home and found
mother looking just as I had seen her, and lying with her face
turned from the wall. But I inquired of Trixie, [58] and
found that she had been lying toward the wall, and had
turned over a little while hefore. Mother was very sick, and
was half-unconscious. Mr. F. was almost always in the
house for his supper at that time, but he was not there.”[57]

56, Trixie was an older sister, belplessty crippled and ill, lying in bed in
an adjoiming room, in sight of the lounge through an open door.

57. T caused this incident to be repeated several times, at long intervals,
it the course of three years, both by R, D. and S, M,, and its refation never
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The Second Dissociating Shock—Death of Doris’s Mother.,

It was about six, according to Trixie, that Mrs. Fischer
came in and lay down, it was nearer half-past six when Doris
found her. The girl half carried her mother up-stairs, and
assisted her to bed. The latter became unconscious and so
remained except for an instant just before the end. A doctor
was called, made a very hasty examination, pronounced the
iliness pleuro-pneumonia, declared that it would be speedily
fatal, and departed. The heart-broken daughter remained
by her stricken mother constantly, listening to her stertorous
breathing, and giving her all the attentions possible. At
a later hour Mr. F. entered in a drunken condition, made
no response when told that his wife was dying, and, lying
down in his clothes on the other side of the same bed, sank
into alcoholic stupor. In the neighborhood of 2.00 a. m.
the mother opened her eyes, murmured “ my baby ", and
died. Then the girl of seventeen, who had never seen a body
prepared for burial, washed the corpse, combed the hair, and
drew a sheet over the face. Having accomplished her filial
duties she immediately “ forgot ", M. came and continued to
experience the headache which had been raging, there came
a sharp pain in the left hemisphere of the brain, M, sank
below the surface, and a new personality, the so-called Sick
Dioris, was born,

essentially differed. It was told spontaneously but once. [t is left without
cormment, except that it should be read in connection with incidents occurring
while the case was under observation, See index, © Clairvoyance.”
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CHAPTER IV,
THIRD PERIOD: FOUR PERSONALITIES.
REAL DORIS, MARGARET, SLEEPING MARGARET, SICK DORIS.
May 8, 1906—September, 1907,

There are three sources for the story which immediately fot-
lows, R. D, M,, and 5. M. §. D., with her characteristic reti-
cence, never volunteered any reference to her first experiences,
and 1 was kept too busy caring for the case in addition to my
other work, and recording current cbservations, to make inquiry
while she continued capable of responding. Besides, the first
hint which I received of the early peculiarities of her case was
received, from S. M. on June 17th, 1911, after S. D. had de-
clined to mental infancy, R. D.’s account of S. D.’s experiences,
however, is from her recovery of 8. D.'s memories, which are
sharply discriminated in her consciousness from her own mem-
ories, and which seem to her somewhat like a story that she has
been told.

Birth of “ Sick Doris ”, an Infant in Knowledge.

[R. D.; Nov. 25, '11] “1I remember in a hazy way what I
myself did the night that mother died. It must have been right
after that [58] that the B. phase [59] came. I remember sitting
down after I had washed mother and put the sheet over her face.
Mr, F. slept beside her all the time I was at work. Then I found

58. Really, as will be seen from M.'s testimony, M. came for a short time
before the emergence of S. D, but R, D. could not he expected to know that.
She knows of the next coming of M. from recovery of 8. D."s memory that
she (8, D.) ¥ forgot™, but the first coming of M, was before 8, D, emerged.

§9. “Phase B" is the name that Doris and T use when referring to “ Sick
Doris™, as Phase A is our conversational name for “ Margaret”,

1Y
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myseif, as Phase B, sitting on the edge of the bed. I looked at
the man, whom I did not know, and then at the sheet, that seemed
to have a person [60] under it. I drew the sheet down, and
looked at the woman, and then covered her up. 1 did not think
anything particular about her—it did not even excite my curios-
ity, except that I wondered why the man had so much on and the
woman so little. I looked about me, but did not feel much in-
terest. I wondered a little why the woman was so still, and yet
I knew nothing about sleep or death. 1 distinguished between
the two because I touched the man and he moved a little, but
when I touched the other she did not move. As I looked around
I did not seem to fix my eyes on any special thing. I heard a
voice [Trixie's] crying ‘ Doris’, [61] but the name meant noth-
ing to me. The fact that she was shouting made no impression
on me. Mr. F. was snoring, and I wondered a little why the
other wasn't doing the same. Her jaw was tied up, and I pulled
her lip down a little, thinking that if her mouth was open like his
she might make the same sound. I don’t know how long I sat
there,—it seems hkely only a few minutes, as I was looking
around, and Trixie was calling out when Phase A came. And
then she must have cleaned the house from top to bottom.” ‘This
is the way that M. told the story [Dec. 28, "11]. “Do I re-
member when I first came after the 8. D. was bormn? I should

60, This passage, as athers, ilustrates the difficulties of reporting the
vague impressions of a mind almost devoid of content What the narrator
means is that S, D, saw an outline under the sheet resembling the outline of
the fgure of the man beside it. She had no concepts corresponding to
“person”, “man”, ¥ woman”, etc.

61, To many readers it may seem sirange that she should remember
words, and as will appear later, whole clauses, when as yet they were to
her nothing but meaningless combinations of sounds. But this was so
equally in the case of Thomas C. Hanna, whose condition and development in
secondary personality were so similar to those of 5. D. Hanna retained
memories of the first day of the dissociated state, and, referring to the rope
with which the doctors bound him, afterward said, ¥ At last he said he was
going to take it off himself; he was going to take the responsibitity on him-
self. [ remember those sentences” The authors of the record remark.
“The patient could remember the words, but did not at that time realize
the significance of the sentences.” (" Multiple Personality,” Drs. Sidis and

Goodhart, p. 110.)
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sink I do! That was on Choosday night [62]. But I remember
when 5. D. came, too, for I was underneath all the time watch-
ing, you know papa. The R. D. got our mother all washed and
dressed. (-0-0-0, how her head ached! Then when she sat
down I came, and my head was aching just awful, And then—
then—there was a just dreadful pain—I sought our head would
burst right open—and then I went in, but I watched, and then I
knew that there was somebody else there that I didn't know. I
tried to come out, but I couldn’t. But 1 was there underneath,
watching all the time. What a dumm thing the new one was!
She didn't seem to know anysing. She just sat there on the edge
of the bed.” And M. went on to tell how 8. D. lifted the sheet
from the dead face, touched the sleeping man and wondered that
he moved, but the other did not when touched. It appears from
what I gleaned from both accounts that the main content of the
new-comer's mind was phiegmatic curiosity; that when this dull
wonder prompted, her limbs moved antomatically, but that she
did not at first know consciously the use of her hands.

Probably S. D.’s first stay did not last more than half an
hour at most, and it was probably the shouting of Trixie, which
brought M., by the psychic mechanics so often illustrated after-
ward in the relations of the personalities; that is, M. watching
underneath heard the cry and came and not only attended to the
wants of the cripple but cleaned the house, exhausting herself so
that she was incapable of coming again until late in the day.

[R.D.; Nov. 25,°11.] “ The next that | remember as Phase
B was the next day, Sunday; I found myself in the kitchen,
probably at about 11.00 in the morning. The table was set, and
I was standing by the table. A number of the family were there
around the table. [ wanted to go where the bed was, for I
thought 1 had to sit there, I had no idea why. Someone was
going up-stairs and I followed her. I looked into the other room
and that wasn’t the right one. And then I found the right one,

62. M, does not here correctly express what she had in mind. She was
out several times before Tuesday night, and was not really out Tuesday
night at afl. 'What she meant was that Tuesday night was the first time that
she came—not okt but—to 8. D.s assistance underneath to give her in-
structions,
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and the undertaker put me out. He said, * You mustn’t come
in; we are preparing the body for burial.” He also asked if I
wanted the body embalmed. I paid no attention, and said noth-
ing, I did not know that I was Doris, and did not realize that
people were talking to me. I understood that I wasn't to go into
that room, because he shut the door. All day long 1 did what
people told me to.  They said ** Sit down ”, and T sat down when
they shoved a chair behind me. I understood in a vague way by
the movements that were made, not from the words. They
asked me all sorts of questions, and I paid no atiention, [
thought it very strange that so many people should be talking in
one room, and in another they would be crying. That was Sun-
day, and 1 remember—it must have been after church—persons
were saying what a sad thing it was, etc., and I thought it very
odd,—I could not understand it at all. O! [ now remember that
I had a bad cold that day, and my throat had contracted [63]:1
could hardly utter a sound. [ could just barely get out a few
words which Phase A made me say. Miss X. came, and told me
to get some brown mixture for my cold; I must have looked queer
at her for she wrote it on paper. [ thought it strange that a
person should be in so narrow a place as the coffin. 1 did not
recognize the coffin as anything [ had ever seen before, nor did I
know why the woman was in it. I wondered that everyone else
was moving around so, and that one person was lying so still,
and T watched her to see if she would not move, I was in that
room most of the afternoon, watching the people that came in
and looked at her. I stood, but not near the coffin. They would
come and speak to me and tell me how sorry they were. I did
not know what they meant. Someone whispered, ‘ They say she
hasn't cried since her mother died.’” The man whom I saw lying
in bed came to me and said that the minister ought to be told
about it. I just looked at him, I didn’t know what he was talking
about. I do not think that any of my bodily powers were af-

63. This was probably not a cold, but an extreme degree of that contrac-
tion of the muscles about the trachea accompanied by visible sweiling of the
thyroid gland which was often observed following excitement, over-exertion,
etc., while the case was under observation, The cause in this case was violent
emotion zt the time of the mother’s death.
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fected [64]. Someone, I think it was my sister Ada, said ' 1 got
dinner, but I'm not going to get supper, you can get that your-
self.” I just looked at her, it conveyed no idea to me that [
should do anything. My attention was taken up mostly wonder-
ing why one person was in bed, another still, others walking
about, some crying. I could not understand what it all meant.
I touched the woman in the parlor, and she did not move; then I
touched the woman in bed (Frixie) and she did move, and got
mad. I didn't see why one lying down didn't do as the other
did. And why one person standing should be talking and an-
other laughing and another crying—it was the difference that
struck me. I touched Trixie on the face—my hands were like
ice she said—and she moved all right, and yelled. T saw people
turn around and speak when “Ada™, “ Tom”, and so on was
said, so I judged that it was some way of attracting their atten-
tion, making them do something, I didn’t know what a name
was. And because when a sentence was said to a person that
person would look up, I thought that everything that was said
was the same as a name. [ touched various things on the mantel,
the chairs, and everything I could without being observed, to see
if they would move. I saw that when I touched Trixie she flung
her arms about. I didn't need to touch other people because they
were up and moving. It seemed to me that everything should
move. When I found that the statuettes on the mantel would
not move I concluded that the woman in the box was some kind
of a statuette, only finer, It was soon after Phase B came at
eleven o’clock that some one gave me some coffee. I saw what
they did, and I did the same, raised my cup and guliped the coffee
down. Except for that I badn’t eaten or drank for twenty-four
hours,—didn"t until the A Phase came. ‘Then too, the kids both-
ered me—I couldn't understand why some were little and some
big. [Later on the same date S. M. commented: “ S, D. was
afraid when the children rushed up to her. She did not like for
anyone to touch her; she could not understand it. People gave
her towels, etc., folded up, to put away, but she did not know
that, and went about with them over her arm. Afterwards,

64, S. M. remarked “The R. D. does not know it, but 5. D. was really
somewhat an@sthetic from the first.,”



The Doris Case of Multiple Personality. 215

when M. took her to Mrs. M.’s and left her, and Mrs. M. gave
her such articles, she folded them as the articles had been folded
at home, and put them over her arm.”] I wondered why people
put on more clothes when they went out. I do not know that |
contrasted the clothing of men and women particularly. All the
differences of clothing, colors, shapes, etc., puzzled me. I think
that Phase A all the while took delight in what was going on,
because afterwards, when 1 went to Mrs. M.'s, where I worked,
she gave me no help, and I was completely at sea. I think she
could have helped. There was a glass hanging up, over which,
out of superstition, they had hung a sheet. I pushed up the sheet
and saw my face in the glass and I thought it was a person in
there. Someone came and grabbed the sheet and drew it down.
As Phase B I had had no sensation of weariness, no hunger and
no thirst.” On Dec. 26th R. D, added some graphic details illus-
trating the curiosity of Phase B regarding the mother’s corpse.
“ Phase B was very curious to know what the body was, and
handled it whenever she could. In the first place, she noticed
that Trixie was lying down, and couldn’t understand why she
was not moving like the others. So she put her arms around her
without a word, and tried to stand her on her feet. 'T'rixie ob-
jected vigorously, and screamed. Since the body was horizontal
also, she thought there must be something alike about them. I
think that mother and Trixie interested her most of all, as they
seemed different from all the rest. When Trixie was asleep
Phase B lifted her eyelid, and Trixie yelled again. She got sev-
eral opportunities to be alone with the body, and tried to open its
eyes, to see if she would yell like Trixie. I think she really liked
the yell—she didn’t know what it meant, didn't comprehend
anger. She imitated Trixie, shouted at someone, using Trixie's
words, because she thought that was proper. Trixie thought she
was being mocked. B. tried to get the body up. to make it stand
up. She seemed to have an instinct that later there would be
more chance, that people would be gone. She intended to try
then to make the body walk. But she was not there when the
chance came.” :

“ . ..She thought that the people coming and looking at the
body and then going into Trixie's room was the regular thing
in life, and that it would always go on.  And when anyone failed
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to go into Trixie’s room she thought they had not done right,
and ushered them in. It was embarrassing to some of them,
who didn’t know mother. I don’t believe that the B Phase said
a word the whole first day except those in imitation of Trixie
[65] and they all looked so funny that she didn't do that any
more. No one seemed to speak to her, I don't know why—I
think she looked too grief-stricken. But I was not grief-stricken
as Phase B, indeed no! [ couldn't speak, I had caught a cold.”
(** Did you know language at first?”) *“I couldn't, for I remem-
ber that when people talked to each other I didn't know what they
meant, it expressed no more to me than the noise outside. Peo-
ple did ask me questions about this and that. They would say
*Doris, where is’ such an article. I said * Doris’ to myself
a few times, and I think I said it to Trixie. I didn't know that
it meant me. It seems to me that I couldn’t have heard well that
day. When two people were talking it seemed like 2 continua-
tion of one sound-—net like two separate voices—going back and
forth, 1 remember this, and that I experimented making sound
like theirs, as near as I could. But I made only meaningless
sounds.”

M. supplied [Dec. 28, '11] a few more details of that Sun-
day. * When the §. D. went down-stairs they handed her
somep’n to eat.  She didn’t know what to do with it. Then they
handed her a cup of coffee. She looked to see what the others
did, and then she tried to do it. But she didn’t swallow, she just
let it run down her throat, and some of it spilled out of her mouth
onto her dress. 1 made her say some sings, and do some sings,
when they Aad to be done. I could make her mouth speak. The
undertaker wouldn’t come until he had $20 deposit. [In answer
to an inquiry R. D. said, *I have not the memories of Phase B
about this directly, but I remember her thoughts about it after-
ward. Everybody was turning to her as the head of the house
and asking where the money was. Mr. F. had been given $20
for the undertaker, but kept it for liquor'] S. D. didn't under-
stand what it meant. I made her say, ‘ I'll get the $20’ to the
undertaker. Then I made her go to Mrs. M. and borrow it. If
I hadn't pushed her on she would never have got there. T made

65. FExcept the few utterances which M, made her speak antomatically.
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her say, ‘ Will you lend me $207?’ She didn't know what she
was saying, and it sounded this way [she repeated the sentence
tonelessly]. I was afraid that she would lose the bills, she held
them loose in her hand. She didn’t know what they were. [
made her put them in her dress. She stumbled against sings,
sort of wabbled when she walked. When she came to the rail-
road, going home, the gate was down and she ran against it.”

[R. D.; Nov. 25, '11] * The A Phase came probably about
five o’clock,—at any rate it was before supper. It was perhaps
ten o’clock when I came again . [66] R. D, was never urged to
go nto the harrassing details of that night, but she has said
enough to assure that the brief account of 8. M. is correct. [May
1, '11] R. D. came, and insisted upon sitting up with the body
alone. And there all night long she remained by her mother's
corpse, actually raising up the head and shoulders so that she
could get her arms about it, pressing her cheek to the cold cheek,
kissing the dead lips, and occasionally turmning her head to listen
for an approaching footstep, “ as if she were stealing something.”
She remained until the dawn of hight, and, to quote her own
words “ [ was not out again for two months.”

It was M. who came Monday morning, and dressed. But
S. D. must have replaced her in the course of a couple of hours,
for R. D, still speaking from memores recovered from S. D,
said [Dec. 26, '11] * The next day there were féw to talk,
Trixie didn't taik, Mr. F. wasn't there, and I ushered people in
silently. A clergyman came, and he must have spoken to me, but
1 paid no attention, and Trixie talked with him, I just listened
a little, but paid no particular attention. I did not even have the
idea that they were communicating. Trixie wanted something
toeat. Ihad got no fire. Someone must have sent for my sister
Alma, for she came and got breakfast. I had curiosity about the
fire, and watched it closely. The next time Trixie called out I
put what was left from breakfast on a plate and took it to her,
imitating Alma. The fire had gone out. It did not occur to me
to put anything into my own mouth ” [67]. The history of the

66. Probably as the result of auto-suggestion, having determined on the
night of the death to be the one to watch. Thiz process was frequently
illustrated when the case was under observation,

67. Baut it is probable that M. ate whenever she came,
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day is obscure, but apparently M. was out much of the time,
S. D. was back for the night, however. “ I didn’t know anything
about going to bed, or how to undress even, and A, did not come
to tell me. No one was there. [ have no memory of that night,
but saw a note from B. to A. describing it. It said that she sat
down-stairs for awhile, then something—I forget what, but the
note said—impelled her to go up-stairs. There she sat on the
edge of the bed all night. The answer of A. to the note was
that she knew that already.” M. must have come at some time
during the night and put on her nightgown.

“ Tuesday morning I as Phase B didn’t know about dressing,
and went down stairs in my nightgown. Mr. F. and Ada were
there, and I think Alma. They looked,—I think that they may
have supposed that I hurried down to see if anyone had got break-
fast—I saw that the women had dresses, so 1 went back and put
mine on, over my nightgown. I had some difficulty in getting
the dress on, but managed to do so somehow, and then went down
again. They again gave me coffee and I drank it. I ate noth-
ing—nothing was offered me, I suppose they expected me to look
out for myself. No one appeared to think anything strange was
the matter with me. I suppose I appeared to them just silent and
sad. I don’t remember much about that day, except that I kept
on touching the body and trying to move it every chance I got.
I spent most of the time sitting about. (Did Phase B talk none
that day?) She did not understand speech on Sunday or Mon-
day or Tuesday. It was on Tuesday night that Phase A came
and drilled her, I suppose that is why she understood a part of
what the minister said the next day.”

Sick Doris’s Tuition from Margaret.

On Tuesday evening M., whether the general nervous shock
had made her earlier incapable, or, as R. D. surmises, she pre-
ferred for a time to amuse herself by watching the new person-
ality’s behavior, came to the relief of S. D. and began to give her
instructions, S. D. being “out”, or the surface conscionsness,
and M. a subconsciousness. We will let M. relate the way in
which she taught S. D., beginning with this evening; but without
any attempt to indicate the pronunciation of the narrator. {Dec.



The Doris Case of Multiple Personality, 219

28, '11.] * She was the dummest thing! She didn't know any-
thing, or how to do anything. I taught her. T would make her
mouth say things. I said * You are Doris’, but she couldn’t un-
derstand that, so I punched her on here (pointing to her chest),
and I said, ‘ You are Doris! You! You! You are Doris!’
She would say it over after me, and punch herself, just fke I
did. She got into the habit of doing that every time she spoke
of herself, so one day Mrs. M. hollered, * What do you do that
for?’ Then I said, that first night, ‘ Take your clothes off.’
She didn’t know what that meant, and I took her stockings off.
I used her hands, of course. That scared her; I guess she
thought her clothes were a part of her, and that her skin was
coming off. She looked at her feet and sat on them., When [
first got her to take her clothes all off she was frightened. She
couldn’t understand her looking so white, and she pinched her leg
and examined herself all over, and tried to turn her head like a
chicken to see her back. 1 tried to make her take a bath, and
she hated to, and I had to come and take the bath. Then I had a
time getting her to go to bed. When the covers touched her she
got scared and hopped up, but finally T made her be stll. I
taught her everything, what things were called and what to do.
She would say things over after me, and do what T did. That
was all the way [ could get her to understand—by doing things.
She made mistakes at first—lots of 'em. I told her to light
the fire, and I did it. Then she tried to light some dishes, in-
stead of the fire. I said ‘ You stupid, that isn’t the stove!’ Oh,
she was the craziest thing! I said to myself * If I've got to live
with this dumm critter!’ [ pot fairly tired to death that first
week, showing her things. I would talk through her mind, and
with her mouth, and write notes, all night long. And sometimes,
then, she would get into a scrape and I'd just have to come. She
would say ‘ What's that? ' and I would tell her. I didn't think
she would ever know anything, but she learned fast, and after 2
week she got along pretty well. Somebody came with a bill. 1
told her, ‘ You have to pay money’, and made her go to the
drawer. She gave him all the money there was, and the man
took it. Then afterwards I told her, * You have to divide the
money.” I couldn’t make the dumm thing know what I meant.
[Apparently M. made motions which S. D. misinterpreted.] At
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first she tore a bill in two. O I did have the most trouble!
When I told her that she must earn more money she didn't catch
on. 1 yelled ‘You must sew more, you greaser!’ She had
learned what it meant to sew, and when I beat that into her head
she started in to sew, I tell you! Then she made me work
(68]. Why! what do you suppose I heard her tell somebody
afterwards? How she borrowed $20, and did this and that.
The greaser! She took the credit for what f did. [ told her “1
taught you everything, you stupid!’ And she yelled ‘ No, you
didn't either.! ‘I did '] szid, * You didn't know nothin’.'! She
hollered back, * Yes I did, too.' Now what do you think of
that? ” M. was evidently living over old times as she told this,
and at this point her expression and tone indicative of indignation
and chagrin were ludicrous. [Feb. 3, '12] “1I told the S. D.
on that Tuesday night that when people asked her for money
next day she should say ‘I haven't any.” So at the funeral
Uncle Charles Brandt from * * * ywas therd, and someone
said * This is Uncle Charles.” She thought it must be someone
who wanted money, and so she said, ‘I haven't any”’ They
thought she must mean that she hadn’t any Uncle Charles, and he
said * You don't know me?’” [S. M.; June 17, "11] * When
8. D. came she knew nobody, father, brothers, sisters or anyone
else. So M. wrote her a note telling her, ‘ That old man who
comes into the house is your father; that sick woman is your
sister Trixie; your other sisters are named ' so-and-so, ‘ and your
brothers ' so-and-so, So 5. D, got a start in that way, When
one of the brothers came in, she would watch for Trixie or her
father to name him, and then consult her list to see if she had a
brother of that name ” [69]. Better to understand the testimony
that follows it may be said here that when the funeral began at 9
Wednesday forenoon, M. came, was out until in the carriage to
go to the cemetery, when S, D, returned, and staying through
the rest of the ceremony went directly to the home of Mrs. M.
where D. was employed as sewing gir] and general assistant in
the housework.

68. What making M. work means, and the fateful consequences of it to
S, D., will be learned later. See p. 234, .
69, This was the first hint which T had ¢f the early difhiculties of S. D.
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On Feb. 18, 1913, a series of questions was propounded
to R. D., which, with their answers, follow. ' (Did Phase B
understand at first the meaning of terms, father, mother, etc.?)
No, she did not understand anything at first,  (Did she not un-
derstand the simplest language?) No, nothing whatever of
what was said to her. (How did she first get to know the use of
words?) Waell, it was this way., On Tuesday they were all
drinking coffee. Phase A made B, pick up a cup. (How?)
I don’t know, but as she made me pick up things I didn't want,
when I was little.  The cup had coffee in it. Someone asked if
she wanted milk ; she didn't know what was meant, and A. made
her hand the cup to the person asking. That night A. gave B. a
lesson by causing B. to pick up a cup, saying in her mind, *cup’,
then pouring tea into it, saying ‘tea’, and ‘cup’. Then when
the tea was drank, she made B. pour in coffee, but did not pro-
nounce the word, and [ think also made her drink water, each
time saying ‘cup’. This gave B. the idea that everything in a
cup should be drank. That was dangerous, because whenever
she saw anything in a cup during the first few days she drank it,
oil and all. She had no taste then, some was acquired later,
The next morning Phase A made tea and coffee both, as R. D.
had been accustomed to do. B, then poured both tea and coffee
into a cup apd drank it. (I wonder why A. did not stop her.)
Perhaps she was tired from her exertions; she hadn't been used
to working much. It was months before B. knew that Trixie
ever had walked or sat up. (How did the B Phase learn about
you?)} She knew nothing about my coming the next night after
she came, The next time 1 came, about two months later, A.
got me to write my name on a picture of myself. B, noticed
the name, and that it was not in A.’s writing, and asked who
wrote that. Then A, made fun of her, and told her about me. 1
cannot remember what she said, only that B. then first got to
know about me. (Were there any motor difficulties at first—
about walking, use of the hands, etc.?) I do not remember that
there were. There was trouble about knowing her relatives,
though. All looked alike to her. A. pointed out her sisters and
brothers, and she thought that everyone who came in were sisters
and brothers. {Was there any sense of having seen your rela-
tives before?) No, monkeys would have looked the same to
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her, (Was there not any person who roused any feeling of
faruliarity?) No. (Did any object about the house seem fa-
miliar?} Nothing whatever, B. did not remember anything,
or know the use of anything, She had to be taught everything,
but learned very fast. You know that I had no bed at the time
B. came, for A, had chopped it up. She slept in the Morris chatr.
B, learned to make other beds, but I don't think she knew about
people sleeping in them until several months, when A. got a bed.
(Did she not compare her sleeping-place with the beds which she
made up where she worked?) No, she never compared things
that way. If at the place where she worked there was a per-
colator for coffee, and an ordinary coffee-pot was used at home,
it never occurred to her to contrast them.  (She never got things
for the house because she saw them elsewhere?) No. The B
Phase never learned to keep the house neat, either. She did at
the place where she worked, but she was driven to that, acted in
obedience to orders. Really she hadn't time to keep her own
house neat, for that matter. (Did she instinctively use 2 knife
and fork right?) Yes, it seems to me that she did. 1 don't
really remember about that. | know that she didn't know any-
thing about eating and drinking. The A Phase did most of the
eating. {Do you remember anything about B. thinking that her
clothes were a part of her?) [ don't remember about that. (Or
about the first time she tock a bath?} No. (Well, I have heard
about that.) Tell me. (You were frightened.} [ suppose
that must be why I have a feeling of horror if anyone undresses
before me [70]. (Did B. in making acquaintances incline more
to those whom you had formerly known,—i{eel more friendly
toward them or anything like that—apart from A. telling her
about them?) Not at all. She never made many friends, be-
cause she was suspicious of everybody, thinking they were trying
to make something out of her, she had so many experiences of
that sort. Even the mother [Mrs. P.] she never felt toward
quite the same after she forgot promising to take B. to the Ex-
position and made another engagement. She came near not
going over to see her again, at all. {How long do you think it
was before B. could read a newspaper, and understand the most

70. Referring to Mrs. P.
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of it?) [I'm sure I haven't any idea. She wasn’t a great reader,
anyway. (But she did read.) Yes, especially toward the last.
(How did she get to embroidering? Did some one teach her?)
No, I think it must have come naturally, I had done several
pieces of work which were in the house. [ think that must have
started her, (Before she learned to talk did she repeat sentences
spoken to her?) I do not remember that she did. She often
called things by the wrong names. For example, about two
weeks after she came this incident occurred.  A. instructed B. at
the place where she worked to ask for chops at supper, because
they most always had chops then. Next day Mrs. M. had chops
for dinner, and B. didn't eat any. But at supper she asked for a
chop, and it happened that for once there was beef, and Mrs. M,
got cross about it. What puzzles me is how B. got along the
first few weeks about sleep. A. never slept at night then; B.
had no sleep except what she got in the chair, and A. was in-
structing her all night. [S. M. remarked that R. D. was mis-
taken here, that A. did sleep a little the first nights; nevertheless
the most of the time at night was spent in teaching and learning. ]
I have no recollection of B. sleeping the first three weeks. You
know she got up at 3 a. m. [71], every morning. Of course |
do not absolutely know that B, did not get little snatches. ...
When A. was teaching B. she would get disgusted if B. did not
get the idea of a word, and would call her * dumm thing!’. She
was teaching her the name of a potato, and said, ‘ Potato, dumm
thing!’ For some time, B. thought that its name was ‘ potato-
dummthing.” But B. seldom got into trouble from calling things
by the wrong names aloud, since after a few blunders, and rail-
lery and abuse from A, she would not risk it until she was sure.
At table she would help herself, or point at what she wanted, and
ask for ‘that’. ‘That is where 1 get my habit of pointing at
things when I want them at meals [72]. (Could B. understand
terms like eternity, justice, liberty and the like?) No, she never

71. Probably 8. D, had hypnoleptic periods, intervals of cataleptic slumber,
such as were frequently observed afterwards, At her fullest development
she was never aware of these, except inferentially.

72, This habit persisted for some months after the cure began, but
gradunally died out



224  Proceedings of American Society for Psychical Research,

learned to comprehend them at all. Her knowledge was chiefly
in regard to things that she could see and feel. Many things that
you said she could not understand. Even in regard to things
which she saw, she never made comparisons like ‘ This book has
no life ; the person has life.” [73]. (Do you remember what B.
thought about the first night?} No. Did she have thoughts?
What could she think about? She didn’t know anything. 1
think for about a week B. had to be instructed in almost every-
thing. But she learned so swiftly that after the first week she
got along pretty well. A, would often come for a moment and
help B. out in an emergency. ..I dor’t think that B. realized
fully what death was even when Trixie died two years later, for
she felt no sorrow. But 1 don’t think that during the five years
that she was here she would have felt grief at the death of any-
one, not even of mother Prince. If she [Mss. P.] had died she
would have felt at a Joss, but she tock everything as it came.”
[Dec. 30, "'11] “ People used to ask B. who she was in mourn-
ing for, She found this embarrassing, for she could not tell
until she had thought awhile what she was wearing it for.
Sometimes she did not remember what the word ‘ mother ' meant.
Then A. would have to come and answer. When asked how long
it had been since her mother’s death it bothered her a good deal,
for she could not tell. Generally A. came and answered that.
The first day at Mrs. M.’s was awful. Mrs. M. would ask her
where a thing was—she couldn’t tell, not even what it was. 1
saw a note left over about a sheet—she didn't know what a sheet
was. It was a note saying that Mrs. M, had asked for a sheet,
and asking what on earth that was. When I came after three
mouths, I saw another note from A. to B, saying that Mrs. M.
was telling people how she [B.] acted at first.”

I quote from the record for Feb. 23, "13. “ M, seldom tells
reminiscences now, spontaneously, nor does she seem so readily
to recall as formerly, even when I ask her about the past. This

73. This is only in apparent contradiction to the statement that 5. D.
wondered at the difference between the dead woman and the breathing and
moving drunken man, The difference between a moving and a non-moving
ohject interested bher, but she never came to the time when she thought
“ This object moves because it lives; that does not move because it has
no life®
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is one of the signs of her vamishing control. But because she has
seen R. D.'s thoughts about the ‘ potatodummthing ', she has to
give her version. * She thought that was really the name, 'cause
wherr I made her take up a potato and said potato she didn't
know I meant the name of it. So I said © Potato, dumm thing!’
So when she wanted some potato at dinner she asked—I don't
remember who it was now—it was a woman—* Potatodumm-
thing ’, and she said it just like I had said it, and the woman got
mad.” [S. M. * Yes, S. D. snapped it out just as M. had done,
supposing that was the correct thing to do, and Mrs. M. thought
she was impudent.”]

[S. M.; Jan. 11, "12] * S, D, after she came, threw away a
number of cooking utensils, because she did not know the use of
them. They were beyond M., so she could not inform her. She
used principally two frying-pans and two skillets. She did no
cooking at Mrs. M.'s. She threw away a clothes-horse because
she did not know the use of it. As summer drew on she found
that the bed-clothes were too warm, so she put thinner ones on.
She supposed the weather was permanently changed, and having
no use that she knew of for the thick bed-clothing asked Alma
if she wanted it Alma was delighted, of course, and said she
would come after it. But in the meantime the old man asked
what she was going to do with that pile of blankets that she had
ready for her sister, and she told him. He supposed they were
extra ones, and said that he wanted her to put them under his
mattress where it sagged. She put them all there. When it
came on toward winter, she thought something was wrong,
though she could feel the cold so little. She would have gone on
wearing the same clothes, but M. told her she must make thick
ones. She dida't know anything about the change of seasons
until she learned by experiencing them,”

The fact that S. D, received her education, not as is usual in
cases of amnesia, entirely from other persons, but mainly from
another personality in the group, had its advantages and its dis-
advantages.  She undoubtedly progressed faster than did
Thomas C. Hanna, Michael Haitsch, and others taught wholly
from without. On the other hand her tuition did not proceed so
pleasantly, for she had a severe teacher. Nor could M. teach
what she herself did not know, and she was a child, with a child’s



226 Proceedings of American Society for Psychical Research,

ignorance of many simple matters. S. D. picked up many de-
tails from observation, and from casual remtarks, but her reti-
cence forbade her making direct inquiries in search for informa-
tion. Thus she never learned how to set the hands of a clock by
the proper method, and broke the glass face of her little alarm-
clock in order to get at the hands and turn them with her fingers.
The hands would soon become twisted off, and she would have to
purchase a new clock. How to build a fire was always more or
less of a mystery to her, but one day she saw someone pour kero-
sene into the stove, and after that she employed that dangerous
method.

Alternations of the Personalities.

As we have seen, on the night following the terrible one of
the mother’s death, auto-suggestion operated to bring R. D,, to
remain many hours, holding and caressing the body. In conse-
quence of the strain of these two nights, together with the ab-
normal toil to be described, she did not come again for about two
months. [R. D.; Jan. 28, '12] * For two months T was not cut
at all, from May Tth to early July. A week more, then for three
weeks, I should think, I was out perhaps three minutes a day on
the average. Then, one day—it was Saturday or Sunday I feel
quite sure,—I was out about ten minutes. At first I would hand-
embroider mostly ; this I learned to do before mother died. Af-
terward I would color photographs part of the time. They
would arrange things ready for me, both the embroidery, and af-
terward the painting. I never was out again as many as ten min-
utes at a time, for a long period. From the time that the winter
began to go for much as a2 year and a half my memory for my
comings is very hazy. Phase B. was having a hard time to get
along—not money enough. There were some long intervals,
though I do not think so much as a month, before 1809, At
the time of Mrs. Fischer’s death the family were living on L—
street. Shortly after her death they moved next door. It was
here that R. D. came out after the interval of two months. “ It
was in a strange room, a room which had two windows. The
furniture I knew. I looked all around, and in doing so saw
something that startled me and 1 went. 1 did not come again
for a week. I got that from Phase B's memories—and it was
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the same room, but I was in the middle of it instead of near the
window, and on the desk was 2 note which told me that if I
wanted to stay out I must not look around or out of the window
[74]. On the table were paint and brushes, also two pictures to
color, and a workbox with some embroidery., The note said I
was to do whichever I liked the most. 1 chose the pictures, but
how I longed to look out of the window! And I began to won-
der if I could ever see or speak to my brothers and sisters, or
hear a human voice again. [ staid a very little while, or at least
it seemned so to me.”” 5. D. the reticent once hinted, with shy
manner and Jow voice, at the experiments, mainly suggested by
M., for the purpose of bringing and detaining R. D. [Mar. 28,
'I1] “ M. used to tell me to do things, and they succeeded.
(Mrs. P. “ What did she tell you?”) Well, the R. D. would
want to keep out to paint, but would go away almost as soon as
she came, I didn't know what to do to help her keep out. And
M. told me that she would call her, and told me what to do so that
R. D. wounld stay out, and I did it, and it succeeded.” And S. M.
explained more fully [May 1, '11] that M. would plan with 5. ID.
what to do, and then they would experiment. M. would some-
times tear things up, and bring R. D. in the midst of the wreck-
age, but that paturaily failed to work. The best plan was found
to be to get her brushes, paints, and all the apparatus for painting
ready, or the materials for whatever other work R. D. might be
fancying, and to bring her by the process of M, willing her to
come. But her stay was always very brief.” [75.]

[M.; Nov. 8, "11] *That R. D, was awful funny. I wrote
and put on her desk that it was Christrnas—that was the first
Christmas after the mother died. And she came out five or six
times and cried and only staid a minute. So 1 wrote ‘It isn't
Christmas—it’s summer.” And she read it and said, * Yes, it 1s
Christmas." And I wrote, ' No, it isn’t Christmas, it is summer;
that isn't snow but it is grass growing, you greaser!’ and then

74. 'The reason being that the disorder of the room would give R. D. a
shock which would send her away,

75. It may be suspected that the periods averaged somewhat longer than
she supposes. When interested in her task ten minutes might seem no longer
than fAve,
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she laughed and staid longer. After that when it was Christmas
or anything like that we would hide the calendar, and not let her
know when it was. But it didn't pay to make her presents.
You know she was out so little she couldn’t really enjoy them.
We wouldn’t make her a dress, for she couldn’t wear it, we just
showed her S, D.’s dress as though it was hers, and she would
try it on and that was just as well. Once I put my doll up for
her to see, but she thought that was kind of silly.”

S. D. was usually out much the greater part of the day, Ac-
cording to S. M. it was not customary for M. to be out more than
an aggregate of an hour in the forenoon, and an hour in the af-
ternoon, though sometimes her appearances were frequent, at
that, and rarely she was out for half a day or more. At night
M. did the most of the sleeping, except when the slumber was
had in a Morris chair, when it was always S. D. who slept. S. M.
also states that prior to the beginning of the cure S. D. always
followed R. D. i the order of alternation, and M. {followed S. D.

Relations of the Personalities.

[M.; Dec. 22, '11] M. reiterated that when S. D. first
came she was so stupid that it seemed as though she would never
know anything, yet she was soon learning rapidly. The first
titne that 8. D. needed to write it was to endorse a check, She
made some excuse to put it off until M. could teach her. M.
taught her to write her name, and whatever else was at that time
necessary, and she soon got along pretty well. There was quite
a stock of provisions on hand when she came, but M. told her she
must get some meat and sausages, and specified where she was to
go, but forgot to state what quantities were to be purchased.
S. D. went into the shop and pointed to the first piece of meat
she saw, which happened to be the half of a lamb, and said “1
want that . The man probably wondered, and saw that there
was something confused and apathetic in her manner,—people
who knew D. accounted for the strangeness of her manner by
attributing it to grief on account of her mother’s death—and
asked how much money she wanted to pay. She showed him
what she had, and pointed to a string of sausages and said that
she wanted those too. The man asked * How many are there of
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you? ” and she, thinking of herself and M., the only individuali-
ties whom at that time she felt distinctly conscious of, answered,
“Two”.  So he cut off a portion of the lamb, and some sausages,
and gave them to her, [M.; Mar. 20, '11] “1 felt sorry for
her because Trixie yelled at her when she kept asking where this
thing and that thing was. I had to show her where some knick-
knacks were which Trixie had in a cigar-box. When we moved
they got mixed up, and Trixie missed them, and S. D. didn't
know what they were. T'rixie yelled, " Don’t you know what you
gave me yourself 7' Afterwards Ella would say ‘ don't you re-
member ’ this, and * don’t you remember ’ that. And so I told her
things about before mother died. I would talk it out. (Through
her lips?) Yes, in the night, and she would hear. She didn't
know the minister, so when he came she didn't say anything. He
talked about Sunday School, but she didn’t know anything about
that. He said she must take the next course. She said she
guessed she wouldn’t join. He said, * Why, you enjoyed the
last course!’ ‘Y-e-e-s!’, she said.” Occasionally a little testi-
mony was gotten from the reticent Sick Doris herself. [Mar.
18, "11] “ When I first came I had a good deal of trouble, be-
cause I didn’t know what had gone before. I fished at first, and
then M. told me all about from the time . was a little girl. She
told me about Ella and others of her friends, and that 1 should
go and see them. I went and saw Ella, and didn’t know her from
Adam. (Why did M. help you out?) 1 suppose she didn't
want me to get into a scrape.  When I didn’t know where things
were at home I hadn't so much trouble, because we had lately
moved, and Trixie would know some things. But at Mrs. M.’s |
had a good deal of trouble. Mrs. M. asked me to get something.
1 didn't know where it was and asked her, and she said, ‘I think
you ought to know, You put it away yourself.,” M. wrote me
a note telling me where it was. ..The Imp [76] is a great hand
for giggling. One day I reproved Ella for laughing loud as we
were walking on the street, and she said, * You are a pretty one
to talk, after laughing on the street as you did last night’ M,

76. A term often applied to M. by 5. D, and which M. herself often
signed to her taunting notes addressed to 8. D. It was never employed

by R. D.
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used to be able to make me come and go as she pleased, and make
the R. D. come and go, too. She can’t now. (Was she the
strongest?} I don't know., (Was she stronger than you?) I
don't know that she was; I suppose it was that she had been here
longer.” [8. M.; Feb. 11, '11] “ How poor S.'D. was coached,
and had to learn things by heart! Trixie was always referring
to D.'s childhood, so she had to.” [M.; Apr. 10, '11] M.
wrote S. I). a note saying that she [M.] was a part of S. D.
The latter wrote back, asking if everyone was like that. S, D.
often wrote notes to M., perhaps not thoroughly comprehending
that all her thoughts were known to the latter. But R. D. under-
steod that it was not necessary to write answers to M.’s commu-
nications, and never did so. [S. M.; Apr. 20, "11] “ The
S. D. used to go to the Business Woman's Club, and when she
heard a joke there she would smile in her fashion, and then, when
the others would be forgetting it, M. would come out and laugh
out lond, and the women would look at her.”

One of the mysteries which S. D. had to learn was that of
money. She never became expert in it, and to the end of her
career continued to meet persons of both sexes eager and able to
cheat her. M. gave her the fhrst lessons in finance, but it was a
subject about which she knew hittle herself, and this was a prin-
cipal reason why the pupil never attained proficiency. [M.; Dec.
28, '11] * Somebody came with a bill. I told her * You have
to pay money ', and made her go to the drawer. She gave it all
to him, and the man kept it. Then afterwards I told her, “ You
have to divide the money’. [ couldn’t make the dumm thing
understand what I meant.”” Apparently M. made motions which
S. D. misinterpreted. “At first she tore a bill in two. Oh, I did
have the most trouble! When I told her that she must earn
more money she didn’t catch on. I yelled, * You must sew more,
you greaser!’ She had learned what it meant to sew, and when
I beat that into her head, she started in to sew, I tell you!—and
then she began to make me work.™ [R. D.; Sept. 13, "11]
“ When mother died Phase B refused to pay the doctor's bill,
telling him, ‘ My mother died; people don’t pay bills when the
person dies.” That was Phase A’s idea, which she had set down
in a note. It was our family doctor. He laughed, and said ‘1
have lots of patients who die, and if I didn’t get paid for them I
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wouldn’t make much. But he took the bill and kept it, and it
was never paid. The memory of that has come back to me."
The following incident illustrates the relations of all three ex-
ternally active personalities in a matter of finance, [R. D.; Feb.
18, '12] “ Phase A didn’t know much about the use of money,
and I found that the money that B. earned when she was work-
ing almost day and night was being given to Trixie, about $20 a
week, and that Mr. F. was taking a part of it. I told A, to pay
the grocery bills each Saturday night. A. wanted to know how
much that should be, and I said that $10 ought to be plenty, I
told her that what was left should be put in the bank. After a
while there was $50 in the bank. I had planned to buy a tomb-
stone for mother when there was that amount saved, so A. took
it out and put it in a burean drawer and waited until T should
come and give directions. There was also the money received
from the week’s work. Mr. F, found it and took more than
half of it and used it for a trip to Boston. So [ told A. to buy a
sewing-machine and a bed [77] with what was left. [ don't
know whether A. or B. did the actual purchasing and depositing
in the bank. That hasn’t come back to me.” After S. D. had
matured, she was the one who took care of the money. [M.;
May 23, ’11] She put aside a certain part for her own use, to
buy gifts with, etc.; a few quarters and dimes were placed in a
packet marked with R. D.'s name in case she should come and
have need of money—she never did; and a nickel or dime would
be left for M. now and then. * But I never kept it, I always
spent it right off for candy. I couldn't tell what a nickel would
buy, and the S. D. would tell me how many I could get for it; if
it was the kind that you got two for a cent, then ten, and if it was
the kind that you got one for a cent, then five”  Then there
was another fund for “the gang ™, whichever happened to be
there. This was money for groceries, milk, meat and so0 on, and
the money was put with the bills, respectively. M. could not,
usually, read the writing, but she would fumble among the bills
as if looking for it in the sight of the collector, who would nat-
urally point to the right one, whereupon M. had no further
trouble, since S. D. always placed the money with the inll.  The

77. See page 241 for reason why there was no bed for a time,
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following story, told by M. [Nov. 6, '12], is illustrative in this
and other connections. No attempt has been made to indicate
the childish pronunciations, but this must be left to the imagina-
tion of the reader, together with the curious circumflexes with
which her speech abounded, and her roguish glee in the telling.
We were discussing the kind of a desk to give R. D.  “ What
do you call it—a border desk? (I never heard of such a thing.)
What is it that ladies sit in? (O, boudoir?) Yes, that is it
That is the kind of a desk she wants.” She went on to say that
soon after S. D. came, she [M.] told 8. D. that R. D. would be
out soon, and it would please her to have a new desk,~—that ‘she
had wanted one all her life. “ I worked myself, running errands,
until I earned $3. And I told S. D. that we ought to get the
R. D. apresent. And she asked what the R. D. would like, if she
would like a doll. She knew I liked a doll, and you know she
bought me a big one. And she didn’t know anything what the
R. D. was like, and she asked if she would like a doll. And 1
said, no, she had always wanted a desk, and I had $3, and the
S. D. could add her money to it. And she asked me what it
would cost, and I said that 1 didn't know but I would find out,
So I hunted until I found a nice desk, and it was $12. And the
S. D. thought that was pretty fierce, but she worked aw{fully hard
and saved up $9. Then she went to get the desk, and it was $20,
—it was at a sale that I saw it. And the 8. D. dide’t know what
to do. She didn't know what I would say if she didn't buy a
desk, because I had told her to be sure and buy it, and I had
scratched her and she was afraid T would scratch her if she didn't
buy it. But she didn’t have money enough, so she told the man
that she guessed she wouldn't get it. And the man said ‘ You
can pay for it a dollar a week’. And she said she had $12, and
he said that was all the easier, and she could pay a dollar a week.
And I had told her she must always get a paper when she paid
anything. The man told her to go down to the front. And she
said she wanted a paper. And he said ‘ You will get it down
front” So she went there and got the paper. Well, the R, D.
didn’t come 30 soon as I thought she would, not for *most four
months, I guess. And the S. D. forgot about the dollar a week,
and I kind of forgot it myself. And three weeks went by, and
she hadn't paid a dollar. And the man came about it, and S. D.
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wasn’t at home, but Trixie was, so when 8. D. came home Trixie
asked if the desk wasn’t paid for, and 8. D. said, ‘ Yes, I have
got a paper for it.” And Trixie looked at the paper and it said
that she must pay a dollar a week. And Trixie said ‘ You give
me the dollar, and 1 will pay it. And that was lucky, because
S. D. wouldn't have known how to pay a dollar a week, she would
have wanted a paper every time. So when the R, D. did come
out I wrote, and put on her desk a note asking how she liked it.
And she wrote “ It isn’t the kind I have wanted all my life, I
wanted— what you said. I guess she thought it had just come,
and we could change it. And the S. D. said, ‘ Let's change it,
and get what she wants’. But I said, * We have had it too long,
they won’t take it back.” And she said, *I think it is funny if
we can’t change it, when we don't like it.” You remember the
desk.” I remembered it well. Tt was one of a number of ar-
ticles belonging to her which 5. D. had not taken when she came
to live with us.

[S. M.; Apr. 20, "11] “All the kids whom she knew could
tell the difference between S. D. and M. M. would play with
them in their fashion, roll around, ete., S. D. would read them
stories, but she would not dig them in the ribs and hug and kiss
them. M. would be having a great time with them, when S. D.
would come and they would sit up and smile in a scared way.
Marietta would turn and run home as fast as she could, but some-
times M. would come quick and call to her, and she would run
right back.”

Even animals made 2 distinction between S. D. and M. (8.
M.; May 3, "11] “ There was a dog that disliked S. D.—stood
in awe of her—but when M. came—and she used often to come
graduaily—the dog would see signs of change and sit up ex-
pectantly with his ears cocked, and as M. came out more his tail
would begin to wag faster and faster, and when she was fully
out he would rush up and leap up and lap her.” 8. M. remarks
that the parrot sees the difference, and my own observation con-
firms this. The bird always wants to play with M., threatening
and showing excitement. But with R. D. she is good-natured
but listless. S. D. she used to feel a special antipathy against,
and would fly at her at every chance and sometimes bite her [78].

7B. See note 295.
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Abnormal Work, in Which 8. D, and M. Share. M.
Revenges Herself Upon S. D.

One of the relationships of S. D. and M. was of such singular
and significant character, and so serious in its consequences, that
it deserves a separate heading. It is that to which M, alluded,
when she said in a paragraph already quoted “ and then she made
me work.”  The relationship will be set forth more m detail
farther on, but since it appeared first shortly after the mother’s
death, it must be briefly explained and illustrated here, On the
objective side it consisted in the doing of certain species of
work, especially embroidery and other fine needlework, with ab-
normal speed, often for protracted periods, and with increasingly
extraordinary skill. The face became pale and masklike, the
eyes were riveted upon the work. Occasionally there came a
sudden cessation of movement, and the body retained its position
rigidly for a few minutes or perhaps half an hour, the needle
poised in the air or thrust into the fabric, and as suddenly, at the
close of the interval, rapid movement was resumed. On the side
of consciousness, there was an intense and absorbed sharing by
both S. D. and M. in the labor. 8. D. was always the surface
personality at these times, M. the subconscious one, and, if a re-
mark once made by the latter may be trusted, when the work was
embroidery S. D. watched the design, M, the needle. Neither
was conscious during the cataleptic pauses, and neither appears
to have suspected that these ever lasted more than a moment,
until actual observation on my part determined the facts. S. D.
could restrain herself from getting into this abnormal state, but
would voluntarily allow herself to glide into it, thinking it an ad-
vantage to be able to * do work so fast”” It appears to be thus,
rather than by any communication to M., that she *“ made” the
latter work., By a prucess of abstraction she seems not only to
have been able to limit her psychical activities almost solely to the
exercise of her visual and motor centers, but also to enchain the
undercurrent proceeding from the like centers, presumably “ so
near and yet so far ”, controlled by M. Both were ablivious to
alf save the task in hand, which continued until finished, or there
came some extraordinary external interruption, or the internally
registered hour arrived for the performance of a routine duty,
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like the preparation of breakfast. Sometimes S. D., wishing to
complete a task in a given timme, arranged so that she would not
have to perform housework, shut herself up, and the abnormal
labor continned almost uninterruptedly day and night.  Seclusion
was necessary for its maximum of perfection; only a partial ab-
straction could be obtained in the presence of others. M. was an
unwilling agent, though it is noticeable that in certain species of
work which she especially detested her co-operation could not be,
or at least was not, enlisted. Constrained to unwelcome labor,
probably rather by what might be termed the hypnotic result of
the process of abstraction than by S. D.’s direct will, M. never-
theless resented it, became more and more malevolent toward
S. D., and began to practice unmerciful revenge. Her disposi-
tion never became uniformly inimical, she was usually ready to
render information and advice in a2 pressing emergency, or
“come out” and speak or act when S, D. was utterly non-
plussed, and when the latter was sick or in other trouble would
. often manifest a child-like burst of sympathy. But at times she
was obdurate to S. D.'s sufferings, taunted her with impish glee,
and maltreated her body with a malice which was satanic. The
last was a rather futile performance, as 5. D, was partially an-
eesthetic, so that M., while at the moment of inflicting the in-
juries excitement prevented her from experiencing pain, was the
one, on subsequent appearances, chiefly to suffer. Probably, in
general, the degree to which M. at any particular period mani-
fested malevolence, depended upon the extent to which S. D. was
then “ making her work."

[S. M.; June 6, '11] * The first time that M. scratched
S. D. was about two weeks after 5. D. came. She had never
done such a thing before, but S. D. began to work her.  She now
became revengeful, and scratched S. D. one might terribly, across
the face, the breast and various parts of the body. 5. D. could
not feel the scratches much, but she was horrified at what she
saw in the morning.” M., who never felt remorse, long after
such conduct had ceased related with chuckling how at different
times she had grubbed out several toe-nails in order to torment
S. D., and the appearance of the toes corroborates the story.
One method of torture was to tear out locks of hair by the roots.
S. D. kept this hair in a box, and I have examined it carefully.
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It seemed half as much as the young woman has on her head
at the present time, and had indubitably been puiled out by locks
and strands. On some bits of scalp were adhering, and there
were traces of dried blood, though in the case of the bloodiest
locks, M., from her dislike of uncleanliness, had cut off the ends.
It was a gruesome sight. There is quite a feminine touch in the
fact that M. had permitted these relics to be preserved, from her
interest in S. D.’s plan to have them worked up into an article of
supplementary adornment by a hair-dresser. [S. M.; Sept. 27,
'11] “ The period during which M. was pulling out hair was
about three years, those following the mother’s death. She
stopped doing so after 8. D. first wandered into your church, and
R. D. came out and heard you speak. I don't know that that had
anything to do with it, but that was when M., stopped pulling out
hair.” R. D., asked if she had recovered memories from S. D.
regarding other tortures than scratching and hair-pulling, re-
spontded [Nov. 30, '11] “ I should think so! I don’t see how [
lived. The number of times that A, set her nightgown on fire!
She would let the fire come to a certain point, and then make
Phase B come, because she was so afraid of fire. This happened
a good many times. And A. would rake out the hot ashes and
stick her toes in and make B. come.” Fortunately, R, D., in her
brief appearances during the five years, was mercifully spared the
knowledge of these Torquemadan performances. She was
sometimes conscious of bodily injuries, but it never occurred to
her to connect M. with them.

Another method by which M. revenged herself on 8. D. was
to destroy work completed or in progress by the latter, or other
articles belonging to her. A variation of the practice was to
hide articles in out-of-the-way places, not to be found without
long search, or never to be found at all. These annoying and
expensive tricks were in full play after the case came under care-
ful scrutiny, and will be sufficiently described later on.

Sick Doris: Implications and Characteristics.

It was during catamema that S. D. made her first appear-
ance, and there was immediate cessation, according to S, M.
Nor was there ever resumption so long as she existed. In other
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words suppression of the menses began with the arrival of this
personality, and resumption began with her departure. Related
to this symptom was another, abdominal distention, which con-
tinued in varying degrees throughout the five years of the S. D.
period, and thereafter gradually declined until complete cure of
dissociation was effected. At times this symptom was quite
noticeable. For about six years it was always pronounced at
the proper time for the menses, but also appeared whenever any
of the personalities experienced unusual ernotion, particularly of
a painful character, and was proportionate in extent and duration
to the violence of that emotion. Protracted exertion would like-
wise increase it. During the last two years preceding the cure
of the case, emotion was the chief immediate cause, and toward
the last the symptom had almost disappeared. The menstrual
periods, which before suppression had been painless, afterwards
were always accompanied with pain, often of very severe char-
acter. After resumption pain again ceased, except in a few in-
stances. These particulars find a place here, not because they
were experienced by S. D. alone, but because they were brought
on by the dissociation of which she was the result.

5. D. was partially anasthetic, both to touch on the skin and
to such injuries as M. inflicted, but she seemed to feel pains in the
internal organs with normal keenness, and a felon caused her
suffering. [R. D.; Feb. 18, "13] * She had no sense of taste
at first, oil or milk was all the same, but she acquired some later.”
Her mind was somewhat slow and lethargic, and lacking in some
of the characteristics necessary to a well-developed mentality.
Her prevailing mood, according to S. M., was melancholy. [S.
M.; July, '13] * She did not appreciate humor, as a general
thing. Many things that others laughed at were a mystery to
her. She never joked; if she told a story that had humor in 1t,
she did it parrot-wise, She did not appreciate pathos either,”
[S. M.; July 28, ’13] “ R. D. was right about S. D. never won-
dering, She never asked herself why she herself came into be-
ing, or why she had to be taught at night by M.,—why she did
not at first know anything. Those first days she was like a per-
son suddenty thrust upon a new planet, and she examined things
and made comparisons in a way, but she felt no emotion, she did
not wonder, She did it in a stolid, mechanical way.” On some
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subjects she felt curiosity, A singular instance of this is the fol-
lowing: [S. M.; Feb. 25, '12] She heard so much from M.
about the mother that she felt a great desire to get a better idea
how she looked. * She could not well have the body taken up
just to look at it, so she paid to have it removed to another grave.
The brothers did not want to look at it, and tried to dissuade her
from doing so, but she would do it.” In her reading she was
troubled, at first by the presence of many words not embraced in
her vocabulary, and always by the presentation of ideas which she
could not understand. She read “ Les Miserables ” twice, and
the first time had great difficulty i understanding it owing to
her limited stock of words. A novel called “ Audrey ” closes
by making the heroine’s lover say something to her, as she lies
on her sickbed, about their going away together, and the ap-
pended sentence * But Audrey was gone before him.” It is plain
enough to the ordinary reader, but [R. D.; Feb. 2, "12] S. D.
was very much puzzled by the ending, not knowing what it meant.
[R. D.; Sept. 18, "11] “ Phase B was fond of dress. She
bought quite a good many clothes, and hand-embroidered them.”
She was very fond of giving presents, especially at Christmas
time. She was submissive, acceding to almost any imposition of
the women who employed her to sew, vather than protest. No
sharp retort or angry clamor was ever heard from her lips, she
suffered in silence, or hid herself and wept. So often did a favor
mean that the donor had * an axe to grind 7, that she became sus-
picious, and disinclined to accept any gift or offer of kindness,
Friendship she was capable of, and of a sort of dog-like attach-
ment, but love of any species was foreign to her nature, She
disliked caresses even from her nearest girl-friends, and never
offered any.

A story told by S, M. [Nov. 1, "12] well illustrates S. D.’s
limitations. She was calling on a former teacher of R. D. on the
first Hallowe’en after she came into being, and the teacher, Miss
M., called her to the window to see a procession of masked figures
in motley attire. Miss M., seeing that S. D. seemed sad, had
thought that the sight would make her laugh, and was evidently
surprised that she did not even smile. The reason was that she
had never seen or heard of masks, and thought she was beholding
some new kind of beings, another race, as it were, with singular
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faces. She therefore looked at them with curiosity, and asked
where they lived. Miss M., to whom that was a matter of no
moment, answered impatiently, * Why, all around here’. §. D.
asked nothing further, but turned her attention to their strange
dress, but as each was garbed differently from the rest she gave
up the problem for the time being as insoluble.  S. M. did not re-
member how she found out—M. probably had never solved the
mystery herself—but at the next Hallowe'en she was prepared.

The degree to which S. D. felt herself as another than R. D.
was sometimes betrayed by remarks too abstractedly made for
consideration of how they would sound to hearers. As I was
taking her home one night in January, 1811, I remarked that 1
wondered that she had escaped the moral dangers incident to her
having been so early thrown mostly upon her own resources and
subjected to such a variety of experiences. She answered, “ I
think I must have been born good.” I glanced at her face, as the
remark was of so unusual a character, but her expression was
grave and calm—there was no intimation in it of conceit or self-
consciousness, It was later evident that S, D., who had had no
childhood of her own, was thinking, as in a reverie, of R. D.
‘Two or three years earlier, according to S. M., S. D. was talking
with two of her sisters about a baby niece, and remarked, * 1
think she is going to be pretty, like her aunt Doris.” The sisters
snickered, and twitted her on her vanity, but she had really
thought aloud, and her thoughts had been of the R. D,, and of
her as a child, according to the portraits she had seen.

There exist two photographs of 8. D, In one of these, taken
in mourning dress a few months after her advent, the face wears
a shadowy semblance of a smile, but the expression seems dazed
or puzzled. Several persons who have of late seen the portrait,
unaware of its significance, have remarked in substance to R. D,
“ It looks like yon, except that it looks worried or distressed.”
The other picture was taken at a picnic in July, 1907, and reflects
the boredom that S. D. always felt at picnics. It has exactly the
stolid, wooden expression which was characteristic of 8. D., es-
pecially when uninterested, and which the face of R. D. never
wears. One looking at this picture, and then at one of R. D.,
finds it difficult to believe that at least the same body was before
the camera in both cases. [See frontispiece and portrait oppo-
site page 39,]
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Margaret.

To avoid confusion, this personality is called by the name
Margaret throughout the present work, but the name in fact was
not applied to her until January, 1911. Earlier she was known
as Bridget. [R. D.; Sept. 16, "11] * The way the term came
about is that as long ago as I can remember I would use it.  (Did
you mean Phase A by it?)}) In a sense ] did. 1 always felt as
though there were another one. A. caught the term from me,
using it to tease Phase B. B. thought it belonged to A, as it
really did; A. got tired of using it, but B. took it.up. It was
an aunt visiting us when I was eight years old, and mistaking my
name and calling me Bridget, that gave the first start, A, was
very indignant and would not speak to the aunt. Mother was
amused, and called me that after the aunt left. A. disliked the
name and used to write me notes about it.” In my first acquaint-
ance with the girl, before I had discovered her condition, S. D.
would sometimes say, “ Come, Bridget, it is time to go.” When
asked why she employed the expression, she would reply, “ O, I
am just talking to myself.” In a sense no doubt it had become a
phrase with her, but to a degree it was addressed to her subcon-
scious. companion, and was so understood by the latter, who
would, as later testimony showed, expostulate in words audible in
S. D.'s mind, and also sometimes wreak revenge later.

M. always declared to me that she was eighteen years old.
[S. M.; Oct. 8, '11] * When S. D. came she wanted to know
how old she was, and M. told her she was seventeen years old.
She wanted to appear older than S, D., so she said that she was
eighteen, and eighteen she has been ever since. She doesn’t be-
lieve that, she just saysit.” [79.]

Apparently M. continued the same as she was when she at-
tained her development at about the age of ten, in all her char-
acteristics. She was subnormal in her reactions to heat and cold
(partial thermanasthesia), and also lacked normal sensitiveness
to hurts of any kind (partial analgesia). An anecdote told by
her illustrated the latter fact. [Nov. 9, '11] ¥ Some folks were
talking about corns. A young man—I don't remember who it

79. Suggested probably by the facts that M, came earlier, and was, for
the time being, 5. D.'s teacher,
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was [afterwards she remarked, ‘ 1 don’t remember who said that.
I think it was a relation.” [80.] §. M. thinks it was Ada's hus-
band], said ‘I know how to get rid of a com. Cut the toe off .
i was glad to know that, so that night ! tried to do it. But he
didn’t tell me there was a bone there. When the knife got to the
bone I couldn’t make it go any farther, so I had to give it up. 1
know now how to do it—1I ought to have had a saw. And then
the toe bleeded and bleeded, and the 5. D. had an awful time with
it.” S. M. said that the cutting was done with a greasy old
table-knife. It did not hurt M. much at the time, she was so ex-
cited, but she suffered a good deal afterwards. M. was capable
of feats of work, when the mood seized her and she could pursue
it as play. [S. M.; Dec. 22, "12] “ Once she papered her room
with a cheap but pretty paper, and did it well. After getting the
room all fixed up they moved next door, and M. had another job
of papering.” But on the whole she was not to be relied upon.
She did not mind disorder in the least, though in the matter of
cleanliness she was fastidious. [5. M.] For a short time after
removal to the house adjacent, D.'s room was given up to a mar-
ried couple. The woman smoked in bed, scorched the mattress,
and the room was left in a frightful condition. M. came and
was so disgusted that she chopped the bedstead to pieces and
burned the mattress. At another time she adopted a dog, which
proved uncleanly. All her affection for the cur promptly van-
ished, and she kicked him into the street.

M. was a veritable enfant terrible. She would sometimes
relate astounding speeches which she had made to people, with
every appearance of enjoyment. But S, M, often declared that
M. did not really see the humor of them, either at the time or af-
terward, but enjoyed the recollection of the sensation she had
produced, and laughed in the telling because her auditors laughed.

[M.; Sept. 4, 111 *1 told Governor 's daughter,
when S. D. was making dresses for her, that she was so tall that
she was warping. She was awfully mad.” In another family
she heard remarks disparaging a young man who drank, and
made this contribution,—"“ O well, every family has its black

80. M. being in process of elimination, had now lost a part of her
memories.
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sheep”. To her it was simply an observation which she had
heard, and thought would sound well, but as a member of the
family had committed forgery, it proved embarrassingly appro-
priate. M. was enthusiastically fond of small children. For
that matter so was R. D, and S, D. took interest in them in a
languid sort of way. [S. D.; Mar. 30, '11] “ 1 wonder why
it was that M. would come out more with some people than
others. I used to like to talk with Dr. Thomson about the babies
in the hospital, when Trixie was there. While I was talking M.
would come out, and make him roar with laughing. Once she
cut me off in the middle of a sentence. [81] When I came
again he was roaring. I don’t know what she said, and I don't
like to be laughed at, and he was careful after that.” M. was
questioned about the incident, and mimicked his manner of
“ roaring "', and " shutting up like a jackknife " when he did so.
She related how she would play with the babies, so that all of
them would be on the watch for her, and get so excited that they
had to stop her going in. “ That §. D. would only talk about
the babies, and shut up if Dr. T. went to talk about anybody else.”

Once the R. D. sent $5 for the work among the babies. “ Of
course, with her child nature, M. was very fond of dolls.” (8.
M.; May 13,'11] * When S. D. first came and was at sea what
to do, and M, wrote her notes telling her where to find things, the
dispaosition of her employer and what she liked to eat, and all sorts
of things to make her way smooth, S. D. was grateful, and wrote
a note asking M. what she would like for a present. M. replied
that she would like a doll.  D. had never had a real doll in her
life,—only rag and paper ones.  So S. D). bought a fine doll, and
M. was so pleased that she danced a good part of the next night.
M. herself made clothes for the doll, and played with it often.”
5. D. also mentioned the purchase of the doll and told of playing
with dolls, but since she spoke before the secret of dissociation
was discovered her story does not sound quite consistent, and the
“1” needs interpretation as referring, now to herseli, now to M.
“T bought a doll when T was about seventeen, and dressed it for

81, M. would come out because she liked to talk to Dr. T., and to make
him “reoar”. 8 D's not liking to be laughed, at, and showing it in her
manner, was characteristic.
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summer and winter, but did not play with it. Even now the kids
will say “play dolls’, and I will get so interested that I forget
them and they stay on their knees and watch me. [ talk for the
dolls,—if it is a woman doll I talk like a woman, and if it is a
c¢hild I talk like a child, And I am one of the persons too. Ella's -
niiece was used to my playing, and she got Ella to play with the
dolls, and said ‘ You don't play right” If anything happens to
the dolis in the play I laugh and cry for them. [ have marriages
and funerals. T can adapt myself to any age. I remember how I
felt when I was a kid and feel the same, [82] T get down and
up and do little dances as I did when a child. I don't like to go
into company that I am not familiar with, but I had a whole com-
pany of paper dolls,—this was my society. I always had a paper
doll ' Margaret’, and 'most always a ‘ Grace’, and always one
named ‘ Doris ' which was the prettiest. The doli I have now is
* Margaret,” too.” [83]

In Relation to the Dead Mother.

[R. D.; Mar, 8, '11] For a number of months R. D. did
not, during her short appearances, remember the fact of her
mother’s death. But she would, while working at Mrs. M.'s,
think of something she wanted to tell her mother, and start run-
ning home. But her memory does not carry her to her home, she
supposes that one of the others must have come, and done some
work there, [M.; Mar: 24, '11] (How long would R. D. be
out at a time?) “Well, about as long as it took to run six
blocks. About five minutes, I guess. The times she started home
to tell the mother something. She never got more than six
blocks.” [84] [S. M.; May 1, "11] “ After her mother’s

82, “I remember” is a subterfuge to conceal the, to me, yet unknown M,
who fett tike a kid not because she remembered how she formerly felt, but
because she always remained a kid, At other times, “I remember”, in 5. I's
mouth, really meant "1 know because M. told me what happened when D.
was little.”

83 The evolution of M.'s remarkable “drama” had begun long before
this. See note,

84. M.s judgments of positive or comparative time-duration were unreli-
able, as she had alnost no time-sense, She could give many a date correctly,
but elapsed time she measured hap-hazard or by vague phrases, except when
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death S. D. would somatimes start for home, ther R, D. would
come out and think of something she wanted to tell her mother,
and hasten, not remembering her death, and then S. D. would
return and finish the journey. R. D. never reached home.”

Not infrequently, too, during the first year, S. D. had a hal-
lucination of the mother standing or walking at her right side.
Sometimes she felt a touch, or she became otherwise conscious
of a presence, and turned only to get a fleeting glimpse. [S. M.;
Feb, 25,°11] “S. D, had these apparitions, R. D. never. S. D.
never had seen the mother living, yet she saw her as she looked in
her house wrapper. Perhaps it was from M. thinking a great
deal about the mother.”

[S. M.; Feb. 25, "11] “M. didn't know anything about
death, and was hunting for her mother for two or three weeks
after the burial. If she had come out at the funeral she would
have made a dreadful fuss.”

Reappearance of Untaught S. D.

[M.; Feb. 12, 18] * There came near being another S. D.
There was another for awhile. Sometimes, after S. D. got to
know things, a S. I). would come that didn’t know nothin'—she
just sat around and didn't do anything. But she got joined to
S. D.” This statement might pass for an imaginative freak, but
for the appearance of precisely analogous phenomena later on,
under the observation of the writer. [85] There is therefore
no reason to doubt the fact as stated by M., and afterward cor-
roborated by S. M. Owing to the burden of labor assumed by
the S. D. complex, either that complex tended to break up, the
line of cleavage separating the primitive content from the later
acquired accretions, the latter sinking below the surface as the
point of exhaustion was reached and the former subsisting for a
short time by itself, or else the stress formed the nucleus of a new
complex, an incipient personality, resembling the primitive S. D.

she filched the proper term from the consciousness of R. D. It could not
have taken five minutes to run six blocks. And these were not the longest
times that R. D, was out during this period; in her room she was sometimes
out for ten minutes or more,

85, The return of 5. D. b, See p. 457,
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Observation of the analogous phenomena referred to favors the
former view, and even the opinion that a personality may under
appropriate conditions temporarily emerge in a condition cor-
responding to its state at any stage of its previous development,
as the earth would be if denuded of any number of its upper
strata, even down to the archaic rock, corresponding with the
primitive state of the personality. [86] It is not implied that
the personality may not undergo temporary modification in other
manner than that which implies chronological sequence, the evi-
dence being that it may, In the case referred to by M. the cleav-
age was close to the archaic or original condition of S. D., that js,
to her condition nearest to mental vacuity, conscionsness was at a
low ebb and the system secured a degree of rest. Later the 5. D,
complex attained sufficient vigor to sustain its burdens without
the opening of this safety-valve. and, as M. naively puts it, re-
ferring to the reappearing untaught S. D., whom we might des-
ignate as S. D%, “ she got joined to S. D.”

B6. See case in Sidis's book.
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CHAPTER V.
FOURTH PERIOD: FIVE PERSONALITIES.

REAL DORIS, MARGARET, SLEEPING MARGARET, SICK DCGRIS AND
SLEEPING REAL DORIS. TO THE BECINNING OF CURATIVE
INFLUENCES.

September, 1907—November, 1909.

Advent of “ Sleeping Real Doris ™.

From the time that the case came under observation,
certain phenomena were noted when the subject was asleep,
of a marked character, that is, occurring in groups possessing
signs distinguishing them from the remaining somnambu-
listic performances, The most remarkable of these phe-
nomena consisted in what came to be known as “ conversa-
tion-recitals ”, though strictly that term is a misnomer, as
only one side of the dialogue was recited, the other being
represented by pauses. These “recitals” will be described
in their place in the record, and examples quoted. Many of
the conversations proved to have previously taken place, at
least in substance, some of them but a few hours before,
others earlier and even as far back as childhood. The facial
and vocal expression, the phraseology and pronunciation,
dramatically corresponded with the period of life when the
original conversation appeared or proved to have taken place.
It was not until the case had been studied for more than a
year that the conclusion was finally reached that these and
other phenomena inhered in a vague and inchoate yet valid
personality, distinct from the others. This conclusion was
attained so late partly because the personality was a purely
somnambulic one of limited scope, and partly because many
of the most significant phenomena connected therewith oc-
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curred in the dead of night, and so escaped observation for
some time. The steps of its attainment, together with the
proofs of its validity, will be given in their order. But before
the first glimmer of the truth was discerned M. had uttered a
hint, recorded at the time, but not understood. On the day
following the somnambulic rehearsal of D.’s part in a con-
versation which took place between her and her mother when
she was ten years old, thrilling in the childlikeness of its
delivery and in its tenderness and pathos, M. remarked {May
6, ’11] “ Did you-see her yesterday when she was dreaming
of her mother? (Yes.) But you dow't know about it as [ do.”
What did M. mean? I had by that time discovered R, D,
and M, knew that I was aware of her, so she could not be re-
ferring to R. D. in this cryptic fashion. What she meant is
showed by her plain statement at a later date {Jan. 12, "12],
at which I had begun to suspect the existence of a sort of
Sleeping Real Doris, but had never mentioned the conjecture.
M. related that the night before R. D., while asieep,
leaned over the edge of the bed and hunted for something on
the floor; and then intimated that it was not quite R, D. after
all who did so. I cautiously inquired what she meant. She
replied, “ There is a little crack in the R. D., and that makes
a Sleeping Real Doris.” Astonished at hearing this term,
which I had tentatively used in my notes, I exclaimed
(" Where did you get that name?”) “1 called her that a
long titne ago. I didn't tell you because I thought you knew
everything. I told S. D. about her. She came from just a
little crack in R. D.” [87]. S. M. was questioned about S.
R. D.’s first appearance [Apr. 2, "12], and replied without a
moment’s hesitation, “ It was in consequence of a fall that she
had when she was working at Mrs. M.’s. T will tell you so
that you can get almost the exact date. Ask R. D. to inquire
of Ella when her sister Dora was married: it occurred only
a few days before the marriage. [The date of the marriage

87. This expression M. derived from hearing me speak about the mental
“fissure”, She afterwards asked me what a Rssure was, and | laughingly
said “a crack.” The sequel shows that she got an inkling of what I had
mednt
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proved to be Oct. 2, 1907.] M. was going up a flight of three
steps when someone playfully touched her on the arm; that
startled her and she fell, striking her head near the back on
an earthen crock with such force that it broke the crock. She
injured her back in the fall, and had to go to Dr. K. for it.
[88] He never examined the back, but gave her medicine.
It was on the night following the fall that Sleeping Real
Doris first manifested herseli. 8. D. had gone to bed thirsty,
and 8. R. D. said several times, ‘I want a drink.” She used
to talk after that, but not to walk, After that D. had another
fall, and I think it strengthened S. R. D. Her voice seemed
to be louder—more as it is now. She did not begin what you
call the conversation-recitals until we moved into the Colo-
rado Avenue house. [B9] ‘The first one went back to the
time she was a little girl and built a fire for the first time.
{Yes, I heard that one.} Oh, did she do that here? I had
forgotten that. Well, these used to amuse M. But the 5. R.
D. did not get up or walk about in those days, not until 5. D,
went. 8. D. appeared to be a damper to her.,” M, was
asked what the subject of S. R. D.’s first conversation-recital
was, [Apr. 16, ’12] and replied, “ She taiked about when D.
was 3 little girl.” She added, “ Once she was talking just
what R. ID. talked once just before 1 came, and when it came
to my part I expected her to say that, and I listened like fury,
hut the dumm thing didn’t say it. She just waited as if she

88. The shock which D. received leading to the first dissociational
catastrophe when she was three years old waa in part physical, i, e., she wa«
thrown violently to the floor. But she must also have suffered a great fright
when she saw her father, with enraged countenance, coming to her, and
when he grasped and dashed her down. While it cannot certainly be deter-
mined whether one or the other factor produced the effect, or whether both
acted in unison, it seems safer to say that the shock which caused the fiest
dissociation was psycho-physical. There can be no question, however, that
it was a psychical shock that produced the second disintegration,—violent
stress of emotion accompanying her mother's sudden death. The third shock,
which brought 8. R. I, was physical, being the injury resulting from the fall,
aince it is not likely that the unexpected touch upon the arm would produce
extreme fright.

89. October 9, 1908. DPut she uttered exclamations and brief soliloquies
earlier.
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was listening until the place where the R. D. came back, when
she said, * Yes, mother’, just as the R. D, did. I remember
that mother was telling her something when I came, and
when she came back she said, * Yes, mother ’,—she expected
her to go on from the place where she stopped hearing.”

The date when Sleeping Real Doris [90] came into exist-
ence, as fixed by the above statement of S, M,, proved to have
been the latter part of September, 1907; and the cause of her
being thrown off, as it were, like a planetary ring from the
vortex of R. D.’s psychical being, was the injury received in
consequence of the fall. According to the testimony, she was
afterwards strengthened by the shock of a similar accident,
and ‘ since after observation began she showed some capacity
for education in response to sense-stimuli’ there can be little
doubt that there had been development, excessively slow,
from the first.

A Kaleidoscopic Life,

Enough has been said to indicate the general character of
Doris’s daily life. The most of the incidents belonging
chronologically to this section which it is thought worth
while to retain will be found under the dates when they were
learned and set down after the daily record began, since they
are valuable chiefly to explain the then contemporaneous de-
velopments. The unfavorable home environment, together
with the exhausting labors, both normal and abnormal, pur-
sued by S. D, tended to make her, the duty-bound and fate-
driven, more and more the dominant personality, and to crush
down the child personality, play-loving M. Yet the latter
made her frequent appearances, and wreaked her frequent
revenges, taunting her task-mistress, maltreating her body

90. It is regrettable that three of the personalities acquired ambiguous
titlea, Sleeping Margaret was by no mecans Margaret asleep, Sick Doris was
not simply Doris in a condition of illness, and Sleeping Real Doris was not
the same as Real Doris sleeping. Bnt that these names arose is a part of the
record from which it is not proper to deviate for the sake of convenience.
Anyone who carefully reads the explanations in the Glossary will not be
misled by them.
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with a2 malice which recoiled upon herself. At night she was
queen, playing, junketing and * imagining " in her bed until
she fell asleep. Then occasionally R. D. would come and
dream, to be succeeded by 5. R. D., with her small but in-
creasing repertory. If for any reason the slumber was else-
where than in bed, 5. D. was the sleeper, M. continued to
communicate with S, D,, by written notes, and by voices
sometimes apprehended as audible and sometimes as *“in the
mind ¥, Nor must it be supposed that their relations were
always inimical, on the contrary M, was often a most delight-
ful compamon, so that the two chatted and consulted together
like a pair of chums, Oiten of an evening a call would be
made at the home of some girl friend, and there the family
would never know what to expect. Sometimes Doris would
keep them in a gale of laughter by her guaint sayings and imi-
tative drollery, then she was M.; at others she talked se-
dately, with only an occasional nervous laugh, then she was
S. D. When one suddenly gave place to the other, the
change was somewhat mystifying, despite the fact that each
took care to guard the common secret, M., since she was
conscious underneath while S. D. was out, would have no
difficulty in letting her exuberance out gradually instead of
at once; and 8. D,, though without direct knowledge of what
M. had been doing, would find herself laughing, and feel for
a few moments the afterglow of M.'s humor, and so only
gradually cool down. But sometimes S. D, would find her-
self in the midst of a prank which affronted her dignity, and
desist with puzzling suddenness. As to interrupted conver-
sations, of course M. could carry them on, while if it became
8. Ds turn to come on deck, she managed by the swift in-
ferences of practice, by * fishing ', by pretending she had not
heard the last remark and other devices, generally to bridge
over the chasm pretty well. But of course there were errors
and singular contrasts, and the girl could not escape the repu-
tation of being “odd ", [01]

91. This description of the manner in which the transitions were bridged
over is based, partly upon the analysis of anecdotes, but chiefly upon observa-
tion of the methods later employed. After the secret was known to Mrs,
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A brief recital of the principal events of Doris's life, and
the chief determining facts of her environment, will conclude
this chapter,

Relatives and Home Surroundings.

The father continued to drink heavily, and his naturaily
callous and selfish nature became brutal when he was under
the influence of liquor. When his daughter was in what
must have appeared to him like a certain mood, that is, when
she was M,, she was possessed of a saucy wilfulness of which
he stood in awe, or if he became inebriated beyond that point
she kept out of his way. But when she was in another mood,
that is when she was S, D.,,—for R. D. never appeared in his
presence—he knew that he could browbeat her as he pleased,
and was not chary of using his opportunity. Tame as any
pussy when others were present, he seemed to possess a cer-
tain discretion even when in his cups which made him wait
until he was within doors before he displayed his worst traits.
Even there he was often pleasant enough, or only bearably
grumpy. But when intoxicated and displeased about any-
thing, no language was too violent for him to use to his
daughter, and many a blow did she receive or avoid from his
fist or stick. Late in the evening she would listen fearfully
for his stealthy step. A number of times she fled into the
night to escape his assaults, and walked the street for hours,
thus laying the foundation for the somnambulistic walking
afterward observed. Once, clad only in her night clothes,
she spent a chilly night in an outhouse, the doors locked
against her.

Her sister Trixie was confined to her bed by a rheumatic
malady, a hopeless cripple, and was ill-tempered and exact-
ing. M. would hug and kiss her, 8. D. would slave for her,

Prince and myself, and each personality was free to act out her nature,
the translation from one to another was often startling. But if strangers
were present the old devices would still be used; M., for example, would “pre-
tend to be™ 5. D. or R. D., whichever she had replaced, successfully so far as
the strangers were concerned, though they doubtless saw enough difference
to consider her " moody " or " queer”,
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but never indulged in caresses. The invalid could not under-
stand why such blandishments were showered upon her at
times, and then utterly omitted for hours, and complained
bitterly. [M.; Apr. 21,°11] “I would hug and kiss her like
fury, and then S. D. would come and Trixie would start and
holler because she didn't know what she wanted. She wounld
bring Trixie things, and wonder what on earth was the mat-
ter with her, but she never kissed her, she thought that was a
whim. It was the 8. D. that washed her and did everything
like that, and we that hugged and kissed her,” S.D. had to
leave her every morning to go to her work, not to return until
time for supper, but relatives and neighbors saw her at in-
tervals. Besides the care of the invalid, there were meals to
prepare for two and sometimes three men, and other house-
work in the morning and evening, besides the full day’s labor
away! It is no wonder that R. D. came less and less uatil
after the death of Trixie had lightened the labors of S. D.

Sick Doris Earning Money.

Mr. Fischer was supposed to pay the rent, but the re-
maining household expenses fell on 8. D, - The grocery bills
were large. S. D. continued to work for Mrs. M. for some
months, helping in the dress-making and likewise in the house
work. Then she began to do sewing in the houses of
wealthy women, who would recommend her one to another.
[R. D.; June 15, "11] * In the evening at home I [S. D] made
shirt waists for servants and working girls, I got a dollar
each. I could make one in an evening, Sometimes 1 worked
all night and made two or three. I also made quite a good
many dresses. [ averaged almost as much at home as during
the day. I got a dollar and a haif for my day-work. 1 made
embroidery too, but up to the last two years gave it all away.
After that I made it to sell, but also gave a good deal away.”

Course of Events.

Trixie not only suffered from rheumatism but at length
the doctors declared that she had tuberculosis in one of its
forms. Toward the last she often insisted on D.’s sleeping
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with her. In her paroxysms of pain she would scratch her-
self and also her companion. Thus the latter was probably
infected, for indicia appeared in one ankle which Dr, Freed-
man pronounced those of tuberculosis. In September, 1908,
he operated upon the ankle, S, D. refusing to be anasthetized,
and bearing the pain stoically. Subnormal to tactile stimuli,
she could feel deep seated pains keenly, and for several nights
following the operation could not sleep for suffering. At
last the doctor injected morphine to induce sleep, but it only
stimulated her. ‘Twice he repeated the injection without
effect, save to make her excited and talkative. Then M.
came and went to sleep. The foregoing was learned from R.
D., [Sept. 26, '18] and S. M. the same day added her testi-
mony, “ When M, came she dropped asleep instantly. She
was soon in such 2 condition that Dr. F. was greatly alarmed.
He stayed with her all night, giving her things to counteract
the morphine, shaking her, telling her stories, etc. He did
not dare to leave her. S. D. did not come again for several
days.” The foot was in a plaster cast for three weeks, and
she had to use a cane in walking for some time thereaiter,
but the tuberculosis never reappeared. The facts stated in
this paragraph laid the foundation for a singular feature in
the later developments,

Her Sunday School teacher, noting how nervous and de-
bilitated her pupil seemed, urged her to be treated by her own
favorite “ doctor ™, an osteopath, and ended by taking her to
his office. This Dr. Ratbum was a pretentious, voluble ig-
noramus, who, graduating from his honest workman's bench
by the usual royal road, had worked himself into the confi-
dence of many aling people, including some of wealth and
standing. He told 8. . that he could bring her to health,
but that it might take a long course of treatment. Miss S,
advised her to enter upon this course, and repeatedly charged
her, “ Now, do just what the doctor says ”, which, consider-
ing 5. D.'s notions of duty, was the same as sentencing her to
the mercenary clutches of the quack for a protracted term.
He was soon at work torturing her by a process which he
called putting the bones of her spine in place, said vertebrae
having presumably somehow slipped past each other or col-
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lected into knots, Sometimes she went twice a week, some-
times her dread kept her away for weeks, but the picture
which the wily scoundrel drew of the dire results if she did
not keep on, and the words of the well-meaning Miss S. echo-
ing in her memory, would finally bring her back.

Trixie died on Oct. 4, 1908, while M. was holding her in
her arms. [M.; Feb. 8, '12] “ She wouldn't have died just
then if I hadn't joggled her. She was awfully heavy, and 1
taid her down, and her foot stuck out. She didn’t allow any-
one to touch that foot, and I hollered, * Trixie, put your foot
ir’, but she didn’t. So I rolled her over a little, because that
would make her take her foot in, But it didn't go in, and I
looked at her. And then I yelled to Mr. Fischer, * Trixie’s
dead’, and he came running down, and sent me for the doctor.
And everybody blamed the 8. D. Ada said that she ought
to have got the doctor before. Alma said that she came up
and gave Trixie all her baths, just because she did it twice
when 8, D. was away at work, And Miss M. blamed her.
Everybody scolded S. D. but Ella, She said to her mother,
‘Well, I think that D. looks awfully sick herself’., And we
didn’t sleep any for four nights—S. D. just walked the floor
all night, It seemed only a week to her since the mother
died, and she thought that everybody would have to go like
that. She thought she would go the same way, and she
didn’t know who there would be to take care of her body.”

[R. D.; Oet. 12, '11] *“ When Trixie died a cousin came in
whom 1 [as S. D.] had never seen. The first thing I knew
someone rushed in and threw herself down beside the coffin
and began to cry loudly. It struck me as awfully funny and
I got to laughing, [92] I asked alittle girl who she was and
she told me. A strange man came in also,—it was my
brother Tom, but I hadn’t seen him. The girl looked aston-
ished, but told me, * Why, don’t you know Tom?’ and I said
I did. Then as I was laughing, the A Phase came, and the
cousin found me {M.] with my hands over my face laughing
but pretending to cry, and mocking her, ‘O Trixie!’ She

92, Probably the laughing was induced by M. underneath, who directly
afterward came gut.
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never liked me after that. She had never visited Trixie
while she was sick.” M. always expressed resentment to
those who ill-treated or neglected persons of whom she was
fond. The sister Helen got her due share. She was a pro-
fessional nurse in a distant city, and professed piety and great
enthusiasm for her vocation. [8, D.; Mar, 20, '11] * Last
summer when Helen was at home we tried to get her to go

© with us to Dr. Ratbum’s because we wanted her to know

about the treatment, But she wouldn't go, And she
wouldn’t go when Dr. Freedman was treating the ankle. Dr.
F. wrote to her at the time of my bad ankle [98] that I must
have rest, that if Trixie lived five weeks I would be dead
before that, And she didn’t come except at sister's funeral.
And then the Imp entertained her and Aunt Maria, and
never showed the ankle or told where we were going to move.
We moved the next day, and Helen was to come for the day.
The Imp gave father a dollar to be gone zall day, and when
Helen came the door was locked and she didn’t make the
visit. But the R. D. forgives everybody. [t seems to me if
I had 2 younger sister and she acted peculiar I would excuse
her on the ground that she isn’t feeling well, or would at least
try to find out what is the matter, but Helen never did.”

It was on Oct. 9, 1908, that the family moved to a house
not far from the church of which the writer was then rector.
Here, for a little, R. D. was puzzled on her brief appearances,
by the strangeness of the bedroom and furnishings. She
never came elsewhere, Of the devices employed to keep
her out none worked better than to have her come before the
materials for coloring photographs. Sometimes she would
even attempt an original picture, though there is no reason
to suppose that the result would have satisfied an exacting
critic. Probably she would occasionally remain so engaged
for a quarter of an hour. S. D., also, enjoyed coloring
pictures, and possessed the curious faculty of being able to
“put away ” M. for the daylight of two days, by engrossing
herself in this task.

93, S. D. often said “ we" when not watching herself, and then, noticing
that she was doing so would change to 1"
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On Sunday, Jan. 8, 1909, S. D. was going to the Meth-
odist Church, but being very tired went into the Episcopal
one, on the way. Just as the sermon began R. D, came, and
must have remained 20 minutes at least, as 8. D. replaced her
immediately after the close of the sermon. [R. D.; Apr. 20.
13] “I wanted to see who was there, but I dared not take
my eyes away from you for fear I would forget at sight of
the people. I took notes of your sermon in my Bible. And
as you preached I said to myself over and over, ‘I wish he
were my father!’ I never said that of anyone else. It
seems so strange. [94] [ didn’t know who you were or
whether you were married or not. - But that is what I
thought.”

From early in April to early in July R. D. never came
[95] to the surface once. In October a girl neighbor invited
S. D. to join her Sunday School class, and she consented, but
did not know until she first attended on the 24th, that it was
at the church into which she had wandered the winter before.
Mrs. Prince met her in the Sunday School room and showed
her kindly attention, which, it proved, made a strong impres-
sion upon the forlorn creature. A Sunday or two after this
Mrs. Prince brought her to the rectory, and this is the date
of my first recollection of her,  When I entered the room she
seemed to be talking quite eagerly, but I could not get much
response; she seemed constrained and almost afraid of me,
and her laugh was nervous. After this she came to the house
with increasing frequency, She seemed to be fascinated by
Mrs. Prince, and the latter to take a fancy to her, She had
some appearance of trying to avoid me, and though I occa-
sionally met her in the house, 1 was busy and paid her little
heed.

94, Strange in view of her after adoption. She had often envied girls
who had kind fathers, and had imagined what it would be to have such a
parent,

95. See pp. 317-18
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CHAPTER VL
FIFTH PERIOD: QUINTUPLE PERSONALITY.

FROM THE BECINNING OF CURATIVE INFLUENCES TO THE DIS-
COVERY OF THE FACT OF DISSOCIATION AND THE ENTRANCE
UPON A PSYCHO-PHYSIOLOGICAL CAMPAIGN,

November, 1909—January 20, 1811,

[R. D.; Apr. 23, "12] " The next time I myself saw you
after that time in the church the year before was in your
house. You began to talk to Phase B about books and 1
came out for about twenty minutes. I knew that you were
the same man. I did not know who the woman was. (Had
you been informed anything about us?) No, nothing. I
did not know who you were. (Were you surprised at finding
yourself talking with the man?)} No, I was too used to find-
ing myself in all sorts of situations.”

I remember this occasion well, and that the girl appeared
more brightly interested than I had seen her. This was on
an evening in the latter part of November, and it was
the first time that R. D. had conversed with another persom since
the death of her mother four and o half years before.

[R. D.; Jan. 28, "12] “ That was one of the first times that
I [S. D.] came over to your house. And it was a long time
after that that I began to lie down and sleep there, and the
mother to take care of me. Yet right from the time of that
talk I began to come out more, about every other day. The
first time I staid about ten minutes, and after that I would
stay from five to ten. ‘That seemed very long to me.
Everything was ready for me; sometimes T would come with
the tools in my hand, sometimes for painting, sometimes for
embroidery, I would probably have staid out longer if 1

a2 M
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could have kept my head, but T would have curiosity and look
around the room, and it looked so badly that I would go in.
Then they began to give me my orders to ‘sit there’, etc.
Even then sometimes I couldnt help looking around. 1
could tell {from notes left, which I would read, that they were
coming over here, and how [ wished I conld come and talk to
you again! And how I wished I could go out on the street,
I wanted to see it so badly! For four years I never saw the
street, From those few weeks when I would start home, [
was never on the street. Up until we moved to Colorado St.
I always came after dark, and the shutters would be closed,
so that I couldn’t see out, and after that the windows did not
look out on the street. As time went on I came out more
frequently, but did not stay longer. I was never out twenty
minutes agatn until I came to live here. Once or twice |
came out at Ada's, Phase A would be playing with the
children and get so excited that she would go, then B would
come and be disgusted at finding herself on all fours, and I
would come. It was always in that order, I do not remember
ever coming directly from A. as [ do now. When I came out
at Ada’s I staid only a moment, I sat and looked at the
children—1I did not speak, T did not know their names, but
supposed they were Ada’s, because I saw her.”

Automatic Fabrications by Sick Doris.

In order that the narrative to follow may be understood it
is necessary at this point to advert to certain fictions enacted
by 8. D. while under casual observation in 19190, the weaving
of which had begun earlier,. While these were in part im-
pelled by the sentiments, such as the craving of this lonely
and burdened creature for sympathy and appreciation, it
would be a grave error, though a natural one, hastily to as-
sume that they were deliberate and culpable impostures. It
must be considered, in the first place, that 8. D. was only the
fragment, so to speak, of a psychical entity, with various in-
teltectual as well as emotional limitations. But even or-
dinary hysteria, in which only the germs of dissociation exist,
manifests as one of its most characteristic symptoms the
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tendency to fabrication and simulation, and the naive notion
that this is simply “ shamming ™ and “ faking ” is now given
up by the expert. It is usually a phenomenon of auto-
suggestion, The hysteric mind loses, so to speak, its sense
of perspective, its elements no longer act in balance and co-
ordination, it tends to narrow its conscious field and par-
ticularly to focus attention long and frequently upon certain
objects of fear or desire until they loom up as objective reali-
ties. ‘The patient in a sense and degree knows that she is
obsessed by a delusion, but she is nevertheless obsessed, after
the manner that one says in 2 night-mare, * that is a real
person standing there grasping my wrist—I know it is be-
cause 1 can see and feel him; but if I could only cry out he
would vanish into nothingness”. The hysteric may assure
herself or even confess to others, that her acted and recited
fabrication is not objectively valid, nevertheless it goes on
like a dream until some strong counter force breaks in and
speedily or slowly dissolves it. [98] There is conclusive
proof that it was so with S, D. Besides, she was under the
influence of M,, the personality given to “ play-acting” and
imagining, who, the obsessions being once initiated by the
usual processes, directly stimulated them both for her own
amusement and to torment S. D. or to help her conceal their
fictitious character, according to occasion.

The first of these fabrications was that she was the victim
of bone tuberculosis. For months we supposed that she had
a large cavity in the left hip, which had to be dressed and
afterwards filled with packing, and that without this packing
she would be unable ta walk. She limped, at times more
than at others, and remarked that she ought to use a cane
but hated to do so, though some day the bone would snap
and she would fall helpless on the pavement. She claimed.
also, to have several cavities along the spine, and that their

96. “Janet, in speaking of the hysteric, cails attention to the suppression
of the intellectual faculties and to the difficulty in fixing the attention. Vague
preoccupations All their minds, and they cannot he interested in a work
assigned them, * * * The hysteric returns to her story, her phantasy, her
fabrication—her whole being is for the time constellated about her complex,”
Dr. 5. E. Jelliffie. " Forchheimer's Therapeusis”, 1V, 584.
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number was gradually increasing. When a small sore,
probably from an abrasion, appeared on a knuckle, she re-
marked that she thought the tuberculosis was breaking out
there. She professed to have sharp pains in the hip, and I
have no doubt that she had, for she would not simply wince
but the sweat would suddenly start upon her forehead.
These pains were probably in general the result of direct
auto-suggestion, but the sharpest pangs came from a form of
auto-suggestion, if so it may be called, which resided in the
will of another personality, M., who threatened them, and be-
hold, they came to pass.

The other automatic fabrication was that she painted or
drew pictures with great skill and at abnormal speed. She
would profess to have 2 dream, generally of trees, flowers,
etc., and as soon thereafter as she could arrange it to “ put M,
away " and paint a picture corresponding exactly to the
dream, every detail of which she could remember until she
had it reproduced on the canvas, when it would vanish from
her mind. It usually took two days, she claimed, to paint
such a picture. Usually her mother appeared in the land-
scape of the dream, but she never claimed to enter her in the
picture.  When I first heard of this phenomenon I was
naturally desirous of seeing an example, but the pictures were
supposed to be all sold. The time for painting another
seemed to recede indefinitely, but at last, after recounting
a dream of this description, she professed to shut herself up
for the purpose of painting the vision, actually did not ap-
pear for two days, and after an appropriate time for its fram-
ing, presented the picture to me. It was a forest scene, well
executed, and much after the description of the dream,—but
was afterwards innocently exposed by the mystified Real
Doris as the work of another hand. It was actually selected
and purchased by S. D. for its resemblance to the dream.
This looks to the ordinary layman like barefaced and guilty
deception, but the psychiatrist will recognize the somnam-
bulic fashion with which certain species of neurotics furnish
themselves with the materials for their delusions. Again, S.
D. would sometimes casually allow me to see small line
pictures which when questioned she would give me to under-
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stand, but in as laconic a manner as possible, were her work
with a pen. Indeed, no doubt I helped in the fabrication, for
I seized upon the first hint to express my surprise and ad-
miration, and to urge her to bring in more examples. She
spoke slightingly of them, and said that she made them for
the amusement of her little nieces, two or three in an hour.
As they were really impressions of etchings, 1 feel somewhat
ashamed of my credulity, and can only plead that I had little
time for examination, little knowledge in pictorial art, and
that several persons of presumably greater knowledge in that
domain failed to detect the imposture. Besides, the border
had been removed from one or two of the several which were
shown me. Aunother picture, given to Mrs. P. as original,
proved to be a skilfully colored photograph. 8. D. also de-
clared that she had long kept a diary, and that in it were a
great many pictures, of people, landscapes, etc., which she
had made from day to day.

So [ar as I have been able to discover by observation
and research, the fabrications of hysteria are never
made of whole cloth, but have their pomts de repere of facts,
around which the constructive imagination weaves its gossa-
mer web, [97] Thus in the case of the tuberculosis fabric.

97. A remarkable case of amnesia, involving all save the motor memories
and those of spatial relations, so that the subject, Michael Haitsch, had to
reacquire language and other knowledge like an infant though a hundred
times more rapidly, came under the care of the writer. In a condition of
what is supposed to have been hysterical delusion preceding the amnesic
coflapse, he wrote a letter to his sister, of which the following is the essential
part, translated from German to English, * Flanked by two armed persons,
beside whase revolvers 1 sleep and when I am awake, continually under the
influence of narcotics. In case my life is worth so much to you, send $200 to
the Los Angeles post-office to my address, Please do not notify the police,
otherwise my life is at stake every moment since on the 2nd of February I
had to leave Cleveland under escort and always in danger.,” On the basis of
this inccherent epistle a theory was framed of the general cause of the
paychic strain which caused the coltapse, and of what nature were the objects
which most prominently occupied Haitsch's narrowing field of consciousness
just prior to his disappearance from Cleveland. (1) The main cause of the
strain was financial worry. (2) He had in some manner lost a sum of
money. {3) He had stood in fear of revenge, or at least of injury, from
some person or persons, and this fear, also, had something te do with
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(1) The sister was said to be tuberculous, and S. D. tended
her, and occasionally slept with her, This would suggest
possible infection. (2) Her own ankle was afterwards
operated upon for tubercnlosis and the bone scraped. Thus
bone tuberculosis was brought forcibly home to her, and fears
excited of its reappearance. (8) Suppression of the menses
caused constant aching in the back, and frequent ovarian
pains; it seems, also, that there were some rheumatic pains
in the hip. Hence concentration of attention upon the
regions of the back and hip and localization there of fancies
of tuberculosis. (4) Osteopathic treatnment suggested that
the tuberculosis was of the bone.  (5) The osteopath elaimed
that even the ovarian pains could be cured by manipulating
the bones, and employed his blacksmith strength in ““ adjust-
ing ” the vertebrze. Consequent intensified localization of
the tuberculosis in the side and back. (8) S. D. read what-
ever she could find about tuberculosis of the bone, and thus
learned its symptoms and treatment. [98] Interrogated by
S. D., the * doctor ” was glad to patter to her voluminous and
variegated information on the subject, and thus increased the
mormentum of her morbid thoughts. [99] And so the night-
mare grew and dominated her, until it was dispelled by an
impact from without.

In regard to the other fabrication it may be noted that:
(1) As has been stated, R. D. had from childhood inclinations

money. (4) Either he had actually Leen struck by a soft, heavy instrument
which left no trace, or the dull, sleepy feeling was due to the fact that he
was already psychically descending the corve which ended in amnesia, (5) In
some way a revolver figured in his last experience or broodings in Cleveland.

When the facts came te light, they amply justifed every point of the
hypothesis, Actual facts and subjects of anxious foreboding had dictated the
outline of the fabrication in the letter, and entered into it in a distorted form.

98. 8. D. would sometimes point to some part of her body and inquire of
Mrs. P, “ What bone lies there?"

99, Omnce the osteopath sent 8, D. for a drug, and pompously told her it
was for " major and minor surgery,® M. came before the counter, and gave
the order as it translated itself to her consciousness, stating it was for “Asia
Minor surgery.” The druggist said that he had been in the business for
twenty years and had never heard of that. M. insisted that this was what the
doctor said, anyway, and he responded: “Then he has made a discovery.”
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in the direction of drawing and painting. These were largely
thwarted by the lack of interest in her attempts on the part
of her mother. (2) Painting was a favorite occupation of
R. D. during her brief seasons out, and 8. D. frequently
colored photographs. (3) R. D. did dream of trees and flow-
ers, and of her mother in the midst of beautiful landscapes.
(4) S. D. was subliminal witness of these dreams. (8) 8. D.
really made abortive attempts to paint what she had seen in
certain of them. (6) She really did * put M, away " for two
days at a time, for the purpose of, or by the very process of,
devoting herself to coloring pictures. (7) She really had a
capacity for abnormal skill and speed in other directions,
particularly in embroidering, This attached itself to the
picture-imagery. (8) There were three books of diaries,
begun by R. D. before her mother's death, and continued by
S. D. (9) In these books some child-photographs of R. D.
and M. in their costumes worn at the exhibitions of the dane-
ing academy were kept. There were also some crude draw-
ings in them. (10) It developed that S. D. had really longed
to be a good painter, and had even prayed that she might
execute a successful picture, '

And so this phantom of desire, along with the other, the
phantom of fear, assumed more and more the complexion of
reality. ‘There was doubtless involved in it the desire for
appreciation, as in the other the desire for sympathy.

The Physical Foundations of Cure Being Laid.

The calls of D. at the rectory, few at first, were en-
couraged by Mrs. P,, and grew in frequency. At length, M,
afterwards said, “she [S. D.] would come once a day,
usually, and I wanted to come too, so 1 would come once a
day.” In truth, sometimes the girl would not be gone long
before she would come running back, and I used to wonder
a little at it. She was often urged to eat, and after awhile it
was a pretty well understood thing that she was to take at
least one meal a day with us. There were periods when she
would sit down at the table and others when she preferred to
sit with a plate by the window. We thought her odd, but
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there were reasons for these and other aberrations, which
afterward came to lightt The getting of nourishing and
digestible food was the first plank laid in the physical
foundations of the cure. [S. M.; Jan. 1, "12] "“You know
that M, was always a great eater., Somehow 8. D. got so the
last year that she did not eat much. She used to tell the
mother [100] that she hadn’t eaten for two days. She didn’t
know that M. had eaten, however. M. would come hungry,
and not finding anything that she liked learned to get things
at the store. And such things as she had! I have known
her to buy a pound of cheese and soine pickles, and make her
entire meal of them. Sometimes she would make a meal of
a pound of candy. It is a wonder that they lived. They
were getting to the end of the rope when the mother began
giving them proper food to eat. And M. would drink such
quantities of coffee during that last year, cight or ten cups in
a day, I used to tremble when Dr, R. gave 5. D. medicine,
for when M. came she would drink down the whole bottle at
once—she never had patience to take a teaspoonful. But I
guess that nothing he gave amounted to much.”

Though, being engrossed in work, I paid the girl little at-
tention, it was apparent that there was something odd about
her. I thought her singularly mercurial in temperament,
with moods that passed like the cloud and sunshine, though
M., from her fear of being found out by me, was restrained
for months from ever expressing her full nature in my
presence. Still there were times when the girl was jolly and
amusing, and times when she was sedate and melancholy.
Her expression seemed to change to correspond, and the
very shape of her features to alter. In the gleesome and
talkative mood she was prettier and looked child-like, then
one would glance at her and be surprised and concerned to
find that she had relapsed into “ the dumps” and was again
locking mature and careworn, Her sudden changes in
preference as to food were surprising—M. either forgot her
caution here or yielded to the temptations of appetite. Some-
times she professed to hike tapioca cooked in one way, some-

100. The name for Mrs, P. after the informal adoption of D.
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times she would not eat it unless it was prepared in another;
now she drank her tea with cream and not sugar, again she
drank it with sugar but not ecream; at dinner she might select
a cooky from the plate and remark with elfish expression
that she did not like cake, only at supper to decline cookies,
calmly remarking that she preferred cake. If surprise was
expressed at these abrupt alterations of taste she found some
way to smooth the matter over. Frequently she repeated an
item of news in detail, which she had shortly before told in
similar detail. [101] Sometimes she made a statement or
expressed an opinion diametrically opposed to one she had
uttered the day before. [102] Sometimes I caught her look-
ing at me with an expression of apprehension, again with
quizzical slyness. She seemed obtuse to verbal humor, fre-
quently laughing at quite the wrong features of my feeble
jokes, and as frequently seeming simply nonplussed. Once
at dinner I told a story of a man who put a Jinament on his
wooden leg and it sprouted. She seemed quite unnecessarily
perturbed over the joke, and for some time after that did not
sit at the table at meal time. Another of many odd details
was this, that she would come over on a freezing cold day in
winter very thinly clad, and show no sign of feeling the cold.
In her graver “ mood” she seemed unable to preserve im-
mobility for 2 moment, but constantly tapped with her ioot,
fingered her features, abstractly twisted a button, or picked
at a seam.

Mrs. P. heard that she slept little at home and began to
encourage her to come io the rectory evenings and lie down.
Then I began to hear of new oddities, how she would talk in
her sleep, at times seeming to be describing visions of beauty,
at times appearing to be sustaining her side of a dialogue,
with changes of voice and expression, at still other times ut-
tering impatient or angry ejaculations or apparently threat-
ening herself. I was told that in the mood last referred to

101. The second narrator woulid be S. D., who, not having access to the
mind of M., as M. had to hers, did not know that the story had already been
told. Rarely M, might be the one to reteil the story, in case her thoughts had
been otherwise engaged while 8. D. was relating it

102. The contradiction was usually by S. D, but sometimes M, in the
energy of her opinions, spoke out her mind heedless of what 5. D. had said.
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she would look positively malicious, and clutch savagely at
her hip or make efforts to maltreat other parts of her body.
It came to pass that Mrs, P.'s regular evening program when
at home was to lelp the girl to sleep, and to be forced to
watch her every moment, and often to hold her hands or to
put forth all her strength to restrain her from iojuring her-
self while sleeping. T judged from the indicia which I noted
in the daytime, and from what I heard of the evening
phantasmagoria, that it was simply a case of advanced hys-
teria. Observing the ravages which anxiety and struggling
for an average of three hours an evening for some five times
a week were making on Mrs. P.’s own nervous system, I was
not in favor of her resolute altruism, but knowing from my
acquaintance with that excellent lady that I was powerless
to check a course that she judged right and proper, and be-
lieving that I could not with propriety assist her, I showed
little interest in the whole affair. I listened with the usual
Philistine cynicism when she told me that if she lay down
beside the girl, the latter would hug and caress her and go
to sleep on her arm, only to wake with an appearance of dis-
taste and coldly withdraw herself. The more sleep was cul-
tivated the more she seemed to get capacity for sleep, and the
waking process became more and more difficult. Now and
then I was witness to the latter part of the process, which
commonly consumed ten or fifteen minutes. She would rub
her eyes, and cry in a curious squeaky voice, * All right! I'm
awake! I'm awake!” but if efforts were relaxed for a mo-
ment she would slump down in a heap on the floor. But she
could not be induced to stay over night, saying that she must
be at home and get up at five to prepare breakfast for her
father. A number of times we went out in the evening
leaving her in the house, and returned to find her asleep on
the floor, perhaps rolled beneath the table. Sometimes she
would pass into a somnambulic state in which her features,
and utterances when there were any, announced extreme
fear. TIn the fall Mrs. P. became fearful of her going home
late at night alone, and began to enlist me in the service of
seeing her home safely. She protested that there was no
need, yet seemed grateful in a mute fashion, During the
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short journey she was generally well awake, and conversed
rationally, but sometimes she was evidently asleep and talked
as in 2 dream. We began to hear of her sleeping better, at
times, after she got hame, than had previously been the case.
Mrs. P.’s endeavors to secure for her refreshing sleep were
further building the physical basis for her future psychic cure.

During a severe illness of five weeks experienced by me,
compassion so far conquered the fears felt by S. D. and M,
that they often came and read to me. I well remember the
limping step coming up the stairs, and the patient reading,
hours at a time. The better opportunities to observe the
curious changes in “mood”, speech and demeanor, must
have revealed the secret to one familiar with the literature of
dissociation, had not illness blunted the reasoming powers.
[M.; Apr. 4, ’11] “I don’t know which was scared the most
the first time the mother allowed us in the room when you
were sick. 8. D. was the first one and she got too scared,
and I came, and I got too scared and the R. D, came a minute,
and she got too scared and the S. D. came, and she had to
stay for there wasn't anybody else. [103] I practiced up
every Glass story before I read it to you. It was { who read
the Montague Glass stories, and S. D. who read Mr, Opp
and some other stories. I used to make fun of you to the
S. D. after we went to bed. She would say, * You ought to
be ashamed of yourself to make fun of a sick man’, I liked
you, but T couldn’t help seeing funny things in you. I think
you see funny things in me, the way you laugh at me, It
was I who laughed at you when you burned your hand on the
hot bottle. T used to make cartoons of you and show them
to S. D. The R. D. was out when you were sick only three
or four times, five to ten minutes. It is a2 wonder that you
did not see the difference, for I talked sifly, and the S. ID. not
so much so, and R. D, very different. Once she was out ten {104]

103, At this stage M. usually said “we” when referring to herself, but
where this would make an involved narrative arnbiguous, it seems best to
change it ta “1”, In reference to the Glass Jewish stories, it is of interest
1o note that T incidentaily learned from 5. 1. that she did not like them, and
from M. that she did.

104. M.s estimates of time being faulty, R. D. may not have beent out so
tong.
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minutes, when you were showing the autograph-book. That
brought her out.”” [105] Early in the illness, probably
before R. D. had come out, save momentarily at the first visit,
the girl brought an immense bunch of imported grapes, very
expensive at that time of the year, It is interesting to com-
pare the testimonies. [M.,; ib.] *“ The R. D, sent for them,
and S. D. brought them, and I came out and gave them
to you. R. D, didn't know who she was buying them
for, only that it was for somebody who was sick. S
D. wrote a note and asked me what you said after you
got 'em.” [R. D.; Sept. 4, '12] Asked ii she remem-
bered anything about a bunch of grapes, R. D. said,
“Yes, I remember coming out and finding a bunch in my
hand, and writing Phase B a note to give them to you.” On
the evening of the same date S. M. said that the grapes were
beught by 8. D. for R. D,, but the latter, having heard that
the others were visiting someone who was sick, sent them to
him, that S, D. brought them and M, made the presentation.
[106] ‘The little discrepancy between M.’s testimony and the
others, is just what is expected in the case of truthful, un-
drilled witnesses. As each of the personalities had her in-
dividual memory, the wonder is that there are not more
minor divergences in the narration of a multitude of inci-
dents,

Sick Doris and Ma